Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine

MONTHLY ISSN 1899-5276 (PRINT) ISSN 2451-2680 (ONLINE)

advances.umw.edu.pl

2023, Vol. 32, No. 12 (December)

Impact Factor (IF) – 2.1 Ministry of Science and Higher Education – 140 pts Index Copernicus (ICV) – 161.11 pts



Wroclaw Medical University

Advances

in Clinical and Experimental Medicine



Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine

ISSN 1899-5276 (PRINT)

MONTHLY 2023 Vol. 32, No. 12 (December)

Editorial Office

ul. Marcinkowskiego 2–6 50-368 Wrocław, Poland Tel.: +48 71 784 12 05 E-mail: redakcja@umw.edu.pl

Publisher

Wroclaw Medical University Wybrzeże L. Pasteura 1 50–367 Wrocław, Poland

Online edition is the original version of the journal

ISSN 2451-2680 (ONLINE)

dvances.umw.edu.pl

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine (*Adv Clin Exp Med*) publishes high-quality original articles, research-in-progress, research letters and systematic reviews and meta-analyses of recognized scientists that deal with all clinical and experimental medicine.

Statistical Editors

Łucja Janek, MsC

Anna Kopszak, MSc

Dr. Krzysztof Kujawa

Jakub Wronowicz, MSc

Wojciech Bombała, MSc

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Donata Kurpas

Deputy Editor Prof. Wojciech Kosmala

Managing Editor Marek Misiak, MA

Scientific Committee

Prof. Sandra Maria Barbalho Prof. Antonio Cano Prof. Chong Chen Prof. Breno Diniz Prof. Erwan Donal Prof. Chris Fox Prof. Naomi Hachiya Prof. Yuko Hakamata

Section Editors

Anesthesiology Prof. Marzena Zielińska

Basic Sciences

Prof. Iwona Bil-Lula

Dr. Wiesława Kranc

Dr. Anna Lebedeva

Dentistry

Prof. Bartosz Kempisty

Prof. Rafael Boscolo-Berto

Prof. Marzena Dominiak

Prof. Tomasz Gedrange

Assoc. Prof. Kinga Grzech-Leśniak

Prof. Jamil Shibli

Laser Dentistry

Clinical Anatomy, Legal Medicine, Innovative Technologies

Prof. Carol Holland Prof. Sabine Bährer-Kohler Prof. Markku Kurkinen Prof. Christos Lionis Prof. Raimundo Mateos Prof. Zbigniew W. Raś Prof. Jerzy W. Rozenblit Prof. Silvina Santana Manuscript editing Marek Misiak, MA

Paulina Piątkowska, MA Jolanta Prazeres, MA

Prof. Sajee Sattayut Prof. James Sharman Prof. Jamil Shibli Prof. Michał J. Toborek Prof. László Vécsei Prof. Cristiana Vitale Prof. Hao Zhang

Dermatology Prof. Jacek Szepietowski Emergency Medicine,

Innovative Technologies Prof. Jacek Smereka

Gynecology and Obstetrics Prof. Olimpia Sipak-Szmigiel

Histology and Embryology Dr. Mateusz Olbromski

Internal Medicine Angiology Dr. Angelika Chachaj

Cardiology Prof. Wojciech Kosmala Dr. Daniel Morris

Endocrinology Prof. Marek Bolanowski Gastroenterology Assoc. Prof. Katarzyna Neubauer Hematology Prof. Andrzej Deptała

Prof. Dariusz Wołowiec Nephrology and Transplantology

Assoc. Prof. Dorota Kamińska Assoc. Prof. Krzysztof Letachowicz

Pulmonology Prof. Anna Brzecka

Microbiology

Prof. Marzenna Bartoszewicz Assoc. Prof. Adam Junka

Molecular Biology

Dr. Monika Bielecka Prof. Jolanta Saczko

Neurology

Assoc. Prof. Magdalena Koszewicz Assoc. Prof. Anna Pokryszko-Dragan Dr. Masaru Tanaka

Neuroscience

Dr. Simone Battaglia Dr. Francesco Di Gregorio

Editorial Policy

Oncology

Prof. Andrzej Deptała Prof. Adam Maciejczyk Dr. Marcin Jędryka Gynecological Oncology

Dr. Marcin Jędryka

Ophthalmology Dr. Małgorzata Gajdzis

Orthopedics Prof. Paweł Reichert

Otolaryngology Assoc. Prof. Tomasz Zatoński

Pediatrics

Pediatrics, Metabolic Pediatrics, Clinical Genetics, Neonatology, Rare Disorders Prof. Robert Śmigiel Pediatric Nephrology

Prof. Katarzyna Kiliś-Pstrusińska

Pediatric Oncology and Hematology Assoc. Prof. Marek Ussowicz

Pharmaceutical Sciences

Assoc. Prof. Marta Kepinska Prof. Adam Matkowski Pharmacoeconomics, Rheumatology

Dr. Sylwia Szafraniec-Buryło

Psychiatry

Dr. Melike Küçükkarapınar Prof. Jerzy Leszek Assoc. Prof. Bartłomiej Stańczykiewicz

Public Health

Prof. Monika Sawhney Prof. Izabella Uchmanowicz

Qualitative Studies, Quality of Care Prof. Ludmiła Marcinowicz

Radiology Prof. Marek Sąsiadek

Rehabilitation Dr. Elżbieta Rajkowska-Labon

Surgery

Assoc. Prof. Mariusz Chabowski Assoc. Prof. Mirosław Kozłowski Prof. Renata Taboła

Telemedicine, Geriatrics, Multimorbidity

Assoc. Prof. Maria Magdalena Bujnowska-Fedak

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine (Adv Clin Exp Med) is an independent multidisciplinary forum for exchange of scientific and clinical information, publishing original research and news encompassing all aspects of medicine, including molecular biology, biochemistry, genetics, biotechnology and other areas. During the review process, the Editorial Board conforms to the "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals: Writing and Editing for Biomedical Publication" approved by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (www.ICMJE.org). The journal publishes (in English only) original papers and reviews. Short works considered original, novel and significant are given priority. Experimental studies must include a statement that the experimental protocol and informed consent procedure were in compliance with the Helsinki Convention and were approved by an ethics committee.

For all subscription-related queries please contact our Editorial Office: redakcja@umw.edu.pl For more information visit the journal's website: advances.umw.edu.pl

Pursuant to the ordinance of the Rector of Wroclaw Medical University No. 12/XVI R/2023, from February 1, 2023, authors are required to pay a fee for each manuscript accepted for publication in the journal Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine. The fee amounts to 990 EUR for original papers and meta-analyses, 700 EUR for reviews, and 350 EUR for research-in-progress (RIP) papers and research letters.

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine has received financial support from the resources of Ministry of Science and Higher Education within the "Social Responsibility of Science – Support for Academic Publishing" project based on agreement No. RCN/SP/0584/2021.



Ministry of Education and Science Republic of Poland

Czasopismo Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine korzysta ze wsparcia finansowego ze środków Ministerstwa Edukacji i Nauki w ramach programu "Społeczna Odpowiedzialność Nauki – Rozwój Czasopism Naukowych" na podstawie umowy nr RCN/SP/0584/2021.



Indexed in: MEDLINE, Science Citation Index Expanded, Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Scopus, EMBASE/Excerpta Medica, Ulrich'sTM International Periodicals Directory, Index Copernicus

Typographic design: Piotr Gil, Monika Kolęda DTP: Wydawnictwo UMW Cover: Monika Kolęda

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine

MONTHLY 2023, Vol. 32, No. 12 (December)

ISSN 1899-5276 (PRINT) ISSN 2451-2680 (ONLINE) advances.umw.edu.pl

Contents

Editorials

Marek Misiak, Donata Kurpas
 Types of articles in Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine in 2021 and 2022:
 Editors' perspective

Meta-analysis

- 1347 Haiyan Zhuo, Jinhai Fan, Lvfeng Yao, Liqing Zheng, Yihong Chai MDR3 rs2109505 and rs1202283 polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis
- 1357 Lulu Yan, Chunmei Pu, Sanjay Rastogi, Rupshikha Choudhury, Magesh Kumar Shekar, Gitartha Talukdar Evaluating the influence of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on the spread of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic: A meta-analysis

Original papers

- 1369 Didem Gülcü Taskin, Aysun Ata The value of mid-upper arm circumference for malnutrition screening in pediatric celiac disease
- 1377 Izabela Pilarska, Kinga Grabska, Jan Stachurski Suicide attempts among children and adolescents admitted to a Polish Emergency Department: Analysis of epidemiology, circumstances and methods of 154 cases
- 1385 Michał Barski, Natalia Jermakow, Katarzyna Barska, Jacek Siewiera Evaluation of the effects of hyperbaric on human attention functions based on eye movements recorded using an infrared camera
- Fabiola Guzmán-Mejía, Marycarmen Godínez-Victoria, Ana Lilia García-Hernández,
 Jennifer Karume Gutierrez-Galicia, Daniel Efrain Molotla Torres, Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano
 Regionalized analysis of gut barrier components in the small intestine of BALB/c mice
 following chronic immobilization stress
- Dongxiao Wang, Shitao He, Guoqiang Zhong, Jianjun Meng, Qi Bi, Ronghui Tu
 Effects of heat shock protein 90 on complement activation in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury after pioglitazone preconditioning
- 1413 Jian-Bo Lin, Yan-Xun Chen, Nan-Long Lin, Xu Li Upregulation of ITGB6 in primary palmar hyperhidrosis
- 1423 Xueying Li, Mengli Gu, Qiying Hu, Yihui Weng, Xianlei Cai Development and validation of metabolic models for predicting survival and immune status of hepatocellular carcinoma patients

Reviews

Ryusei Nishi, Takamasa Fukumoto, Akihiro Asakawa
 Possible effect of natural light on emotion recognition and the prefrontal cortex:
 A scoping review of near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy

Research letters

- 1453 Dasen Yuan, Liping Shen, Bang-e Qin, Xiaofeng Xu, Zhihui Su, Jia Liu, Han Xia, Fuhua Peng, Ying Jiang Central nervous system nocardiosis diagnosed by metagenomic next-generation sequencing: A case series and literature review
- 1465 Karolina Gumiężna, Adrian Bednarek, Grażyna Sygitowicz, Piotr Baruś, Agnieszka Wiśniewska,
 Dominika Klimczak-Tomaniak, Janusz Kochman, Grzegorz Opolski, Marcin Grabowski, Mariusz Tomaniak
 Immature platelet fraction and immature platelet count as novel biomarkers of elevated platelet reactivity
 in NSTE-ACS patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy
- 1471 Annual Contents
- 1483 Index of Authors

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our gratitude to all reviewers who devoted their time and expertise to evaluate manuscripts in Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine. We sincerely appreciate all your hard work and dedication. It is due to your contribution that we can achieve the standard of excellence.

Editors

Reviewers in 2023:

Mohamed Abdelrahim, Monika Adamczyk-Sowa, Emad Ahmed, Swalih Ahmed, Anil Ahsan, Abolfazl Akbari, Sinan Akıncı, Yasser Albadrany, Özgür Albuz, Mir Naiman Ali, Sakhawat Ali, Rubina Alimanović-Alagić, Hamit Hakan Alp, Baoguan An, Vijaya Anand, Roberto Anichini, Jakub Antczak, Jolanta Antoniewicz-Papis, Serap Argun Barış, Cüneyt Arıkan, Sundaresan Arjunan, Nilay Arman, Josep Arnabat, Loordhurani Asaikumar, Dagmara Baczyńska, Anna Badowska-Kozakiewicz, Kamarul Baharuddin, Abolfazl Bahrami, Xiaodong Bai, Alina Bakunowicz-Łazarczyk, Hatice Balci Yüce, Jacek Banaszewski, Julia Bar, Marcin Barczyński, Edyta Barnaś, Satish Barnawal, Joanna Bartosińska, Simone Battaglia, Ilona Bednarek, Wojciech Bednarz, Iwona Bednarz-Misa, Eman Elazab Beheiry, Alexander E. Berezin, Jorge Berlanga, Sonu Bhaskar, Rafał Białynicki-Birula, Barbara Biedziak, Jan Biegus, Monika Bielecka, Maria Bieniaszewska, May Bin-Jumah, Jasmina Boban, Iwona Bodys-Cupak, Andrzej Bohatyrewicz, Anna Bohdanowicz-Pawlak, Agnieszka Bojarska-Junak, Robert Bonek, Anna Boroń-Kaczmarska, Ronald Borra, Agnieszka Borys-Iwanicka, Andrzej Boznański, Artur Bryja, Krzysztof Bryniarski, Anna Brzecka, Ligia Brzezińska–Wcisło, Anna Brzęk, Sławomir Budrewicz, Bogusława Budziszewska, Grzegorz Bukato, Kutalmis S. Buyuk, Jo Byounghoon, Wenging Cai, Yefeng Cai, Yuchen Cao, Ali Cekici, Radosław Chaber, Mariusz Chabowski, Yubo Chai, Andrzej Chamienia, Ambrose Chan, Balaji Chandrasekaran, Andrzej Chciałowski, Chong Chen, Linyan Chen, Xiaoli Chen, Błażej Chermuła, Alberto Chighine, Grzegorz Chodaczek, Rupshikha Choudhury, Sinhayana Choudhury, Szymon Chowański, Anna Chromańska, Joanna Chrzanowska, Jerzy Chudek, Piotr Cieślik, Mihai Ciocîrlan, Roberto Cirocchi, Sofie Claerhout, Zeynep Coban Büyükbayraktar, Davide Colistra, Shoubin Cui, Michał Czapla, Jarosław Czyż, Bartosz Dalewski, Jacek Daroszewski, Andrzej Dąbrowski, Alessandro De Cassai, Mehmet Demir, Franklin Dexter, Chiara Di Fazio, Francesco Di Gregorio, Dorota Diakowska, Ebubekir Dirican, Zygmunt Domagała, Anna Dor-Wojnarowska, Ines Drenjančević, Xiaoxue Du, Anna Duda-Madej, Tolga Düzenli, Jadwiga Dwilewicz-Trojaczek, Edyta Dziadkowiak, Dariusz Dziedzic, Maria Ejma, Eman Mohamad El Nashar, Muhammed Elayadeth-Meethal, Marwa Elgendy, Tarek Elhamaky, Nourhan Elharthy, Talha Bin Emran, Eren Er, Tunc Eren, Kerem Erkalp, Ferda Evin, Antonio Facciorusso, Mahbobeh Faramarzi, Ammad Faroogui, Leonardo Faverani, Julia Fedotova, Jakub Fichna, Piotr Fichna, Luciene Figueiredo, Agata Filip, Negar Firouzabadi, Martin Floer, Marcio Formiga, Monika Franczuk, Edward Franck, Marcin Fraczek, Irena Frydecka, Yong-Ping Fu, Tomasz Fuchs, Krzysztof Fyderek, Jose Luis Gaido Barbeito, Paweł Gajdanowicz, Paweł Gajdzis, Mattia Galigani, Saravanan Ganapathy, Maria Ganeva, Dian Gao, Wojciech Garczyński, Paweł Gąsior, Zbigniew Gąsior, Tomasz Gedrange, Agnieszka Genowska, Ashraf Ghiasi, Ashraf Ghulam, Justyna Gil, Agnieszka Giza, Andrzej Głowniak, Upendarrao Golla, Janina Golob Deeb, Joanna Gołębiewska, Andrzej Gołębiewski, Tomasz Gołębiowski, Renju Gopi Lilly, Małgorzata Goździk, Waldemar Goździk, Marco Grassi, Emilia Grosicka-Maciąg, Sebastian Grosicki, Ewa Grzebyk, Teresa Grzelak, Xiaobin Gu, Jakob Gubenšek, Maria Guedes Margues, Arzu Gülseren, Shicheng Guo, Maciej Guziński, Katarzyna Haczkiewicz-Leśniak, Jowita Halupczok-Żyła, Guangtao Han, Min Hang, Beate Haugk, Olga Haus, László Herszényi, Tomasz Hirnle, András Hrabák, Zbigniew Hruby, Qiang Huang, Magdalena Hurkacz, Marek Hus, Quan Huynh, Lidia Hyla-Klekot, Ufuk Idiz, Marek Iłżecki, Ninela Irga-Jaworska, Arda Isık, Sylwia lwańczyk, Teresa Jagła, Krzysztof Jamroziak, Maurycy Jankowski, Barbara Jarząb, Marek Jasiński, Wiesław Jędrzejczak, Madeleine Johansson, Karol Jopek, Roman Junik, Niu Junrong, Maciej Kaczmarski, Tomasz Kaczmarzyk, Dorota Kamińska, Piotr Kanclerz, Aleksander Kania, Emmanouil Kapetanakis, Agnieszka Kapłon-Cieślicka, Irfan Karahan, Erbil Karaman, Małgorzata Karbownik-Lewińska, Paweł Karpiński, Maciej Kempa, Mohammed Mazharuddin Khan, Hajar Khazraei, Veria Khosrawipour, Ewa Kluczewska, Stanisław Kłęk, Maria Kłopocka, Brygida Knysz, Chiristopher Kobierzycki, Małgorzata Kobusiak-Prokopowicz, Mehmet Kocaoğlu, Paweł Komarnicki, Tomasz Konopka, Piotr Korczyński, Parastou Kordestani-Moghadam, Agata Kosmaczewska, Michał Kosowski, Joanna Kostka, Ifigenia Kostoglou-Athanassiou, Magdalena Koszewicz, Muddukrishnaiah Kotakonda, Krystyna Kowalczuk, Jerzy Kowalczyk, Leyla Kozaci, Fatos Kozanli, Mirosław Kozłowski, Magdalena Krajewska, Piotr Krajewski, Aleksandra Królikowska, Łukasz Krzych, Elżbieta Kubala, Paweł Kubasiewicz–Ross, Karol Kubiak, Tomasz Kucmin, Allison Kuipers, Radosław Kujawski, Julita Kulbacka, Wiktor Kuliczkowski, Michał Kulus, Anoop Kumar, Sonam Kumari, Markku Kurkinen, Ajay Kushwah, Michał Kuszewski, Mariusz Kusztal, Andrzej Kutarski, Halyna Kuznietsova, Barbara Kuźnar-Kamińska, Ghazwan Lafta, Dibyajit Lahiri, C.H. Lai, Jin Lai, Peeyush Lala, Sen-Yang Lang, Ewa Lange, Kachiu Lee, Soo Mi Lee, Ana Leite, Małgorzata Lelonek, Martin Leníček, Agnieszka Lepiesza, Piotr Lepka, Anna Lewandowska-Polak, Krzysztof Lewandowski, Łukasz Lewandowski, Łukasz Lewicki, Natalia Lewkowicz, Chen Li, Chunyu Li, Fang Li, Hui Li, Jing Li, Xiaoyan Li, Donato Liloia, Pengchao Lin, Xixi Lin, Marta Lipowska, Mieczysław Litwin, Fanxiao Liu, Renyu Liu, Antonino Lo Giudice, Bartłomiej Loster, Ming Lu, Wojciech Lubiński, Bastian Lubis, Kamila Ludwikowska, Guozhong Lv, Rui Lv, Andrey Lvov, Piotr Łacina, Łukasz Łaczmański, Xiaowei Ma, Bogusław B. Machaliński, Monika Machoy, Szymczak Maciej, Paweł Madej, Iddo Magen, Jaideep Mahendra, Maciej Majchrzak,

Przemysław Majewski, Joanna Makowska, Umberto Malapelle, Małgorzata Małodobra-Mazur, Krzysztof Małyszczak, Naresh Kumar Manda, Anna Mania, Nataša Marčun Varda, Lina Marin, Mirosław Markiewicz, Robby Markwart, Iwona Maruniak-Chudek, Ivan Matia, Małgorzata Matusiewicz, Jacek Matys, Henryk Mazurek, Beata Mączyńska, Filip Mejza, Oliver Michelsson, Grzegorz Miękisiak, Liliya Mihaylova, Monika Miklaszewska, Wioletta Mikul'áková, Małgorzata Mizerska-Wasiak, Jakub Mlost, Agnieszka Młynarska, Angelo Montana, Piotr Morasiewicz, Daniel Morris, Agata Mulak, B. Munasinghe, Marek Murawski, Anna Nasierowska-Guttmejer, Mariusz Nawrocki, Urszula Nawrot, Claudio Nazzi, Marcin Nicoś, Piotr Niewiński, Przemysław Niewiński, Aleksandros Nikitas, Yvette Nout-Lomas, Ewa Nowak-Markwitz, Marta Nowakowska-Kotas, Danuta Nowicka, Charles Nyatega, Krystian Obara, Ewa Ocłoń, Se-Joon Oh, Cyprian Olchowy, Paweł Olczyk, Agnieszka Oleinik, Beata Oleinik, Aneta Olszewska, Robert Olszewski, Adriana Ortiz, Hanna Osadnik, Hasnaa Osama, Artur Owczarek, Adam Pala, Paulo J. Palma, Qin Pan, Georgi Panov, Konstantinos Papadopoulos, Magdalena Paplińska-Goryca, Justyna Paprocka, Przemysław Paradowski, Dariusz Patkowski, Joanna Pawlak, Krystyna Pawlas, Maciej Pech, Guido Pelletti, George Perry, Ákos Pethő, Roman Pfitzner, Beata Piatkowska-Jakubas, Aleksandra Piechota-Polańczyk, Agnieszka Piekarska, Paulina Pietras, Jan Pietruski, Jacek Pietrzyk, Justyna Pigońska, Małgorzata Pihut, Jian Ping, Pelin Pişirici, Elżbieta Płuciennik, Monika Podhorecka, Anna Pokryszko-Dragan, Esra Polat, İbrahim Polat, Katarzyna Połtyn-Zaradna, Michał Pomorski, Elżbieta Poniewierka, Stanely Ponnian, Anna Potulska-Chromik, Anna Prescha, Valentine Provaznik, Monika Przewłocka-Kosmala, Roman Przybylski, Tadeusz Przybyłowski, Bartosz Puła, Chunjian Qi, Wei Qi, Tatjana Radosavljević, Alireza Rafi, Reza Rahbarghazi, Gerard Raj, Rajesh Ramasamy, Sanjay Rastogi, Nina Rembiałkowska, Tadeusz Robak, Keith Rochfort, Jose Rodrigues, Jose Rodriguez-Vazguez, Dariusz Rokicki, Radosław Rola, Jacek Roliński, George Romanos, Charles Romanowski, Umberto Romeo, Johnny Rompis, Kalia Roop, Rafał Rój, Marek Ruchała, Wojciech Rudnicki, Jakub Ruszkowski, Lidia Rutkowska-Sak, Justyna Rybka, Paweł Rybojad, Aleksandra Rynio-Rutkowska, Haitham Saeed, Ravi Sahu, Hiromi Sakai, Arun Kumar Sanapala, Lingjie Sang, Rosimere Santana, Nuno Bernardo Santos, Hande Sar, Mehmet Sarier, Elżbieta Sarnowska, Michał Sarul, Abhishek Sathe, Sajee Sattayuti, Grzegorz Sawicki, Włodzimierz Sawicki, Vishal Saxena, Hale Sayan, Marek Sasiadek, Agata Sebastian, Silvia Secco, Zbigniew Serafin, Volodymyr Shablii, Sanchita Sharma, James Sharman, Jamil Shibli, Wei-Bing Shuang, Kamthan Shweta, Paweł Siekierski, Matylda Sierakowska, Maciej Sikora, Santhi Silambanan, Scott E. Sills, Joao Paulo Silva, Bhagat Singh, Rajesh Singh, Pasgualino Sirignano, Dariusz Sitkiewicz, Dariusz Skaba, Jolanta Słowikowska-Hilczer, Monika Służewska-Niedźwiedź, Maciej Sobczyński, Magdalena Sobieska, Grzegorz Sobota, Justyna Sokolska, Mateusz Sokolski, Francisco Solano, Abdolreza Sotoodeh Jahromi, Eleonora Spekker, Marta Stafiniak, Agata Stanek, Bartłomiej Stańczykiewicz, Ludomir Stefańczyk, Rostysłav Stoika, Ewa Straburzyńska-Migaj, Ewa Strauss, Lina Suarez, Dragan Subotić, Halis Suleyman, Xuejun Sun, Gurunath Surampalli, Andrei Surguchov, Robert Susło, Anhelli Syrenicz, Agnieszka Szafrańska, Marek Szaliński, Jolanta Szelachowska, Jacek Sznurkowski, Adam Szpechciński, Konrad Szustakiewicz, Mariusz Szydło, Aleksandra Szymczak, Andrzej Szyszka, Mariola Śliwińska-Mossoń, Barbara Ślusarska, Robert Śmigiel, Agnieszka Świdnicka-Siergieiko, Jerzy Świerkot, Aisha Tahir, Masaru Tanaka, Fenglian Tang, Natta Tansila, Katarzyna Taranta-Janusz, Olga Tarasova, Ayça Taş, Didem Taşkın, Cihad Tatar, Seyithan Taysi, Adel Tekari, Michał Tkaczyszyn, Santo Tonapa, Senol Tonyali, Diana Torge, Duygu Tozcu, Micheline Trentin, Hernán Trimarchi, Grzegorz Trybek, Mehmet Tuncer, Ernest Tyburski, Leszek Tylicki, Izabella Uchmanowicz, Maciej Ugorski, Sadig Umar, Anetta Undas, Naseer Unnisa, Beata Urban, Fabio Vaiano, Robert Vassallo, Periyannan Velu, Annamalai Vijayalakshmi, Alfredo Vitullo, Marta Wagner, Bożena Walewska-Zielecka, Marta Waliszewska-Prosół, Renhong Wan, Su-Zhi Wang, Xiaodong Wang, Yun Wang, Dorota Waśko-Czopnik, Adam Whitley, Rafał Wiench, Mieszko Więckiewicz, Markus Wilhelmi, Tomasz Witkowski, Donald Wlodkowic, Dariusz Wołowiec, Magdalena Woźniak, Janusz Wójcik, Xiangchun Wu, Lucjan Wyrwicz, Grzegorz Wystrychowski, Weibing Xu, Ferda Yaman, Jin Yan, Guoguo Yi, Münevver Yılmaz, Delu Yin, Chun Yu, Xueyuan Yu, Youging Yu, Urszula Zaleska-Dorobisz, Michał Zarobkiewicz, Danuta Zarzycka, Katarzyna Zatońska, Jan Zaucha, Joanna Zawitkowska, Aleksandra Zdrojowy-Wełna, Rong Zeng, Aleksandra Zgryźniak, Chunhui Zhang, Fangming Zhang, Hong-Liang Zhang, Li Zhang, Qi Zhang, Tao Zhang, Ying Zhang, Yun Zhang, Shixi Zhao, Ting-Wei Zhao, Yan-Hua Zheng, Maolin Zhong, Liping Zhou, Marcin Zieliński, Olena Zimba, Sławomir Zmonarski, Katarzyna Zorena, Krzysztof Zub, Agnieszka Zubkiewicz-Kucharska, Maria Zych, Robert Zymliński, Dorota Zyśko

Types of articles in *Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine* in 2021 and 2022: Editors' perspective

Marek Misiak^{1,A–E}, Donata Kurpas^{2,A,F}

¹ Wroclaw Medical University Press, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

² Division of Family and Pediatric Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1333-1346

Address for correspondence Marek Misiak E-mail: marek.misiak@umw.edu.pl

Funding sources

None declared

Conflict of interest None declared

Acknowledgements

Marek Misiak thanks lya Sudoplatova, PhD, for her assistance in searching for and selecting the literature.

Received on October 26, 2023 Reviewed on November 27, 2023 Accepted on November 28, 2023

Published online on December 12, 2023

Abstract

The present editorial summarizes the last 2 calendar years of *Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine* (ACEM) publication (2021 and 2022). The specific aims were: 1) To clarify the classification of papers published in ACEM; 2) To present motivations behind choosing this classification; 3) To show how this classification is reflected in citations. Six categories of papers published in ACEM are presented: editorials, meta-analyses, reviews (including systematic reviews), multicenter studies, research-in-progress studies, and research letters; lack of clear definitions for editorials, research letters and research-in-progress studies is discussed. Thematic fields covered by all categories in 2021 and 2022 are presented and differences in this regard between 2021 and 2022 are highlighted. Reasons for not publishing case reports (CRs) are discussed, with some of the debate on this issue in medical literature summarized. The article type classification used in ACEM in only one of many possible solutions and may be modified in the future – it should be both clear for the authors and allow for orientation in the journal's content. The motivation for choosing the employed categories stem both from their position on the accepted levels of evidence in evidence-based medicine (EBM) and their potential to be cited.

Key words: editorial, case report, meta-analysis, article type, research letter

Cite as

Misiak M, Kurpas D. Types of articles in *Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine* in 2021 and 2022: Editors' perspective. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1333–1346. doi:10.17219/acem/176003

DOI

10.17219/acem/176003

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Introduction

Genology is a branch of literary theory that is concerned with the study of artistic genres, e.g., types of novels (mystery, science-fiction, etc.). Similar studies are well established in film theory. While scholars, specialists in the fields mentioned above, reflect on evolution of different genres across time and frequently express doubt whether genres as a mode of classifying narrative works of art should still be seen as something more than mere convention, readers or viewers still intuitively use terms like 'horror' or 'comedy' to have some basic orientation in literature, cinema and television. In scientific publishing, there are also analogues of genres, called "types" or "categories" of scientific papers. This editorial focuses exclusively on these types/categories of medical articles and is an attempt of self-reflection of Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine (ACEM) editors on the classification of papers employed in this journal from submission by authors to publishing.

There is no universal list of scientific medical article types, as evidenced by the editorial policy documents or instructions for authors disseminated by respected journals, e.g., guidelines listed by the Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine,¹ New England Journal of Medicine,² The BMJ,³ Frontiers in Medicine,⁴ The Medical Journal of Australia,⁵ and Springer Publishing.⁶ The above guidelines are examples of editorial practices. However, the scientific discussion regarding this topic has taken 2 different directions. A similar classification was proposed by Peh and Ng,⁷ organizing the medical research into introduction, methods, results, and discussion (IMRAD). Röhrig et al.,⁸ on the other hand, classify medical research into primary research (including basic medical research, clinical research, and epidemiological research) and secondary research (including meta-analyses and reviews).

The declared scope of ACEM includes articles that deal with all clinical and experimental medicine. The journal's scope is deliberately broad and general, since "advances" occur constantly in all fields of medicine and related sciences, and the leading research areas change as medical knowledge progresses. However, this does not mean that all types of articles are accepted. Since 2021, ACEM has been following a new classification of academic papers: 1) original papers (including randomized and nonrandomized clinical trials, retrospective studies, animal and cell line studies, and others); 2) meta-analyses; 3) reviews (including systematic reviews, scope, narrative, and other reviews); 4) multicenter studies; 5) research-in-progress (encompassing all types of experimental research in medicine); 6) research letters; and 7) editorials. In 2023, ACEM introduced a new category editorial commentary. However, the present article covers the years 2021 and 2022, so it will not be discussed. Of other frequently encountered types of scientific medical papers, case reports and case series are not accepted in ACEM, which will be explained later in the text.

The classification used and the order of papers assigned to different categories in each issue reflect the hierarchy of evidence (levels of evidence) in evidence-based medicine (EBM): 1) editorials; 2) meta-analyses; 3) original papers; 4) reviews; and 5) research letters. Editorials opens an issue because they offer a more personal perspective and can serve as a guide from an experienced investigator to other, more focused studies. Editorials are followed by metaanalyses because, in clinical research, the best evidence of treatment efficacy comes mainly from meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials (RCTs).9,10 Meta-analytic results are considered the most trustworthy source of evidence by the EBM literature.^{11,12} Original papers are the primary source of new knowledge and represent the majority of each issue, with reviews offering theoretical summaries of complex issues, and research letters provide concise reports of original research findings.

Objectives

The specific aims of this editorial are as follows:

1) to present the classification of papers published in ACEM;

2) to clarify definitions of specific categories of papers which may not be entirely clear to all readers, and to provide context for these definitions from selected literature;

3) to outline the role played in ACEM by papers of different categories;

4) to present motivations behind choosing this classification (the scope of the journal is broad, but types of papers accepted are limited);

5) to explain why certain types of papers are not considered for publication in ACEM;

6) to provide recommendations for the Editorial Board of ACEM concerning possible modifications in classification used.

Since original papers constitute the broadest and largest group of papers, they will be analyzed later in another editorial by the same authors. Presenting papers of this type requires a different approach, focusing not on definitions but on thematic patterns observed in different years. Employing such an approach in the present paper would deviate from the main discourse and deform the structure of the paper.

Editorials

Similar to research letters (discussed in one of the following sections of this paper), editorials are often a source of confusion regarding their definition; however, while research letters are confused with other, distinct types of texts published in scientific journals, the concept of an editorial is so vague that each perspective seems to be equally deeply rooted in both tradition and practice. The first concept stems from the popular press, especially from prestigious newspapers and weekly journals of opinion, and views an editorial as mean of presenting the stance of the whole journal concerning a specific problem; in modern scientific journals, editorials understood as "content provided by the editors" can also direct readers' attention to certain papers published in a given issue, announce calls for submissions or other initiatives, offer personal or more generalized reflection on a topic related to editing a scientific journal (e.g., propose definitions of different types of papers or instruct authors on how to prepare them), describe journal achievements, plans or policies, as well as present various guidelines and other similar documents. The second concept sees an editorial as an opinion piece that expresses reflections on topical issues, explains complex research, and/or highlights strengths, weaknesses and alternative interpretations of studies. The 2 above views are not mutually exclusive because editorials of both types can appear in a single journal, sometimes even in a single issue. Papers within this category are usually by-invitation only, although there are journals (e.g., British Journal of Anaesthesia) that accept unsolicited editorials after a presubmission approval process.

The literature on editorials in scientific journals is diverse. Nundy et al. authored a chapter explaining the basic concepts of this scientific literary genre, presenting both of the above views and focusing of the role of an editorial as an opinion maker.¹³ This perspective was shared by Singh and Singh, who offered a more personal view and concentrated on expressiveness of opinions and style of formulating them.¹⁴ Van Teijlingen et al.¹⁵ provided more specific advice and examples of appropriately prepared editorials for prospective authors, while Gray concisely described 5 rules of writing and editing an editorial.¹⁶ However, the paper by Leslie and Hemmings Jr. had the broadest scope - they discussed how an editorial can be defined and described the structure of an excellent paper of this type, while also providing examples and more literature on the topic.¹⁷ Guidelines for authors publishing in Springer Open journals¹⁸ should also be mentioned – several journals established clear stipulations regarding word and reference count in an editorial; there can also be more or less severe limitations concerning tables and/or figures.

Editorials were introduced in ACEM in 2021 and are solicited from members of the Editorial Board and Scientific Committee, as well as from seasoned researchers among journal's experienced peer-reviewers. Only editorials submitted by invitation are considered for publication. This category of papers was introduced to provide authors with an opportunity to present their own opinions, commentaries and perspectives concerning selected issues within a selected research field. Editorials are meant to provide readers with context, analysis and reflection regarding specific subjects or problems. The popularity of this type of paper in ACEM is increasing: 6 editorials were published in 2021 and 12 in 2022.

In 2021, the solicited editorials addressed a specific topic or issue in the field of medicine, research, or healthcare. They explored different aspects of medical research, clinical systems, and health-related concerns. For instance, some editorials discussed the issues of monitoring the kynurenine system¹⁹ and validating medical equipment.²⁰

In 2022, these articles reflected the ongoing advances in the field of clinical and experimental medicine, addressing current issues, innovative treatments, and the impact of global events like the COVID-19 pandemic on medical research. The articles covered several problems, including the neurobiological advances of learned fear in humans²¹ and the comorbidities of depressive and anxiety disorders.²²

Editorials provide a valuable forum for expressing viewpoints, shaping discussions, and guiding researchers in their work. Among the top 10 most cited works in the ACEM for the 2021–2022 period are 4 editorials, namely Tanaka and Vécsei¹⁹ (2nd most cited), Battaglia²¹ (3rd most cited) and Chen²² (4th most cited; all citation data as of September 30, 2023). Such high citation rates raise the question why this category of papers receives so much attention in the scientific community. In the opinion of the ACEM editorial staff, these reasons differ regarding specific papers. Below are the assumed reasons divided into categories for clarity.

Perspective and opinion: Editorials often present the perspectives, opinions, and insights of experts or key figures in a particular field. Researchers may cite editorials to support or align their own viewpoints or arguments.

Guidance and recommendations: Editorials may provide guidance, recommendations, or commentary on emerging trends, methodologies, or practices within a field. Researchers may cite editorials when discussing best practices or adopting recommended approaches.

Critical Analysis: Editorials provide a critical analysis of current research, policies, or developments. Therefore, researchers may cite editorials to support their evaluations or to acknowledge influential critiques.

Historical context: Editorials can provide a historical context for a particular field or topic. Citing editorials helps researchers anchor their work within the historical evolution of ideas, theories, or practices.

Debates and controversies: Editorials often focus on debates or address controversial topics within a field. Researchers may cite editorials to highlight or participate in ongoing discussions, acknowledging the influence of these debates on the field of study.

Expert commentary: Editorials may include expert commentary on scientific breakthroughs. Researchers may cite editorials to include authoritative perspectives and acknowledge the influence of recognized experts.

Editorial policies and journal direction: Editorials can discuss changes in editorial policies, journal direction, or broader trends in publishing. Researchers citing this type of editorials may refer to shifts in the academic landscape or to the direction of a particular journal.

Meta-analyses

Meta-analyses (MAs) are considered the most trustworthy source of evidence by the EBM literature.^{11,12,23} They have the capacity to compare and contrast results from different studies, and identify both patterns and sources of disagreement among study results, or other relationships highlighted by multiple studies.²⁴ Therefore, MAs are considered the most valuable papers in ACEM and are always placed at the beginning of each issue, immediately following editorials. Moreover, the editors of ACEM aim to publish at least 1 paper from this category in every issue. In 2021, a decision was made to classify MAs separately from reviews, but due to complex resources and demanding research process involved in their preparation, first 6 MAs were published in ACEM only in 2022. Two thematic fields were prominent in these papers:

Diagnostic and therapeutic efficacy: Several of the articles focused on assessing the accuracy and efficacy of various diagnostic and therapeutic approaches. This included evaluating the accuracy of machine learning algorithms for the assessment of upper-limb motor impairments in patients with post-stroke hemiparesis²⁵ and the efficacy of home-based exercise programs in knee osteoarthritis treatment.²⁶

Disease comorbidity and risk factors: Another common theme was the exploration of how certain conditions or factors influence the risk and outcomes of specific diseases; e.g., the impact of diabetes on patients receiving reperfusion therapy for acute ischemic stroke,²⁷ along with the role of tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter polymorphism in susceptibility to sepsis.²⁸

Meta-analysis is one of the most thoroughly theoretically discussed type of papers – its complex methodology requires deep understanding in order to be properly translated into practice (i.e., a meta-analytic article fit for publication). Shorten and Shorten²⁹ provided a precise definition and explanation of the term 'meta-analysis', while Haidich³⁰ and Stangl and Berry³¹ presented it in the context of medical research. Egger and Smith³² and Egger et al.³³ discussed its theoretical premises, and Levi et al.²³ provided exhaustive reflection on both MAs and systematic reviews. Ahn and Kang³⁴ and Uman³⁵ discussed the common characteristics and mutual relations between systematic reviews and MAs, and explained the importance of articles of both types among all scientific medical papers in the context of hierarchy of scientific evidence.

There are several methodological problems regarding MAs, with publication bias and other types of bias being the most significant. These issues were discussed by Sterne et al.³⁶ and Sterne and Egger,³⁷ who used funnel plots to detect bias in MAs. Measuring inconsistency in papers from this category was reflected upon by Higgins,³⁸ while Higgins and Thomas further discussed quantifying heterogeneity in a MA.³⁹ Some limitations of MAs were pointed out by Naylor.⁴⁰

Numerous guidelines concerning MAs have been released: among others, Hansen et al.⁴¹ who offered a general guide in 8 steps, while Herrera Ortiz et al.¹¹ provided a guide concerning both systematic reviews and MAs. A useful tool in preparing MAs is the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) checklist that was presented and explained by Liberati et al.,⁴² with an updated version of this checklist provided by Page et al.⁴³ Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions is also an important resource of information and guidelines concerning this issue.⁴⁴

Many otherwise diligently prepared papers in this category have more or less serious flaws in the statistical analyses. This cannot be overlooked since proper statistics are a crucial part of each MA, and methodological errors in this regard can disqualify the entire work from publication. Harrer et al.45 and Schwarzer et al.46 wrote 2 fundamental papers on how to conduct a MA using statistical methods and the R language. Other important sources on statistical methods in MAs are: Borenstein et al.⁴⁷ (Introduction to Meta-Analysis), Borenstein⁴⁸ (Common Mistakes in Meta-analysis and How to Avoid Them), Cooper et al.49 (The Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-analysis), Hedges and Olkin⁵⁰ (Statistical Methods for Meta-analysis), Cooper⁵¹ (Research Synthesis and Meta-analysis: A Step-by-step Approach), Lipsey and Wilson⁵² (Practical Meta-analysis), Littell et al.⁵³ (Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis), and Pigott⁵⁴ (Advances in Meta-analysis). Resources presenting the above issues in a specific medical context are (among others): Egger et al.⁵⁵ (Systematic Reviews in Health Care: Meta-Analysis in Context), Sutton et al.⁵⁶ (Methods for Meta-analysis in Medical Research) and Whitehead⁵⁷ (Meta-Analysis of Controlled Clinical Trials). Rothstein et al.⁵⁸ (Publication Bias in Meta-Analysis: Prevention, Assessment and Adjustments) and Hunter and Schmidt⁵⁹ (Methods of Meta-analysis: Correcting Error and Bias in Research Findings) presented the issues of bias and error in a statistical context. Finally, Brockwell and Gordon⁶⁰ provided a comparison of statistical methods used in MAs.

Reviews and systematic reviews

The number of reviews published annually in ACEM remains stable. In 2021, there were 15 reviews of various methodologies and 2 systematic reviews (SRs), compared to 16 reviews complemented by 6 MAs (presented above) in 2022. There were no SRs in 2022 and no MAs in 2021. Systematic reviews often include a MA component, which involves using statistical techniques to synthesize the data from several studies into a single quantitative estimate or summary effect size.^{23,35} In 2021, Ambros-Antemate et al.²⁵ published a combined SR and MA to assess the accuracy of machine learning algorithms for the assessment of upper-limb motor impairments in patients with poststroke hemiparesis; that paper has been classified as a MA. While the concept of review seems to be understood

intuitively in the scientific community, SR is a much more clearly defined concept and there is an abundance of literature clarifying it. The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination at the University of York in the UK provided a detailed guide⁶¹ on how to prepare SRs; a book covering this issue in detail was also published by Purssell and Mc-Crae.⁶² An overview of SRs was prepared by Silva et al.,⁶³ while Higgins et al.⁶⁴ analyzed the process of synthesizing quantitative evidence in SRs of complex health interventions, and Munn et al. offered guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach.⁶⁵

Finally, the resource utilized by many authors of reviews and MAs (and frequently referred to in such papers) is the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions helmed by experts from the Cochrane network led by Higgins et al.⁴⁴

Two SRs published in ACEM in 2021 discussed 2 different topics. The article by Czubak et al.⁶⁶ compared the clinical differences among COVID-19, SARS, influenza, and the common cold, while Springer et al.⁶⁷ investigated whether the choice of a drug in pharmacologic cardioversion correlates with national and international guidelines pertaining this matter.

Reviews published in ACEM in 2021 covered a wide range of medical topics, including, among others: hematological manifestations and complications of COVID-19 (Erdinc et al.⁶⁸) and machine learning in orthodontics (Liu et al.⁶⁹).

The thematic scope of reviews published in ACEM in 2022 was more diverse and can be categorized as follows:

Medical conditions and their management: Many articles focused on various medical conditions and their diagnosis and management, e.g., chronic kidney disease.⁷⁰

Transitional care and adolescents: Some articles discussed the transition of care, particularly in adolescents with specific urological conditions. This indicates a focus on the healthcare journey and needs of this specific age group.⁷¹

Biomarkers and diagnostics: Some articles focused on new biochemical, immune, and molecular markers for diagnostic and prognostic purposes in various medical conditions, including lung cancer.⁷²

It should be emphasized that the most-cited article published in ACEM in the discussed period is a review. An article titled "Cerebral small vessel disease: A review" by Chojdak-Łukasiewicz et al.⁷³ has been cited 22 times, while the SR by Czubak et al.⁶⁶ gained 7 citations and achieved the 6th position in the citation ranking for the years 2021–2022 (as of September 30, 2023).

Multicenter studies

In contrast to other types of articles discussed further in this editorial, there is no ambiguity in defining a multicenter study (MS), that is, a clinical trial conducted at more than 1 medical center or clinic. The benefits of MSs include a larger number of participants, different geographic locations, the possibility of inclusion of a wider range of population groups, and the ability to compare results among centers, all of which increase the generalizability of the study. In light of these advantages, it is understandable that in several scientific medical journals (e.g., *Frontiers in Public Health, BMJ Open* and journals specializing in publishing clinical trials, e.g., *Trials* and *Clinical Trials*), MSs are a separate category of published papers. This is also the case in ACEM, in which such category was introduced in 2017.

The literature on MSs is not abundant, but there are several papers offering advice to researchers who are not entirely familiar with this concept. Das⁷⁴ prepared an indeep study on relevance, design and implementation of MSs, while Serra-Aracil et al.⁷⁵ provided a guide on how to start and develop a multicenter prospective RCT. Marsh and Hawkins⁷⁶ described statistical techniques most useful in analyzing data harnessed when performing such studies. More advanced knowledge was provided by Lane et al.⁷⁷, who outlined approaches for enhancing the informativeness and quality of multicenter trials as formulated by the Trial Innovation Network. Bourin⁷⁸ described specific requirements regarding multicenter trials, while Chung et al.⁷⁹ focused on stipulations of state agencies in this context; basic principles in this regard were also summarized by Aisen and Schafer.⁸⁰

A cross-sectional study assessing multicenter clinical trial protocols was published by Zhang et al.,⁸¹ while Seifirad and Alquran⁸² pointed out several shortcomings of MSs with large samples. A chapter in *Handbook for Clinical Research: Design, Statistics, and Implementation* by Hammond et al. is also devoted to this issue.⁸³ Finally, there are 3 checklists which can be used for preparing MSs:

1) Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CON-SORT),⁸⁴ designed for reporting randomized controlled trials, with several specialized versions;

2) Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT),⁸⁵ a guideline for the minimum content of a clinical trial protocol; 33-item SPIRIT checklist applies to protocols for all clinical trials and focuses on content rather than format;

3) Transparent Reporting of Evaluations with Nonrandomized Designs (TREND)⁸⁶ for reporting intervention evaluation studies using nonrandomized designs.

Two MSs were published in ACEM in the period 2021– 2022, both in 2021 and both pertained to the COVID-19 pandemic. The study by Arnabat-Dominguez et al.⁸⁷ concerned laser dentistry in daily practice during the CO-VID-19 pandemic, while a paper by Kusztal et al.⁸⁸ inquired whether home-based therapy in Fabry disease is the answer to compelling patients' needs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Both articles explored the benefits, risks, and recommendations for safe treatment in the context of the pandemic, and how patient needs are addressed.

Research-in-progress

Although research-in-progress (RiP) type of article is widely used in scientific publishing, it lacks clear definition. Only Heinrich et al. published an editorial summing up a debate among members of the editors of *Advancing Scholarship and Research in Higher Education*.⁸⁹ Four participants did not offer a definition per se, but proposed 4 characteristics of RiP:

1) It cannot only present the research question and methodology, but must at least give some insights to answer the question, or at least to start answering the question;

2) It identifies opportunities to collaborate and indirectly or directly invites other researchers to join the presented research project, or at least to offer their suggestions regarding how to proceed;

3) It needs to have a meticulously prepared Discussion section – the readers have to learn why the incomplete research presented is actually important;

4) It has to include a Limitations section clearly stating that the main limitation of the presented research is that it is still in progress.

In ACEM, the second characteristic is not considered as a requirement. The other 3 characteristics outline how RiP paper is understood in this journal, especially regarding the first characteristic. If a RiP submission lacks adequate data, there is no sufficient evidence to warrant any judgments about the next steps that might be taken to conduct further research.

Two RiP articles were published in ACEM in 2021, and none in 2022. The paper by Dejnek et al.⁹⁰ was an analysis and comparison of autologous platelet-rich plasma preparation systems used in the treatment of enthesopathies, while the study by Rudno-Rudzińska et al. analyzed effects of calcium electroporation, electrochemotherapy, and irreversible electroporation on quality of life and progressionfree survival in patients with pancreatic cancer.⁹¹

Research letters

Research letters (RLs) were introduced in ACEM in April 2021. Although editorials and RiP papers also lack a clear definition, it is essential to note that RLs should never be mistaken for a "letter to the editor." While the former one is a concise rendition of an original academic paper, reflecting original research findings, the latter one is a brief commentary on previously published academic papers in scholarly journals.

This view is neither universally accepted nor obvious. For example, Rutkowski and Dohan Ehrenfest mentioned a concept of RL as an autonomous format for the rapid publication of data, with a three-part structure (introduction, description of the methods and results, and discussion), with a word limit of 1,500 and 25 references.⁹² Research letters written in this way can disclose and discuss an innovative concept before its full demonstration in the following publications. There are even entire scientific journals devoted only to RLs understood as above, e.g., Nanoletters. In ACEM, a RL is defined as a brief, but scientifically important study which is basically a shorter form of an original paper. The text structure (Background - Objectives - Materials and methods - Discussion - Limitations - Conclusions) remains the same as in an original work. Research letters are peer reviewed and subject to a stringent editorial review. Moreover, RL are indexed in all databases, including PubMed and Scopus, and the number of points assigned for such publication is identical as for original papers. However, a RL contains a maximum of 1,500 words, as opposed to 3,500 words in an original article, and may contain at most 2 tables and 2 figures. The number of references is not limited. Authors of original papers considered by the editors too brief for publication will be asked to change the category of the manuscript into a RL.

This concept has one element in common with the idea of Rutkowski and Dohan Ehrenfest⁹² - the speed of publication (RLs are published ahead of print online faster than original papers – but it is important to note that they are peer-reviewed like any other paper). A definition more similar to this from ACEM's was provided by Kukafka et al. when RLs were introduced in the Journal of Medical Internet Research in 2022 - in their view, they should convey "[...] new, early, or sometimes preliminary research findings, including interesting observations from ongoing research with significant implications that justify concise and rapid communication".93 Conversely, the Canadian Journal of Kidney Health and Disease defines a RL not only regarding its size (500-1,500 words, up to 10 references and 1 figure or 1 table) but also its scope – RL in this journal is a " [...] publication of results which deserve dissemination, usually because they may be useful to others, but do not advance the field to the same extent as a full original clinical research paper".94 Finally, the editors of the Chest point out that RLs should be "of high quality, be novel, or have potential clinical impact, but should not be advanced or large enough to warrant publication of a complete original research manuscript", limit the article parameters to 1,000 words, 10 references and 2 tables and/or figures, and stipulate a structure with Introduction, Methods, Discussion and Conclusions, which is, at least in broad terms, in concert with the definition adopted in ACEM.95

There were 5 RLs published in ACEM in 2021 and 14 in 2022 – this type of papers has been introduced in this journal in April 2021, but nevertheless these numbers show its growing popularity. The RLs released in 2021 dealt with diverse research problems: 27-gauge sutureless vitrectomy under topical anesthesia,⁹⁶ the influence of comorbidities on mortality in bronchiectasis,⁹⁷ and ST-segment depression in atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia.⁹⁸ They included a pilot study,⁹⁶ a prospective observational study,⁹⁷ and a presentation of preliminary results.⁹⁸

In 2022, RLs in ACEM covered a much broader field – the following 3 categories dominated:

The health impact of COVID-19: Several articles addressed concerns like ocular complaints in students during the pandemic,⁹⁹ and differences in the incidence of symptoms among medical staff working with COVID-19 patients.¹⁰⁰

Women's health: Some articles focused on women's health issues, e.g., changes in the stomatognathic system in women working with COVID-19 patients.¹⁰⁰

Orthopedic and musculoskeletal studies: There have been studies related to orthopedic and musculoskeletal conditions, such as distal radius fractures in the elderly.¹⁰¹

It is important to note that these RLs fulfilled the role of rapid research dissemination – findings regarding CO-VID-19 pandemic are a good example.

Case reports: Why are they not published in ACEM?

In January 2021, ACEM implemented a policy precluding publication of case reports (CRs) of any type, while case series are considered for publication only very rarely in situations when choosing this type of scientific article is the sole way to tackle, e.g., an issue related to an orphan disease or a very rare tumor. Of note, in the 2 discussed years (2021-2022), no case series has been published. Such tendency is observed in several other scientific medical journals, e.g., PLoS One, Anesthesiology, Anesthesia and Analgesia, and Journal of Stomatology do not accept CRs at all. Although Dikensoy et al.¹⁰² stated that the majority of high-impact journals adopted such policy, there are no data to support this claim. There are also examples of a more nuanced stance: For example, the New England Journal of Medicine (NEJM) does not accept stand-alone CRs; however, articles of other types in this journal may include CRs.

In the literature, it is contented (but not proven) that the vast majority of CRs are very rarely cited or not cited at all (Edelmayer et al. introduced the term "case report classics" to denote the relatively small minority of freguently cited CRs, but noted that most of them were published before 1990s).¹⁰³ This has been shown, i.a., by Erivan et al., who performed a retrospective bibliometric analysis of all articles affecting the impact factor (IF) calculated for the year 2017 published in 77 journals covering the field of orthopedics.¹⁰⁴ Individually, in 2017, each CR was cited 0.86 times ±1.4 (0–13) on average. Case reports published in 2015 had a mean of 0.96 \pm 1.49 (0–13) citations, while those published in 2016 had a mean of $0.76 \pm 1.29 (0-13)$ citations (p = 0.002). Of all the CRs, 571 (30%) were not cited at all in 2017. After a statistical analysis, Erivan et al. concluded that in 69 instances, the IF would have increased if the journal had not published any CR. Conversely, the IF improved in 8 instances by publishing CR. Papers which

are not cited or very scarcely cited increase the denominator (number of papers) but not the numerator (number of citations) in the calculation of IF. This issue was also analyzed by Nabil and Samman in oral and maxillofacial surgery journals.¹⁰⁵ They revealed that CRs had a low citation rate with an average of less than 1. There were 38 (7.2%) CRs with more than 5 citations and 30% of the citing articles were also CRs. The publication of CRs negatively affected journal's impact factor, which correlated directly with the percentage of CRs published in a journal.

In the opinion of the ACEM editorial staff, the research discussed above cannot serve as an argument supporting the decision of excluding CRs from papers considered for publication in a given journal. The key mission of every scientific journal is to disseminate research results. All bibliometric measures such as IF, Scopus CiteScore or others were created to assess the efficiency of such dissemination, and not to become an objective in themselves. Therefore, excluding specific types of papers from a journal to artificially boost citation statistics could be considered ethically questionable.

However, there are other reasons for repudiating CRs. The debate whether CRs should still be an important part of scientific medical publishing is still ongoing and no consensus has been reached so far. They are certainly not without scientific merit, as argued, among others, by Firat et al.,¹⁰⁶ Bhattacharrya et al.,¹⁰⁷ Nieder et al.,¹⁰⁸ Yitschaky et al.,¹⁰⁹ Carey,¹¹⁰ Carey,¹¹¹ Albrecht et al.,¹¹² and Edelmayer et al.¹⁰³ It is important to note that the above studies discussed this issue regarding several different fields of medical research and not only in general terms. However, as stated by Greenhalgh,¹¹³ CRs are placed at the bottom of the hierarchy of clinical evidence, along with case series, because of their inherent methodological limitations, including lack of statistical sampling.

In 2021, the Institutional Review Board of the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine stated that "[a] case report is a medical/educational activity that does not meet the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) definition of «research», which is a «systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge»".¹¹⁴ Case reports are not based on controlled, experimental research and present only an individual clinical picture of a given patient, while results of RCTs or MAs are considered more reliable and influential in the field of medicine they belong to.

Given the controversial perception of CRs in the medical literature, the Editorial Board of ACEM on the one hand is not interested in publishing them, but on the other hand has no intention of discouraging authors from utilizing this form of scholar contribution. In the last 30 years, with the emergence of digital publishing, a considerable number of journals have appeared that are dedicated solely to disseminating valuable CRs (e.g., *BMJ Case Reports, Journal of Medical Case Reports*, and *American Journal of Case* *Reports*). Several authors offered valuable advice on where to direct studies of such type for publication. Rison et al.¹¹⁵ provided detailed criteria for informed choice (there are journals of debatable value operating in this field), while Akers¹¹⁶ compiled an exhaustive list of journals with such a profile, and the library of the George Washington University (Washington, D.C., USA) established a detailed website on this topic, including an up-to-date list of journals that peer-review and publish CRs.¹¹⁷

Effectiveness of the article categorization in ACEM and standardization of papers in ACEM

The types of papers distinguished in ACEM have proved to be a useful tool, since they are deliberately broadly defined and therefore relatively capacious – among them, only the MS, MS and SR types have strict definitions that entail specific stipulations. The presented classification encompasses most of the scientific medical papers of value met in other journals, even if the categorization used in the most respected ones is more detailed. We purposefully avoid formulating subcategories, e.g., regarding different types of reviews – only a SR is discerned because of clear delimitations of this type of paper, while every other type of review article is simply a review in light of the ACEM rules, and no specific stipulations are made for specific subtypes of reviews. Every paper which includes original experimental or clinical research can be submitted as an original paper; should it be too brief for a full-fledged article; it will be reclassified as a RL - if the authors consent. This is to avoid bias and to minimize the possibility that authors will abstain from submitting a manuscript to ACEM because their paper does not fit into any category.

The only limitation observed concerns RLs. Authors of short papers receive a proposal to reclassify them as RLs – before or after the initial acceptance for publication. Since the introduction of RLs in ACEM, several authors (we are unable to provide an exact figure) decided to withdraw their papers in response to such proposal, citing either stipulations made by granting or evaluating institutions (which may only recognize original papers as fulfilling their assessment criteria), or the lower prestige that RLs would, in their opinion, have in their resumes. Such cases are evaluated individually – while the former argument is often a basis for reconsidering the matter, the latter still poses a challenge since - while holding professional opinion of a researcher in high regard – we have not yet been able to find any research results that would substantiate claims of lower prestige of RLs compared to original papers.

Within the scope of this paper, it is impossible to authoritatively state whether the described classification is optimal to reflect the breadth and depth of research in clinical and experimental medicine. However, one argument can be based on the checklists introduced as mandatory for all authors submitting manuscripts to ACEM since January 2021. These tools have been proposed during the last 30 years by various collective bodies within the scientific community and pooled together in the EQUATOR (Enhancing the QUAlity and Transparency Of health Research) network website (https://www.equator-network. org). The most commonly used checklists are:

 Consolidated Standards for Reporting Trials (CON-SORT) checklist for clinical trials;

 STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist for observational studies;

Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) checklist for qualitative studies;

 Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) checklist be followed in the preparation of studies involving live animals, from mammals to fish and invertebrates.

 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) checklist for all MAs and reviews.

There are several other tools of this kind, not presented here, which can be accessed through the EQUATOR website. The authors assume that these checklists reflect the aforementioned breadth and depth of research in clinical and experimental medicine – and because the authors of papers published in ACEM choose various checklists, this broadness of scope translates also to the contents of each category in the employed classification. The checklists also allow for the standardization of the papers' structure and other features – to a reasonable extent – to facilitate better conformity with established standards in scientific medical publishing. These checklists have been extensively discussed in a paper by Misiak and Kurpas.¹¹⁸

Comparison to other journals

A comparative study of the classification strategy employed in different journals could be useful in assessing the efficacy and reliability of such categorization. However, differences in scope and editorial and marketing strategy between different journals could make such comparison biased or otherwise unreliable. A large number of different types of papers can usually be found in journals published by enormous transnational entities like, e.g., Taylor & Francis, Springer Nature or Elsevier, which aim to standardize such classification across several titles owned by a respective publisher (at least concerning the most prestigious journals in the portfolio of a given publisher). Even the nomenclature used varies significantly between journals - Editor Resources by Taylor & Francis state that there are more than 1,400 (sic!) different article type headings in use in that publisher's journals alone.¹¹⁹

The same publisher provided a glossary of article types for early career researchers, which, while relatively concise, provides a classification that: 1) is more detailed than that used in ACEM (it includes, e.g., method articles); 2) is not compatible with categorization used in several journals owned by this publisher (e.g., Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology); and 3) uses nomenclature different from ACEM (e.g., an original paper is called a research paper).¹²⁰ In a single journal, such a detailed categorization could lead to confusion among authors regarding which type of paper their manuscript should be assigned to during submission. Therefore, we reasoned that the categories used in ACEM should be as broad as possible to reflect only the general types of manuscripts - based on the methodological approach (original papers, reviews, MAs that need to be discerned from reviews, RiP papers and MSs), to emphasize papers written by invitation and providing an opinion (editorials), and to set aside articles shorter than others, but nonetheless important (RLs). Our point is that any subdivision within these broad categories would not serve any purpose worth the effort in a single journal of broad scope (all clinical and experimental medicine).

The policy of each journal regarding 1) what classification of papers is used, and 2) which categories from this classification are considered for review and which are excluded and desk-rejected from a given journal, stems from the scope of a journal and the strategy of journal development adopted by its Editorial Board. The stipulations of institutions that evaluate the work of researchers heavily influences both policies of editors and authors' choices of specific article types (e.g., multiple evaluating bodies require scientists to publish full-text original papers in the first place). Therefore, differences in the employed categorizations may result from strictly scientific, editorial, or external factors, which are not always possible to identify.

To sum up: Such a comparison would provide valuable arguments for shaping journal's policy in this respect, but performing it with due diligence and adequately broad scope would require a separate study of comparable, if not larger, size; otherwise, superficial conclusions based on a skewed selection of the materials might be misleading.

Promoting open science

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine is an Open Access journal employing the Gold Open Access model, which means that articles can be accessed at no cost on the journal's website immediately following publication. There are no embargos, paywalls, subscriptions, or other modes of payment of any kind. All articles are published in Open Access model and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) License. The publisher and editors of ACEM support the principles of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (https://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org). Dissemination of science understood as the main goal of scientific journal should also encompass registered preprints; therefore, encourages the publication of preprints on preprint servers such as BioRxiv, MedRxiv or ResearchSquare, as well as on authors' or institutional websites. During submission of a manuscript to ACEM, the authors must disclose that the paper has already been released as a preprint and provide a link to the preprint. Our journal endorsed this practice in January 2022; since then, there have been 6 papers published in 2022 and 3 by the September 2023 issue that were previously published as registered preprints. This issue will be addressed in another editorial by the same authors.

Ensuring the public availability of raw data facilitates the transparency of research and enables its replicability. Several papers published in ACEM include a disclaimer in which authors offer to share raw data upon request. Papers published online as ahead of print since November 2023 include a mandatory disclaimer at the end of the main body of the article as follows: "The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request". Supplementary material is a peer-reviewed material directly relevant to the conclusion of a paper that cannot be included in the printed version for reasons of space or medium limitations (e.g., movie clips or sound files). If a paper accepted for publication in ACEM is accompanied by supplementary data of any kind (in many cases, these are statistical data), the Editorial Office requires that all such files be deposited in the Zenodo repository (https:// zenodo.org) and that a single DOI be obtained for the entire package. Each file should be numbered (Supplementary Table 1, Supplementary Fig. 1, etc.) and a one-sentence description of its contents should be provided. Both the description and the DOI are placed in a separate subsection titled "Supplementary data" at the end of the manuscript. Neither ACEM nor the journal's publisher (Wroclaw Medical University) are in any way associated with the Zenodo repository, either financially or organizationally. We are simply recommending this entity as a reliable and costfree third-party data storage opportunity. This policy was introduced in January 2022 and so far, 17 papers published in 2022 and 25 until the September 2023 issue have had the supplementary materials made available as described above. This issue will be covered in another editorial by the same authors.

Limitations

First and foremost, we provided no description of practical application of the discussed theoretical concepts, i.e., case studies showing how the presented article types translate into concrete papers published in ACEM. As mentioned above, the categories used in ACEM are deliberately broad and presented on the journal's website¹²¹ only in general terms (RiP) or only by their names, because ACEM editors assume that the understanding of an original paper or a MA is rather obvious for a professional researcher. The only types referred to more extensively are RLs (because of the terminological confusion discussed above) and reviews (due to several types of reviews discussed in the literature, a link to a paper by Grant and Booth¹²² presenting a typology of reviews - 14 review types and associated methodologies - is provided as a reference and guide). Therefore, there are no strict definitions per se stated as stipulations for the authors that can later be translated into practice. However, one can observe such translation regarding checklists discussed above, which predefine especially the structure of the paper, and within in - particularly the Materials and methods section. Moreover, the choice of the papers considered for publication from all submitted manuscripts and the final form of the chosen papers (following all revisions) are to a greater extent the result of the professional experience, journal's policy, and the decision of Section Editors than the employed paper classification. The stipulations stemming from this categorization and those found in the checklists play more a gatekeeping than shaping role. Manuscripts that do not conform to these rules, or that do not fit into any of the categories used, are desk-rejected during the initial verification by the Managing Editor or the preliminary review by the Section Editor before they can be sent to peer-review.

Second, no suggestions were formulated for an eventual modification of the article type classification utilized in ACEM in the future. We only became more aware that we should conduct a study on this issue in the future.

Third, meaningful comparisons with paper category policies in other scientific medical journals were deemed to be outside the scope of the present study and should be the subject of future studies.

Fourth, original papers were not reflected upon for the reasons stated in objectives, which renders the picture of paper categorization in ACEM more cohesive, but also incomplete. This issue will be addressed in further papers by the same authors.

Finally, the potential influence of publications in ACEM on medical research or policy changes has not been discussed. The Editorial Office of ACEM does not have any tools that would allow for tracking such influence. However, the section editors of our journal attempt to shape the distribution of topics in the journal through calls for submissions. In 2021 and 2022, there were 4 calls for submissions: 1) Heart failure: recent advances and future perspectives in diagnosing, prognosticating and management; 2) Gastroenterology in the face of local and global challenges; 3) Nephrology in the face of local and global challenges; and 4) Metabolic pathways in carcinogenesis: Mechanism, diagnosis and treatment. The response to each call was clearly visible in the stream of manuscripts submitted to the journal, and 14 of these submissions were published – 2 in 2021 (both from call No. 4) and 12 in 2022 (from 3 other calls – 6 from No. 3, 3 from No, 2 and 3 from No. 1). This topic will be covered in another editorial by the same authors.

Recommendations for the ACEM Editorial Board

Although, as stated above, we think that the categorization we use covers the scope of ACEM, even a brief comparison with other journals (as in the "Comparison with other journals" section) shows that there may be paper categories/types that could prove useful in achieving an even broader diversification of content. Exploring a wider range of medical topics and specialties would allow to cater to a more diverse readership. Such broadening should mean incorporating types of articles as for now explicitly (CR) or implicitly (book reviews) excluded from ACEM. A change in this respect could facilitate the inclusion of multidisciplinary perspectives by encouraging submissions that integrate insights from various medical disciplines to provide a more holistic view of healthcare. Therefore, we propose to prepare a report on the chosen article categories employed in different scientific medical of comparable (i.e., more general) scope to identify promising new types of articles to be introduced in ACEM and assess them in the light of ACEM's to-date policies and needs as defined by the Editorial Board. Such a report would not necessarily be a full-fledged comparative study as discussed in the "Comparison with other journals" section, nor should it pretend to be a complete view of the issue of paper classification in medical literature as a whole. However, even a partial view could provide valuable suggestions. We will never achieve an ideal classification, but we should not refrain from modifications - ACEM must evolve along with all other scientific medical journals.

Conclusions

The article type classification used in ACEM in only one of many possible solutions and may be modified in the future – it should be both clear for the authors and allow easy orientation in the journal's content for the readers. The motivation for choosing the employed categories stems from 3 reasons: 1) their position on the accepted levels of evidence in EBM and their potential to be cited; 2) the usefulness and comprehensibility of the chosen categorization for authors, who should be able to assign their paper to an appropriate category without delving into theoretical considerations. It is also obvious that the presented classification of papers is to some extent arbitrary – the important thing is not to exclude any types of papers from consideration based on arbitrary decisions.

It turned out that in the case of 2 types of articles - editorials and RLs - formulating definitions by the authors was necessary because opinions expressed in the literature as well as practice among editors of other journals varied and were sometimes contradictory. Editorials as understood in ACEM proved to be a powerful category of paper, attracting both renowned researchers and high number of citations; reflection on them revealed their diverse roles and strengthened the dedication of ACEM editors to promote this form of scientific publication. Research letters seem still not widely known in the researcher community and are often confused with other types of papers, like short communications or letters to the editor. Although the authors sustain their decision to exclude case reports from consideration in ACEM, an overview of the literature showed that the debate regarding importance of this category is far from over; the hierarchy of evidence in medicine is not put to question, but a low position in this hierarchy is not an argument for abandoning this type of scientific medical publication altogether.

Moreover, certain types of papers are related to specific sources of problems – while RLs are perceived as controversial by some authors due to their purported inferiority in comparison to original papers, MAs often show deficiencies in statistical analyses of the data; to provide guidance to the readers, we have dedicated an entire paragraph to a presentation of the most important publications on this topic.

Future editorials will explore 3 issues:

 Original papers as the type of article forming the bulk of manuscripts both submitted to and published in ACEM – their diversity and thematic patterns over the years;

2) Preprints as a mode of promoting open science – and ACEM's policy in this regard;

 Public availability of raw data as a way to facilitate the transparency of research and enable its replicability – and ACEM's policy in this regard.

ORCID iDs

Donata Kurpas 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6996-8920 Marek Misiak 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2208-2193

References

- Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine. Types of articles published. New Haven, USA: Yale School of Medicine, Yale University; 2023. https://medicine.yale.edu/yjbm/authorguidelines/typesofarticles. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- New England Journal of Medicine. Article types. Waltham, USA: Massachusetts Medical Society (MMS); 2023. https://www.nejm.org/ author-center/article-types. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- The BMJ. Article types and preparation. London, UK: British Medical Association (BMA); 2023. https://www.bmj.com/about-bmj/resourcesauthors/article-types. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- Frontiers in Medicine. Article types. Lausanne, Switzerland: Frontiers Media; 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/medicine/forauthors/article-types. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- The Medical Journal of Australia. MJA instructions for authors: Types of articles published by the MJA. Hoboken, USA–Sydney, Australia: Wiley on behalf of the Australasian Medical Publishing Company (Australia); 2023. https://www.mja.com.au/journal/mja-instructionsauthors-types-articles-published-mja. Accessed October 19, 2023.

- Springer Publishing. Types of journal articles. New York, USA: Springer Publishing; 2023. https://www.springer.com/us/authors-editors/ authorandreviewertutorials/writing-a-journal-manuscript/types-ofjournal-articles/10285504. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- 7. Peh WC, Ng KH. Basic structure and types of scientific papers. Singapore Med J. 2008;49(7):522–525. PMID:18695858.
- Röhrig B, Prel JBD, Wachtlin D, Blettner M. Types of study in medical research. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. 2009;105(15):262–268. doi:10.3238/arztebl. 2009.0262
- Straus SE, Glasziou P, Richardson WS, Haynes RB, eds. Evidence-Based Medicine: How to Practice and Teach EBM. 5th ed. Amsterdam, the Netherlands–New York, USA: Elsevier; 2019. ISBN:978-0-7020-6296-4.
- Burns PB, Rohrich RJ, Chung KC. The levels of evidence and their role in evidence-based medicine. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2011;128(1):305–310. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e318219c171
- Herrera Ortiz AF, Cadavid Camacho E, Cubillos Rojas J, et al. A practical guide to perform a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Princ Pract Clin Res.* 2021;7(4):47–57. doi:10.21801/ppcrj.2021.74.6
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). *Developing NICE Guidelines: The Manual*. London, UK: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2014. https://www.nice.org.uk/ process/pmg20/resources/developing-nice-guidelines-the-manual-pdf-72286708700869.
- Nundy S, Kakar A, Bhutta ZA. How to write an editorial? In: How to Practice Academic Medicine and Publish from Developing Countries?. Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore; 2022:263–266. doi:10.1007 /978-981-16-5248-6_26
- 14. Singh A, Singh S. What is a good editorial? *Mens Sana Monogr.* 2006; 4(1):14. doi:10.4103/0973-1229.27600
- van Teijlingen E, Hundley V, Sathian B, Simkhada P, Robinson J, Banerjee I. The art of the editorial. *Nepal J Epidemiol*. 2022;12(1):1135–1138. doi:10.3126/nje.v12i1.43104
- Gray R. Now hang on a minute: Five rules for writing an editorial. *Psychiatric Ment Health Nurs*. 2015;22(8):559–560. doi:10.1111/jpm.12260
- Leslie K, Hemmings HC. Excellence in editorials: Fulfilling their critical role in the medical literature. *Br J Anaesth*. 2020;125(5):639–641. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2020.06.061
- Springer Open. Editorials. Berlin–Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2023. https://annalsofintensivecare.springeropen.com/submission-guidelines/preparing-your-manuscript/editorials. Accessed October 18, 2023.
- Tanaka M, Vécsei L. Monitoring the kynurenine system: Concentrations, ratios or what else? *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(8):775–778. doi:10.17219/acem/139572
- 20. Sharman J, Kosmala W. High-quality medical research requires that equipment has been validated for accuracy. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021; 30(12):1221–1223. doi:10.17219/acem/144440
- 21. Battaglia S. Neurobiological advances of learned fear in humans. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022;31(3):217–221. doi:10.17219/acem/146756
- 22. Chen C. Recent advances in the study of the comorbidity of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(4):355–358. doi:10.17219/acem/147441
- 23. Levi M, McGovern D, Summerskill W, Valori R. Key Topics in Evidence-Based Medicine. London, UK: CRC Press; 2001. doi:10.3109/9780203450444
- Greenland S, O'Rourke K. Meta-analysis. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, eds. *Modern Epidemiology*. 3rd ed., thoroughly revised and updated. Philadelphia, USA: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008:652–682. ISBN:978-0-7817-5564-1.
- Ambros-Antemate J, Reyes-Flores A, Argueta-Figueroa L, et al. Accuracy of machine learning algorithms for the assessment of upperlimb motor impairments in patients with post-stroke hemiparesis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(12): 1309–1318. doi:10.17219/acem/152596
- Wang J, Xie D, Cai Z, et al. Does a home-based exercise program play any role in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis? A meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(11):1187–1196. doi:10.17219/acem/151753
- Bradley S, Smokovski I, Bhaskar S. Impact of diabetes on clinical and safety outcomes in acute ischemic stroke patients receiving reperfusion therapy: A meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(6): 583–596. doi:10.17219/acem/146273
- Niu H, Li F, Ma H, Xiu L, Chen J, Hang M. Does tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter –308 A/G polymorphism has any role in the susceptibility to sepsis and sepsis risk? A meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(5):557–565. doi:10.17219/acem/144198

- 29. Shorten A, Shorten B. What is meta-analysis? *Evid Based Nurs*. 2013; 16(1):3–4. doi:10.1136/eb-2012-101118
- Haidich AB. Meta-analysis in medical research. *Hippokratia*. 2010; 14(Suppl 1):29–37. PMID:21487488. PMCID:PMC3049418.
- Stangl D, Berry DA, eds. *Meta-Analysis in Medicine and Health Policy*. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press; 2000. doi:10.1201/9780203909935
- Egger M, Smith GD. Meta-analysis: Potentials and promise. BMJ. 1997; 315(7119):1371–1374. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7119.1371
- Egger M, Smith GD, Phillips AN. Meta-analysis: Principles and procedures. *BMJ*. 1997;315(7121):1533–1537. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7121.1533
- Ahn E, Kang H. Introduction to systematic review and meta-analysis. Korean J Anesthesiol. 2018;71(2):103–112. doi:10.4097/kjae.2018.71.2.103
- Uman LS. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2011;20(1):57–59. PMID:21286370. PMCID:PMC3024725.
- Sterne JAC, Egger M, Smith GD. Systematic reviews in health care: Investigating and dealing with publication and other biases in metaanalysis. *BMJ*. 2001;323(7304):101–105. doi:10.1136/bmj.323.7304.101
- Sterne JAC, Egger M. Funnel plots for detecting bias in meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(10):1046–1055. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(01) 00377-8
- Higgins JPT. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ. 2003; 327(7414):557–560. doi:10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557
- 39. Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a metaanalysis. *Stat Med*. 2002;21(11):1539–1558. doi:10.1002/sim.1186
- Naylor CD. Meta-analysis and the meta-epidemiology of clinical research. BMJ. 1997;315(7109):617–619. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7109.617
- Hansen C, Steinmetz H, Block J. How to conduct a meta-analysis in eight steps: A practical guide. *Manag Rev Q*. 2022;72(1):1–19. doi:10.1007 /s11301-021-00247-4
- 42. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Med.* 2009;6(7):e1000100. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 2021;372:n71. doi:10.1136/bmj.n71
- 44. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, eds. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd ed. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Sons; 2019. doi:10.1002/9781119536604
- Harrer M, Cuijpers P, Furukawa TA, Ebert DD. Doing Meta-Analysis with R: A Hands-On Guide. Boca Raton, USA: Chapman and Hall/CRC Press; 2021. doi:10.1201/9781003107347
- Schwarzer G, Carpenter JR, Rücker G. Meta-Analysis with R. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2015. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-21416-0
- Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothstein HR. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Hoboken, USA: Wiley; 2009. doi:10.1002/9780470743386
- Borenstein M. Common Mistakes in Meta-Analysis and How to Avoid Them. Englewood, USA: Biostat, Inc; 2019. ISBN:978-1-73343-671-7.
- Cooper HM, Hedges LV, Valentine JC, eds. *The Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis*. 3rd ed. New York, USA: Russell Sage Foundation; 2019. ISBN:978-0-87154-005-8.
- Hedges L, Olkin I. Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis. Amsterdam, the Netherlands-New York, USA: Elsevier; 1985. doi:10.1016/C2009-0-03396-0
- Cooper HM. Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis: A Step-by-Step Approach. Vol. 2. 5th ed. Thousand Oaks, USA: SAGE Publishing; 2017. ISBN:978-1-4833-3115-7.
- 52. Lipsey MW, Wilson DB. *Practical Meta-Analysis*. Vol. 49. Thousand Oaks, USA: SAGE Publishing; 2009. ISBN: 978-0-7619-2168-4.
- Littell JH, Corcoran J, Pillai VK, Corcoran J. Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2008. doi:10.1093/ acprof:oso/9780195326543.001.0001
- 54. Pigott TD. Advances in Meta-Analysis. New York, USA: Springer; 2012. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-2278-5
- Egger M, Smith GD, Altman DG, eds. Systematic Reviews in Health Care: Meta-Analysis in Context. Hoboken, USA: Wiley; 2001. doi:10.1002 /9780470693926
- Sutton AJ, Abrams K, Jones D, Sheldon T, Song F. Methods for Meta-Analysis in Medical Research. Hoboken, USA: Wiley; 2000. ISBN:978-0-471-49066-1.
- 57. Whitehead A. *Meta-Analysis Of Controlled Clinical Trials*. Hoboken, USA: Wiley; 2002. doi:10.1002/0470854200

- Rothstein HR, Sutton AJ, Borenstein M, eds. Publication Bias in Meta-Analysis: Prevention, Assessment and Adjustments. Hoboken, USA: Wiley; 2005. doi:10.1002/0470870168
- Hunter JE, Schmidt FL. Methods of Meta-Analysis: Correcting Error and Bias in Research Findings. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, USA: SAGE Publishing; 2015. doi:10.4135/9781483398105
- Brockwell SE, Gordon IR. A comparison of statistical methods for meta-analysis. Stat Med. 2001;20(6):825–840. doi:10.1002/sim.650
- Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD). CRD's Guidance for Undertaking Reviews in Healthcare. 3rd ed. York, UK: York Publishing Services; 2009. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70065-7
- Purssell E, McCrae N. How to Perform a Systematic Literature Review: A Guide for Healthcare Researchers, Practitioners and Students. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2020. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-49672-2
- 63. Silva V, Grande AJ, Martimbianco ALC, Riera R, Carvalho APV. Overview of systematic reviews: A new type of study. Part I: Why and for whom? *Sao Paulo Med J.* 2012;130(6):398–404. doi:10.1590/S1516-31802012 000600007
- Higgins JPT, López-López JA, Becker BJ, et al. Synthesising quantitative evidence in systematic reviews of complex health interventions. *BMJ Glob Health*. 2019;4(Suppl 1):e000858. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000858
- 65. Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2018;18(1):143. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x
- Czubak J, Stolarczyk K, Orzeł A, Frączek M, Zatoński T. Comparison of the clinical differences between COVID-19, SARS, influenza, and the common cold: A systematic literature review. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(1):109–114. doi:10.17219/acem/129573
- 67. Springer J, Szmuda T, Kozłowski D. Does the choice of drug in pharmacologic cardioversion correlate with the guidelines? Systematic review. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(3):331–348. doi:10.17219/acem/130592
- Erdinc B, Sahni S, Gotlieb V. Hematological manifestations and complications of COVID-19. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(1):101–107. doi:10.17219 /acem/130604
- Liu J, Chen Y, Li S, Zhao Z, Wu Z. Machine learning in orthodontics: Challenges and perspectives. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(10):1065–1074. doi:10.17219/acem/138702
- Kuczera P, Więcek A, Adamczak M. Impaired fertility in women and men with chronic kidney disease. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(2):187–195. doi:10.17219/acem/141188
- Dobrowolska-Glazar B, Chrzan R, Bagłaj M. Various aspects of transition of care for adolescents with urological conditions. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2022;31(2):157–163. doi:10.17219/acem/142758
- Marschollek K, Brzecka A, Pokryszko-Dragan A. New biochemical, immune and molecular markers in lung cancer: Diagnostic and prognostic opportunities. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(12):1391–1411. doi:10. 17219/acem/152349
- Chojdak-Łukasiewicz J, Dziadkowiak E, Zimny A, Paradowski B. Cerebral small vessel disease: A review. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(3): 349–356. doi:10.17219/acem/131216
- 74. Das MK. Multicenter studies: Relevance, design and implementation. Indian Pediatr. 2022;59(7):571–579. PMID:34992183.
- Serra-Aracil X, Pascua-Sol M, Badia-Closa J, et al. How to start and develop a multicenter, prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Cir Esp (Engl Ed)*. 2020;98(3):119–126. doi:10.1016/j.cireng.2020.03.002
- Marsh MJ, Hawkins BS. Publications from multicentre clinical trials: Statistical techniques and accessibility to the reader. *Stat Med.* 1994; 13(23–24):2393–2406. doi:10.1002/sim.4780132305
- 77. Lane K, Palm ME, Marion E, et al. Approaches for enhancing the informativeness and quality of clinical trials: Innovations and principles for implementing multicenter trials from the Trial Innovation Network. *J Clin Trans Sci.* 2023;7(1):e131. doi:10.1017/cts.2023.560
- Bourin M. Specific requirements of the multicenter trial. SOJ Pharm Sci. 2019;6(1):1–2. https://symbiosisonlinepublishing.com/pharmacypharmaceuticalsciences/pharmacy-pharmaceuticalsciences95. php. Accessed October 18, 2023.
- Chung KC, Malay S, Shauver MJ. The complexity of conducting a multicenter clinical trial: Taking it to the next level stipulated by the federal agencies. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2019;144(6):1095e–1103e. doi:10.1097/ PRS.000000000006271

- Aisen ML, Schafer K. Basic principles of setting up multicenter trials. JNeurol Rehab. 1997;11(3):185–188. doi:10.1177/154596839701100308
- Zhang X, Wang N, Zhang L, et al. Reporting assessment of multicenter clinical trial protocols: A cross-sectional study. *J Evid Based Med*. 2023;16(1):16–18. doi:10.1111/jebm.12519
- Seifirad S, Alquran L. The bigger, the better? When multicenter clinical trials and meta-analyses do not work. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2021; 37(2):321–326. doi:10.1080/03007995.2020.1860922
- Hammond F, Malec JF, Nick T, Buschbacher RM, eds. Handbook for Clinical Research: Design, Statistics, and Implementation. New York, USA: Demos Medical; 2015. ISBN:978-1-936287-54-3.
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D; for the CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 Statement updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2010;340:c332. doi:10.1136/bmj.c332
- Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, et al. SPIRIT 2013 Statement: Defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. *Ann Intern Med*. 2013;158(3): 200–207. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-158-3-201302050-00583
- Des Jarlais DC, Lyles C, Crepaz N; the TREND Group. Improving the reporting quality of nonrandomized evaluations of behavioral and public health interventions: The TREND Statement. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(3):361–366. doi:10.2105/AJPH.94.3.361
- Arnabat-Dominguez J, Del Vecchio A, Todea C, et al. Laser dentistry in daily practice during the COVID-19 pandemic: Benefits, risks and recommendations for safe treatments. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021; 30(2):119–125. doi:10.17219/acem/130598
- Kusztal M, Kłopotowski M, Bazan-Socha S, et al. Is home-based therapy in Fabry disease the answer to compelling patients' needs during the COVID-19 pandemic? Survey results from the Polish FD Collaborative Group. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(4):449–454. doi:10.17219/ acem/132038
- Heinrich E, Hill G, Kelder JA, Picard M. The 'Research in Progress' article category. Advancing Scholarship and Research in Higher Education. 2021;2(1):1–9. doi:10.59197/asrhe.v2i1.5579
- Dejnek M, Moreira H, Płaczkowska S, et al. Analysis and comparison of autologous platelet-rich plasma preparation systems used in the treatment of enthesopathies: A preliminary study. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(7):757–764. doi:10.17219/acem/135045
- Rudno-Rudzińska J, Kielan W, Guziński M, Kulbacka J. Effects of calcium electroporation, electrochemotherapy, and irreversible electroporation on quality of life and progression-free survival in patients with pancreatic cancer: IREC clinical study. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021; 30(7):765–770. doi:10.17219/acem/139917
- Rutkowski JL, Dohan Ehrenfest DM. Research letters: A new editorial format for the rapid disclosure of innovative data and concepts, didactic demonstrations, and scientific discussions. J Oral Implantol. 2012;38(2):101–103. doi:10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-12-Editorial.3802
- Kukafka R, Leung TI, Eysenbach G. Brilliant ideas can come in all sizes: Research letters. *J Med Internet Res.* 2022;24(7):e41046. doi:10. 2196/41046
- 94. Canadian Journal of Kidney Health and Disease. Formatting Guide for Clinical Research Letters. Thousand Oaks, USA: SAGE Publishing; 2022. https://journals.sagepub.com/pb-assets/cmscontent/CJK/ CJK%20Formatting%20Guides/Clinical%20Research%20Letter%20 Format.pdf. Accessed October 16, 2023.
- 95. Chest. Research letter. Amsterdam, the Netherlands–New York, USA: Elsevier; 2022. https://els-jbs-prod-cdn.jbs.elsevierhealth.com/pb/ assets/raw/Health%20Advance/journals/chest/Research_Letter.pdf. Accessed October 16, 2023.
- Adamiec-Mroczek J. 27-gauge sutureless vitrectomy under topical anesthesia: A pilot study. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(10):1099–1103. doi:10.17219/acem/142353
- Nowiński A, Stachyra K, Szybińska M, Bednarek M, Pływaczewski R, Śliwiński P. The influence of comorbidities on mortality in bronchiectasis: A prospective, observational study. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2021;30(12): 1315–1321. doi:10.17219/acem/144200
- Mercik J, Radziejewska J, Pach K, Zyśko D, Gajek J. ST-segment depression in atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia: Preliminary results. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(12):1323–1328. doi:10.17219/ acem/144161
- Sterczewska A, Wojtyniak A, Mrukwa-Kominek E. Ocular complaints from students during COVID-19 pandemic. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022; 31(2):197–202. doi:10.17219/acem/144199

- 100. Bogucki Z, Giniewicz K. Difference in the occurrence and intensification symptoms of stomatognathic system between women and men in medical staff working with patients infected with COVID-19. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022;31(4):457–464. doi:10.17219/acem/147672
- 101. Olech J, Kopczyński B, Tomczyk Ł, Konieczny G, Kazubski K, Morasiewicz P. The functional and radiographic outcomes following distal radius fracture treatment in a cast for 4 and 6 weeks in the elderly: A randomized trial. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022;31(6):701–706. doi:10.17219/acem/150032
- 102. Dikensoy O. Importance of reading and publishing case reports. *Turk Thorac J.* 2019;20(4):265–266. doi:10.5152/TurkThoracJ.2019.19030
- Edelmayer LW, Fenton JE, Yellin SA, Shearer DJ, Coelho DH. Case report classics in otolaryngology – head and neck surgery: Citation analysis. *J Laryngol Otol*. 2018;132(7):651–656. doi:10.1017/S00 22215118000385
- 104. Erivan R, Dartus J, Villatte G, Marcheix PS, Descamps S, Boisgard S. Bibliometric analysis of case report citations and their effect on the impact factor: How does publishing case reports impact journals? Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2020;106(8):1463–1467. doi:10.1016 /j.otsr.2020.05.016
- 105. Nabil S, Samman N. The impact of case reports in oral and maxillofacial surgery. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2012;41(7):789–796. doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2012.03.007
- 106. Firat AC, Araz C, Kayhan Z. Case reports: Should we do away with them? *J Clin Anesth*. 2017;37:74–76. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2016.10.006
- 107. Bhattacharrya S, Miller J, Ropper AH. The case for case reports. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(4):484–486. doi:10.1002/ana.24267
- Nieder C, Pawinski A, Dalhaug A. Contribution of case reports to glioblastoma research: Systematic review and analysis of pattern of citation. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2012;26(6):809–812. doi:10.3109/02688697. 2012.692842
- 109. Yitschaky O, Yitschaky M, Zadik Y. Case report on trial: Do you, Doctor, swear to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth? *J Med Case Rep*. 2011;5(1):179. doi:10.1186/1752-1947-5-179
- Carey JC. Significance of case reports in the advancement of medical scientific knowledge. *Am J Med Genet A*. 2006;140A(19):2131–2134. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.31449
- 111. Carey JC. The importance of case reports in advancing scientific knowledge of rare diseases. In: Posada De La Paz M, Groft SC, eds. *Rare Diseases Epidemiology*. Vol. 686. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer Netherlands; 2010:77–86. doi:10.1007/978-90-481-9485-8_5
- 112. Albrecht J, Meves A, Bigby M. Case reports and case series from had significant impact on medical literature. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2005; 58(12):1227–1232. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.04.003
- 113. Greenhalgh T. How to read a paper: Getting your bearings (deciding what the paper is about). *BMJ*. 1997;315(7102):243–246. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7102.243
- 114. Institutional Review Board of Johns Hopkins School of Medicine. Case Report Publication Guidance: IRB Review and HIPAA Compliance. Baltimore, USA: Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine (JHUSOM); 2022. https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/institutionalreview-board/guidelines-policies/guidelines/case-report. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- Rison RA, Shepphird JK, Kidd MR. How to choose the best journal for your case report. *J Med Case Rep*. 2017;11(1):198. doi:10.1186/ s13256-017-1351-y
- 116. Akers KG. New journals for publishing medical case reports. *J Med Libr Assoc*. 2016;104(2):146–149. doi:10.5195/jmla.2016.62
- 117. George Washington University. Case reports: Where to publish case reports. Washington, DC, USA: George Washington University; 2023. https://guides.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/casereports. Accessed October 19, 2023.
- 118. Misiak M, Kurpas D. Checklists for reporting research in Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine: How to choose a proper one for your manuscript? Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022;31(10):1065–1072. doi:10.17219/acem/155921
- 119. Taylor & Francis. Streamlining how we describe research outputs. Abingdon-on-Thames, UK: Taylor & Francis; 2023. https://editorresources.taylorandfrancis.com/welcome-to-tf/policies-guidelines/ streamlining-how-we-describe-research-outputs. Accessed November 24, 2023.

- 120. Taylor & Francis. Different types of research articles. A guide for early career researchers. Abingdon-on-Thames, UK: Taylor & Francis; 2023. https://authorservices.taylorandfrancis.com/publishing-yourresearch/writing-your-paper/different-types-of-research-articles. Accessed November 24, 2023.
- 121. Kurpas D, Piątkowska P, Misiak M. Instructions for authors. Wrocław, Poland: Wrocław Medical University Press;2023. https://advances.umw. edu.pl/en/instructions-for-authors/. Accessed November 24, 2023.
- 122. Grant MJ, Booth A. A typology of reviews: An analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Info Libr J.* 2009;26(2): 91–108. doi:10.1111/j.1471-1842.2009.00848.x

MDR3 rs2109505 and *rs1202283* polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis

Haiyan Zhuo^{A,C,D,F}, Jinhai Fan^{A,E,F}, Lvfeng Yao^{B,D,F}, Liqing Zheng^{C,E,F}, Yihong Chai^{B,D,F}

Department of Hepatology, Mengchao Hepatobiliary Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1347-1356

Address for correspondence Jinhai Fan

E-mail: fanjinhai6611@163.com

Funding sources

This study was supported by the Fujian Provincial Natural Science Foundation (grant No. 2020J011168) and the Fuzhou Health Science and Technology Plan Project (grant No. 2020-S-wg7).

Conflict of interest

None declared

Received on July 29, 2022 Reviewed on October 24, 2022 Accepted on March 10, 2023

Published online on May 22, 2023

Abstract

Background. Many studies have assessed the relationship between gene polymorphisms in multidrug resistance protein 3 (MDR3) and the risk of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP); however, there are many conflicting narratives.

Objectives. This meta-analysis was conducted to assess the association between *MDR3* gene polymorphisms and ICP.

Materials and methods. A multi-database search was conducted using Web of Science, Embase, PubMed, and Chinese Biomedical Literature (CBM) databases. Eleven eligible studies focusing on 4 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the *MDR3* gene were selected for analysis. A fixed- or random-effects model was utilized for allelic, dominant, recessive, and superdominant genes.

Results. The pooled results indicated a statistically significant association between *MDR3* polymorphism *rs2109505* and an increased risk of ICP in both the general population and the Caucasian population. No statistically significant associations were found between *MDR3* polymorphism *rs2109505* and ICP in Italian or Asian populations for the 4 genetic models. The *MDR3* polymorphism *rs1202283* was associated with susceptibility to ICP in both the general and Italian populations.

Conclusions. The *MDR3 rs2109505* and *rs1202283* polymorphisms are associated with ICP susceptibility: however, they displayed no correlation with an increased risk of ICP.

Key words: meta-analysis, intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy, SNP, susceptibility, *MDR3* gene polymorphism

Cite as

Zhuo H, Fan J, Yao L, Zheng L, Chai Y. *MDR3 rs2109505* and *rs1202283* polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1347–1356. doi:10.17219/acem/162058

DOI 10.17219/acem/162058

Copyright Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Introduction

Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP), a pregnancy-related liver disorder, is characterized by maternal pruritus without a skin rash in the 3rd trimester. The disorder is recognized as a reversible form of cholestasis in late pregnancy. In addition, patients have varying degrees of elevated total serum bile acids, with or without elevated serum transaminases.¹ The ICP is associated with an increased risk of adverse perinatal outcomes, including stillbirth, preterm delivery, fetal staining of amniotic fluid, fetal distress, or asphyxia.² Elevated total serum bile acids caused by ICP are associated with adverse perinatal outcomes.

It has been acknowledged that genetic factors are closely related to the pathogenesis of ICP.3 For instance, multidrug resistance protein 3 (MDR3), serving as ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 4 (ABCB4),² was reportedly associated with the pathogenesis of ICP. The MDR3 protein serves as a phosphatidylcholine flippase, transporting phosphatidylcholine from the lumen of the hepatocyte to the lumen of the biliary canaliculi.⁴ Moreover, MDR3 dysfunction and failure of phosphatidylcholine secretion triggered by ABCB4 mutations lead to luminal epithelial cell damage and subsequent biochemical abnormalities, which play a key role in the pathogenesis of ICP.² However, a study based on ICP patients from west Sweden showed no association between MDR3 gene mutations and the pathogenesis of ICP.^{5,6} On this basis, we assume that there are conflicting views regarding the roles of MDR3 gene mutations in the pathogenesis and patients' susceptibility to ICP.

Objectives

This meta-analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between *MDR3* gene polymorphisms and ICP susceptibility.

Materials and methods

Search strategy

The protocols used in the search strategy were described according to the previous methods (PROSPERO ID: CRD42020164230). A systematic search was conducted and focused on the studies regarding variants of the *MDR3* gene in ICP patients published in PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and Chinese Biomedical Literature (CBM) databases until January 2021. There were no language restrictions in the search strategy. Following keywords were used in the search: "intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy" OR "recurrent intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy" OR "obstetric cholestasis" OR "cholestasis", AND "multidrug resistance protein 3" OR "ABCB4 protein, human" OR "MDR3 protein."

Studies meeting the following inclusion criteria were eligible to be included in this meta-analysis: 1) studies which examined *MDR3* gene polymorphisms in patients with or without ICP; 2) case-control studies in which the controls had experienced physiological pregnancies; 3) in cases of 2 or more studies from the same cohort, the most integrated study was included; 4) studies which reported the number of genotype variants related to ICP susceptibility. Studies with the following conditions were excluded: 1) the literature revealed familial ICP or other cholesteric liver diseases; 2) studies enrolling nonpregnant women; 3) research or experimental studies that were not conducted on animals; 4) case reports or meeting abstracts; 5) studies lacking particular genotypic data or sequence analysis of *MDR3* polymorphisms.

Data extraction

Data were extracted by 2 investigators independently, including author's name, year of publication, nationality, race, sample size, patient characteristics, risk gene polymorphisms, and method of genotyping. In controversial cases, a thorough discussion was conducted with a 3rd investigator until a consensus was reached.

Statistical analyses

The association of single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the *MDR3* gene with the risk of ICP was estimated by combining pooled odds ratios (ORs), 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) and Z-test results in the allelic, dominant, recessive, and superdominant gene models. The simplest case was represented by a polymorphism with 2 alleles (A – mutant-type, B – wild-type), one of which (A) is thought to be associated with the disease. Association analysis collects information about the numbers of disease-free and diseased subjects with each of the 3 genotypes (AA, AB and BB). A recessive model compares AA with BB+AB, a dominant model compares AB+AA with BB, and a superdominant model compares AA+BB with AB.

For appropriate continuity correction, a value of 0.5 was substituted in the presence of 0 in the number. Meta-analysis was performed on the 4-gene models using the fixed-effects model. The random-effects model was used to evaluate the OR if there was heterogeneity (I² > 50%, p < 0.05) among the studies. The publication bias was evaluated using Egger's test. The STATA v. 12.0 software (StataCorp LLC, College Station, USA) was used for all analyses, and all tests were two-sided. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Characteristics of studies

Initially, a total of 291 articles were extracted from PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, and CBM databases. From these articles, 133 were excluded due to duplication, and 113 were excluded after reading the titles and/or abstracts. Subsequently, full texts of 45 articles were accessed, from which 31 articles were excluded, including 2 case reports, 1 conference article, 13 studies focusing on familial ICP or cholesteric disease, 5 review articles, 5 studies reporting no information on the controls, and 5 articles with no analysis of *MDR3* mutations. Afterwards, we identified 14 eligible studies involving 83 SNPs in *MDR3*, including 4 studies focused on the same SNP (Fig. 1). Finally, 11 eligible studies investigating 4 SNPs (i.e., *rs2109505, rs1202283, rs2302387*, and *rs2230028*) in *MDR3* were included.^{7–17}

Meta-analysis

A meta-analysis was performed based on the *rs2109505* (involving 967 cases and 1149 controls), *rs1202283* (179 cases and 415 controls), *rs2302387* (168 cases and 390 controls), and *rs2230028* (542 cases and 714 controls) (Table 1).



Fig. 1. Study selection process

ICP – intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy; MDR3 – multidrug resistance protein 3; SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism; CMB – Chinese Biomedical Literature.

The pooled results indicated a relationship between the *MDR3 rs2109505* polymorphism and increased risk of ICP in both the general (dominant model: OR = 0.72, 95% CI: 0.34–1.53, Z = 1.99, p = 0.047; recessive model: OR = 0.68, 95% CI: 0.33–1.40, Z = 2.23, p = 0.026; superdominant model: OR = 1.38, 95% CI: 0.66–2.90, Z = 2.10, p = 0.036) and Caucasian (allelic model: OR = 1.87, 95% CI: 1.46–2.40, Z = 6.64, p = 0.000; dominant model: OR = 0.49, 95% CI: 0.38–0.63, Z = 6.56, p = 0.000; recessive model: OR = 0.47, 95% CI: 0.22–0.99, Z = 2.74, p = 0.006; superdominant model: OR = 1.92, 95% CI: 1.52–2.44, Z = 5.72, p = 0.000) populations. However, *MDR3 rs2109505* polymorphism was not correlated with the pathogenesis of ICP in Italian or Asian populations under the 4 genetic models (all p > 0.05) (Table 2, Fig. 2A–D).

We found limited evidence that *MDR3 rs1202283* was associated with ICP susceptibility in general (superdominant model: OR = 0.42, 95% CI: 0.12–1.42, Z = 2.43, p = 0.015), Italian (superdominant model: OR = 0.09, 95% CI: 0.00–5.79, Z = 2.44, p = 0.015) and Asian (allelic model: OR = 0.27, 95% CI: 0.16–0.44, Z = 5.27, p = 0.000) populations. No significant correlation was found between the *MDR3 rs1202283* polymorphism and susceptibility to ICP in Greek or Caucasian population (all p > 0.05) (Table 2, Fig. 3A–D), and *MDR3 rs2302387* or *MDR3 rs2230028* showed no correlation with the risk of ICP (all p > 0.05) (Table 2, Fig. 4A–D and Fig. 5A–D).

Publication bias analysis

Egger's test showed no evidence of publication bias for *MDR3 rs1202283* or *rs2302387* and ICP risk (p > 0.05). There was a publication bias for *rs2109505* in the allelic (t = -6.95, p < 0.01) and dominant (t = -5.84, p = 0.001) gene models, as well as for *rs2230028* in the superdominant model (t = 2.98, p = 0.025) (Table 2).

Discussion

The *MDR3* polymorphisms have been reported to play a role in the pathogenesis of ICP. As a transporter for phospholipids, the MDR3 protein mediates the transmission of phosphatidylcholine into the bile capillary, which deactivates toxic bile salts to protect the epithelial lining.¹⁸ The MDR3 dysfunction has been linked to hormonal and environmental factors, which may contribute to the pathogenesis of ICP.¹⁹ This meta-analysis was conducted to further explore the relationship between *MDR3* gene polymorphisms and the pathogenesis of ICP.

Many studies have previously investigated the relationship between ICP and *MDR3* dysfunction, but there are still disputes regarding the conclusions. In a previous study, Anzivino et al. explored *ABCB4* (*MDR3*) and *ABCB11* mutations in ICP patients in an Italian population. The authors concluded that *ABCB4* mutations were

								Geno	tvpe				Alle	e	
	Year	Country	Race/ethnicity		Sample size		case			control		Cas	je je	cont	lo
				case	control	BB	ΒA	AA	BB	BA	AA	ß	A	Β	A
	2007	Sweden	Caucasian**	52	52	42	6		33	16	m	93	11	82	22
	2015	China	Asian	54	100	30	21	£	67	29	4	81	27	163	37
	2014	СK	Caucasian	563	642	446	110	7	411	205	26	1002	124	1027	257
	2013	Italy	Italian	33	100	25	7	, - -	62	36	2	57	6	160	40
	2009	Italy	ltalian#	10	43	8	2	0	43	0	0	18	2	86	0
	2009	France	Caucasian	50	107	38	10	2	73	30	4	86	14	176	38
.16*	2004	Germany	Caucasian	21	40	15	5	, -	25	13	2	35	7	63	17
	2003	UK	Caucasian	184	65	147	33	4	42	21	2	327	41	105	25
	2015	China	Asian	54	100	7	28	19	10	39	51	42	99	141	59
0	2013	Italy	Italian	33	100	9	20	7	36	50	14	32	34	122	78
11.1E	2010	Greece	Greek	11	25	9	5	0	20	5	0	17	5	45	5
2	2009	Italy	ltalian#	10	43	-	9	ŝ	0	0	43	œ	12	0	86
*	2009	France	Caucasian	50	107	2	28	20	23	53	31	32	68	66	115
al. ^{16*}	2004	Germany	Caucasian	21	40	2	10	9	11	18	[]	20	22	40	40
	2015	China	Asian	54	100	30	19	5	65	31	4	79	29	161	39
10	2013	Italy	Italian	33	100	24	6	0	72	26	2	57	6	170	30
	2009	Italy	ltalian#	10	43	6	, -	0	43	0	0	19	, -	86	0
*	2009	France	Caucasian	50	107	38	10	2	76	28	ŝ	86	14	180	34
al. ^{16*}	2004	Germany	Caucasian	21	40	17	4	0	29	10	,	38	4	68	12
.15*	2007	Sweden	Caucasian**	52	52	49	ŝ	0	42	6	. 	101	m	93	[
2	2018	Poland	Caucasian	96	211	75	21	0	174	37	0	171	21	385	37
al. ¹⁰	2013	Italy	Italian	33	100	29	4	0	86	14	0	62	4	186	14
12	2009	Italy	ltalian#	10	43	6		0	43	0	0	19		86	0
*	2009	France	Caucasian	50	107	47	ŝ	0	97	6		97	ŝ	203	1
14	2008	Italy	Caucasian	96	96	94	2	0	96	0	0	190	2	192	0
al. ^{16*}	2004	Germany	Caucasian	21	40	17	4	0	28	[. 	38	4	67	13
2	2003	NK	Caucasian	184	65	157	27	0	58	9		341	27	122	00

Table 1. Characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis

SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism; A – mild type; B – mutant type; * SNP respected the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium; ** intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) with bile acid levels >40 µmo/L; # ICP with raised gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT).

			Relevanc	e test		Hete	erogenei	ty test	Publicat	ion bias
SNP		Genetic model	OR (95% CI)	Z	p-value	2	Q	p-value	P _{eqqer}	t
		allelic model	1.31 (0.66–2.60)	1.88	0.060	89.47%	19.27	0.01	0.000	-6.95
		dominant model	0.72 (0.34–1.53)	1.99	0.047	88.30%	18.21	0.01	0.001	-5.84
	general	recessive model	0.68 (0.33–1.40)	2.23	0.026	23.61%	6.17	0.52	0.516	0.69
		superdominant model	1.38 (0.66–2.90)	2.10	0.036	87.13%	15.04	0.04	0.410	0.89
		allelic model	1.87 (1.46–2.40)	6.64	0.000	17.10%	2.06	0.72	-	-
	Coursesien	dominant model	0.49 (0.38–0.63)	6.56	0.000	9.04%	1.27	0.87	-	-
	Caucasian	recessive model	0.47 (0.22–0.99)	2.74	0.006	13.97%	2.56	0.63	-	-
#02100E0E		superdominant model	1.92 (1.52–2.44)	5.72	0.000	2.53%	0.58	0.96	-	-
152109505		allelic model	0.37 (0.01–10.21)	0.58	0.564	77.98%	4.97	0.03	-	-
	Italian	dominant model	2.63 (0.07–96.09)	0.52	0.605	80.18%	5.51	0.02	-	-
	Itdiidii	recessive model	2.01 (0.25–16.41)	0.65	0.518	1.39%	0.18	0.68	-	-
		superdominant model	0.39 (0.01–15.62)	0.49	0.626	80.93%	5.73	0.02	-	-
		allelic model	0.68 (0.39–1.20)	1.34	0.181	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Asian	dominant model	1.62 (0.82–3.20)	1.4	0.162	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Asian	recessive model	1.41 (0.30–6.55)	0.44	0.660	-	0.00	-	-	-
		superdominant model	0.64 (0.32–1.29)	1.25	0.213	-	0.00	-	-	-
		allelic model	0.93 (0.19–4.66)	1.34	0.181	96.67%	22.96	0.00	0.652	0.49
		dominant model	1.61 (0.52–4.93)	1.25	0.212	74.99%	10.86	0.05	0.346	1.07
	general	recessive model	0.61 (0.12–3.25)	0.52	0.602	92.10%	17.59	0.00	0.422	0.89
		superdominant model	0.42 (0.12-1.42)	2.43	0.015	89.25%	9.67	0.09	0.051	2.75
		allelic model	0.66 (0.39–1.12)	1.78	0.076	31.92%	1.23	0.27	-	-
	Caucasian	dominant model	2.66 (0.54–13.13)	1.14	0.254	63.84%	2.96	0.09	-	-
	Caucasian	recessive model	1.45 (0.77–2.72)	1.22	0.222	6.09%	0.39	0.53	-	-
		superdominant model	0.81 (0.46–1.43)	1.9	0.058	0.16%	0.06	0.81	-	-
		allelic model	6.79 (0.05–1006.26)	0.7	0.486	91.25%	12.15	0.00	-	-
rc1707702	Italian	dominant model	0.64 (0.02–16.32)	0.28	0.770	73.62%	4.14	0.04	-	-
131202203	Italiali	recessive model	0.12 (0.00–26.41)	0.72	0.469	91.24%	12.14	0.00	-	-
		superdominant model	0.09 (0.00–5.79)	2.44	0.015	85.66%	7.55	0.01	-	-
		allelic model	0.38 (0.10–1.47)	1.4	0.160	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Grook	dominant model	3.33 (0.72–15.54)	1.53	0.125	-	0.00	-	-	-
	UIEEK	recessive model	2.22 (0.04–118.82)	0.39	0.695	-	0.00	-	-	-
		superdominant model	0.30 (0.06–1.40)	1.83	0.067	-	0.00	-	-	-
		allelic model	0.27 (0.16–0.44)	5.27	0.000	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Asian	dominant model	0.75 (0.27–2.09)	0.56	0.577	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Asidi i	recessive model	0.52 (0.26–1.03)	1.87	0.062	-	0.00	-	-	-
		superdominant model	0.59 (0.30–1.16)	0.89	0.373	-	0.00	-	-	-

Table 2. Meta-analysis of multidrug resistance prote	n 3 (MDR3) polymorphisms and intrahepati	ic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) susceptibility
--	--	--

closely involved in the onset of ICP.¹⁰ In addition, 6 MDR3 polymorphisms, namely rs2097937, rs31676, rs1149222, rs4148826, rs2109505, and rs2302386, were significantly associated with an altered risk of ICP, especially rs2109505 $(p = 4.6 \times 10^{-7})$.⁹ In a case report, Kamimura et al. presented an ICP patient with the rs1202283 polymorphism, although no strict link between this polymorphism and ICP was observed.²¹ Our data confirmed that MDR3 rs2109505 and rs1202283 polymorphisms were closely associated with the pathogenesis of ICP. Furthermore,

susceptibility to ICP was related to racial and territorial factors, as revealed in our meta-analysis. In contrast, there were no significant associations between MDR3 rs2302387 or rs2230028 and the risk of ICP. This makes our data consistent with the findings of a previous study.¹³

The rs1202283 polymorphism was closely related to the pathogenesis of ICP among the Caucasian population in France. This polymorphism may affect the splicing and stability of ABCB4 mRNA, as well as the linkage disequilibrium of other SNPs.¹³ Additionally, Dixon

CNID			Relevanc	e test		Hete	rogeneit	ty test	Publicat	ion bias
SNP	C	enetic model	OR (95% CI)	Z	p-value	²	Q	p-value	p _{egger}	t
		allelic model	0.91 (0.39–2.10)	0.51	0.613	75.93%	5.34	0.25	0.507	-0.75
		dominant model	1.10 (0.46–2.59)	0.29	0.775	70.95%	4.65	0.33	0.482	-0.80
	general	recessive model	1.64 (0.58–4.62)	1.03	0.305	9.20%	1.34	0.85	0.106	2.29
		superdominant model	1.00 (0.66–1.52)	0.01	0.993	68.48%	3.73	0.44	0.406	-0.97
		allelic model	1.27 (0.70–2.33)	0.81	0.420	3.22%	0.28	0.60	-	-
	Coursesion	dominant model	0.73 (0.38–1.42)	0.93	0.351	0.33%	0.08	0.77	-	-
	Caucasian	recessive model	1.17 (0.23–5.88)	0.17	0.864	1.86%	0.20	0.65	-	-
** 22/22/27		superdominant model	0.71 (0.35–1.41)	0.99	0.323	0.00%	0.00	1.00	-	-
rs2302387		allelic model	0.48 (0.04–5.27)	0.17	0.866	58.35%	2.52	0.11	-	-
	te a lt a sa	dominant model	2.20 (0.21–23.38)	0.39	0.695	56.00%	2.35	0.12	-	-
	Italian	recessive model	1.25 (0.09–16.84)	0.05	0.958	11.57%	0.58	0.45	-	-
		superdominant model	1.30 (0.57–2.97)	0.61	0.539	53.14%	2.18	0.14	-	-
		allelic model	0.66 (0.38–1.14)	1.48	0.139	-	0.00	-	-	-
	A = 1 = 1	dominant model	1.49 (0.76–2.92)	1.15	0.251	-	0.00	-	-	-
	Asian	recessive model	2.45 (0.63–9.53)	1.29	0.196	-	0.00	-	-	-
		superdominant model	1.21 (0.60–2.44)	0.53	0.597	-	0.00	-	-	-
		allelic model	1.09 (0.50–2.39)	0.3	0.766	70.47%	10.54	0.16	0.880	0.16
		dominant model	0.97 (0.44–2.14)	0.04	0.970	68.02%	10.24	0.18	0.992	-0.01
	general	recessive model	0.76 (0.20–2.87)	0.62	0.533	10.76%	3.05	0.88	0.794	0.27
		superdominant model	0.96 (0.45–2.07)	0.38	0.706	65.08	9.39	0.23	0.025	2.98
		allelic model	1.25 (0.60–2.59)	0.44	0.661	62.29%	7.97	0.16	-	-
*******	Coursesion	dominant model	0.86 (0.41-1.82)	0.09	0.930	59.99%	7.72	0.17	-	-
152230028	Caucasian	recessive model	0.51 (0.12–2.18)	1.02	0.309	6.36%	1.58	0.90	-	-
		superdominant model	1.06 (0.51–2.19)	0.27	0.784	56.23%	6.91	0.23	-	-
		allelic model	0.47 (0.04–5.59)	0.34	0.732	57.40%	2.45	0.12	-	-
	Italian	dominant model	2.17 (0.17–27.09)	0.35	0.729	57.48%	2.45	0.12	-	-
	Itdiidii	recessive model	3.52 (0.21–57.83)	0.88	0.381	0.01%	0.01	0.91	-	-
		superdominant model	0.46 (0.04–5.78)	0.35	0.729	57.48%	2.45	0.12	_	-

Table 2. Meta-analysis of multidrug resistance protein 3 (MDR3) polymorphisms and intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) susceptibility - cont.

OR – odds ratio; 95% CI – 95% confidence interval. Random-effects Sidik–Jonkman model was used, an allelic model was used for A compared to B, a dominant model was used for AB+AA compared to BB, a recessive model was used for AA compared to BB+AB, and a superdominant model was used for AA+BB compared to AB. Values in bold are statistically significant.

et al. indicated that there was a linkage disequilibrium between rs2109505 (c.711A>T, p.I237I) polymorphism and ABCB4 SNPs,⁹ which was considered to be associated with the pathogenesis of ICP in a Swedish population. For the ABCB4 gene, MDR3 rs2109505 and rs1202283were the most common SNPs. They may affect the special conformation and substrate specificity of the transporter, which then affect the transmission of phospholipids through the MDR3 protein.²¹ Furthermore, MDR3rs2109505 and rs1202283 mutations could trigger the dysfunction of the MDR3 transporter, which leads to the decline of phospholipid and phosphatidylcholine in the bile. This would result in the proportion of toxic bile acid, which then leads to injuries of the hepatobiliary cells and an increase in circulating bile acids.

To date, many studies have focused on the association between severe ICP and perinatal outcomes. In an excellent study by Ovadia et al., the authors reported an increased risk of stillbirth for women with serum total bile acids of 100 μ mol or more.²² Cui et al. indicated that women with ICP who also showed serum total bile acids of 40 μ mol or more were reported to present an increased risk of preterm birth compared to their counterparts with lower bile acids.²³ Moreover, those with severe ICP were associated with fetal cardiac arrhythmia and placental vessel spasms.^{24,25} Based on these data, together with our analysis, we speculate that severe ICP may be associated with *MDR3* polymorphisms.

Limitations

There are some limitations to our study. First, there was a publication bias for the *rs2109505* polymorphism in both allelic and dominant gene models, as well as a bias

A Allel	lic model: A vs B	Odds ratio	Weigh
Study		with 95% CI	(%)
Caucasian			
Bacq Y* (2009)		- 1.33 [0.68, 2.58]	13.77
Wasmuth HE* (2007)		2.27 [1.04, 4.96]	13.12
Dixon PH (2014)	1	2.02 [1.60, 2.55]	15.53
Müllenbach R (2003)	4	- 1.90 [1.10, 3.27]	14.38
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)			12.01
Heterogeneity: τ^2 = 0.02, I ² = 17.10%, H ² = 1.2	21	1.87 [1.46, 2.40]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(4) = 2.06, p = 0.72			
Italian			
Tavian D (2009)	←∎─────────────────────────────	0.04 [0.00, 0.93]	3.79
Anzivino C (2013)		- 1.58 [0.72, 3.47]	13.11
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 4.65$, $I^2 = 77.98\%$, $H^2 = 4.5$	54	0.37 [0.01, 10.21]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 4.97, p = 0.03			
Asian			
Dang LY * (2015)		0.68 [0.39, 1.20]	14.29
Heterogeneity: $r^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$		0.68 [0.39, 1.20]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .			
Overall		1.31 [0.66. 2.60]	
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.78$, $I^2 = 89.47\%$, $H^2 = 9.5$	50		
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(7) = 19.27, p = 0.01			
Test of group differences: $Q_b(2) = 11.06$, $p = 0$.	.00		
tandam offecto Cidik Jankman model	1/32 1/8 1/2 1 2	2 8	
andom-enects Sidik-Jonkman model			

MDR3 rs2109505

B	Dominant model: AB+AA vs	Odds ratio V	veigh
Caucasian		with 60% Of	(70)
Baca Y* (2009)		0.68[0.32 1.46] 1	3 72
Wasmuth HE* (2007)		0.41 [0.17, 1.01] 1	3.06
Dixon PH (2014)		0.47[0.36 0.61] 1	5 70
Müllenbach R (2003)		0.46 [0.25 0.86] 1	4 4 1
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)		0.67[0.20, 0.00] 1	1.41
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.01$ $l^2 = 9.0$	$4\% H^2 = 1.10$	0.49[0.38 0.63]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(4) = 1.27, p = 0.	.87		
Italian			
Tavian D (2009)	I	■> 25.59 [1.13, 581.84]	4.24
Anzivino C (2013)		0.52 [0.21, 1.27] 1	3.05
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 5.56$, $I^2 = 80$.	18%, H ² = 5.04	2.63 [0.07, 96.09]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 5.51, p = 0.	.02		
Asian			
Dang LY * (2015)		1.62 [0.82, 3.20] 1	4.15
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$,	H ² = .	1.62 [0.82, 3.20]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = -0.00, p = .			
Overall		0.72 [0.34, 1.53]	
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.92$, $I^2 = 88$. Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(7) = 18.21, p = 0	30%, H ² = 8.55 0.01		
D Super-	dominant model: AA+BB vs	AB Odds ratio Weig	ht
Study		with 95% CI (%)	_
Caucasian			
Bacq Y* (2009)		1.56 [0.69, 3.51] 13.65	5
Wasmuth HE* (2007)	-++=	- 2.12 [0.84, 5.38] 12.99	Э
Dixon PH (2014)		1.93 [1.48, 2.52] 15.96	3
Müllenbach R (2003)		2.18 [1.15, 4.15] 14.53	3
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)		- 1.54 [0.46, 5.13] 11.42	2
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = 2.5$. Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(4) = 0.58, p = 0.	3%, H ² = 1.03 96	1.92 [1.52, 2.44]	
Italian			
Tavian D (2009)	←	0.04 [0.00, 0.89] 4.20	0
Anzivino C (2013)		- 2.09 [0.83, 5.29] 12.99	9
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 5.87$, $I^2 = 80.4$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(1) = 5.73, p = 0.	93%, H ² = 5.24	0.39 [0.01, 15.62]	
A sian			
Dang LY * (2015)	_ 	0.64 [0.32 1 29] 14 24	5
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .	H ² = .	0.64 [0.32, 1.29]	-
Overall		1 20 [0.66 2 0.00]	
Use $1 = 1000 \text{ m}^2 = 1000 \text{ m}^2 = 1070 \text{ m}^$		1.36 [0.66, 2.90]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(7) = 15.04, p = 0	13%, H ² = 7.77 0.04		

C R	ecessive model: AA vs BB+AB	
Study	Odds ratio with 95% C	Weigh
Caucasian		(70)
Bacg Y* (2009)	← 1.07 [0.19. 6	3.061 13.17
Wasmuth HE* (2007)	0.32[0.03.3	3.18] 8.35
Dixon PH (2014)	0.30[0.13, 0	0.691 31.38
Müllenbach R (2003)		3.911 13.29
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)	< − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − −	1.131 7.42
Heterogeneity: $r^2 = 0.11$, $l^2 = 13.97\%$, H	= 1.16 0.47 [0.22 (0.991
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(4) = 2.56, p = 0.63		,
Italian		
Tavian D (2009)	<>4.14 [0.08, 221	1.15] 3.10
Anzivino C (2013)	< 1.53 [0.13, 17	7.45] 7.56
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.04$, $I^2 = 1.39\%$, H^2	= 1.01 2.01 [0.25, 16	5.41]
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 0.18, p = 0.68		
Asian		
Dang LY * (2015)	1.41 [0.30, 6	6.55] 15.73
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$	1.41 [0.30,	3.55]
Test of θ_i = θ_j : Q(0) = 0.00, p = .		
Overall	0.68 [0.33, 1	1.40]
Heterogeneity: τ^2 = 0.25, I ² = 23.61%, H	= 1.31	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(7) = 6.17, p = 0.52		
Test of group differences: $Q_b(2) = 2.82$,	9 = 0.24	
	1/4 1/2 1 2 4 9 16	

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

Fig. 2. Forest plot of effect estimates for *MDR3 rs2109505* polymorphism (c.711A>T) compared to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) risk in 4 models. A. Allelic model: A vs. B; D. Dominant model: AB+AA vs. BB; C. Recessive model: AA vs. BB+AB; D. Superdominant model: AA+BB vs. AB

95% Cl - 95% confidence interval; A - mild type; B - mutant type.

for rs2230028 in the superdominant model. Second, only 4 studies (40%) on rs2109505 and 3 (37.5%) on rs2230028 calculated the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE). Moreover, the case groups from 2 gene loci consisted of ICP patients with bile acid levels higher than 40 µmol/L or had elevated levels of gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT). These 2 conditions were determined as the specific subgroups of ICP, and the rate of *MDR3* mutations was higher than in common ICP patients. We suspect that population bias present in this population, in combination with the violation of the HWE contributed to the publication bias in our meta-analysis. In addition, only 9% of the included studies elucidated the *MDR3*

rs1202283 polymorphism and its impact on ICP risk in the Greek population. In the future, more studies are needed to further investigate the impact of racial and regional factors on the relationship between *MDR3* polymorphisms and ICP risk. Furthermore, there was no exploration of the influence of nongenetic factors on ICP susceptibility.

1/64 1/16 1/4 1 4 16

Conclusions

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

Our meta-analysis indicated that *MDR3 rs2109505* and *rs1202283* gene polymorphisms were associated with ICP

MDR3 rs1202283

в

A Alleli	c model: A vs B			
Study		Odds r with 95%	atio % Cl	Weight (%)
Caucasian				
Bacq Y* (2009)		0.55 [0.33,	0.90]	18.16
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)		0.91 [0.43,	1.92]	17.77
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.05$, $I^2 = 31.92\%$, $H^2 = 1.47$	•	0.66 [0.39,	1.12]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 1.23, p = 0.27				
Italian				
Anzivino C (2013)		0.60 [0.34,	1.05]	18.08
Tavian D (2009)		· 117.64 [6.39,	2166.36]	11.50
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 11.95$, $I^2 = 91.25\%$, $H^2 = 11.43$		6.79 [0.05,	1006.26]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 12.15, p = 0.00				
Asian				
Dang LY * (2015)		0.27 [0.16,	0.44]	18.17
Heterogeneity: $r^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$	•	0.27 [0.16,	0.44]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .				
Greece				
Kitsiou-Tzeli S (2010)	←∎┼	0.38 [0.10,	1.47]	16.32
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = -0.00, p = .		0.38 [0.10,	1.47]	
Overall		0.93 [0.19,	4.66]	
Heterogeneity: τ^2 = 3.64, I^2 = 96.67%, H^2 = 30.05				
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(5) = 22.96, p = 0.00				
Test of group differences: $Q_b(3) = 7.33$, $p = 0.06$		_		
	1/8 1 8 64 5	12		
Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model				

C Reces	sive	mod	el: A	A v	s BE	3+AB		
-						Odds r	atio	Weight
Study						with 95	% CI	(%)
Caucasian			- 11					
Bacq Y* (2009)				•		1.63 [0.81,	3.30]	20.04
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)				H .		1.05 [0.33,	3.41]	18.84
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.02$, $I^2 = 6.09\%$, $H^2 = 1.06$			- 14			1.45 [0.77,	2.72]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(1) = 0.39, p = 0.53			- il					
Italian								
Anzivino C (2013)			Η	•		1.65 [0.60,	4.53]	19.31
Tavian D (2009)	•		- 1			0.01 [0.00,	0.11]	12.21
Heterogeneity: T ² = 14.10, I ² = 91.24%, H ² = 1 1.44						0.12 [0.00,	26.41]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(1) = 12.14, p = 0.00								
Asian			- j.					
Dang LY * (2015)						0.52 [0.26,	1.03]	20.08
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$			+			0.52 [0.26,	1.03]	
Test of θ_i = θ_j : Q(0) = 0.00, p = .			1					
Greece								
Kitsiou-Tzeli S (2010)				•		→2.22 [0.04,	118.82]	9.51
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$			-			-2.22 [0.04,	118.82]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .								
Overall		-	-			0.61 [0.12,	3.25]	
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 3.48$, $I^2 = 92.10\%$, $H^2 = 12.66$			- 1					
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(5) = 17.59, p = 0.00								
Test of group differences: $Q_b(3) = 5.36$, $p = 0.15$			_i			_		
	1/128	1/16	1/21	4	32			
Dendem offects Oldly, Jankasan medel								

D official								
Study						Odds r with 959	atio % Cl	Weight (%)
Caucasian								
Bacq Y* (2009)			-	_	•>(6.57 [1.48,	29.09]	16.83
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)		-	•		1	1.21 [0.36,	4.11]	18.64
Heterogeneity: T ² = 0.85, I ² = 63.84%, H ² = 2.77						2.66 [0.54,	13.13]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 2.96, p = 0.09								
Italian								
Anzivino C (2013)				•	- 2	2.53 [0.96,	6.71]	20.26
Tavian D (2009)	←			-	(0.07 [0.00,	1.93]	7.86
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 4.25$, $I^2 = 73.62\%$, $H^2 = 3.79$ -					(0.64 [0.02,	16.32]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 4.14, p = 0.04								
Asian								
Dang LY * (2015)		_		-	(0.75 [0.27,	2.09]	19.92
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$				-	(0.75 [0.27,	2.09]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .								
Greece								
Kitsiou-Tzeli S (2010)			+	•	:	3.33 [0.72,	15.54]	16.49
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$						3.33 [0.72,	15.54]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .								
Overall						1.61 [0.52,	4.93]	
Heterogeneity: r ² = 1.37, I ² = 74.99%, H ² = 4.00								
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(5) = 10.86, p = 0.05								
Test of group differences: Qb(3) = 3.50, p = 0.32								
	1/16	1/4	1	4	16			

Dominant model: AB+AA vs BB

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman mode



Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

Fig. 3. Forest plot of effect estimates for *MDR3 rs1202283* polymorphism (c.504T>C) compared to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) risk in 4 models. A. Allelic model: A vs. B; B. Dominant model: AB+AA vs. BB; C. Recessive model: AA vs. BB+AB; D. Superdominant model: AA+BB vs. AB

95% CI - 95% confidence interval; A - mild type; B - mutant type.

susceptibility. Further studies are required to explore alternative etiologies for ICP susceptibility, such as ethnic, racial, regional, and nongenetic factors.

ORCID iDs

Haiyan Zhuo () https://orcid.org/0009-0001-0020-7584 Jinhai Fan () https://orcid.org/0009-0005-0624-5978 Lvfeng Yao () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1027-7068 Liqing Zheng () https://orcid.org/0009-0005-3918-696X Yihong Chai () https://orcid.org/0009-0005-0624-5978

References

- 1. Majsterek M, Wierzchowska-Opoka M, Makosz I, Kreczyńska L, Kimber-Trojnar Ż, Leszczyńska-Gorzelak B. Bile acids in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. 2022;12(11):2746. doi:10.3390 /diagnostics12112746
- 2. Smith DD, Rood KM. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* 2020;63(1):134–151. doi:10.1097/GRF.000000000000495
- Reyes H, Sjövall J. Bile acids and progesterone metabolites intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Ann Med.* 2000;32(2):94–106. doi:10.3109/07853890009011758
- Oude Elferink RPJ, Paulusma CC. Function and pathophysiological importance of ABCB4 (MDR3 P-glycoprotein). Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol. 2007;453(5):601–610. doi:10.1007/s00424-006-0062-9

A Allelic	model: A	vs B		
Study			Odds ratio with 95% CI	Weight (%)
Caucasian				
Bacq Y* (2009)			1.16 [0.59, 2.28]	25.35
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)			→ 1.68 [0.51, 5.56]	18.68
Heterogeneity: r ² = 0.01, I ² = 3.22%, H ² = 1.03			1.27 [0.70, 2.33]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 0.28, p = 0.60				
Italian				
Tavian D (2009)	←		0.08 [0.00, 1.92]	5.47
Anzivino C (2013)			1.12 [0.50, 2.49]	23.70
Heterogeneity: τ^2 = 2.03, I ² = 58.35%, H ² = 2 :40			0.48 [0.04, 5.27]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 2.52, p = 0.11				
Asian				
Dang LY * (2015)			0.66 [0.38, 1.14]	26.80
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = .\%$, $H^2 = .$			0.66 [0.38, 1.14]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = .				
Overall			0.91 [0.39, 2.10]	
Heterogeneity: r ² = 0.60, I ² = 75.93%, H ² = 4.15				
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(4) = 5.34, p = 0.25				
Test of group differences: $Q_b(2)$ = 2.72, p = 0.26				
	1/8 1/4	1/2 1 2	4	
Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model				

MDR3 rs2302387

В

D

Dominant model: AB+AA vs BB



С Recessive model: AA vs BB+AB Weigh Odds ratio Study vith 95% CI (%) Caucasia Bacg Y* (2009) 144[023 8.931 27.86 Pauli-Magnus C* (2004) -0 0.61 [0.02, 15.69] 9.73 Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.03$, $I^2 = 1.86\%$, $H^2 = 1.02$ 5.88] 1.17 [0.23, Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(1) = 0.20, p = 0.65 Italian .14 [0.08, 221.15] 6.58 Tavian D (2009) 0.59 [0.03, 12.56] Anzivino C (2013) . 10.86 Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.43$, $I^2 = 11.57\%$, $H^2 = 1.13$ 1.25 [0.09, 16.84] Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(1) = 0.58, p = 0.45 Asian Dang LY * (2015) 2.45 [0.63, 9.531 44.97 rogeneity: τ² = 0.00, I² = .%, H² = 2.45 [0.63, 9.53] Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = . 1.64 [0.58, 4.621 Overall rogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.14$, $I^2 = 9.20\%$, $H^2 = 1.10$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(4) = 1.34, p = 0.85

Odds ratio Weight with 95% CI Study (%) Caucasian Bacg Y* (2009) 1.42[0.63, 3.21] 25.12 Pauli-Magnus C* (2004) 1.42 [0.38, 5.22] 18.46 • Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = 0.00\%$, $H^2 = 1.00$ 1.42 [0.71, 2.83] Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 0.00, p = 1.00 Italian Tavian D (2009) 0.07 [0.00, 1.93] 5.55 Anzivino C (2013) 0.94[0.39 2.27] 24.11 Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 1.70$, $I^2 = 53.14\%$, $H^2 = 2.13$ 0.44 [0.05, 4.23] Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 2.18, p = 0.14 Asian Dang LY * (2015) 0.83 [0.41, 1.67] 26.76 Heterogeneity: r² = 0.00, I² = .%, H² = 0.83 [0.41, 1.67] Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$: Q(0) = 0.00, p = 0.94 [0.40, 2.20] Overall Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.57$, $I^2 = 68.48\%$, $H^2 = 3.17$ Test of $\theta_i = \theta_i$; Q(4) = 3.73, p = 0.44

Super-dominant model: AA+BB vs AB

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

Test of group differences: Q_b(2) = 0.54, p = 0.77

Fig. 4. Forest plot of effect estimates for *MDR3 rs2302387* polymorphism (c.175C>T) compared to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) risk in 4 models. A . Allelic model: A vs. B; B. Dominant model: AB+AA vs. BB; C. Recessive model: AA vs. BB+AB; D. Superdominant model: AA+BB vs. AB

Test of group differences: $Q_b(2) = 1.74$, p = 0.42

Random-effects Sidik-Jonkman model

95% CI - 95% confidence interval; A - mild type; B - mutant type.

 Schneider G, Paus TC, Kullak-Ublick GA, et al. Linkage between a new splicing site mutation in the *MDR3* alias *ABCB4* gene and intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Hepatology*. 2007;45(1):150–158. doi:10.1002/hep.21500

1/8 1/4 1/2 1 2 4 8 16

- Marschall HU, Glantz A, Mattsson LA, Lammert F. No association between known ABCB4 mutations and ICP in patients from West Sweden. J Hepatol. 2001;34(Suppl 1):184. doi:10.1016/S0168-8278(01) 81552-X
- Piątek K, Kurzawińska G, Magiełda J, et al. The role of ABC transporters' gene polymorphism in the etiology of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Ginekol Pol.* 2018;89(7):393–397. doi:10.5603/ GP.a2018.0067
- Dang L, Xu X, Bi H. Correlation analysis between ABCB4 gene polymorphism and intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy [in Chinese]. Maternal and Child Health Care of China. 2015;30(33):5879–5881. https://www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTotal-ZFYB201533062.htm.
- Dixon PH, Wadsworth CA, Chambers J, et al. A comprehensive analysis of common genetic variation around six candidate loci for intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Am J Gastroenterol.* 2014;109(1): 76–84. doi:10.1038/ajg.2013.406

 Anzivino C, Odoardi MR, Meschiari E, et al. ABCB4 and ABCB11 mutations in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy in an Italian population. Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45(3):226–232. doi:10.1016/j.dld.2012.08.011

1/16 1/8 1/4 1/2 1

2

- Kitsiou-Tzeli S, Traeger-Synodinos J, Giannatou E, et al. The c.504T>C (p.Asn168Asn) polymorphism in the *ABCB4* gene as a predisposing factor for intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy in Greece. *Liver Int*. 2010;30(3):489–491. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.02142.x
- 12. Tavian D, Degiorgio D, Roncaglia N, et al. A new splicing site mutation of the *ABCB4* gene in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with raised serum γ -GT. *Dig Liver Dis.* 2009;41(9):671–675. doi:10.1016/j. dld.2008.12.101
- Bacq Y, Gendrot C, Perrotin F, et al. ABCB4 gene mutations and single-nucleotide polymorphisms in women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. JMed Genet. 2009;46(10):711–715. doi:10.1136/ jmg.2009.067397
- Floreani A, Carderi I, Paternoster D, et al. Hepatobiliary phospholipid transporter ABCB4, MDR3 gene variants in a large cohort of Italian women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. Dig Liver Dis. 2008;40(5):366–370. doi:10.1016/j.dld.2007.10.016

С

MDR3 rs2230028

в

Dominant model: AB+AA vs BB





Recessive model: AA vs BB+AB

Study							Od with	ds r 959	atio % Cl	Weigh (%)
Caucasian										
Piatek K (2018)	←		+	•		;	2.19 [0.	.04,	111.27]	10.35
Pauli-Magnus C* (2004)	←	•	+			-	0.61 [0	.02,	15.69]	14.57
Bacq Y* (2009)	←	-	⊢			-	0.70 [0	.03,	17.56]	14.77
Wasmuth HE* (2007)	←	•	-				0.33 [0	.01,	8.21]	14.73
Floreani A (2008)	←		•			;	1.00 [0.	.02,	50.91]	10.34
Müllenbach R (2003	•		+	_			0.12 [0.	.00,	2.90]	14.81
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.21$, $I^2 = 6.36\%$, $H^2 = 1.07$				-			0.51 [0.	.12,	2.18]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(5) = 1.58, p = 0.90										
Italian										
Anzivino C (2013)	←		+	•		;	3.00 [0.	.06,	154.16]	10.30
Tavian D (2009)	←		-			;	4.14 [0.	.08,	221.15]	10.12
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.00$, $I^2 = 0.01\%$, $H^2 = 1.00$							-3.52 [0.	21,	57.83]	
Test of $\theta_i = \theta_j$: Q(1) = 0.01, p = 0.91										
Overall	-						0.76 [0	20,	2.87]	
Heterogeneity: $\tau^2 = 0.39$, $I^2 = 10.76\%$, $H^2 = 1.12$							-		-	
Test of θ _i = θ _i : Q(7) = 3.05, p = 0.88										
Test of group differences: $Q_{1}(1) = 1.43$, p = 0.23										
	1/8	1/2	1	2	9	22	-			
Devidence officiale Old" is because and del	1/0	1/2	1	2	0	32				

D Super-dominant model: AA+BB vs AB



Fig. 5. Forest plot of effect estimates for MDR3 rs2230028 polymorphism (c.1954A>G) compared to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICP) risk in 4 models. A. Allelic model: A vs. B; B. Dominant model: AB+AA vs. BB; C. Recessive model: AA vs. BB+AB; D. Superdominant model: AA+BB vs. AB

95% CI – 95% confidence interval; A – mild type; B – mutant type.

- Wasmuth HE, Glantz A, Keppeler H, et al. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: the severe form is associated with common variants of the hepatobiliary phospholipid transporter ABCB4 gene. Gut. 2007; 56(2):265–270. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.092742
- Pauli-Magnus C, Lang T, Meier Y, et al. Sequence analysis of bile salt export pump (ABCB11) and multidrug resistance p-glycoprotein 3 (ABCB4, MDR3) in patients with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Pharmacogenetics*. 2004;14(2):91–102. doi:10.1097/00008571-200402000-00003
- Müllenbach R. ABCB4 gene sequence variation in women with intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. JMed Genet. 2003;40(5):e70. doi:10.1136 /jmg.40.5.e70
- 18 Dixon PH, Williamson C. The pathophysiology of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol*. 2016;40(2):141–153. doi:10.1016/j.clinre.2015.12.008
- Floreani A, Carderi I, Paternoster D, et al. Intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Three novel MDR3 gene mutations. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;23(11):1649–1653. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02869.x
- 20 Kamimura K, Abe H, Kamimura N, et al. Successful management of severe intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: Report of a first Japanese case. *BMC Gastroenterol*. 2014;14(1):160. doi:10.1186/1471-230X-14-160

- Sauna ZE, Kimchi-Sarfaty C. Understanding the contribution of synonymous mutations to human disease. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2011;12(10): 683–691. doi:10.1038/nrg3051
- Ovadia C, Seed PT, Sklavounos A, et al. Association of adverse perinatal outcomes of intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy with biochemical markers: Results of aggregate and individual patient data meta-analyses. *Lancet*. 2019;393(10174):899–909. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31877-4
- 23. Cui D, Zhong Y, Zhang L, Du H. Bile acid levels and risk of adverse perinatal outcomes in intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* Sep 2017;43(9):1411-1420. doi:10.1111/jog.1339
- Williamson C, Gorelik J, Eaton BM, Lab M, de Swiet M, Korchev Y. The bile acid taurocholate impairs rat cardiomyocyte function: A proposed mechanism for intra-uterine fetal death in obstetric cholestasis. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2001;100(4):363–369. PMID:11256973.
- Sepúlveda WH, González C, Cruz MA, Rudolph MI. Vasoconstrictive effect of bile acids on isolated human placental chorionic veins. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*. 1991;42(3):211–215. doi:10.1016/0028-2243(91)90222-7

Evaluating the influence of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on the spread of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic: A meta-analysis

Lulu Yan^{1,A}, Chunmei Pu^{2,B}, Sanjay Rastogi^{3,D–F}, Rupshikha Choudhury^{4,E,F}, Magesh Kumar Shekar^{5,C,E}, Gitartha Talukdar^{6,E,F}

¹ Department of Nursing and Health, Lingnan Institute of Technology, Guangzhou, China

² Department of Gastroenterology, The General Hospital of Western Theater Command, Chengdu, China

³ Faculty of Surgical Sciences, Boston University, USA

⁴ Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Regional Dental College, Guwahati, India

⁵ Department of Periodontology, Index Institute of Dental Sciences, Indore, India

⁶ private practice, Guwahati, India

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1357-1368

Address for correspondence Sanjay Rastogi E-mail: sanjuras@bu.edu

Funding sources

The study was supported by 2019 Project of Guangdong Higher Vocational and Technical Education Research Association (grant No. GDGZ19Y113): Research on the mental health management mode of higher vocational internship and nursing students based on the "Internship Workshop" platform.

Conflict of interest

None declared

Received on December 4, 2022 Reviewed on December 22, 2022 Accepted on March 22, 2023

Published online on May 11, 2023

Cite as

Yan L, Pu C, Rastogi S, Choudhury R, Shekar MK, Talukdar G. Evaluating the influence of health literacy and healthpromoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on the spread of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic: A meta-analysis. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1357–1368. doi:10.17219/acem/162538

DOI

10.17219/acem/162538

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Health literacy and self-efficacy related to COVID-19 pandemic management are closely linked. Therefore, synthesis of relevant evidence regarding the positive aspects of health literacy and health-promoting protective measures among individuals during COVID-19 pandemic is necessary.

Objectives. To determine the influence of e-health literacy and health-promoting coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) protective behaviors on the spread of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Materials and methods. Following Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines, PubMed, MEDLINE, PsycINFO, EMBASE, and Cochrane Library databases, as well as PROSPERO and ClinicalTrials.gov registry platforms were searched for eligible literature published from January 2020 to July 2022. Studies were included based on predefined Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Study design (PICOS) criteria, and a summary of each study was prepared. To estimate the effect size, the standardized mean difference (SMD) of the evaluated parameters, e-health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors was extracted. Using RevMan and MedCalc software, a meta-analysis was performed.

Results. Twelve eligible studies involving a total of 9854 severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)-infected individuals were included in the meta-analysis. The pooled SMD for e-health literacy was 40.39 (95% confidence interval (95% Cl): 28.14–52.63), with the following heterogeneity values: Tau² of 396.80, χ^2 of 669.48, degrees of freedom (df) of 11, l² of 98%, Z value of 6.47, and p < 0.001. Similarly, the pooled SM for COVID-19 protective behaviors was 15.90 (95% Cl: 10.96–20.84) with Tau² of 55.25, χ^2 of 252.92, df of 11, l² of 98%, Z of 6.31, and p < 0.001.

Conclusions. This study confirmed that e-health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors have a strong positive impact on preventing the spread of COVID-19 infection and on its effective management. We recommend that interventions and applicable policies for promoting such e-literacy programs and preventative measures be given a high level of consideration.

Key words: e-health literacy, COVID-19, pandemic, COVID-19 protective behaviors, health-related behavior

Introduction

The nearly 3-year-long coronavirus disease 2019 (CO-VID-19) pandemic has had a significant impact on societies throughout the world. Globally, approx. 609 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 and approx. 6.5 million deaths have been reported as of September 2022.1 The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is transmitted primarily through the respiratory droplets of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients or a direct contact with asymptomatic individuals.^{2,3} Based on the reported evidence, the World Health Organization (WHO) issued national guidelines in numerous countries recommending the implementation of COVID-19 protective behaviors for droplet and contact precautions.^{4,5} These preventative actions were suggested for the effective suppression of virus transmission and flattening of the COVID-19 pandemic curve. Health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors or preventative measures include maintaining an appropriate physical distance, regularly washing hands to ensure proper hand hygiene and wearing a face mask to prevent virus entry through nasal routes. These protective measures are highly effective at preventing viral transmission and infection spread.^{6,7} Although the COVID-19 vaccine is readily available, it is necessary to engage in these precautionary measures after vaccination to enhance its efficacy.8,9

Health-related education or health literacy is required to comprehend the significance of COVID-19 protective behaviors in the prevention and effective management of SARS-CoV-2 infections, as well as how and when to implement them. Health literacy familiarizes an individual with medical terms and enables them to comprehend drug prescriptions, usage instructions and doctor's instructions for the prevention of health problems and better management when the need arises. It allows a person to assess the risks and benefits of a drug, and to navigate the complexities of the healthcare system.¹⁰ Health literacy is termed e-health literacy when it is acquired through the use of various electronic sources such as the Internet, television and social media applications.¹¹

According to numerous studies, individuals with high e-health literacy are able to manage their health concerns in a better way and effectively implement COVID-19 protective behaviors. In their systematic review and metaanalysis, Li et al. reported that the preventive behaviors in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and compliance with the security regulations play a significant role in fighting COVID-19 pandemic.¹² Liang et al. also noted that precautionary behaviors are highly effective and advantageous in the effective management of the pandemic.¹³ In their research on digital health literacy and online information-seeking behaviors among students during the COVID-19 pandemic, Htay et al. concluded that digital health literacy and online information play an essential role in the management and prevention of COVID-19.¹⁴ In their cross-sectional studies, Riiser et al.¹⁵ and Pechrapa et al.¹⁶ concluded that health literacy and the implementation of health-promoting COVID-19 protective measures are very effective in coping with the pandemic.

Posai et al. evaluated the health-promoting behaviors of hospitalized patients with non-communicable diseases during the 2nd wave of COVID-19 and reported the role of such behaviors in preventing the infection and its spread among patients.¹⁷ Likewise, many researchers conducted cross-sectional studies assessing the influence between e-health literacy and self-efficacy levels on implementing COVID-19 protective behaviors in individuals from different age groups during the pandemic.^{18–26} They confirmed the positive impact of effective disease management on preventing the infection.

Objectives

In light of the significance of these parameters, the purpose of the present meta-analysis was to synthesize the relevant evidence regarding the positive results of health literacy and health-promoting protective measures among individuals from various age groups during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the influence of these variables on the spread of infection and the social and cultural behavior of individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic was evaluated.

Materials and methods

Criteria for inclusion and exclusion

This study included articles published between January 2020 and July 2022 that describe the impact of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic.^{15–26} Only full-text articles were included, and studies with insufficient data or unrelated to the effect of health literacy and COVID-19 protective behaviors on individuals were excluded.

Information sources

This meta-analysis is based on a comprehensive search based on PRISMA guidelines using, PubMed, MEDLINE, PsycINFO, EMBASE, and Cochrane Library databases, as well as PROSPERO and ClinicalTrials.gov registry platforms, conducted from January 2020 to July 2022.

Search strategy

The following terms were used to search for relevant studies: "COVID-19", "coronavirus infection", "pandemic", "health literacy", "COVID protective behavior", "meta-analysis", and "health-related behavior". Regardless of language, publication status or study type, all included articles were chosen in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines. All studies were chosen randomly based on the Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes and Study design (PICOS) criteria (prospective, retrospective, cross-sectional, or observational study). The inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) randomized controlled trials (RCTs) examining the effect of health literacy on individuals and RCTs that evaluated the effect of health-promoting behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic; 2) standardized mean differences (SMDs) in COVID-19 management behaviors between a study group and a control group regarding the basis of their health literacy and implication of health-promoting CO-VID-19 protective behaviors were assessed as the primary outcome. Exclusion criteria encompassed clinical trials with patients already affected by COVID-19 and follow-up periods of less than a month. From the included studies, a concise study summary and event data were extracted.

Selection process

Two authors (LY and CP) independently searched the appropriate sources for related studies. The primary focus was on the full-text articles; abstracts were only used if they contained adequate information for the metaanalysis. Outdated references were removed, and in their place, relevant research was incorporated as required by the inclusion criteria. In addition, 2 researchers (SR and RC) collected event data containing important variables independently from each study.

Data collection process

The methodological validity of the included research was independently assessed by 2 authors (LY and CP). Moreover, they evaluated the heterogeneity of the included experiments. One author (MKS) was responsible for resolving any difference of opinion between the other authors (LY and CP). With the assistance of RevMan software 5 (https://training.cochrane.org/online-learning/ core-software/revman/revman-5-download), we were able to calculate Deek's funnel plot, the Cochran's Q statistic and the I² index in random bivariate mode to assess the heterogeneity.

The source of heterogeneity

The use of full-text publications as opposed to abstracts was investigated for heterogeneity. Other sources of heterogeneity included differences in the age of patients, number of patients, types of scales used to evaluate infections, and results of the studies.

Risk of bias assessment

The assessment of the potential for bias in the included studies was carried out, and the accompanying risk of bias summary and risk of bias graph were performed using the RevMan software $5.^{27}$

Statistical analyses

To evaluate the impact of preventive practices and health literacy among people of varying ages on the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, the mean scores of preventive behaviors and health literacy were taken along with their standard deviations (SDs), and the SMD and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated. The mean preventive practice score was calculated for the important preventive behaviors, such as using a tissue to cover one's nose and mouth when sneezing or coughing, disposing of used tissues in the trash, not touching one's eyes, nose or mouth with unwashed hands, and washing one's hands with soap and water as soon as possible after engaging in any of the aforementioned activities. The SMD of the parameters expressing health literacy and healthpromoting COVID-19 protective behaviors, as well as their respective 95% CIs, were calculated using the Mantel-Haenszel method²⁸ with random bivariate effects utilizing RevMan software 5 along with their respective forest plots. This was done in conjunction with the parameters' respective forest plots. The Tau², χ^2 , I², and Z values were utilized in an analysis to determine the degree of heterogeneity present in the included studies. If the p-value was less than 0.05, the study was regarded as statistically significant. The RevMan software 5 was used to perform the meta-analysis. Publication bias in the included studies was analyzed using Begg's and Egger's tests,²⁹ and a funnel plot was generated using MedCalc software v. 20.218 (MedCalc Software Ltd., Ostend, Belgium) by graphing the proportion of each study against its standard error (SE).³⁰ Using MedCalc software, the Bland–Altman plot³¹ was prepared to examine the level of agreement between the RCTs on health literacy and COVID-19 protective behaviors, and a box and whisker plot³² was utilized to compare the 2 parameters' respective levels of effectiveness.

Results

Results of a literature search

According to the PICOS criteria³³ listed in Table 1, we identified a total of 1237 studies through electronic searches of various databases. We removed 242 studies as they did not pertain to the topic of interest, leaving 995 entries to be examined. In addition, erroneous references and duplications led to the exclusion of 724 papers, leaving only 271 for final screening. Out of the 271 studies, 215

P (patient, problem, population)	individuals from different age groups during COVID-19 pandemic
l (intervention)	evaluation of the impact of health literacy and health protective measures on persons from different age groups during COVID-19 pandemic
C (comparison, control or comparator)	The impact of health literacy and COVID-19 protective behaviors on the individuals from varied age groups during COVID-19 pandemic was assessed on the basis of eHEALS, HELIA scores, PBarS, HPBS, and SSS.
O (outcome/outcomes)	There is a strong correlation between health literacy and COVID-19 protective behaviors. Both factors have a strong positive impact on the prevention and management of COVID-19. E-health literacy provides better access to beneficial healthcare services, preventive material and health information. Likewise, protective behavior helps in the effective management of COVID-19 infection.
S (study type)	cross-sectional studies, randomized controlled trials, observational studies

Table 1. PICOS search

COVID-19 – coronavirus disease 2019; eHEALS – eHealth Literacy Scale; HELIA – Health Literacy Instrument for Adults; PBarS – Perceived Barrier Scale; HPBS – Health-Promoting Behaviors Scale; SSS – Social Support Scale

were removed based on the inclusion criteria, and the eligibility of the remaining 56 studies was further evaluated. Insufficient evidence and improper comparison criteria to create 2×2 tables for review were the primary reasons for the omission. Figure 1 depicts the study flowchart according to the PRISMA recommendations. Twelve publications that met the inclusion criteria, i.e., were relevant to the issue and supplied sufficient data to produce a 2×2 table, were used in the meta-analysis. The twelve included trials, published from 2020 to 2022, included a total of 9854 participants of various ages during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the effects of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on these individuals were compared. Individuals were assigned to the interventions at random, and the influence of these factors on the prevention of the spread of COVID-19 infections and its successful management were examined and analyzed statistically.

Table 2 provides a concise description of the studies included in this meta-analysis. It contains the study's first author, year of publication, journal of publication, type of study, age of the patients, the purpose of the study, male/ female (M/F) ratio, sample size, study location, evaluation scale, intervention results, study conclusion, and p-values indicating statistical significance of the data.

Risk of bias assessment

The assessment of the risk of bias for the included studies is provided in Table 3. The RevMan 5 software was used to conduct the risk of bias analysis, and we determined



Fig. 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram for the included studies

COVID-19 - coronavirus disease 2019.
p-value		<0.05	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.05	<0.001
	Conclusions	A positive correlation exists between health literacy and protective measures among adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic.	Health literacy is important among older adults in order for them to have good access to healthcare services, preventive material and health information.	Health literacy and health- promoting behaviors are beneficial for preventing the SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 spread.	There is a significant negative association between health literacy and fear of COVID-19 among medical students.	Increased health literacy in patients with diabetes would improve self- care behavior and, consequently, decrease their blood sugar level.	People with high socioeconomic levels had better e-health literacy and COVID-19 protective behaviors.	Comprehensive health literacy is necessary for COVID-19 preventive behaviors and making appropriate decisions.
ults	COVID-19 protective behaviors	11.9 ±2.6	2.62 ±1.66	16.64 ±1.34	43.78 ±8.56	4.0 ±0.33	5.40 ±3.33	4.1 ±1.2
Resi	health literacy	14.1 ±1.6	2.53 ±1.47	106.09 ±4.66	128.83 ±18.1	2.68 ±0.64	14.95 ±7.68	27.4 ±9.4
	Gender M/F	1819/379	157/264	105/145	86/192	139/276	139/244	1953/1961
Age of the patients [years]		16–19	6080	× 18	18–30	50-80	20-50	20-69
	Evaluation scale	HLSAC scale	5-point Likert scale	PBarS, HPBS, SSS	HELIA scores	HLS, BSCA	eHEALS	HLS
	Aim of the study	importance of health literacy and health protective measures among adolescents during COVID-19 pandemic	importance of health literacy among older adults during COVID-19 pandemic	evaluation of the health- promoting behaviors of hospitalized patients with non-communicable diseases during the 2 nd wave of COVID-19	evaluation of health literacy and fear among patients with COVID-19	association between health literacy, self-care behavior and blood sugar level among older patients during COVID-19 pandemic	to identify the role of e-health literacy and other cognitive factors for developing protective behaviors among COVID-19 patients	evaluation of effects of COVID-19 protective behaviors and e-health literacy on Japanese adults
	Country	Iran	Thailand	Thailand (Bangkok)	Iran	Thailand	Iran	Japan
	Sample size	2205	421	250	278	415	380	3914
	Type of study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study	obser- vational study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study
Journal		PLoS One	Annals of Geri- atric Medicine and Research	Journal of Multidis- ciplinary Healthcare	Brain and Behavior	Annals of Geri- atric Medicine and Research	Frontiers in Public Health	JMIR Formative Research
Study ID and year		Riiser et al., 2020 ¹⁵	Pechrapa et al., 2021 ¹⁶	Posai et al., 2021 ¹⁷	Pourfridoni et al., 2022 ¹⁸	Suksatan et al., 2021 ¹⁹	Zahirian Moghadam et al, 2022 ²⁰	Nakayama et al., 2022 ²¹

Table 2. Brief summary of the included studies

p-value		<0.001	< 0.05	<0.01	<0.001	<0.05
Conclusions		Healthy lifestyle behaviors of elderly individuals improved because of the health promotion training.	COVID-19 protective behaviors and e-health literacy among health professionals help them to take all the preventive measures and minimize the risk of COVID-19 spread.	E-health literacy and health promotion behaviors play vital role in self-efficacy and self-care ability; there is a positive correlation between both factors among older adults.	Educational planning helps promote health literacy and supports health-promoting behaviors among women in order for them to adopt a healthy lifestyle.	E-health literacy and the use of online technologies during midwifery education curriculum enable the midwives to increase the quality of healthcare and improve patient safety.
llts	COVID-19 protective behaviors	107.22 ±21.09	3.70 ±1.4	60.34 ±6.9	112.23 ±16.09	11.82 ±3.04
Resu	health literacy	136.17±19.60	29.21 ±7.08	16.54 ±4.17	64.41 ±11.31	28.44 ±7.13
	Gender M/F	80/60	239/144	213/212	465 females	578 females
Age of the patients [[years]		>65	20-30	>60	20-50	<20
	Evaluation scale	Health Lifestyle Behavioral Scale-I ³⁴	eHEALS	eHEALS, GSE	HELIA scores	eHEALS, OTSES
	Aim of the study	effect of health promotion training provided to adults on healthy lifestyle behaviors	evaluation of effects of COVID-19 protective behaviors and e-health literacy among health professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic	association of e-health literacy with health- promotiong behaviors among older people	role of health literacy and health-promotiong behaviors among inpatient women during the COVID-19 pandemic	assessment of relationship between e-health literacy and self-efficacy levels in midwifery students during the COVID-19 pandemic
	Country	Turkey	Ethiopia	China	Iran	Turkey
	Sample size	140	38 38 3	425	465	578
	Type of study	random- ized controlled experi- mental study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study	cross- sectional study
	Journal	Political Research Quarterly	JMIR Formative Research	International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Research	BMC Women's Health	Journal of Nursing Research
Study ID and year		Polat and Karasu, 2022 ²²	Tesfa et al., 2022 ²³	Wang et al., 2022 ²⁴	Yusefi et al., 2022 ²⁵	Sögüt et al., 2022 ²⁶

Table 2. Brief summary of the included studies – cont.

Adults; HLS – Health Literacy Scale; BSCA – blood sugar control assessment; eHEALS – eHealth Literacy Scale; HPBS – Health-Promoting Behaviors Scale; SSS – Social Support Scale; HEIA – Health Literacy Instrument for syndrome coronavirus 2.

Was there appropriate statistical analysis performed?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Was the condition measured in a standard, reliable way for all participants?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Were valid methods used for the identification of the condition?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Were the study participants and the setting described in detail?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Were the study participants sampled in an appropriate way?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Was the sample frame appropriate to address the target population?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Were all patients included in the analysis?	ou	оц	ОЦ	ou	ОЦ	ou	OL	оц	OL	оu	ou	ou
Did all patients receive the same reference standard?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Did the study avoid inappropriate exclusions?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Was a consecutive or random sample of patients enrolled?	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Study ID and year	Riiser et al., 2020 ¹⁵	Pechrapa et al., 2021 ¹⁶	Posai et al., 2021 ¹⁷	Pourfridoni et al., 2022 ¹⁸	Suksatan et al., 2021 ¹⁹	Zahirian Moghadam et al., 2022 ²⁰	Nakayama et al., 2022 ²¹	Polat and Karasu, 2022 ²²	Tesfa et al., 2022 ²³	Wang et al., 2022 ²⁴	Yusefi et al., 2022 ²⁵	Sögüt et al., 2022 ²⁶



Fig. 2. Risk of bias summary

that the risk of bias was low, as evidenced by the risk of bias summary in Fig. 2 and the risk of bias graph in Fig. 3.

Meta-analysis outcomes

Using RevMan 5 software, the meta-analysis was completed. The publication bias was evaluated with MedCalc software v. 20.218. As indicated by the funnel plot (Fig. 4) and the outcomes of Egger's and Begg and Mazumdar tests, the publication bias risk in the current meta-analysis was low. Egger's regression test reveals the degree of asymmetry of a funnel plot by calculating the intercept of the standard normal regression against the precision. While Begg and Mazumdar rank correlation test explains the relationship between the ranks of effect sizes and their variances, the Pearson's rank correlation test does not. The data were considered statistically significant and at low risk of publication bias for p < 0.05. Since the significance threshold or pvalue for both statistical tests in our meta-analysis was less than 0.05, i.e., 0.017 for Egger's test and 0.045 for Begg's test, this verifies the minimal likelihood of publication bias.³⁵

The pooled SMD for health literacy (Fig. 5) was 40.39 (95% CI: 28.14-52.63), with following heterogeneity values: Tau² of 396.80, χ^2 of 669.48, degrees of freedom (df) of 11, I² of 98%, Z value of 6.47, and p < 0.001. Similarly, the pooled SMD for COVID-19 protective behaviors (Fig. 6) was 15.90 (95% CI: 10.96–20.84) with Tau² of 55.25, χ^2 of 252.92, df of 11, I² of 98%, Z of 6.31, and p < 0.001. A high SMD, greater than 1, for both examined parameters suggests that these factors are likely to have a favorable impact on the prevention and management of COVID-19.36 Both of these criteria have comparable and substantial effects on the prevention and management of COVID-19, as visible from the size of the boxes and the wide ranges and variability of the whiskers in Fig. 7.37 The results of all the included studies are in strong alignment, as evident from the Bland-Altman plot shown in Fig. 8. In the Bland-Altman plot, 95% of the data points were lying within ± 2 s of the value of the mean differences.³⁸





Fig. 4. Funnel plot for publication bias

95% CI – 95% confidence interval.

Taking into account all of these statistically significant meta-analysis results (p < 0.05), this study demonstrates that both health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors contribute significantly to the proper management and prevention of spreading COVID-19 infections.

Discussion

The goal of this meta-analysis was to examine the effects of health literacy and the application of COVID-19 preventative practices among individuals of various age. The recommended preventive behaviors are hand hygiene, the use of a face mask and keeping an appropriate physical distance, in addition to protective measures such as cough covering, house disinfection and daily vitamin C supplementation.^{39–41} For keeping the necessary physical distance, individuals are advised to stay at home, avoid

A NAME OF A DESCRIPTION				Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Std. Mean Difference	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Moghaddam et al 2022 [20]	14.95	7.68	8.6%	14.95 [-0.10, 30.00]	
Nakayama et al 2022 [21]	27.4	9.4	8.0%	27.40 [8.98, 45.82]	
Pechrapa et al 2021 [16]	2.53	1.47	9.8%	2.53 [-0.35, 5.41]	-
Polat et al 2022 [22]	136.17	19.6	5.0%	136.17 [97.75, 174.59]	· · ·
Posai et al 2021 [17]	106.09	4.66	9.3%	106.09 [96.96, 115.22]	· · · ·
Pourfridoni et al 2021 [18]	128.83	18.1	5.4%	128.83 [93.35, 164.31]	+
Riiser et al 2020 [15]	14.1	1.6	9.8%	14.10 [10.96, 17.24]	+
Sogut et al 2022 [26]	28.44	7.13	8.7%	28.44 [14.47, 42.41]	
Suksatan et al 2021 [19]	2.68	0.64	9.8%	2.68 [1.43, 3.93]	•
Tesfa et al 2022 [23]	29.21	7.08	8.7%	29.21 [15.33, 43.09]	
Wang et al 2022 [24]	16.54	4.17	9.4%	16.54 [8.37, 24.71]	
Yusefi et al 2022 [25]	64.41	11.31	7.4%	64.41 [42.24, 86.58]	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	40.39 [28.14, 52.63]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 396.80 Test for overall effect: Z = 6.43	; Chi² = 669.48, df = 11 (7 (P < 0.00001)	P < 0.00	1001); I² =	98%	-100 -50 0 50 100

Fig. 5. Forest plot standardized mean difference (SMD) for health literacy

95% CI – 95% confidence interval; SE – standard error; df – degrees of freedom.

	Summer and the second			Std. Mean Difference		Std. Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Std. Mean Difference	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI	
Moghaddam et al 2022 [20]	5.4	3.33	9.6%	5.40 [-1.13, 11.93]			
Nakayama et al 2022 [21]	4.1	1.2	11.2%	4.10 [1.75, 6.45]		-	
Pechrapa et al 2021 [16]	2.62	1.66	11.0%	2.62 [-0.63, 5.87]		+	
Polat et al 2022 [22]	107.22	21.09	1.3%	107.22 [65.88, 148.56]			\rightarrow
Posai et al 2021 [17]	16.64	1.34	11.1%	16.64 [14.01, 19.27]		-	
Pourfridoni et al 2021 [18]	43.78	8.56	4.9%	43.78 [27.00, 60.56]			
Riiser et al 2020 [15]	11.9	2.6	10.2%	11.90 [6.80, 17.00]		+	
Sogut et al 2022 [26]	11.82	3.04	9.9%	11.82 [5.86, 17.78]		-	
Suksatan et al 2021 [19]	4	0.33	11.5%	4.00 [3.35, 4.65]		-	
Tesfa et al 2022 [23]	3.7	1.4	11.1%	3.70 [0.96, 6.44]		-	
Wang et al 2022 [24]	60.34	6.9	6.2%	60.34 [46.82, 73.86]			
Yusefi et al 2022 [25]	112.23	16.09	2.0%	112.23 [80.69, 143.77]			\rightarrow
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	15.90 [10.96, 20.84]		•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 55.25; (Chi ² = 252.92, df = 11 (P	< 0.000	01); I ² = 9	6%	100		100
Test for overall effect: Z = 6.31	(P < 0.00001)	-100	-50 0 50	100			

Fig. 6. Forest plot standardized mean difference (SMD) for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) protective behaviors

95% CI - 95% confidence interval; SE - standard error; df - degrees of freedom.



Fig. 7. Box and whisker plot showing effects of health literacy and protective behaviors on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) prevention and management



Fig. 8. Bland-Altman agreement analysis

large gatherings and crowded areas, and avoid all personal contact with others, particularly sick individuals.^{42,43} Hand hygiene refers to the correct washing of hands with an alcohol-based hand rub, soap and water for a predetermined amount of time in order to remove any viruses that may have been contracted.^{44,45} Health literacy is required to understand the advantages of these preventive and protective measures and their effect on health. Health literacy enables an individual to locate, comprehend and assess the value of recommended healthcare information and preventative measures in order to make informed decisions regarding their health and welfare.^{46,47} In their crosssectional study, Duong et al. found that e-health literacy helped in overcoming the dread, stress and despair brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic.⁴⁸ Similarly, Seng et al. highlighted in their review study that health literacy has a significant impact on the ability to receive and absorb vital medical information during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁴⁹ In their comprehensive review and meta-analysis, Barry et al. found that e-health literacy and the understanding of COVID-19 have a significant impact on the health management of emergency department patients.⁵⁰ Similarly, Do et al. showed the positive results of health literacy and health-related behaviors in the management of COVID-19 symptoms during the worldwide pandemic with an odds ratio (OR) of 1.08 (95% CI: 1.04–1.13) and p < 0.001.⁵¹

In the present meta-analysis, we also investigated the influence of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic. We achieved statistically significant results with p < 0.05 and pooled SMD of 40.39 (95% CI: 28.14-52.63) for health literacy and 15.90 (95% CI: 10.96-20.84) for COVID-19 protective behaviors. Based on these findings, we urge that interventions and related policies encouraging these health literacy programs and preventative measures be given top priority.

Limitations

The present study is limited by the fact that only English-language papers were considered, which may have resulted in a selection bias. In addition, the examination of parameters using different scales also influences outcomes to a degree. For a clearer evaluation of the effects of these parameters, it is also possible to include data from other relevant studies that mention proper documentation regarding the patient's case history, clinical issues during drug administration, post-administration side effects, and associated complications. Similarly, only e-health literacy and health-promoting protective behaviors were examined as predictors of success; however, additional criteria such as the impact of various drugs and other social or psychological problems can be added to improve the results.

Conclusions

Health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors have substantial favorable effects on the management of SARS-CoV-2 infections during the COVID-19 pandemic. Understanding and implementing these guidelines contributes significantly to the prevention of virus transmission and its effective management, regardless of age or gender. Individuals with a higher level of health literacy were more likely to adhere to recommended preventive measures and sustain healthier behaviors, such as healthy diet, physical activity and timely administering medications. During the COVID-19 pandemic, in-depth understanding of health-related issues considerably increased social and cultural wellbeing, and reduced the incidence of anxiety and sadness. Based on its statistically significant results (p < 0.05), the present meta-analysis shows that health literacy as an essential ability that must be acquired by all individuals, and the recommended preventive behaviors must be adopted if the COVID-19 pandemic is to be handled properly.

ORCID iDs

Lulu Yan ^(b) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7086-3691 Chunmei Pu ^(c) https://orcid.org/0009-0007-5822-9683 Sanjay Rastogi ^(b) https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8573-3075 Rupshikha Choudhury ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9956-0133 Magesh Kumar Shekar ^(c) https://orcid.org/0009-0000-4565-2617 Gitartha Talukdar ^(b) https://orcid.org/0009-0005-2748-787X

References

- Rauf A, Abu-Izneid T, Olatunde A, et al. COVID-19 pandemic: Epidemiology, etiology, conventional and non-conventional therapies. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(21):8155. doi:10.3390/ ijerph17218155
- Lotfi M, Hamblin MR, Rezaei N. COVID-19: Transmission, prevention, and potential therapeutic opportunities. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2020;508: 254–266. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2020.05.044
- Salian VS, Wright JA, Vedell PT, et al. COVID-19 transmission, current treatment, and future therapeutic strategies. *Mol Pharm*. 2021; 18(3):754–771. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.0c00608
- 4. Bai C, Chotirmall SH, Rello J, et al. Updated guidance on the management of COVID-19: From an American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society coordinated International Task Force (29 July 2020). *Eur Respir Rev.* 2020;29(157):200287. doi:10.1183/16000617.0287-2020
- Lamontagne F, Agarwal A, Rochwerg B, et al. A living WHO guideline on drugs for covid-19 [Update in *BMJ*. 2020;371:m4475. Update in *BMJ*. 2021;372:n860. Update in *BMJ*. 2021;374:n1703. Update in *BMJ*. 2021;374:n2219. Published correction appears in *BMJ*. 2022;377:o1045]. *BMJ*. 2020;370:m3379. doi:10.1136/bmj.m3379
- Beca-Martínez MT, Romay-Barja M, Falcón-Romero M, Rodríguez-Blázquez C, Benito-Llanes A, Forjaz MJ. Compliance with the main preventive measures of COVID-19 in Spain: The role of knowledge, attitudes, practices, and risk perception. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* 2022; 69(4):e871–e882. doi:10.1111/tbed.14364
- Lahiri A, Jha S, Bhattacharya S, Ray S, Chakraborty A. Effectiveness of preventive measures against COVID-19: A systematic review of in silico modeling studies in Indian context. *Indian J Public Health*. 2020; 64(6):156. doi:10.4103/ijph.IJPH_464_20
- Nazzal Z, Maraqa B, Banat L, Kittaneh M, Maa'li Y, Al-Shobaki S. The practice of COVID-19 preventive measures in Palestine on the limits of vaccine provision: A population-based study. *J Infect Dev Ctries*. 2022;16(1):81–89. doi:10.3855/jidc.15013
- 9. Pettit R, Peng B, Yu P, et al. Optimized post-vaccination strategies and preventative measures for SARS-CoV-2 [published as a preprint on September 21, 2021]. Laurel Hollow, USA: medRxiv; 2021. doi:10.1101/2021.09.17.21263723
- Rowlands G. Health literacy: Ways to maximise the impact and effectiveness of vaccination information. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2014; 10(7):2130–2135. doi:10.4161/hv.29603
- 11. Liu C, Wang D, Liu C, et al. What is the meaning of health literacy? A systematic review and qualitative synthesis. *Fam Med Com Health*. 2020;8(2):e000351. doi:10.1136/fmch-2020-000351
- 12. Li F, Liang W, Rhodes RE, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the preventive behaviors in response to the COVID-19 pandemic among children and adolescents. *BMC Public Health*. 2022;22(1):1201. doi:10.1186/s12889-022-13585-z
- Liang W, Duan Y, Li F, et al. Psychosocial determinants of hand hygiene, facemask wearing, and physical distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Behav Med.* 2022;56(11):1174–1187. doi:10.1093/abm/kaac049
- Htay MNN, Parial LL, Tolabing MaC, et al. Digital health literacy, online information-seeking behaviour, and satisfaction of Covid-19 information among the university students of East and South-East Asia. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(4):e0266276. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0266276
- Riiser K, Helseth S, Haraldstad K, Torbjørnsen A, Richardsen KR. Adolescents' health literacy, health protective measures, and healthrelated quality of life during the Covid-19 pandemic. *PLoS One.* 2020; 15(8):e0238161. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0238161
- Pechrapa K, Yodmai K, Kittipichai W, Charupoonpol P, Suksatan W. Health literacy among older adults during COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study in an urban community in Thailand. Ann Geriatr Med Res. 2021;25(4):309–317. doi:10.4235/agmr.21.0090
- Posai V, Suksatan W, Choompunuch B, Koontalay A, Ounprasertsuk J, Sadang JM. Assessment of the health-promoting behaviors of hospitalized patients with non-communicable diseases during the second wave of COVID-19 [published correction appears in *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2021;14:2605–2606]. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2021;14:2185–2194. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S329344
- Pourfridoni M, Khan MA, Daneshi S, Vazirinasab H, Nosrati Z, Daneshi-Maskooni M. Health literacy and fear among Iranian medical students due to COVID-19: An observational study. *Brain Behav.* 2022;12(5):e2586. doi:10.1002/brb3.2586

- Suksatan W, Choompunuch B, Koontalay A, Posai V, Abusafia AH. Predictors of health behaviors among undergraduate students during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional predictive study. *J Multidiscip Healthc*. 2021;14:727–734. doi:10.2147/JMDH.S306718
- Zahirian Moghadam T, Zandian H, Shirin Bonyad H. Utilization of elderly health promotion services during COVID 19 in Iran: A cross-sectional study. JEdu Health Promot. 2022;11(1):297. doi:10.4103/jehp.jehp_1315_21
- Nakayama K, Yonekura Y, Danya H, Hagiwara K. COVID-19 preventive behaviors and health literacy, information evaluation, and decision-making skills in Japanese adults: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Form Res.* 2022;6(1):e34966. doi:10.2196/34966
- Polat F, Karasu F. The effect of health promotion training provided to elderly individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic on healthy lifestyle behaviors. *Glob Health Promot*. 2022;29(3):129–139. doi:10.1177 /17579759221095078
- Tesfa GA, Yehualashet DE, Ewune HA, Zemeskel AG, Kalayou MH, Seboka BT. eHealth literacy and its associated factors among health professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic in resource-limited settings: Cross-sectional study. *JMIR Form Res.* 2022;6(7):e36206. doi:10.2196/36206
- Wang Y, Song Y, Zhu Y, Ji H, Wang A. Association of eHealth literacy with health promotion behaviors of community-dwelling older people: The chain mediating role of self-efficacy and self-care ability. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2022;19(10):6092. doi:10.3390/ijerph19 106092
- 25. Yusefi AR, Barfar E, Daneshi S, Bayati M, Mehralian G, Bastani P. Health literacy and health promoting behaviors among inpatient women during COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Womens Health*. 2022;22(1):77. doi:10.1186/s12905-022-01652-x
- Sögüt S, Dolu İ, Cangöl E. The relationship between COVID-19 knowledge levels and anxiety states of midwifery students during the outbreak: A cross-sectional web-based survey. *Perspect Psychiatr Care*. 2021;57(1):246–252. doi:10.1111/ppc.12555
- Schmidt L, Shokraneh F, Steinhausen K, Adams CE. Introducing RAPTOR: RevMan Parsing Tool for Reviewers. *Syst Rev.* 2019;8(1):151. doi:10.1186/s13643-019-1070-0
- Hanneman SK. Design, analysis, and interpretation of method-comparison studies. AACN Adv Crit Care. 2008;19(2):223–234. doi:10.1097 /01.AACN.0000318125.41512.a3
- 29. Simmonds M. Quantifying the risk of error when interpreting funnel plots. *Syst Rev.* 2015;4(1):24. doi:10.1186/s13643-015-0004-8
- 30. Elovic A, Pourmand A. MDCalc Medical Calculator App review. JDigit Imaging. 2019;32(5):682–684. doi:10.1007/s10278-019-00218-y
- Giavarina D. Understanding Bland Altman analysis. *Biochem Med*. 2015;25(2):141–151. doi:10.11613/BM.2015.015
- Spitzer M, Wildenhain J, Rappsilber J, Tyers M. BoxPlotR: A web tool for generation of box plots. *Nat Methods*. 2014;11(2):121–122. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2811
- Saaiq M, Ashraf B. Modifying PICO question into PICOS model for more robust and reproducible presentation of the methodology employed in a scientific study. *World J Plast Surg.* 2017;6(3):390–392. PMID:29218294.
- Downes L. Motivators and barriers of a healthy lifestyle scale: development and psychometric characteristics. JNurs Meas. 2008;16(1):3–15. doi:10.1891/1061-3749.16.1.3
- Hayashino Y, Noguchi Y, Fukui T. Systematic evaluation and comparison of statistical tests for publication bias. *J Epidemiol.* 2005;15(6): 235–243. doi:10.2188/jea.15.235
- Mittlböck M, Heinzl H. A simulation study comparing properties of heterogeneity measures in meta-analyses. *Statist Med.* 2006;25(24): 4321–4333. doi:10.1002/sim.2692
- Neyman G, Dalsey W. Black Lives Matter protests and COVID-19 cases: Relationship in two databases. *JPublic Health (Oxf)*. 2021;43(2): 225–227. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdaa212
- Haghayegh S, Kang HA, Khoshnevis S, Smolensky MH, Diller KR. A comprehensive guideline for Bland–Altman and intra class correlation calculations to properly compare two methods of measurement and interpret findings. *Physiol Meas*. 2020;41(5):055012. doi:10.1088/1361-6579/ab86d6
- Chen X, Chen H. Differences in preventive behaviors of COVID-19 between urban and rural residents: Lessons learned from a cross-sectional study in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(12):4437. doi:10.3390/ijerph17124437

- 40. Ukwenya VO, Fuwape TA, Ilesanmi OS. COVID-19 health literacy, coping strategies and perception of COVID-19 containment measures among community members in a southwestern state in Nigeria. *Germs*. 2021;11(4):478–497. doi:10.18683/germs.2021.1284
- Kearney M, Bornstein M, Fall M, Nianogo R, Glik D, Massey P. Crosssectional study of COVID-19 knowledge, beliefs and prevention behaviours among adults in Senegal. *BMJ Open*. 2022;12(5):e057914. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057914
- Gouin JP, MacNeil S, Switzer A, Carrese-Chacra E, Durif F, Knäuper B. Socio-demographic, social, cognitive, and emotional correlates of adherence to physical distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study. *Can J Public Health*. 2021;112(1):17–28. doi:10.17269/s41997-020-00457-5
- Chu DK, Duda S, Solo K, Yaacoub S, Schunemann H. Physical distancing, face masks, and eye protection to prevent person-to-person transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Vasc Surg.* 2020;72(4):1500. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2020. 07.040
- Rundle CW, Presley CL, Militello M, et al. Hand hygiene during COVID-19: Recommendations from the American Contact Dermatitis Society. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 2020;83(6):1730–1737. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2020. 07.057
- 45. Natnael T, Adane M, Goraw S. Hand hygiene practices during the COVID-19 pandemic and associated factors among barbers and beauty salon workers in Ethiopia. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(7):e0269225. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0269225

- Hange N, Agoli AM, Pormento MKL, et al. Impact of COVID 19 response on public health literacy and communication. *Health Promot Perspect*. 2022;12(1):1–9. doi:10.34172/hpp.2022.01
- Lastrucci V, Lorini C, Del Riccio M, et al. The role of health literacy in COVID-19 preventive behaviors and infection risk perception: Evidence from a population-based sample of essential frontline workers during the lockdown in the Province of Prato (Tuscany, Italy). *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(24):13386. doi:10.3390/ijerph 182413386
- Duong MC, Nguyen HT, Duong BT, Vu MT. The levels of COVID-19 related health literacy among university students in Vietnam. *Infect Chemother*. 2021;53(1):107. doi:10.3947/ic.2020.0152
- 49. Seng JJB, Yeam CT, Huang CW, Tan NC, Low LL. Pandemic related health literacy: A systematic review of literature in COVID-19, SARS and MERS pandemics [published as a preprint on May 11, 2020]. Laurel Hollow, USA: medRxiv; 2020. doi:10.1101/2020.05.07.20094227
- Barry C, Green S, Payne B, Holmes J, Xu KT. Knowledge of COVID-19 and health literacy among patients seeking care in an emergency department. *Int J Innov Res Med Sci.* 2021;6(12):862–868. doi:10.23958/ ijirms/vol06-i12/1290
- Do BN, Tran TV, Phan DT, et al. Health literacy, eHealth literacy, adherence to infection prevention and control procedures, lifestyle changes, and suspected COVID-19 symptoms among health care workers during lockdown: Online survey. J Med Internet Res. 2020; 22(11):e22894. doi:10.2196/22894

The value of mid-upper arm circumference for malnutrition screening in pediatric celiac disease

Didem Gülcü Taskin^{1,D-F}, Aysun Ata^{2,A-C}

¹ Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Turkey
² Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Turkey

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1369-1375

Address for correspondence Didem Gülcü Taskin E-mail: dgulcu@gmail.com

Funding sources None declared

Conflict of interest None declared

Received on February 5, 2023 Reviewed on March 4, 2023 Accepted on March 15, 2023

Published online on May 4, 2023

Abstract

Background. Malnutrition rates in pediatric celiac disease (CD) patients range from 20.2% to 67.3%.

Objectives. To investigate the prevalence of malnutrition in pediatric CD patients in Turkey using different anthropometric measurements, including mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC).

Materials and methods. This prospective study included 124 patients aged 1–18 years with a diagnosis of CD, admitted to the Pediatric Gastroenterology Outpatient Clinic of Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Turkey. The anthropometric measurements, including weight-for-age (WFA) Z-score, height-for-age (HFA) Z-score, body mass index (BMI)-for-age Z-score, MUAC [cm], and MUAC Z-score were calculated.

Results. The study analyzed 75 female (60.5%) and 49 male (39.5%) patients with a mean age of 9.83 ±4.1 years. While 44 patients (35.5%) had malnutrition according to their BMI Z-scores, 60 patients (48.4%) had malnutrition based on their MUAC Z-scores. The number of patients with stunting (HFA value below -2) was 24 (19.4%), and the WFA value was below -2 in 27 (21.8%) patients. Furthermore, the BMI Z-score failed to identify chronic malnutrition in 70.9% of patients. There was a positive linear correlation (r = 0.396) between the BMI value and the MUAC value (p < 0.001). However, the degree of agreement between the BMI Z-scores and MUAC Z-scores was weak (κ : 0.300).

Conclusions. The MUAC Z-score successfully detected acute and chronic malnutrition and should be included in standard anthropometric measurements at follow-up nutritional assessments in CD patients.

Key words: pediatric, malnutrition, celiac disease, mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC)

Cite as

Taskin DG, Ata A. The value of mid-upper arm circumference for malnutrition screening in pediatric celiac disease. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1369–1375. doi:10.17219/acem/162294

DOI

10.17219/acem/162294

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Background

Celiac disease (CD) is a chronic autoimmune gastrointestinal tract disease characterized by villus atrophy and malabsorption triggered by gluten in genetically susceptible individuals.¹ It is one of the most common genetic diseases, with the global prevalence of 1% in children.² Inadequate nutrient, vitamin and mineral absorption in the villi due to ongoing mucosal damage causes severe nutritional deficiencies in CD.³ Patients with CD may also present with underlying complications such as failure to thrive and weight loss, although 10% of CD patients can be obese, and they should not be overlooked.⁴ Furthermore, CD can present with various gastrointestinal complaints, such as diarrhea, cramping, bloating, flatulence, and nausea, along with other non-classical symptoms, such as iron deficiency anemia, elevated transaminases, constipation, ataxia, lethargy, osteoporosis, and dyspepsia.⁵ Other complications include developmental delay, stunting, delayed puberty, weight loss, and loss of muscle mass. Due to this wide spectrum of clinical presentations in CD, there can be some delay in its diagnosis, with underdiagnoses increasing the malnutrition risk of patients. Therefore, the malnutrition status of all patients should be assessed at the first presentation and in the follow-up period.

Studies show that malnutrition rates in CD pediatric patients range from 20.2% to 67.3%,^{6–8} and malnourished patients, especially those with severe malnutrition, have a higher mortality rate from childhood diseases such as diarrhea and pneumonia.⁹ Therefore, accurate and timely diagnosis of children suffering from malnutrition, or those at risk, is essential in all chronic diseases, especially CD. Indeed, it is possible to protect such patients from the deleterious and irreversible effects of undernutrition on growth¹⁰ in order to reduce the 9-fold increased risk of mortality in this population.¹¹

Various anthropometric measurements have been used to identify high-risk cases of chronic diseases such as CD. Mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) is an easy and cheap anthropometric measurement used to identify malnutrition and is a good predictor of survival in children.¹² Since 2009, the World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended using MUAC as anthropometric criterion for admission to nutrition programs.¹³

Objectives

The study aimed to investigate the prevalence of malnutrition in children with CD in Adana, Turkey, and to compare different anthropometric measurements with MUAC.

Materials and methods

Study design

The prospective study assessed the height and weight of each patient with a Harpenden Portable Stadiometer model 603VR (Holtain Ltd, Crymych, UK) and the same healthcare professional performed each measurement. Three measurements of the MUAC of the left arm were simultaneously measured by the same physician using inflexible MUAC bands, and the mean values were used for the analysis.¹⁴

Study setting

A total of 124 patients diagnosed with CD and aged between 1 and 18 years were followed up at the Pediatric Gastroenterology Outpatient Clinic of Adana City Training and Research Hospital between September 18, 2017 and November 30, 2022.

Participants

A pediatric gastroenterology specialist conducted the follow-up of CD patients, who had to be diagnosed according to the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) criteria using biopsy for inclusion. Patients or legal guardians gave written informed consent to participate in the study, and patient files provided data on age, gender, age at CD diagnosis, disease duration, and laboratory parameters.

Variables

The measured height and weight parameters of the patients were evaluated using the 6D malnutrition awareness application (s://www.malnutrition.com), and weight-for-age (WFA) Z-score, height-for-age (HFA) Z-score, body mass index (BMI)-for-age Z-score, MUAC [cm], and MUAC Z-score values were calculated and recorded.^{15,16} Taking into account the recommendations of the WHO, those with a WFA Z-score below –2 were considered underweight, and those with an HFA Z-score below –2 were considered stunted. According to the BMI Z-score, malnutrition was classified as mild malnutrition (from –1 to –1.99), moderate malnutrition (from –2 to –2.99) or severe malnutrition (–3 and below).

Data sources and measurement

The study used 2 versions of the MUAC band, patented in 2019, to determine the MUAC Z-score. One band was designed for infants aged 2–59 months, and the other for children aged 5–18 years. The bands contain markings for different ages, including 5, 5 1/2, 6, 6 1/2, 7, 7 1/2, 8, 8 1/2, 9, 9 1/2, 10, 10 1/2, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18 years, which indicate malnutrition using colors.¹⁷

Study size

We assumed that a mean effect size of 0.3 would be accepted as a difference in the mean of the parameters, and the sample size was calculated as 124 patients (95% power analysis) at an α significance level of 0.05. The Ethical Ethics Committee of Adana City Training and Research Hospital approved the study (approval No. 2286 issued during meeting No. 117), which adhered to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis of the data was performed with the IBM SPSS v. 25.0 package (IBM Corp., Armonk, USA). The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to determine whether the parameters evaluated in the study showed a normal distribution. Categorical measurements were summarized as numbers and percentages, and continuous measurements as mean \pm standard deviation (M \pm SD; median and quarters when the data distribution differed from normal). The χ^2 test compared categorical expressions, and Cohen's κ coefficient evaluated the differences between MUAC and BMI values. Meanwhile, Spearman's rho correlation test determined the relationship between continuous measurements. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant for all tests.

Results

The study included 124 patients, 75 female (60.5%) and 49 male (39.5%), which is in line with the literature on CD predominance in females.¹⁸ The mean age of the patients was 9.83 ±4.1 years, the mean age at diagnosis was 6.39 ± 3.7 years and the mean follow-up period was 41.1 ± 24.5 months. Forty-four (35.5%) of the patients were malnourished based on BMI Z-score, and 60 (48.4%) had malnutrition according to their MUAC Z-score (Table 1). Furthermore, the number of patients with stunting (HFA Z-score below -2) was 24 (19.4%), and 27 (21.8%) patients obtained WFA Z-scores below -2. Table 2 presents anthropometric measurements of the patients. Twenty-five (20.2%) patients had comorbidities. Guided by the anamnesis and celiac antibody titers, it was noted that 88 patients (71%) showed complete adherence to the celiac diet.

The analysis of the correlation between malnutrition parameters revealed a significant moderate positive linear correlation (r = 0.396) between BMI and MUAC (p < 0.001) (Fig. 1). The degree of agreement between the Z-scores of BMI and MUAC was weak (κ : 0.300) (Table 3), although the positive linear correlation between HFA Z-score and MUAC values was moderate (r = 0.268) and significant (p = 0.003). Also, the WFA Z-score and MUAC values showed a moderate positive linear correlation (r = 0.318, p < 0.01) (Fig. 2,3).

Table 1. Classification of malnutrition according to body mass index (BMI) and mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) Z-scores

Score	Nutritional status	Number	Percentage
	severe malnutrition	3	2.4
	moderate malnutrition	16	12.9
MUAC	mild malnutrition	41	33.1
Z-score	normal	35	28.2
	overweight	26	21.0
	obese	3	2.4
	severe malnutrition	1	0.8
	moderate malnutrition	11	8.9
BMI	mild malnutrition	32	25.8
Z-score	normal	65	52.4
	overweight	10	8.1
	obese	5	4.0

Table 2. The median values of the anthropometric measurements and laboratory parameters of the patients

Parameter	Median (Q1–Q3)
MUAC [cm]	19.3 (17.02–21.97)
HFA Z-score	-0.91 (-1.750.15)
WFA Z-score	-1.19 (-1.890.45)
BMI Z-score	-0.57 (-1.50-0.25)
Hemoglobin [g/dL]	12.8 (11.8–13.3)
MCV [fL]	79.2 (76–82.5)
Eosinophils [cells/mm ³]	200 (100–400)
PNL [cells/mm³]	3250 (2500–4400)
Lymphocytes [/mm ³]	2650 (2100–3200)
Albumin [g/mL]	43 (41–45)
Creatine [mg/dL]	0.40 (0.31–0.47)

Q1 – 1st quartile; Q3 – 3rd quartile; MUAC – mid-upper arm circumference; HFA – height-for-age; WFA – weight-for-age; BMI – body mass index; MCV – mean corpuscular volume; PNL – polymorphonuclear leukocytes.

The analysis between laboratory values and the MUAC value showed a positive correlation between hemoglobin (Hb) (r = 0.572) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (r = 0.387) (both p < 0.01). However, there was no correlation between the malnutrition rate and gender, according to the MUAC Z-score (p = 0.933).

Discussion

This study determined the prevalence of malnutrition in pediatric CD patients using various anthropometric measurements, with malnutrition detected most frequently using the MUAC (48.3%). The malnutrition parameters revealed a significant moderate positive correlation between BMI and MUAC, although WFA, BMI and HFA did not recognize many malnourished patients.



The clinical manifestations of CD are diverse, and there has been an increase in the diagnosis rate of patients presenting with subtle clinical findings due to clinicians' awareness. In patients with CD, malabsorption results from damaged villi of the small intestine and constitutes the primary cause of extraintestinal findings.¹⁹ The majority of patients develop malnutrition due to the prolonged time to diagnosis or failure to ensure the necessary protein, vitamin and calorie intake when on a strict celiac diet.²⁰ The prevalence of malnutrition in children with CD varies by country, but is still high. Indeed, the rate of patients with a WFA Z-score below -2 was 22.4% in an Iranian study,⁵ while another study reported low WFA in 30.8% and stunting in 21.5% of patients.²¹

There is no standard anthropometric measure to define malnutrition in the pediatric population older than 5 years, and the classifications proposed by Waterlow and Gomez et al. were not considered during the study design, as they are historical.^{22,23} The most commonly used measurement methods in this group of children are WFA, HFA and BMI, which are plotted on standard percentile curves and classified according to the population. However, SD values have been used more recently as they better indicate deviation from the general child population. In 2007, the WHO recommended using the BMI-for-age Z-score, as it is considered the best indicator for identifying malnutrition in school-age children and adolescents.²⁴ Despite being recommended, it does not seem possible to implement this method for every patient in a standard outpatient setting, since calculating BMI and evaluating BMI Z-scores impose an additional burden on healthcare personnel. Therefore, MUAC has been used to screen for childhood malnutrition and nutritional status, as it is a more rapid and easily measurable parameter, and it was approved as an independent diagnostic criterion for malnutrition in 2007.25 Indeed, the American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (ASPEN) panel determined MUAC to be a more sensitive prognostic indicator for mortality than weight-for-height parameters in malnourished pediatric patients, and recommended that MUAC measurements be part of a full anthropometric assessment.

Previous studies have shown a close relationship between MUAC and BMI values in this age group.²⁶ Arm measurements such as MUAC and triceps skinfold thickness are better predictors of body composition and malnutrition than WFA, HFA and BMI, which do not make a distinction between muscle and fat mass.²⁷ The current study is the first to examine malnutrition in children with CD using the MUAC Z-score. However, the frequency of malnutrition detected using MUAC was only 48.3%. Similarly to studies in other patient groups, it was determined that the MUAC value had a moderate positive correlation with the WFA, HFA and BMI Z-scores.^{28,29}

Chronic malnutrition in children is recognized using the duration of the symptoms and the HFA Z-score, with a score below -2 considered stunting by the WHO. Evaluation of the HFA Z-score in the current study showed a nonnegligible incidence of stunting, as it was found in 24 patients (19%). Stunting is common in patients with CD, although its reasons remain unclear. According to several hypotheses, malnutrition, growth hormone resistance or low levels of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) are responsible for stunting.^{30–32} An Iranian study found stunting in 10% of patients, based on the WHO criteria. In the current study, patients with comorbidities were not excluded, with 25 patients (20.2%) presenting comorbidities, 10 (41.6%) of whom had stunting, which may explain the increased incidence of chronic malnutrition. Nonetheless, only 7 (29.1%) patients considered to have chronic malnutrition were malnourished according to the BMI Z-score, while 14 (58.3%) were malnourished according to the MUAC Z-score. As such, both measures appear insufficient for defining chronic malnutrition, although it appears that using the MUAC Z-score will lead to better rates of chronic malnutrition diagnosis.

Considering the parameters for classification of malnutrition demonstrate a moderate agreement between the MUAC measurment and BMI Z-scores. But the calculation of the MUAC Z score is weakly correlated with BMI Z scores. (Table 3). This discrepancy is likely due to the fact that the Z-score calculations use American children for reference.¹⁴

			BMI Z-score (n (%))								
Parameter	Parameter	Nutritional status	severe malnutrition	moderate malnutrition	mild malnutrition	normal	overweight	obese	p-value and к		
		severe malnutrition	-	1 (9.1%)	2 (6.3%)	-	-	-			
		moderate malnutrition	-	6 (54.5%)	8 (25%)	2 (3.1%)	-	-	p < 0.001 κ = 0.300		
	MUAC	mild malnutrition	1 (100%)	3 (27.3%)	16 (50%)	21 (32.3%)	-	-			
	Z-score	normal	-	-	4 (12.5%)	29 (44.6%)	2 (20%)	-			
		overweight	-	1 (9.1%)	1 (3.1%)	12 (18.5%)	8 (80%)	4 (80%)			
		obese	-	_	1 (3.1%)	1 (1.5%)	-	1 (20%)			

Table 3. Comparison of the nutritional status of the patients according to the MUAC Z-score and BMI Z-score

BMI – body mass index; MUAC – mid-upper arm circumference; p < 0.001, χ^2 test; κ – kappa agreement, reference range for kappa agreement values: <0 is interpreted as "less agreement than would be expected by chance alone", 0.01–0.20 as "slight agreement", 0.21–0.40 as "fair agreement", 0.41–0.60 as "moderate agreement", 0.61–0.80 as "substantial agreement", and 0.81–1.00 as "almost perfect agreement".

Limitations

Study limitations include the lack of MUAC Z-score percentiles of the Turkish population and the absence of most nutritional laboratory parameters. Also, as the study center is a tertiary hospital, CD patients included in the study may have been in worse health condition, which may have skewed the sample.

Conclusions

The prevalence of malnutrition in patients with CD was 35.5% according to the BMI Z-scores, while it was 48.3% according to the MUAC Z-scores. In addition, 19% of the patients had chronic malnutrition based on the HFA measurements, and BMI Z-score failed to identify chronic malnutrition in 70.9% of patients. For this reason, in the group of patients at high risk of malnutrition, nutrition should be evaluated in detail at each follow-up. Moreover, multiple anthropometric measurements should be performed, and the necessary nutritional support should be provided early to prevent complications.

Supplementary data

The supplementary files are available at https://doi.org/ 10.5281/zenodo.7725284. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary File 1. SPSS data.

Supplementary File 2. Supplementary test of normality and Shapiro–Wilk tests.

ORCID iDs

Didem Gülcü Taskin 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2746-3799 Aysun Ata 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6987-0923

References

- Rewers M. Epidemiology of celiac disease: What are the prevalence, incidence, and progression of celiac disease? *Gastroenterology*. 2005; 128(4,Suppl 1):S47–S51. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2005.02.030
- Taneja K, Mahajan N, Rai A, Malik S, Khatri A. Association of antitissue transglutaminase antibody titers and duodenal biopsy findings in pediatric patients of celiac disease. *Cureus*. 2021;13(3):e13679. doi:10.7759/cureus.13679
- Abadie V, Kim SM, Lejeune T, et al. IL-15, gluten and HLA-DQ8 drive tissue destruction in coeliac disease. *Nature*. 2020;578(7796):600–604. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2003-8
- Jabeen S, Khan AU, Ahmed W, et al. Disease specific symptoms indices in patients with celiac disease: A hardly recognised entity. *Front Nutr.* 2022;9:944449. doi:10.3389/fnut.2022.944449
- Oxentenko AS, Rubio-Tapia A. Celiac disease. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2019; 94(12):2556–2571. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.02.019
- Wierdsma NJ, Nijeboer P, de van der Schueren MAE, Berkenpas M, van Bodegraven AA, Mulder CJJ. Refractory celiac disease and EATL patients show severe malnutrition and malabsorption at diagnosis. *Clin Nutr.* 2016;35(3):685–691. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2015.04.014
- Setavand Z, Ekramzadeh M, Honar N. Evaluation of malnutrition status and clinical indications in children with celiac disease: A crosssectional study. *BMC Pediatr.* 2021;21(1):147. doi:10.1186/s12887-021-02621-3

- Kalleveen MVV, Meij T, Plötz FP. Clinical spectrum of paediatric coeliac disease: A 10-year single-centre experience. *Eur J Pediatr.* 2018;177(4):593–602. doi:10.1007/s00431-018-3103-4
- Isanaka S, Langendorf C, Berthé F, et al. Routine amoxicillin for uncomplicated severe acute malnutrition in children. N Engl J Med. 2016; 374(5):444–453. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1507024
- Lelijveld N, Seal A, Wells JC, et al. Chronic disease outcomes after severe acute malnutrition in Malawian children (ChroSAM): A cohort study. *Lancet Glob Health*. 2016;4(9):e654–e662. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30133-4
- Hill PC, Onyeama CO, Ikumapayi UN, et al. Bacteraemia in patients admitted to an urban hospital in West Africa. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2007; 7(1):2. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-7-2
- Berkley J, Mwangi I, Griffiths K, et al. Assessment of severe malnutrition among hospitalized children in rural Kenya: Comparison of weight for height and mid upper arm circumference. *JAMA*. 2005; 294(5):591. doi:10.1001/jama.294.5.591
- World Health Organization (WHO). Guideline: Updates on the Management of Severe Acute Malnutrition in Infants and Children. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO); 2013. s://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/95584. Accessed March 15, 2023.
- Frisancho A. Anthropometric Standards: An Interactive Nutritional Reference of Body Size and Body Composition for Children and Adults. Ann Arbor, USA: University of Michigan Press; 2008. doi:10.3998/ mpub.93311
- Neyzi O, Bundak R, Gökçay G, et al. Reference values for weight, height, head circumference, and body mass index in Turkish children. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2015;7(4):280–293. doi:10.4274/ jcrpe.2183
- Abdel-Rahman SM, Bi C, Thaete K. Construction of lambda, mu, sigma values for determining mid-upper arm circumference z scores in U.S. children aged 2 months through 18 years. *Nutr Clin Pract*. 2017; 32(1):68–76. doi:10.1177/0884533616676597
- Thaete K, Rowzer K, Stephens K, Abdel-Rahman SM. User-informed medical device development: A case study for pediatric malnutrition assessment. *Glob Pediatr Health*. 2019;6:2333794X1986157. doi:10.1177 /2333794X19861575
- Llorente-Alonso M, Fernández-Aceñero M, Sebastián M. Gluten intolerance: Sex- and age-related features. Can J Gastroenterol. 2006;20(11): 719–722. doi:10.1155/2006/470273
- Imran M, Cheema HA, Alvi MA, Rehman MU, Ali M, Sarwar HA. Spectrum of clinical presentation of celiac disease in pediatric population. *Cureus*. 2021;13(6):e15582. doi:10.7759/cureus.15582
- Green PHR, Cellier C. Celiac disease. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(17):1731–1743. doi:10.1056/NEJMra071600
- Dehbozorgi M, Honar N, Ekramzadeh M, Saki F. Clinical manifestations and associated disorders in children with celiac disease in southern Iran. *BMC Pediatr.* 2020;20(1):256. doi:10.1186/s12887-020-02162-1
- 22. Waterlow JC. Classification and definition of protein-calorie malnutrition. *BMJ*. 1972;3(5826):566–569. doi:10.1136/bmj.3.5826.566
- Gomez F, Galvan RR, Cravioto J, Frenk S. Malnutrition in infancy and childhood, with special reference to kwashiorkor. *Adv Pediatr.* 1955; 7:131–169. PMID:14349775.
- 24. de Onis M. Development of a WHO growth reference for schoolaged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ*. 2007;85(9): 660–667. doi:10.2471/BLT.07.043497
- 25. World Health Organization (WHO), World Food Programme, United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). *Community-Based Management of Severe Acute Malnutrition: A Joint Statement*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO), World Food Programme, United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); 2007. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44295. Accessed September 20, 2022.
- Chomtho S, Fewtrell MS, Jaffe A, Williams JE, Wells JCK. Evaluation of arm anthropometry for assessing pediatric body composition: Evidence from healthy and sick children. *Pediatr Res.* 2006;59(6):860–865. doi:10.1203/01.pdr.0000219395.83159.91
- Bellou TF. Skinfold measurements enhance nutrition assessments and care planning for children with developmental delays and disabilities. *Infant Child Adolesc Nutr.* 2011;3(3):158–170. doi:10.1177 /1941406411403305

- Dasgupta A, Butt A, Saha T, Basu G, Chattopadhyay A, Mukherjee A. Assessment of malnutrition among adolescents: Can BMI be replaced by MUAC. *Indian J Community Med.* 2010;35(2):276. doi:10.4103/0970-0218.66892
- Phong RY, Taylor SL, Robinson BA, Jhawar S, Nandalike K. Utility of midupper arm circumference in diagnosing malnutrition in children with cystic fibrosis. *Nutr Clin Pract*. 2020;35(6):1094–1100. doi:10.1002 /ncp.10593
- Nemet D, Raz A, Zifman E, Morag H, Eliakim A. Short stature, celiac disease and growth hormone deficiency. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metabol. 2009;22(10):979–983. doi:10.1515/JPEM.2009.22.10.979
- Corneab R, Gheban D, Simionescu B, Margescu M. Celiac disease among adolescents: Poor growth and delayed puberty. *Int J Celiac Dis.* 2018;6(2):52–57. http://pubs.sciepub.com/ijcd/6/2/1/. Accessed December 12, 2022.
- 32. Giovenale D, Meazza C, Cardinale GM, et al. The prevalence of growth hormone deficiency and celiac disease in short children. *Clin Med Res.* 2006;4(3):180–183. doi:10.3121/cmr.4.3.180

Suicide attempts among children and adolescents admitted to a Polish Emergency Department: Analysis of epidemiology, circumstances and methods of 154 cases

Izabela Pilarska^{1,2,B-D,F}, Kinga Grabska^{1,3,B-D,F}, Jan Stachurski^{4,A,B,E,F}

¹ Student Research Association of Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

² Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of the Interior and Administration, Warsaw, Poland

³ Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiology, St. Anna's Hospital of Trauma Surgery in Warsaw, Poland

⁴ Department of Emergency Medical Services, Faculty of Health Sciences, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1377-1384

Address for correspondence Jan Stachurski

E-mail: jan.stachurski@wum.edu.pl

Funding sources

The article was prepared in the frame of the project "Suicide attempts in children and adolescents – an analysis of risk factors, methods of and reasons for suicide attempts by minors" conducted from 2021 to 2022, and financed from the subvention for science obtained by the Medical University of Warsaw, Poland.

Conflict of interest

None declared

Received on October 19, 2022 Reviewed on March 5, 2023 Accepted on March 14, 2023

Published online on May 4, 2023

Cite as

Pilarska I, Grabska K, Stachurski J. Suicide attempts among children and adolescents admitted to a Polish Emergency Department: Analysis of epidemiology, circumstances and methods of 154 cases. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2023;32(12):1377–1384. doi:10.17219/acem/162245

DOI

10.17219/acem/162245

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Suicide attempts among pediatric patients are currently one of the most critical issues in modern psychiatry and emergency medicine, and constitute a serious public health problem that affects people of almost every age group. It is often emphasized that attempted suicide is a cry for help, and according to international studies, the pandemic year of 2020 massively impacted the frequency of suicide attempts among children. However, such studies have yet to appear in Poland.

Objectives. To characterize the frequency, circumstances and methods of suicide attempts among children and adolescents, and investigate their relationship with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

Materials and methods. The study retrospectively analyzed the medical records of 154 children admitted to the Emergency Department due to suicide attempts between January 2020 and June 2021.

Results. No statistical relationship was found between the direct impact of the pandemic and suicide attempts among children and adolescents. However, age and gender influenced the methods used and the frequency of suicide attempts. Females are more likely to attempt suicide than males, and patients as young as 8 tried to take their own lives.

Conclusions. Due to the increasing frequency of suicide attempts in children and adolescents, people at particular risk of such behaviors should be identified and provided with effective care. Unfortunately, although the vast majority of pediatric patients who attempted suicide had psychiatric consultations in the past, it did not prevent them from actively trying to end their lives. Furthermore, even children of a very young age are at risk of suicide events.

Key words: psychiatry, emergency medicine, pediatrics, self-harm, mental health

Background

Suicide is the 2nd leading cause of mortality among young people aged 10–24 worldwide.¹ A suicide attempt is an independent, potentially lethal act with the intent to take one's own life.² Attempted suicide is a serious public health problem, affecting people from almost every age group,³ and a significant problem in children and adolescents, influenced by complex factors.^{3,4} Such factors include, but are not limited to, social and psychological issues, mental diseases and addictions (Fig. 1).³ Fortunately, death by suicide is a relatively rare event compared to attempted suicide.⁴ As such, the number of suicide attempts is incomparably greater than committed (accomplished) suicides, although the frequency of such attempts remains underestimated. Thoughts of suicide and attempted suicide are well-known risk factors for death by suicide, and suicidal thoughts, attempted suicide and death by suicide can create a continuum of suicidality.⁵

In December 2019, the first case of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection was reported in Wuhan, China,^{6,7} and on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) announced the outbreak of a global pandemic.⁸ To date, 640 million people worldwide have contracted coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), and more than 6.6 million people have died from the infection.⁹ The pandemic created new challenges for healthcare, and isolation, quarantine, school closures, as well as high risk of transmission of infections significantly affected the mental health of young people in particular.¹⁰ Indeed, the COVID-19 epidemic significantly impacted the mental state of society, particularly by exacerbating depression and anxiety.¹¹

Suicide attempts among pediatric patients are one of the most important issues in modern psychiatry and



Fig. 1. Risk factors for suicidal behavior. Data are taken from the study by Marzec et al. $^{\rm 3}$

emergency medicine, and the number of suicide attempts may have increased during the pandemic. Indeed, international studies indicate an increase in the frequency of suicide attempts among children during the pandemic year of 2020.^{10,12} Several papers on the risk factors for suicide attempts among children and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic demonstrate that they may have been particularly affected by containment measures, such as physical distancing. Furthermore, lack of contact with schools, teachers and peers, difficulties obtaining or continuing psychiatric treatment, a more frequent use of narcotics, and anxiety related to family health and economic problems are the most frequently mentioned reasons for the increased risk of suicide attempts in children and adolescents.^{13,14} Moreover, some studies suggest that increased awareness of suicidal thoughts and behaviors by parents, due to spending more time at home, resulted in children being taken to hospital more often.¹³ However, such studies have yet to be conducted in Poland.

Objectives

This study analyzed the frequency, circumstances and methods of suicide attempts among children and adolescents admitted to the Pediatric Emergency Department of the Medical University of Warsaw (MUW), Poland. In addition, the study considered the impact of the CO-VID-19 pandemic on suicide rates.

Materials and methods

Study design and setting

This single-center retrospective study analyzed medical records of children and adolescents admitted to the Emergency Department of the Pediatric Teaching Clinical Hospital of the University Clinical Center of the MUW. This hospital is the highest referral pediatric center in Poland and one of the 2 psychiatry centers for children up to 14 years of age for the Masovian and Podlaskie Voivodeships. Additionally, as the only children's trauma center in the region, the hospital receives a large proportion of the most seriously injured children.¹⁵ The data analyzed in the study were collected between January 2020 and June 2021.

Ethical approval

The study conformed with the Declaration of Helsinki, European Union directives and the standards required by biomedical journals. The Bioethics Committee of the MUW (approval No. AKBE/108/2021 of July 2, 2021) and the hospital management approved the study.

Participants

Patients admitted to the emergency department requiring psychiatric consultation were selected, with the hospital's electronic medical documentation system used to collect the data, resulting in the inclusion of 154 subjects for whom all necessary data were available. The criteria for patient exclusion were: age >18 years, a suicide attempt in the previous 48 h, incomplete patient data, and any condition preventing psychiatrist examination, such as consciousness disorders or loss of consciousness. The exclusion criterion of a suicide attempt within the last 48 h ensured consistency with other studies.^{16,17} A lack of full documentation resulted in exclusion of only 2 patients.

Data sources

Detailed information on the mental state of the child and its psychiatric history was obtained on the basis of a psychiatric consultation conducted by a child psychiatrist. The eligibility criteria for inclusion were complete medical records containing age and gender, details on suicidal behaviors, and thoughts reported by the patients such as talking about wanting to die or commit suicide, looking for suicide methods, talking about feeling hopeless, or having no reason to live. Other required information included details of previous suicide attempts, prior psychiatrist intervention, diagnosis of a mental disorder, family history of mental disorders, and any addictions. Moreover, data included the patient's family situation, such as whether the child came from a complete family, could count on parental support by asking if they rely on their caregivers, and whether the attempted suicide was related to the prevailing COVID-19 pandemic.

The link between the decision to attempt suicide and the COVID-19 pandemic was based on, among others, fear of a pandemic, problems with learning at school, issues with isolation and lack of contact with people outside the immediate family, and exacerbation of financial or family problems due to the pandemic. This information was obtained from the psychiatric consultations and interviews with parents, available in the records. Other data on attempted suicide included the method used, information on whether the child acted to take their life, if the child required hospitalization due to the resulting injuries, and if the child was immediately admitted to a psychiatric department.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis employed IBM SPSS software v. 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, USA). Categorical variables were summarized as frequency tables, range and mean \pm standard deviation (M \pm SD). The relationships between the variables were examined using the χ^2 test, while the strength

of dependence was investigated using the Phi–Yule coefficient and the Cramer's V coefficient, the results of which included 95% confidence interval (95% CI). A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Table 1 describes the statistical results for the compared values. The study included 123 females (79.9%) and 31 males (20.1%). Participants were divided into age groups of 8–13 years (n = 73) and 14–17 years (n = 81), since patients get admitted to psychiatric youth centers from the age of 14. The mean age for females was 13.8 years (median: 14 years, SD: ± 1.64 , minimum: 8 years, and maximum: 17 years). The mean age for males was 13.7 years (median: 14 years, SD: ± 2.07 , minimum: 8 years, and maximum: 17 years). The youngest recorded patient with a suicide attempt was 8 years old (Table 1).

Most of the children investigated were admitted after their first suicide attempt (64.3%, n = 99), with the first attempt being more common in males (77.4%, n = 24) than females (61%, n = 75). The majority of children (81.2%, n = 125) had previously experienced suicidal behavior or thoughts, or both. Suicidal thoughts were more frequent in those aged 14–17 years (85.2%, n = 69) than in patients aged 8–13 years (76.7%, n = 56). Furthermore, suicidal behavior or thoughts, or both, were found more frequently in females (85.4%, n = 105) and males (64.5%, n = 20). Moreover, the relationship between gender and suicidal behavior and thoughts was statistically significant (χ^2 = 7.042, degrees of freedom (df) = 1, p = 0.008). However, the relationship was relatively weak (Phi–Yule coefficient = 0.214).

A large proportion of children (74.7%, n = 115) were previously under the care of a psychiatrist, while some (25.3%, n = 39) had never received such help. Females (76.4% n = 94) visited a psychiatrist more often than males (67.7% n = 21), and those aged 8–13 years (75.3%, n = 55) were under the care of a psychiatrist more often than those aged 14–17 years (74.1%, n = 60). Only 16.2% (n = 25) of children had an addiction, with a large proportion addicted to the Internet/computer (48%, n = 12), 28% (n = 7) to drugs such as cannabis, mephedrone and psychoactive substances, and 24% (n = 6) to other substances such as alcohol and nicotine. Furthermore, addiction differed significantly between males (29%, n = 9) and females (13%, n = 16).

At the time of the suicide attempt, most children (92.9%, n = 143) were not under the influence of intoxicants such as alcohol and psychoactive substances or pharmaceuticals used for nontherapeutic purposes, although 7.1% (n = 11) were. Furthermore, a statistically significant relationship was observed between age and whether the child was under the influence of intoxicants or pharmaceuticals at the time of the suicide attempt ($\chi^2 = 6.974$, df = 1,

		A	ge		Ger	nder		
Characteristics		8–13 years (n = 73)	14–17 years (n = 81)	p-value	women (n = 123)	men (n = 31)	p-value	
Has the child attempted suicide before?	yes	23 (31.5%)	32 (39.5%)	0.301	48 (39%)	7 (22.6%)	0.134	
has the child attempted suicide before:	no	50 (68.5%)	49 (60.5%)	0.501	75 (61%)	24 (77.4%)	0.151	
Has the child had any previous suicidal	yes	56 (76.7%)	69 (85.2%)	0.170	105 (85.4%)	20 (64.5%)	0.009	
behavior or thoughts?	no	17 (23.3%)	12 (14.8%)	0.179	18 (14.6%)	11 (35.5%)	0.008	
Has the child been previously looked after	yes	55 (75.3%)	60 (74.1%)	0.857	94 (76.4%)	21 (67.7%)	0.446	
by a psychiatrist?	no	18 (24.7%)	21 (25.9%)	0.057	29 (23.6%)	10 (32.3%)	0.440	
Is the shild addicted?	yes	13 (17.8%)	12 (14.8%)	0.615	16 (13%)	9 (29%)	0.050	
is the child addicted?	no	60 (82.2%)	69 (85.2%)	0.015	107 (87%)	22 (71%)	0.039	
Was the child under the influence	yes	1 (1.4%)	10 (12.3%)		8 (6.5%)	3 (9.7%)		
of intoxicants/pharmaceuticals at the time of the suicide attempt?	no	72 (98.6%)	71 (87.7%)	0.010	115 (93.5%)	28 (90.3%)	0.464	
	yes	63 (86.3%)	70 (86.4%)	1 000	107 (87.0%)	26 (83.9%)	0.769	
Can a child count on parental support?	no	10 (13.7%)	11 (13.6%)	1.000	16 (13.0%)	5 (16.1%)		
	yes	20 (27.4%)	27 (33.3%)	0.424	36 (29.3%)	11 (35.5%)	0.500	
is the child diagnosed with a mental disorder?	no	53 (72.6%)	54 (66.7%)	0.424	87 (70.7%)	20 (64.5%)	0.302	
	yes	9 (12.3%)	6 (7.4%)		12 (9.7%)	3 (9.7%)	1.000	
Have any mental disorders occurred	no	51 (69.9%)	69 (85.2%)	0312	97 (78.9%)	23 (74.2%)		
in the child's family?	lack of knowledge	13 (17.8%)	6 (7.4%)	0.012	14 (11.4%)	5 (16.1%)		
	poisoning	23 (31.5%)	47 (58%)		59 (48%)	11 (35.5%)		
Math and of attace stad as initial	suicidal self- injury	24 (32.9%)	18 (22.2%)	0.007	38 (30.9%)	4 (12.9%)	0.006	
Miethod of attempted suicide	jumping from height	12 (16.4%)	5 (6.2%)	0.007	9 (7.3%)	8 (25.8%)		
	other	14 (19.2%)	11 (13.6%)		17 (13.8%)	8 (25.8%)		
Has the child self-harmed before to reduce	yes	37 (50.7%)	38 (46.9%)	0.640	68 (55.3%)	7 (22.6%)	0.000	
stress and tension or gain attention?	no	36 (49.3%)	43 (53.1%)	0.640	55 (44.7%)	24 (77.4%)	0.002	
Has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the child's	yes	17 (23.3%)	20 (24.7%)	0.920	32 (26%)	5 (16.1%)	0.350	
suicide attempt?	no	56 (76.7%)	61 (75.3%)	0.839	91 (74%)	26 (83.9%)	0.359	
Did the child require hospitalization as a result	yes	5 (6.8%)	18 (22.2%)	0.009	19 (15.4%)	4 (12.9%)	1.000	
of injuries during a suicide attempt?	no	68 (93.2%)	63 (77.8%)	0.008	104 (84.6%)	27 (87.1%)	1.000	

Table 1. Characteristics of 154 Polish patients who attempted suicide

COVID-19 - coronavirus disease 2019. Values in bold indicate statistically significant results.

p = 0.010). However, the relationship was relatively weak (Phi–Yule coefficient = 0.213). Children aged 14–17 years were under the influence of substances more frequently when attempting suicide (12.3%, n = 10). There was n = 1 (1.4%) case in the age group 8–13.

Most hospitalized children came from a complete family (55.8%, n = 86), while 41.6% (n = 64) of children grew up in an incomplete family. Data on the family status of 4 patients (2.6%) could not be obtained. Children aged 14–17 years came from a complete family more often (60.5%, n = 49) than children aged 8–13 years (50.7%, n = 37). Furthermore, 86.4% (n = 133) of children could rely on their parents' support, while 13.6% (n = 21) did not receive such support. The majority of surveyed children have not been previously diagnosed with a mental disorder (69.5%, n = 107), while 30.5% (n = 47) had a history

of mental disorder diagnosis. Most children (77.9%, n = 120) had no family history of psychiatric disorders, though 9.7% (n = 15) did, and 12.3% (n = 19) did not have any knowledge on the issue.

The most frequently chosen suicide method was poisoning (45.5%, n = 70), with self-injury ranking 2nd (27.3%, n = 42), followed by jumping from height (11%, n = 17). Other methods used by 16.2% (n = 25) of patients included drowning, jumping under a train and ingesting a corrosive substance. Statistical analysis revealed a significant relationship between gender and the method of suicide attempt (χ^2 = 13.267, df = 3, p = 0.003), and the association was moderate (Cramer's V coefficient = 0.317). Although poisoning was the suicide attempt method used by most children, intoxication was more common in females (48%, n = 59) than in males (35.5%, n = 11) (Fig. 2). Moreover,



Fig. 2. Relationship between gender and the method of the suicide attempt



Fig. 3. Relationship between the age and the method of the suicide attempt

self-injury was the most common method among those aged 8–13 years (32.9%), while patients aged 14–17 years favored poisoning (58%) (Fig. 3). A statistically significant relationship was found between the age group and the suicide attempt method (χ^2 (df = 3) = 12.900, p = 0.005), though the relationship was relatively weak (Cramer's V coefficient = 0.295).

In most cases, the children in the study acted to take their own lives, not merely to attract attention. There was a statistically significant relationship between gender and whether the child had self-harmed before to reduce stress and tension or attract attention ($\chi^2 = 9.331$, df =1, p = 0.002), although the relationship was relatively weak (Phi–Yule coefficient = 0.262). Most females (55.3%, n = 68) had self-harmed to reduce stress and tension or to gain attention, and 77.4% (n = 24) of males had not self-mutilated before. Furthermore, 50.7% (n = 37) of children aged 8–13 years had self-harmed previously to reduce stress and tension or to gain attention. On the other hand, most children aged 14–17 years (53.1%, n = 43) did not self-mutilate.

There was no clear link between SARS-CoV-2 and attempted suicide in most cases among children aged 8-13 years (76.7%, n = 56) and 14-17 years (75.3%, n = 61). Also, there was no statistically significant relationship between the age group or gender and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Hospitalization was not required in 93.2% (n = 68) of children aged 8–13 years and 77.8% (n = 63) of those aged 14–17 years as a result of their injuries. However, a weak (Phi–Yule coefficient = 0.215) but statistically significant relationship (χ^2 = 7.142, df = 1, p = 0.008) was observed between the age group and the requirement for hospitalization as a result of self-inflicted injuries.

Discussion

Suicide is a serious global health problem and the 2nd leading cause of death in children and adolescents. The rates of suicidal thoughts among the youth range from 19.8% to 24.0%, while suicide attempts are less frequent, ranging from 3.1% to 8.8%.² As far as Polish rates are concerned, 31% of young people aged from 14 to 21 years experienced suicidal ideation, while 8% have attempted suicide.¹⁸ Unfortunately, the trend change is not optimistic, with an increasing number of suicide cases^{12,19} and a decreasing age of children attempting suicide.²⁰ A 20-year analysis of suicide among Polish adolescents showed that suicide attempt rates were increasing, though there was a decrease in suicide-related deaths.²¹

The analysis of the data collected between January 2020 and June 2021 demonstrated a significant predominance of females among reported cases of suicide attempts (79.9%, n = 123). These findings are consistent with well-established knowledge that underage females are more likely than males to have suicidal thoughts and attempts.^{22,23} Indeed, a Polish study reported that 10.7% of females and 5.4% of males attempted suicide, giving a ratio of 2:1, while the suicidal ideation ratio was 1.5:1 (37.5% of females and 24.8% of males).²⁴ However, exceptions exist for Swedish males¹⁹ and very young children.²⁰ The increased suicidal tendency in females may be connected with a higher risk of depression.²⁵

The age of reported individuals ranged from 8 to 17 years, with 1 male and 1 female aged 8 attempting suicide through self-injury. Furthermore, almost half of the cases involved children aged between 8 and 13 years. Research on suicidal behaviors among very young children is insufficient, and little is known about the reasons for such behaviors. However, the frequency of suicidal thoughts and behaviors in preschoolers (children aged 3–6 years) is estimated to range from 4% to 13%.²⁶ Moreover, high family conflict and low parental supervision seem to be linked with suicidality in children aged 9 and 10.²⁰ Also, the increased use of social media at a young age and the rise in online bullying in recent years^{27,28} may have contributed to the increase in suicides and suicidal self-injury among young children.

Differences exist between the most common methods of suicide across countries. However, contrary to this study, a cross-European comparison of young people showed that the most frequent method of suicide attempt for both genders was hanging, while for males it was jumping from height and using guns, and for female children it was poisoning by pharmaceuticals and jumping from height.²⁹ The current study showed that the most frequently chosen suicide method among both genders was poisoning (45.5%, n = 70), followed by suicidal self-injury (27.3%, n = 42). This may be because the consumption of prescribed pharmaceuticals³⁰ and dietary supplements³¹ is prevalent in Poland, with increasing abuse of over-the-counter medicines.³² The most common substances children ingested in suicidal attempts were acetaminophen and ibuprofen.³³ No case of a gun-related suicide was recorded, which may be due to Poland's restrictive gun laws. In addition, the study involved a highly urbanized area where keeping weapons in the household for purposes such as hunting is rare.

A link was observed between gender and the method of suicide attempt, with more females (50.9%, n = 59) than males (37.9%, n = 11) choosing poisoning, which has a relatively low fatality rate compared to other methods. Indeed, females are more likely to decide on intentional poisoning³⁴ due to their tendency to choose less lethal methods of suicide.³⁵ Additionally, the relationship between age and the method of suicide attempt demonstrated that older children, aged 14-17 years (61.8%), were more likely to choose poisoning, while younger children, aged 8-13 years (34.8%), mostly adopted suicidal self-injury. These findings are in line with other studies showing that suicide attempts due to poisoning are most often attempted by adolescents aged 14-18 years.³ However, data from the USA indicate that younger children aged 5-11 most frequently use hanging or suffocation, followed by using guns, which is contrary to the findings of this study.³⁶

Regarding the psychiatric aspect, a large number of children were under the care of a psychiatrist before attempting suicide (74.7%, n = 115), which is higher than prior reports showing that less than half of young people who attempted suicide had previously received psychiatric help.³⁷ At the same time, approx. 1/3 of the children had a history of mental disorders. The research of Gmitrowicz et al. showed that previous psychiatric treatment and psychotherapy was the most significant risk factor for a suicide attempt.¹⁸ Furthermore, Ong et al. demonstrated that depressive disorders among pediatric patients were associated with a higher likelihood of suicide than attention-deficit disorder, disruptive behavior disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia.³⁸

Addiction was noted in 16.2% (n = 25) of respondents, with the Internet/computer addiction, or a combination of both, being the most common. The link between substance abuse and suicidal behavior has been well documented,^{18,39} while little is known about the relationship between the Internet/computer addiction and suicide risk.⁴⁰ However, there is evidence that time spent using a computer and social media is harmful to children's mental health.^{28,40}

Recently, there has been a strong emphasis on distinguishing between non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) and suicide attempts.⁴¹ In the current study, almost 80% of children had self-mutilated before the suicide attempt, and NSSI is now believed to be a risk factor for suicide attempts in adolescents,^{42,43} as it increases the risk of future suicide attempts.⁴⁴

The COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the lives of people around the world. Furthermore, the mental health of young children and adolescents was affected by the social and psychological effects of the pandemic, which caused distress, and a rise in mental disorders and behavioral issues incidence.¹⁰ However, the impact of the pandemic on the number of suicides among children is unclear. Indeed, some studies demonstrated no relationship,⁴⁵ and others reached opposite conclusions.^{12,46} Nonetheless, the current study showed no statistically significant relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic and the suicide rate in Polish children and adolescents.

Limitations

Limitations of the study include the disparity between the number of males and females,²² though this imbalance may reflect the fact that females are much more likely to attempt suicide. Another constraint is the increased proportion of suicidal self-injuries recorded as suicide attempts, especially in children aged 8–13, which may be due to an overestimation resulting from an insufficient distinction between suicidal behavior and NSSI in Poland. Indeed, NSSI is often considered a suicide attempt, even though self-harm is generally nonlethal. In addition, no link existed between the COVID-19 pandemic and the suicide rate. However, this analysis may have been limited by relying on the psychiatric consultations and parental interviews mentioning the SARS-CoV-2 component. As such, determining the impact of the pandemic on mental health depended on subjective assessment, and healthcare professionals did not explicitly ask every child or caregiver about this element. Therefore, the results may be underestimated.

Conclusions

Suicide among children is a complex issue and a major public health concern, with the number of suicide attempts among pediatric patients steadily increasing. Children and adolescents attempt suicide under the influence of many factors, including mental disorders and addictions. Underage females are significantly more likely to mutilate themselves or attempt suicide. Meanwhile, age and gender impacted the suicide attempt frequency and methods used, with poisoning being the most common method used among examined pediatric patients. Fortunately, most patients attempting suicide had previous contact with a psychiatrist, although this did not prevent the suicide attempt.

The present research did not assess the impact of pandemic-related distress on suicidal behaviors among the study group. Additional research is needed to evaluate the pattern and protective factors that may be associated with suicide hazards in the context of a global pandemic. It remains the responsibility of healthcare providers to be aware of the risk factors, changing patterns and management of suicide attempts among children.

ORCID iDs

Izabela Pilarska 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9354-7432 Kinga Grabska 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7354-5365 Jan Stachurski 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7097-4466

References

- Patton GC, Coffey C, Sawyer SM, et al. Global patterns of mortality in young people: A systematic analysis of population health data. *Lancet*. 2009;374(9693):881–892. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60741-8
- Cha CB, Franz PJ, Guzmán ME, Glenn CR, Kleiman EM, Nock MK. Annual Research Review. Suicide among youth: Epidemiology, (potential) etiology, and treatment. J Child Psychol Psychiatr. 2018;59(4): 460–482. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12831
- Marzec I, Zabłocka K, Stachurski J. Suicide attempts in children and adolescents: Risk factors, methods and management of suicidal patient. *Pediatr Pol*. 2021;96(3):190–197. doi:10.5114/polp.2021.108226
- Song J, Hong SH, Kim J, Chang S, Yook KH, Hong HJ. Comparison of suicide attempts and suicide deaths by jumping from a high place in Korean children and adolescents. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(18):9513. doi:10.3390/ijerph18189513
- Bostwick JM, Pabbati C, Geske JR, McKean AJ. Suicide attempt as a risk factor for completed suicide: Even more lethal than we knew. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2016;173(11):1094–1100. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2016. 15070854
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(8):727–733. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Liao X, Wang B, Kang Y. Novel coronavirus infection during the 2019– 2020 epidemic: Preparing intensive care units. The experience in Sichuan Province, China. *Intensive Care Med*. 2020;46(2):357–360. doi:10.1007 /s00134-020-05954-2
- 8. Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Biomed. 2020;91(1):157–160. doi:10.23750/abm.v91i1.9397
- World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. 2023. https://covid19.who.int/?fbclid=IwAR0K91Rdo3 L0xXgOGENnBjAx6l1HACDA95gL22eDRFYWUKP99VOJCdLXXAY. Accessed December 5, 2022.
- Meherali S, Punjani N, Louie-Poon S, et al. Mental health of children and adolescents amidst COVID-19 and past pandemics: A rapid systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(7):3432. doi:10.3390/ijerph18073432
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(5):1729. doi:10.3390/ ijerph17051729
- Hill RM, Rufino K, Kurian S, Saxena J, Saxena K, Williams L. Suicide ideation and attempts in a pediatric emergency department before and during COVID-19. *Pediatrics*. 2021;147(3):e2020029280. doi:10.1542/ peds.2020-029280
- Yard E, Radhakrishnan L, Ballesteros MF, et al. Emergency department visits for suspected suicide attempts among persons aged 12–25 years before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: United States, January 2019–May 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021; 70(24):888–894. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm7024e1
- Holland KM, Jones C, Vivolo-Kantor AM, et al. Trends in US emergency department visits for mental health, overdose, and violence outcomes before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Psychiatry. 2021;78(4):372. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.4402
- Biegańska EA, Stachurski J, Rokicki K. Analysis of the patients hospitalised in paediatric trauma centers in Poland in 2019. J Mother Child. 2022;25(3):236–242. doi:10.34763/jmotherandchild.20212503SI. d-21-00027

- Brown GK, Ten Have T, Henriques GR, Xie SX, Hollander JE, Beck AT. Cognitive therapy for the prevention of suicide attempts: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2005;294(5):563. doi:10.1001/jama. 294.5.563
- Pompili M, Innamorati M, Di Vittorio C, Sher L, Girardi P, Amore M. Sociodemographic and clinical differences between suicide ideators and attempters: A study of mood disordered patients 50 years and older. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 2014;44(1):34–45. doi:10.1111/sltb.12051
- Gmitrowicz A, Szymczak W, Kotlicka-Antczak M. Suicidal ideation and suicide attempt in Polish adolescents: Is it a suicidal process? *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. 2003;15(2):113–124. doi:10.1515/IJAMH.2003. 15.2.113
- Junuzovic M, Lind KMT, Jakobsson U. Child suicides in Sweden, 2000– 2018. Eur J Pediatr. 2022;181(2):599–607. doi:10.1007/s00431-021-04240-7
- DeVille DC, Whalen D, Breslin FJ, et al. Prevalence and family-related factors associated with suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and self-injury in children aged 9 to 10 years. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020; 3(2):e1920956. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.20956
- Orlewska K, Orlewski P, Klusek J. Suicide among Polish adolescents: A 20 year analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(6):3190. doi:10.3390/ijerph18063190
- Kokkevi A, Rotsika V, Arapaki A, Richardson C. Adolescents' selfreported suicide attempts, self-harm thoughts and their correlates across 17 European countries: Self-reported suicide attempts by European adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatr. 2012;53(4):381–389. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02457.x
- Grabska K, Pilarska I. Acute poisoning among children and adolescents: A narrative review. *Med Sci Pulse*. 2022;16(2):33–39. doi:10.5604 /01.3001.0015.9656
- Rabe-Jablonska J, Gmitrowicz A, Szymczak W, Kropiwnicki P. Gender influence in suicidal behaviour of Polish adolescents. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2003;12(5):205–213. doi:10.1007/s00787-003-0331-5
- Lisiecka-Biełanowicz M, Biechowska D, Orłowska E, Molenda B. The prevalence of depression in children and adolescents under 18 years of age treated for mental disorders in Poland between 2005 and 2016. Arch Med Sci. 2020;19(3):371–380. doi:10.5114/ aoms.2020.94530
- Dervic K, Oquendo MA. Suicidal and self-harming preschoolers. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2019;58(1):22–24. doi:10.1016/j. jaac.2018.07.895
- John A, Glendenning AC, Marchant A, et al. Self-harm, suicidal behaviours, and cyberbullying in children and young people: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res. 2018;20(4):e129. doi:10.2196/jmir.9044
- Abi-Jaoude E, Naylor KT, Pignatiello A. Smartphones, social media use and youth mental health. *Can Med Assoc J.* 2020;192(6):E136–E141. doi:10.1503/cmaj.190434
- Kölves K, de Leo D. Suicide methods in children and adolescents. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017;26(2):155–164. doi:10.1007/s00787-016-0865-y
- Wojkowska-Mach J, Godman B, Glassman A, et al. Antibiotic consumption and antimicrobial resistance in Poland: Findings and implications. *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control*. 2018;7(1):136. doi:10.1186/ s13756-018-0428-8
- Woźniak D, Drzymała S, Przysławski J, Drzymała-Czyż S. Dietary supplements in hypothyroidism. Acta Sci Pol Technol Aliment. 2021; 20(4):375–381. doi:10.17306/J.AFS.0985
- Zaprutko T, Koligat D, Michalak M, et al. Misuse of OTC drugs in Poland. *Health Policy*. 2016;120(8):875–881. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol. 2016.06.008
- Sheridan DC, Hendrickson RG, Lin AL, Fu R, Horowitz BZ. Adolescent suicidal ingestion: National trends over a decade. J Adolesc Health. 2017;60(2):191–195. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.09.012
- 34. Grabska K, Pilarska I, Stachurski J. Acute poisonings among children and adolescents: Results of the analysis of 401 cases. Arch Med Sci. In press. Available as a preprint: doi:10.5114/aoms/159993
- Mackway-Jones K, Marsden J, Windle J, Manchester Triage Group, eds. *Emergency Triage*. 3rd ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2014. ISBN:978-1-118-29906-7.
- Ruch DA, Heck KM, Sheftall AH, et al. Characteristics and precipitating circumstances of suicid among children aged 5 to 11 years in the United States, 2013–2017. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2021;4(7):e2115683. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.15683

- Pelkonen M, Marttunen M. Child and adolescent suicide: Epidemiology, risk factors, and approaches to prevention. *Paediatr Drugs*. 2003;5(4):243–265. doi:10.2165/00128072-200305040-00004
- Ong M, Lakoma M, Gees Bhosrekar S, et al. Risk factors for suicide attempt in children, adolescents, and young adults hospitalized for mental health disorders. *Child Adolesc Ment Health*. 2021;26(2): 134–142. doi:10.1111/camh.12400
- Wu P, Hoven CW, Liu X, Cohen P, Fuller CJ, Shaffer D. Substance use, suicidal ideation and attempts in children and adolescents. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 2004;34(4):408–420. doi:10.1521/suli.34.4.408.53733
- Hoare E, Milton K, Foster C, Allender S. The associations between sedentary behaviour and mental health among adolescents: A systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2016;13(1):108. doi:10.1186/ s12966-016-0432-4
- Halicka J, Kiejna A. Non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) and suicidal: Criteria differentiation. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2018;27(2):257–261. doi:10.17219/ acem/66353
- 42. Asarnow JR, Porta G, Spirito A, et al. Suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in the treatment of resistant depression in adolescents: Findings from the TORDIA study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2011;50(8):772–781. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.04.003

- 43. Wilkinson P, Kelvin R, Roberts C, Dubicka B, Goodyer I. Clinical and psychosocial predictors of suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in the Adolescent Depression Antidepressants and Psychotherapy Trial (ADAPT). Am J Psychiatry. 2011;168(5):495–501. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2010.10050718
- 44. Glenn CR, Lanzillo EC, Esposito EC, Santee AC, Nock MK, Auerbach RP. Examining the course of suicidal and nonsuicidal self-injurious thoughts and behaviors in outpatient and inpatient adolescents. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* 2017;45(5):971–983. doi:10.1007/s10802-016-0214-0
- 45. Isumi A, Doi S, Yamaoka Y, Takahashi K, Fujiwara T. Do suicide rates in children and adolescents change during school closure in Japan? The acute effect of the first wave of COVID-19 pandemic on child and adolescent mental health. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2020;110:104680. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104680
- Lantos JD, Yeh HW, Raza F, Connelly M, Goggin K, Sullivant SA. Suicide risk in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pediatrics*. 2022;149(2):e2021053486. doi:10.1542/peds.2021-053486

Evaluation of the effects of hyperbaric on human attention functions based on eye movements recorded using an infrared camera

Michał Barski^{1,A,B,D}, Natalia Jermakow^{1,2,C}, Katarzyna Barska^{3,C,E}, Jacek Siewiera^{1,E,F}

¹ Clinical Department of Hyperbaric Medicine, Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw, Poland

² Clinical Department of Hyperbaric Medicine, Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw, Poland

³ Clinic of Emergency Medicine, University Clinical Hospital, Wrocław, Poland

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1385-1392

Address for correspondence Michał Barski E-mail: barski.mm@gmail.com

Funding sources None declared

Conflict of interest None declared

Received on May 22, 2022 Reviewed on November 8, 2022 Accepted on April 1, 2023

Published online on August 14, 2023

Cite as

Barski M, Jermakow N, Barska K, Siewiera J. Evaluation of the effects of hyperbaric on human attention functions based on eye movements recorded using an infrared camera. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1385–1392. doi:10.17219/acem/162923

DOI

10.17219/acem/162923

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. This study aimed to assess the influence of elevated atmospheric pressure on the functions of attention of medical personnel working in hyperbaric chambers. We enrolled 15 participants who met the inclusion criteria. The test consisted of performing the same medical procedure under 2 conditions. For each of these test conditions, right eye movements were recorded using an oculograph. The obtained results revealed a relationship between elevated atmospheric pressure and the ability of medical personnel to focus.

Objectives. To assess the influence of hyperbaric oxygen (HBO₂) on visual attention in medical personnel during medical activities performed under normobaric (1 absolute atmosphere (1 ATA)) and hyperbaric (4 ATA) conditions inside a hyperbaric chamber.

Materials and methods. Each participant had a valid license to act as a medical attendant during therapeutic hyperbaric sessions. Fifteen individuals, 10 men and 5 women aged between 28 and 65 years, participated in the study. The participants were asked to perform a medical procedure involving the preparation of a syringe with a drug administered by an infusion pump under 2 test conditions: 1 ATA corresponding to the atmospheric pressure on land, and 4 ATA corresponding to an underwater depth of 30 m. The order of test conditions was random. Both test conditions were performed inside a hyperbaric chamber.

Results. The number of fixations in the area of interest (AOI) varied between stages (1, 2 and 3) and task conditions (1 ATA and 4 ATA), with lower values for the 4 ATA condition. Under 1 ATA, 30% of eye fixations were in the AOI, as compared to only 6% under 4 ATA.

Conclusions. The obtained results indicate that elevated atmospheric pressure has negative effects on the attention of medical personnel.

Key words: hyperbaric therapy, attention, oculography, medical staff

Background

Although hyperbaric oxygen (HBO2) therapy has been used for decades, it has evolved over the last quarter of a century, with an increase in the number of indications for this treatment modality. Currently, the use of technology based on patient exposure to artificially increased pressure is justified in the emergency and elective treatment of multiple clinical entities. It is employed both as a therapy of choice, e.g., in carbon monoxide poisoning or decompression sickness, and as an adjunctive treatment.¹ Multi-profile indications for the use of HBO2 include such disease entities as burns, difficult-to-heal wounds, osteoarthritis, ischemic skin loss, sudden hearing loss, as well as acute hemorrhagic anemia.² In the last 2 decades, the list of indications for HBO2 was extended to include locomotor trauma with severe edema and inflammation - conditions which often reduce proper oxygen saturation in the tissues at the site of injury due to their dynamic nature, compromising the efficacy of surgical treatment.3

The growing awareness among clinicians of hyperbaric medicine translates into an increasing recognition of this discipline and its implementation in everyday therapeutic management. It is important to point out that medical personnel accompany the patient in the pressure chamber to guarantee proper therapy and safety during therapeutic compression sessions in the clinical setting. Therefore, the present study shows the impact of increased atmospheric pressure on attention in medical personnel performing their professional duties in pressure chambers that may contribute to therapeutic safety.

Objectives

In a clinical hyperbaric environment, medical personnel are exposed to the same pressure values as patients during a therapy session. Previous studies have shown that oxygen therapy under pressure above 1 atmosphere has a beneficial effect on improved cognitive function in healthy elderly people, as well as in those who have suffered brain damage due to stroke or craniocerebral trauma.^{4,5} However, the effect of HBO2 on cognitive functions described in the literature refers to the results obtained after completing a therapeutic compression cycle. Marine literature shows that a hyperbaric atmosphere may have a negative effect on central nervous system (CNS) functions in situ.^{6,7} The main objective of our study was to assess the influence of HBO2 on visual attention in medical personnel during medical activities performed under normobaric (1 absolute atmosphere (1 ATA)) and hyperbaric (4 ATA) conditions inside a hyperbaric chamber.

Materials and methods

The study was conducted in 2019–2021 as part of an inhouse project, one of the main objectives of which was to evaluate the effect of HBO2 on the attention capacity of medical professionals working in hyperbaric medicine units. The research was initiated after obtaining the approval of the Bioethics Committee at the Military Medical Institute in Warsaw, Poland (approval No. 22/WIM/2018 issued on April 17, 2019).

All participants received oral and written information about the research and provided written informed consent to participate in the study. Data on the participants (medical history, physical examination and results of the tests performed) were collected on forms prepared for this purpose and on electronic devices dedicated only for the purposes of the research. The obtained data were archived at the Clinical Department of Hyperbaric Medicine of the Military Medical Institute in Warsaw in accordance with the current regulations on data anonymity.

Each participant was authorized to act as a medical attendant during therapeutic hyperbaric sessions. Fifteen individuals (13 nurses and 2 medical doctors, including 10 men and 5 women) aged between 28 and 65 years (mean (M) = 38.47; standard deviation (SD) = 5.77), participated in the study (Table 1).

Study inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) written informed consent to participate in the study; 2) medical education and valid license to work in a clinical hyperbaric setting; 3) no significant disease of the right eyeball; 4) no contraindications to the study.

Individuals with one or more of the following criteria prior to the study: pregnancy, otitis media, visual impairment, cardiac arrhythmia, and general malaise, were not allowed to participate in the study. At the time of qualification for the study, no participant met these exclusion criteria. Each participant had a paired visual organ that did not exclude them from professional activities due to dysfunction.

Age	Participants (n = 15)	Male (n = 10)	Female (n = 5)
М	39.33	41.6	34.8
SD	9.32	10.29	5.22
Min	28.0	31.0	28.0
Me	36.0	39.0	36.0
Max	65.0	65.0	42.0

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants

M – mean; SD – standard deviation; Min – minimum; Me – median; Max – maximum.

Methods

The participants were asked to perform a medical procedure involving the preparation of a syringe with a drug administered by an infusion pump under 2 test conditions: 1 ATA corresponding to the atmospheric pressure only on land or on land and sea level, and 4 ATA corresponding to an underwater depth of 30 m. The order of test conditions was random. Both test conditions were performed inside a hyperbaric chamber.

The medical task for both pressure levels comprised of the same elements. When the participants performed the task, eye movements were recorded using a calibrated head-mounted video-oculography system. During both tests, the participants were in the hyperbaric chamber, directly at the workstation. Before starting the task, participants were required to familiarize themselves with the devices used in the study, which consisted of an eye tracker and the infusion pump used at the Clinical Department of Hyperbaric Medicine. All participants had experience in working with the infusion pump used in the study. To exclude communication errors, safety and communication procedures between the investigator and the participant were discussed prior to the study. The study was divided into 3 stages for each test condition to quantitatively assess the data collected.

Stage I: Preparation of the syringe with the drug – from the start of the task where the participant grasped the syringe until it was filled with the drug.

Stage II: Placing the syringe in the infusion pump – from the moment when the syringe was filled with the drug until the syringe together with the infusion tube were placed in the infusion pump by the participant.

Stage III: Setting the drug flow parameters – from the time the syringe was placed in the infusion pump to the start of the pre-set drug flow parameters expressed in milliliters per hour [mm/h].

A Therapeutic Barox HBO2 Omega chamber (Yaklaşım Makine, Istanbul, Turkey) equipped with 16 seats for HBO2 therapy, including a seat for a medical attendant, was used for the study. The maximum operating pressure of the Barox HBO2 Omega is 10 bar.

Right eye movements were recorded using a configurable oculography device (Pupil Labs GmbH, Berlin, Germany) measuring right eye movements at 120 Hz (up to a maximum of 200 Hz). The image from the ambient camera was sampled at 30 Hz. Eye movements were recorded to assess the level of distraction. The indicator of distraction was the ratio of eye fixations in the area of interest (AOI) to fixations outside this area. Data collection was performed using Pupil Capture Software v. 1.11.4 (Pupil Labs), with a sampling rate of 120 Hz and the camera image resolution 1280 × 720 pixels.

Data fragmentation and analysis were performed with software Mask AOI v. 1.5.1, developed by one of the authors in December 2019 for this research. Each fixation position was recorded and defined as being in/out of the AOI by using the point in polygon algorithm and coded as a binary variable where 0 or 1 meant fixation in or fixation out, respectively. Task completion time was measured as the number of video frames recorded from an ambient camera. Statistical analyses were performed using Python 3.8 language packages: pingouin v0.3.5 (summary statistics), pymer4 v0.7.8 and rpy2 v3.4.5 (generalized linear mixed models (GLMM)). Figures were plotted in seaborn v0.11.2. The significance level was set at a p < 0.05.

The data were aggregated for each subject, ATA conditions and stage of the study. The time of completion was calculated as the number of frames for completion of each stage of the task. Fixations were coded as a binomial (0 and 1) variable as the presence or absence of fixations in the central field of view in each frame. The fixations were then analyzed for each of the stages in the study. To estimate the proper number of fixations in/out of the central view, we corrected the fixations by the number of frames and adjusted them for the number of frames due to the difference in the amount of time the participants required to complete each task. Therefore, we have set the completion time as weights. We chose the GLMM model, which allows the analysis of data in a structure that meets the aims of the study. Selected distributions for the completion time were the Poisson distribution and bimodal distribution with weights for the fixations, which corresponded to the characteristics of the dependent variables, as the completion time is composed of numbers starting with 0 and occurring at specific intervals (imposed by the recording resolution), and the fixations are coded as a binomial variable, aggregated and corrected by the number of frames (Python code is included in the Supplementary materials).

Model selection

Due to the lack of normality in both completion time and fixations (p < 0.05 for each condition using the Shapiro-Wilk test) and nested nature of repeated measures (1 ATA: stages 1, 2 and 3; 4 ATA: stages 1, 2 and 3), GLMM was used with the individual number of each participant as a random effect, and ATA value and stage as fixed (within) effects. Moreover, in the case of analyzing completion time, GLMM was analyzed using the Poisson distribution model for completion time and underweighted binomial distribution for the fraction of fixations in AOI over all fixations. Outliers have not been removed as there were no apparent effects on residuals during model diagnostics. To test the goodness-of-fit (Akaike criterion (AIC)), we compared 5 models: 1) only with intercept; 2) with the stage as a coefficient; 3) with ATA value as a coefficient; 4) with ATA value and stage without interaction effect; and 5) ATA value, stage and the interaction effect.

The goodness-of-fit test showed that there were differences in fixations in/out of the AOI (each p < 0.001) between model 1 (fixations AIC = 6706) and model 2 (fixations AIC = 6049), model 3 (fixations AIC = 7855), model 4 (fixations AIC = 6041) and model 5 (fixations AIC = 5732). In the completion time, only model 2 (time AIC = 4597) and model 5 (time AIC = 4565) differed significantly from model 1. However, model 5 (with both coefficients and interaction effects) has the lowest AIC for both fixations and completion time and was selected for the analysis. Model diagnostics showed that the residuals are approaching normal distribution, and despite the occurrence of some deviations, the model did not need to be changed due to the resistance of the GLMM to deviations from the normal distribution. More information on the model testing is presented in Fig. 1,2 and in the Supplementary materials.



Fig. 1. Diagnostic normal Q-Q plot for the generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) model with fixations as a dependent variable (red line – normal distribution, points – model residuals)



Fig. 2. Diagnostic normal Q-Q plot for generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) model with the completion time as a dependent variable (red line – normal distribution, points – model residuals)

Results

The distributions of the fixations (ratio) and the completion time based on chosen coefficients are presented in Fig. 3.

Task completion time

The camera image was recorded at a resolution of 30 Hz with a median of frames (Me = 2036.5, 1st quartile (Q1) = 1592.75, 3rd quartile (Q3) = 2718.25) within 67.8 s. The longest part of the task was stage 3 when the participants set the drug flow parameters (Me = 2202, Q1 = 1832, Q3 = 3231). The task was on average 78.38 frames longer under 4 ATA, but the median for 4 ATA was lower (1 ATA Me = 2114, Q1 = 1643, Q3 = 3146; 4 ATA Me = 1927, Q1 = 1502, Q3 = 2855).

The task completion time differed between the participants depending on testing conditions (ATA) and stage of task completion. The GLMM model showed that both the conditions (1 ATA and 4 ATA) and stages (1, 2 and 3), were statistically significant predictors of task completion times (p < 0.001). The 4 ATA conditions resulted in slightly more time required to complete the task than 1 ATA conditions, and stages 2 and 3 had longer completion times than stage 1. However, although there were differences in the median (1 ATA compared to 4 ATA: Me = 2114 compared to 1927, Q1 = 1643 compared to 1502, Q3 = 3146 compared to 2855). In 4 ATA, stage 2 did not differ from stage 1 (p = 0.172), but stage 3 did (Table 2). The analysis used 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

Table 2 presents the GLMM model with Poisson distribution of the task completion times measured as the number of frames during the completion of the task in each condition.

Analysis of attentional processes

The number of fixations in the AOI varied between stages (1, 2 and 3) and task conditions (1 ATA and 4 ATA), with lower values for the 4 ATA conditions. Under 1 ATA, the mean ratio of eye fixations in the AOI was 0.20 (Me = 0.066, Q1 = 0.013, Q4 = 0.361) as compared to only a 0.6 ratio under ATA 4 (Me = 0.003, Q1 = 0, Q4 =0.036).

The GLMM with weighted binomial link function showed that both the test conditions (ATA) and the test stages (1, 2 and 3) were statistically significant predictors of the fraction of fixations in the region of interest. Furthermore, increases in ATA value decreased the chance of directing eyes on the region of interest (OR = 0.659; 95% CI: 0.607-0.716). On the other hand, during stages 2 and 3, the chance of fixing eyesight on the region of interest increased compared to stage 1 (Table 3).

GLMM post hoc comparisons

Post hoc analysis with the Bonferroni correction was used to test the hypotheses about the influence of predictors (ATA value: 1 and 4; stages: 1, 2 and 3) on the dependent variables (fixations and completion time). Tests showed statistically significant differences between almost all testing



Fig. 3. Distribution of fixation ratios and the completion times depend on ATA value (1 and 4) and stages (1, 2 and 3). Fixations were measured as a fraction of fixations on the area of interest (AOI) from all fixations in each condition; the completion time was measured as the number of frames in each condition. Boxes represent 1st quartile (Q1) and 3rd quartile (Q3), black line represents the median (Me), whiskers represent values outside the middle 50% from minimum (lower whisker) to maximum (upper whisker), and the red triangle represents the mean (M)

Table 2. Generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) model with Poisson distribution of the tasks completion time measured as the number of frames during completing the task in each condition. One absolute atmosphere (1 ATA) and stage 1 were taken as an intercept; therefore, the coefficients were coded as factors, 4 ATA was compared to 1 ATA, and stage 2 and 3 to stage 1

Coefficients	β	CI 2.5%	CI 97.5%	SE	p-value
Intercept	7.393	7.145	7.640	0.127	<0.0001
4 ATA	0.049	0.022	0.076	0.014	0.0004
Stage 2	0.289	0.264	0.315	0.013	<0.0001
Stage 3	0.606	0.582	0.630	0.012	<0.0001
4 ATA \times stage 2	-0.025	-0.061	0.011	0.018	0.172
4 ATA \times stage 3	-0.097	-0.131	-0.063	0.017	<0.001

 β – standardized beta for coefficient; Cl – confidence interval; SE – standard error.

Table 3. Generalized linear mixed models (GLMM) model with weighted binomial distribution of the fraction of fixation in the region of interest in relation to all fixations in each condition. One absolute atmosphere (1 ATA) 1 and stage 1 were taken as an intercept; therefore, the coefficients were coded as factors, 4 ATA was compared to 1 ATA, and stages 2 and 3 to stage 1

Coefficients	β	OR	CI 2.5%	CI 97.5%	SE	p-value
Intercept	-2.086	0.124	0.040	0.380	0.482	<0.001
ATA 4	-0.417	0.659	0.607	0.716	0.042	<0.001
Stage 2	0.388	1.474	1.316	1.648	0.057	<0.001
Stage 3	0.553	1.739	1.585	1.908	0.047	<0.001
ATA 4 × stage 2	-1.303	0.272	0.218	0.336	0.110	<0.001
ATA 4 × stage 3	-1.404	0.246	0.203	0.296	0.010	<0.001

 β – standardized beta for coefficient; OR – odds ratio; CI – confidence interval; SE – standard error.

conditions, with the biggest difference (Z score = -8.952, 95% CI: -0.178--0.09, SE = 0.015, p = 0.0067) for the differences during stage 1 under 1 ATA compared to 4 ATA for completion time, except comparisons in stage 2 compared to stage 3 in ATA 1 (Z score = -0.165, 95% CI: -0.341-0.0104, SE = 0.0599, p = 0.086) and under 4 ATA (Z score = -0.065, 95% CI: -0.412-0.283, SE = 0.015, p > 0.999) in fixations and stage 2 under 1 ATA compared to 4 ATA (Z score = 0.108, 95% CI: -0.059, 0.156, SE = 0.024, p = 0.717) for completion time (Fig. 4).

The participants were more likely to fix their eyes away from the AOI (fixations in AOI ratio: M = 0.139, SD = 0.226, Q1 = 0.0004, Me = 0.029, Q3 = 0.182), but more fixations in the AOI were recorded at the final stage of the test under 1 ATA (fixations in AOI ratio: M = 0.283, SD = 0.349, Me = 0.206, Q1 = 0.02, Q3 = 0.36), while the least were recorded at stages 2 (fixations in AOI ratio: M = 0.064,



Fig. 4. Post hoc comparisons with Bonferroni correction of the fixation ratios and the completion times. Fixations were measured as a fraction of fixations in are of interest (AOI) from all fixations in each condition (1 ATA: stage 1, 2, or 3; 4 ATA: stage 1, 2 or 3); the completion time was measured as the number of frames in each condition. Boxes represent 1st quartile (Q1) and 3rd quartile (Q3), black line represents the median (Me), whiskers represent values outside the middle 50% from minimum (lower whisker) to maximum (upper whisker), and the red triangle represents the mean (M)

SD = 0.135, Me = 0.002, Q1 = 0, Q3 = 0.033) and 3 (fixations in AOI ratio: M = 0.008, SD = 0.012, Me = 0.003, Q1 = 0, Q3 = 0.01) under 4 ATA.

There was no significant difference between 1 ATA and 4 ATA conditions (Z = 1.560, 95% CI: -0.005-0.042, SE = 0.012, p = 0.253), but comparisons within each stage showed differences in each of them between 1 ATA and 4 ATA conditions (stage 1: M difference = -0.049, p < 0.001; stage 2: M difference = -0.024, p = 0.048; stage 3: M difference = -0.048, p < 0.0001).

Completion time significance was as follows: stage 1 under 1 ATA compared to 4 ATA: p = 0.0067, stage 2 compared to stage 3 under 1 ATA: p = 0.086, stage 2 compared to stage 3 under 4 ATA: p > 0.999, other comparisons: p < 0.001 The fixation significance was as follows: stage 2 under 1 ATA compared to 4 ATA: p = 0.717, other comparisons : p < 0.001.

Post hoc comparisons are presented in Fig. 4.

Discussion

The influence of the environment on human behavior is subject to analysis and monitoring at many levels of social activity.^{8,9} Particular attention is given to those conditions that are obviously not the natural environment of humans, and which have emerged with the progress of civilization. A common goal of such measures is to minimize the risk. The dynamic development of technology over the last 100 years and the ever-increasing automation, the main purpose of which is to increase productivity, has not removed man from the position of the last decision-making link.^{10,11}

Available studies devoted to the problem of professional activities in a pressurized atmosphere mostly refer to the work performed by divers.^{12,13} Work in open water and a pressure chamber seem to bear some physical similarities - for example, in both conditions, the increase in pressure of the environment causes an increase in respiratory effort and the toxicity of respiratory gases. Under both conditions, nitrogen is of key importance and is responsible for the development of nitrogen narcosis. Working in open water and a hyperbaric chamber differ mainly in the number of environmental distractors, which can affect the professional operator in different ways. Staying underwater involves exposure to a range of stress-activating stimuli with physical and psychological vectors. Physical stimuli include changes in physicochemical parameters of respiratory gases, space, visibility, and finally, breathing performed with the use of a breathing apparatus.¹⁴ Hypothermia is an important aspect for the cognitive functioning of a diver. Body heat loss is dependent on the form of protection and the duration of exposure to the surrounding environment. The cumulative impact of stress-inducing stimuli has a detrimental effect on the diver's nervous system capacity and compromises their performance.¹⁵ During therapeutic sessions in pressure chambers, medical personnel together with the patient are subjected, as during diving, to the physical process of compression to the required pressure value, as predetermined in the therapeutic protocol. In our study, we did not record the temperature inside the pressure chamber during the compression of participants to the test conditions of 4 ATA. However, the increase in temperature inside the hyperbaric chamber during this procedure was a subjective feeling reported by each participant. The breathing process in pressure chambers takes place in a gaseous environment. Therefore, patients and the medical staff do not use any breathing devices. Hazards due to visual disturbances do not occur in a therapeutic pressure chamber. Due to patient-oriented environmental conditions, accidental hypothermia does not pose a significant risk to medical staff or patients inside the pressure chamber during a therapy session. Increased ambient absolute pressure and limited space are the main factors potentially adversely affecting a person inside the chamber. The common denominator for the described living environments is the physicochemical changes in the respiratory gases induced by physical changes in the environment and the performance of activities requiring high cognitive performance in an unnatural environment or limited space.

A study conducted in a pressure chamber by Łaszczyńska et al. using the eye-tracking technique revealed a deterioration in the ability of the cohort of divers assessed in the context of performing operator-like activities in simulated diving conditions at depths of 30 m and 50 m. The authors also showed that, based on eye-hand coordination tests, there was a significant increase in the number of errors made by participants under 4 ATA conditions. In the case of exposure to 2 ATA, the effect of "gaining practice" in the given activities appeared in the subjects. The time of saccadic eye movements was also assessed but without separation of gaze fixation in and out of the AOI.¹⁶ Despite the different methods of assessing eye movements, the results obtained in the present paper and in the described study seem to converge. Cognitive improvement with decreasing ambient pressure should be considered the point of convergence here. Taking advantage of the different possibilities of assessing saccadic eye movements during performed activities, we decided to select areas of visual interest at each stage of the test. According to experts, the identification of AOIs in eye-tracking studies carries certain risks (for example risk associated with the selection of specific test conditions) for the obtained measurement results.¹⁷ However, due to the fact that our study had the same test conditions for each measurement and was conducted on a group of experts, i.e., medical professionals, we eliminated the risk raised in the literature related to the lack of precise location of AOI in the environment observed by the researcher, if only by narrowing the operator space for the task performed. Blake et al. investigated the effects of working in hyperbaric therapy chambers on the attentional skills of staff using the Trail Making Test-A (TMT-A). Their study was conducted in a group of 28 volunteers who were either medical professionals or candidates to work in a hyperbaric facility. The test was conducted under 1 ATA, 1.8 ATA and 3 ATA conditions. The time during which the participants performed the task assessed using the TMT-A was considered a predictor at each stage of the study. No statistically significant differences were found regarding the time required for subjects to complete the TMT-A in 1.8 ATA and 3 ATA conditions. After completing the task, the participants noted that they experienced anxiety and some degree of fogginess while under 3 ATA. This suggests that visual testing methods may not be sensitive enough to assess the effects of elevated atmospheric pressure on cognitive functions.¹⁸ In our study, we attempted to assess the level of attentional focus only during the performance of medical tasks in a real-time setting. In our opinion, oculography is a good tool that offers such technical possibilities.

Studies on the influence of elevated atmospheric pressure on human cognitive functions published in medical literature emphasize the importance of nitrogen necrosis. The necrotic properties of nitrogen in humans are revealed when the partial pressure of this gas increases. A depth of 30 meters underwater (muw) is considered to be the point of development of nitrogen necrosis, beyond which the risk of developing nitrogen narcosis increases significantly. At shallower depths, the occurrence of nitrogen necrosis is symptomatically similar to alcohol intoxication and poses a threat to the life of the diver.¹⁹ Karakaya et al. in their study involving the assessment of recorded EEG potentials collected in a hyperbaric chamber under 3 study conditions (pre-dive, deep-dive and post-dive) observed that nitrogen necrosis caused mild and moderate impairment of cognitive functions among air recreational scuba divers at a pressure of 5 ATA. Cognitive impairment was also registered after decompression.²⁰ We did not examine the full spectrum of cognitive functions in our study, but focused on assessing the function of attention. However, for safety reasons, the protocol of our study included assessment for the development of behavioral symptoms of nitrogen necrosis in participants. We did not observe any overt symptoms of nitrogen narcosis. Although most medical procedures in hyperbaric chambers are performed under the conditions of 2-3 ATA, there are disease entities (e.g., gas embolism and decompression sickness) where the value of 3 ATA is exceeded. It is for this reason we evaluated the effects of elevated atmospheric pressure equal to or greater than 3 ATA on the attention function of medical personnel. In the future, this research may have a significant impact on improving the safety and quality of care for patients requiring hyperbaric therapy.

Limitations

The main limitation of the study was the small size of the cohort. It resulted from technical and logistical dependencies. The study was carried out in a therapeutic hyperbaric chamber, and the technical aspect of calibrating the eye tracker through the vision window of the chamber turned out to be a big problem. Calibration of the eye tracker took place before the start of the individual test and took longer than the test protocol provided for, which potentially affected the amount of data obtained.

Conclusions

The results we obtained and the test methods are supported by scientific literature. The assessment of eye movements using eye-tracking under hyperbaric chamber conditions was challenging due to its unprecedented nature in logistical and technical terms. Due to the results obtained in this study, we intend to continue further work on the effects of elevated atmospheric pressure on simple cognitive functions in medical personnel.

Supplementary materials

The Supplementary materials are available at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8234186. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary File 1. Python code with comparisons between models, chosen model results, diagnostics, and visualizations.

ORCID iDs

Michał Barski () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4114-2115 Natalia Jermakow () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5639-2603 Katarzyna Barska () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4425-4745 Jacek Siewiera () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2270-6111

References

- Sen S, Sen S. Therapeutic effects of hyperbaric oxygen: Integrated review. Med Gas Res. 2021;11(1):30. doi:10.4103/2045-9912.310057
- Oley MH, Oley MC, Aling DMR, et al. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on the healing of thermal burns and its relationship with ICAM-1: A case-control study. Ann Med Surg. 2021;61:104–109. doi:10.1016 /j.amsu.2020.12.025
- Harl MJ. Defining the role of hyperbaric oxygen therapy as an adjunct to reconstructive surgery. *Surg Clin North Am*. 2020;100(4):777–785. doi:10.1016/j.suc.2020.04.003

- 4. Gempp E, Lacroix G, Cournac JM, Louge P. Severe capillary leak syndrome after inner ear decompression sickness in a recreational scuba diver. *J Emerg Med*. 2013;45(1):70–73. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed. 2012.11.101
- Shah J. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy. J Am Col Certif Wound Spec. 2010; 2(1):9–13. doi:10.1016/j.jcws.2010.04.001
- Wilson DF, Erecińska M, Drown C, Silver IA. The oxygen dependence of cellular energy metabolism. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 1979;195(2): 485–493. doi:10.1016/0003-9861(79)90375-8
- 7. Freiberger JJ, Derrick BJ, Natoli MJ, et al. Assessment of the interaction of hyperbaric N_2 , CO_2 , and O_2 on psychomotor performance in divers. *J Appl Physiol*. 2016;121(4):953–964. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol. 00534.2016
- Leso V, Fontana L, Caturano A, Vetrani I, Fedele M, lavicoli I. Impact of shift work and long working hours on worker cognitive functions: Current evidence and future research needs. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(12):6540. doi:10.3390/ijerph18126540
- Gregorowicz-Warpas D. Ekspozycje zawodowe pracowników opieki zdrowotnej. Zgłaszanie irealizacja zaleceń poekspozycyjnych. Zakażenia XXI Wieku. 2019;2(4):187–192. https://scholar.google.pl/ citations?view_op=view_citation&hl=pl&user=rbzGLrYAAAAJ&cita tion_for_view=rbzGLrYAAAAJ:u5HHmVD_uO8C. Accessed July 20, 2023.
- Kaul V, Enslin S, Gross SA. History of artificial intelligence in medicine. Gastrointest Endosc. 2020;92(4):807–812. doi:10.1016/j.gie.2020.06.040
- Benabid AL, Hoffmann D, Ashraf A, Koudsie A, Esteve F, Le Bas JF. La robotisation de la neurochirurgie: État actuel et perspectives d'avenir. *Chirurgie*. 1998;123(1):25–31. doi:10.1016/S0001-4001(98)80035-4
- 12. Butler WP. Caisson disease during the construction of the Eads and Brooklyn Bridges: A review. *Undersea Hyperb Med*. 2004;31(4):445–459. PMID:15686275.
- Marabotti, C, Scalzini, A, Chiesa, F. Increase of pulmonary arterial pressure in subjects with venous gas emboli after uncomplicated recreational SCUBA diving. *Respir Med.* 2013;107(4):596–600. doi.org/10. 1016/j.rmed.2013.01.002
- 14. Gray JM, Wilson MA. The relative risk perception of travel hazards. *Environ Behav*. 2009;41(2):185–204. doi:10.1177/0013916507311898
- 15. Bove AA. Diving medicine. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 2014;189(12): 1479–1486. doi:10.1164/rccm.201309-1662Cl
- Łaszczyńska J, Jarosz A, Truszczyński O. Zdolności do wykonywania czynności operatorskich w symulowanych warunkach zanurzenia na głębokości 30 i 50 metrów. *Pol Hyperb Res.* 2005;1(10):12–17. https:// bibliotekanauki.pl/articles/366515. Accessed July 20, 2023.
- Hessels RS, Kemner C, van den Boomen C, Hooge ITC. The area-ofinterest problem in eyetracking research: A noise-robust solution for face and sparse stimuli. *Behav Res.* 2016;48(4):1694–1712. doi:10.3758/ s13428-015-0676-y
- Blake DF, Young DA, Brown LH. Nitrogen narcosis in hyperbaric chamber nurses. Int J Res Nurs. 2014;5(2):44–51. doi:10.3844/ijrnsp.2014.44.51
- 19. Grover CA, Grover DH. Albert Behnke: Nitrogen narcosis. *J Emerg Med.* 2014;46(2):225–227. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2013.08.080
- Karakaya H, Aksu S, Egi SM, Aydin S, Uslu A. Effects of hyperbaric nitrogen narcosis on cognitive performance in recreational air scuba divers: An auditory event-related brain potentials study. *Ann Work Expo Health*. 2021;65(5):505–515. doi:10.1093/annweh/wxaa132

Regionalized analysis of gut barrier components in the small intestine of BALB/c mice following chronic immobilization stress

Fabiola Guzmán-Mejía^{1,A,D–F}, Marycarmen Godínez-Victoria^{2,B,C,E,F}, Ana Lilia García-Hernández^{3,A–C}, Jennifer Karume Gutierrez-Galicia^{2,B,C}, Daniel Efrain Molotla Torres^{1,B,C}, Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano^{1,A,D–F}

¹ Department of Biological Systems, Metropolitan Autonomous University Campus Xochimilco, Mexico City, Mexico

² Section of Postgraduate and Research Studies, Higher School of Medicine, National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico City, Mexico

³ Laboratory of Dental Research, Section of Osteoimmunology and Oral Immunology, Faculty of Higher Studies Iztacala, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1393-1400

Address for correspondence

Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano E-mail: dragome@yahoo.com

Funding sources

The present study was supported by Department of Biological Systems, Metropolitan Autonomous University Campus Xochimilco (Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano; project No. 34605045) and Section of Postgraduate and Research Studies, Higher School of Medicine, National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico City, Mexico (Marycarmen Godinez-Victoria; project No. 20220441).

Conflict of interest

None declared

Acknowledgements

Fabiola Guzmán-Mejía would like to thank National Council of Science and Technology (Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT)) of Mexico for the financial support during her postdoctoral research.

Received on June 29, 2022 Reviewed on January 26, 2023 Accepted on March 27, 2023

Published online on April 24, 2023

Cite as

Guzmán-Mejía F, Godínez-Victoria M, García-Hernández AL, Gutierrez-Galicia JK, Molotla Torres DE, Drago-Serrano ME. Regionalized analysis of gut barrier components in the small intestine of BALB/c mice following chronic immobilization stress. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1393–1400. doi:10.17219/acem/162694

DOI

10.17219/acem/162694

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Microbiota and tight junction proteins (TJPs) are components of the gut barrier, and are considered stress targets that have deleterious effects on intestinal homeostasis.

Objectives. This study aimed to evaluate the effects of chronic immobilization stress on selected small intestine homeostasis parameters.

Materials and methods. Female BALB/c mice were divided into a stress group that underwent short-term immobilization for 2 h per day for 4 consecutive days, and a non-stressed control group (n = 6 per group). Proximal and distal small intestine samples were excised to assess colony-forming units per gram (CFU/g) of total bifidobacteria in selective agar plates, luminal albumin was assessed using immune-enzymatic assay, pro-inflammatory cytokines were evaluated using reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), and TJPs (pore-forming, claudin (Cld)-2; pore-sealing, Cld-4; ambiguous, Cld-7, -12 and -15) were assessed with RT-qPCR and western blotting.

Results. Compared with the control group, the stress group had lower body weight and energy intake. In the distal region, the stressed mice had lower bifidobacteria count and messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression of Cld-2, Cld-4 and Cld-12, though they had more albumin and higher interleukin (IL)-6 mRNA expression. Within the proximal region, the stressed mice had higher mRNA expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a), interferon gamma (IFN- γ), IL-6, Cld-7, Cld-12, and Cld-15, along with lower levels of IL-10 and Cld-4. However, mRNA and protein expression of TJPs were discordant.

Conclusions. These findings indicate divergent stress-induced outcomes in the small intestine, evidenced by the elicitation of a pro-inflammatory response and decreased anti-inflammatory response in the duo-denum, and by increased albumin transudation and decreased bifidobacterial growth in the distal region.

Key words: small intestine, tight junction proteins, board immobilization stress, intestinal albumin, intestinal bifidobacteria

Background

Intestinal homeostasis refers to a healthy balance of gut barrier components regarded as markers of intestinal health, including microbiota and tight junction proteins (TJPs) that bind the epithelial monolayer paracellularly.¹ Gut commensals, such as those of the genus *Bifidobacterium*, secrete organic acids that enhance the structural and functional integrity of TJPs and prevent the deleterious effects of the potent pro-inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) on epithelial permeability.² Gradients in the density and diversity of such microbiota increase from the proximal to distal small intestine regions, and reach their maximum extent in the colon.³

Tight junction proteins, including occludin and claudins (Clds), are expressed at the most apical side of the epithelial cell paracellular membrane and have a regionalized location in each segment of the gastrointestinal tract,⁴ with occludin involved in regulating the rate of flux of molecules across the epithelial layer.⁵ At the same time, Clds are classified as pore-sealing, pore-forming or ambiguous, with the latter encompassing Cld-7, -12 and -13. The pore-sealing variants, Cld-1, -3, -4, -5, -8, and -18, provide high transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), resulting in low solute permeability in the intestine. In contrast, the pore-forming proteins form channels that enable solute flow and include Cld-2 and Cld-10.⁶

Experimental assays demonstrate a wide array of interweaving pathways through which stress regulates commensal microbiota7 and TJPs.8 Chronic stress had a downmodulatory effect on the commensal bifidobacterial density in the colon of rats under restraint stress for 2 h a day over 4 days,9 while the abundance in metagenomic terms of Bifidobacterium pseudolongum increased in the colon of mice subjected to chronic unpredictable mild stress.¹⁰ Moreover, the interactions between chronic stress and microbiota through the brain-gut-microbiota axis impact behavior and TJP remodeling through proinflammatory cytokines.^{11,12} Indeed, stress regulation of TJPs is partly mediated by TNF- α -induced expression of the myosin light chain kinase protein and the simultaneous opening of the gut barrier, as documented using in vitro Caco2-intestinal cultures.¹³

Water avoidance stress in male rats for 1 h a day over 10 days reduced the tissue location of Cld-1, occludin and zonular occludin-1 (ZO-1) in the colon but not in the jejunum. Interestingly, injecting corticosterone mimicked these effects, and they were blocked by the corticoid receptor antagonist RU-486, suggesting a regionalized stress-induced regulation of TJPs via corticosteroid receptor signaling.¹⁴ In experimental settings of chronic isolation stress in female rats, treatment with spironolactone decreased Cld-15 mRNA levels only in small intestine regardless the stress conditions indicanting a role for MR in the Cld-15 expression¹⁵ Moreover, rats subjected to subacute stress through isolation and limited movement for 24 h combined with chronic crowding stress for 14 days experienced a jejunal-specific decrease in Cld-2 messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression, with no colonic changes. However, exposure to subacute stress alone increased jejunal mRNA levels of Cld-1, Cld-5, Cld-8, occludin, and ZO-1, but did not affect the colon.¹⁶ Other studies show that chronic restraint stress for 10 h a day over 3 days in mice decreased the expression of Cld-1 and occludin in the duodenum, jejunum and ileum.¹⁷ Furthermore, chronic stress by tail suspension in rats for 14 or 21 days decreased the tissue expression and mRNA expression of occludin and ZO-1 in the jejunum.¹⁸ Previous work also described the effects of immobilization stress on TJPs in the colon¹⁹ and the contribution of stress to the progression and aggravation of pathologies affecting the small intestine.²⁰

Objectives

This study aimed, for the first time, to assess the impact of chronic immobilization-induced stress on commensal bifidobacteria and epithelial TJPs of the duodenum and ileum by measuring pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, and using albumin as a marker of permeability by assessing its extravasation from the blood to the intestinal lumen.²¹

Materials and methods

Animals

Twelve 6-week-old female BALB/c mice were housed at the Laboratory Animal Experimentation and Production Unit of the Metropolitan Autonomous University of Xochimilico (Mexico City, Mexico), in 2 groups of 6 mice each, under a 12-hour light/dark cycle (light on at 7:00 AM, light off at 7:00 PM), at room temperature (~20°C) and relative humidity of 55%. Mice were allowed free access to Laboratory Rodent Diet 5001 (LabDiet, St. Louis, USA) and water, and were housed for 2 weeks to adapt to the conditions. The same trained handler performed animal manipulations between 8:00 AM and 11:00 AM to reduce the influence of the circadian cycle on fluctuations in the levels of corticosterone and adrenocorticotropic hormones. The Internal Committee for the Use and Care of Laboratory Animals of the Metropolitan Autonomous University of Xochimilico approved the experimental interventions (protocol No. 176). Animals were maintained and handled following the Mexican federal regulations for animal experimentation and care (NOM-062-ZOO-1999; Ministry of Agriculture, Mexico City, Mexico), and in accordance with the Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) guidelines.²²

Body weight and energy intake

Body weight and food intake were determined on the 6th day for 7-week-old mice and on the 5th day for 8-week-old mice. The energy intake was calculated by multiplying the total food intake [g] and caloric content [kcal/g] (Laboratory Rodent Diet 5001 contains 4.675 kcal/g), and the values for each group from the 2 experiments were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (M \pm SD).

Stress protocol

Eight-week-old mice were subjected to board immobilization stress for 2 h per day between the 2nd and 5th days using a previously described protocol.¹⁹ Briefly, each mouse was placed on a polystyrene board in the prone position, with all 4 limbs and the middle part of the tail gently stretched, and then attached by placing a very lowadhesive tape directly on the skin or the rear central pads, overlaid with a high-adhesive tape. Curved strips of paperboard-adhesive tape reels were placed over the tape for the mouse to chew on, preventing self-inflicted injuries of the forelimb skin. The head was allowed to move freely, and limb twisting and whisker tearing were avoided. The tape was carefully removed after 2 h of immobilization, and the mouse was released. When the experimental group underwent the stress protocol, the control mice had no access to food or water.

Sampling

Upon completion of the stress protocol, mice were euthanized via exposure to isoflurane and exsanguination by cardiac puncture. The pyloric (proximal) and cecal (distal) segments of the small intestine were dissected into 7-centimeter-long sections, and fecal content was gently removed before flushing with 1.5 mL of sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (pH 7.2), containing a cOmplete Mini[™] protease inhibitor cocktail (cat. No. 11836153001; Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Flushing was repeated 5 times using the same liquid and the samples were collected in a Petri dish to enrich the protein content before storing the samples at -20°C for the albumin enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Then, 1-centimeter intestinal segments were opened longitudinally and deposited in preweighed sterile microcentrifuge tubes containing 0.5 mL of thioglycolate broth (cat. No. 211651; BD Biosciences, Sparks, USA) for total count of bifidobacteria. In addition, 1-centimeter-long segments were dissected, opened longitudinally and scraped using a glass microscope slide to collect whole mucosa samples that were immediately frozen at -70°C for reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) and western blot assays.

Total count of bifidobacteria

Intestinal segments collected in sterile tubes containing thioglycolate broth (0.5 mL) were weighed and then fully homogenized. Intestinal homogenates were serially diluted (×10) in thioglycolate broth and 10 μ L of the serial dilutions were plated on propionate agar (cat. No. 1.000430.0500) containing lithium mupirocin (cat. No. 1000.45.0010) (both from Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). After the incubation for 72 h at 37°C under anaerobic conditions using GasPackTM anaerobic sachets (cat. No. 260678) and GasPackTM dry anaerobic indicator strips (cat. No. 271051) (both from BD Biosciences), the number of colonies was counted to determine the colony-forming units per gram (CFU/g) of tissue.

Immuno-enzymatic assay

The Bradford assay quantified total protein in intestine samples using a commercial dye reagent (cat. No. 500-0006; Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). Albumin quantitation was undertaken using sandwich ELISA in 96-well polystyrene microplates (cat. No. 8590; Costar Corning, Corning, USA) coated with goat IgG anti-mouse albumin (0.01 µg/mL) (cat. No. ab19194; Abcam, Waltham, USA) diluted in carbonate-bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6). After the incubation overnight at 4°C, plates were washed with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST) (200 μ L) and blocked with 5% w/v blotto (cat. No. 37530; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) diluted in carbonate-bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6), incubated for 2 h at 37°C, and then washed. The intestinal fluid samples were diluted in 5% w/v blotto in PBST, with the dilution adjusted for total protein concentration. After the incubation overnight at 4°C the wells were washed, horseradish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated goat IgG anti-mouse albumin antibody (cat. No. ab19195; Abcam) diluted in 5% w/v blotto-PBST was added, and the plates were incubated for 1 h at 37°C. The plates were washed, a substrate solution (hydrogen peroxide and orthophenylenediamine in citrate phosphate buffer (pH: 5.0)) was added, and the samples were incubated for 20 min in the dark at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped with 2.5 M sulfuric acid (100 μ L/well), and the absorbance was measured at 492 nm using an Epoch[™] microplate reader (BioTek, Winooski, USA). An ELISA assay using purified mouse albumin (cat. No. A3139; MilliporeSigma, St. Louis, USA) was used to prepare an albumin $[\mu g/mL]$ standard curve, and albumin concentration was expressed per 100 mg of total protein in the intestinal samples. All reactants and samples were tested in triplicate.

Reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction

The RNA was isolated from proximal and distal mucosa using TRI Reagent[®] (cat. No. TR 118; Molecular Research

Center, Inc., Cincinnati, USA), and total RNA (0.2 µg) was used as a template. The determination of mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and interleukin (IL)-6), an anti-inflammatory cytokine (IL-10), and TJPs (occludin, and Cld-2, -4, -7, -12, and -15) was performed using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CQ} method²³ described in detail by Machorro-Rojas et al.¹⁹

Western blot assay

Protein levels of Cld-2, -4, -7, -12 and -15, and occludin were assayed with western blot, according to the method described in detail by Machorro-Rojas et al.,¹⁹ using whole mucosa extracts from the proximal and distal segments of the small intestine.

Statistical analyses

All data analyses employed GraphPad Prism v. 8.0.1 software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA), except for the energy intake and z-scores between the control and stress groups, which used a Social Science Statistics website (https://www.socscistatistics.com/tests/mannwhitney/default.aspx). Experimental assays were repeated twice, with representative data from 1 assay presented (n = 12). Data are expressed as the median with interquartile range (IQR) (Q1–Q3) (n = 6/group), and were compared using the nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test. A value of p < 0.05 indicated a statistically significant difference.

Results

Stress reduced distal bifidobacteria count, body weight and energy intake

Compared to the control group, stressed mice had a lower bifidobacteria count in the proximal segment (p = 0.522, z-score = 0.6405; Fig. 1A) and a significantly lower count in the distal region (p = 0.030, z-score = 2.1617; Fig. 1B). Also, body weight (p = 0.020, z-score = -2.321; Fig. 1C) and energy intake (p = 0.049; Fig. 1D) were significantly lower in the stress group than in the control group.

Stress displayed divergent effects on albumin and cytokine responses in each region

Albumin concentration was lower in the proximal region (p = 0.092, z-score = 1.6814; Fig. 2A) and higher in the distal region (p = 0.013 z-score = -2.4819; Fig. 2B) in the stress group compared to the control group. Meanwhile, relative mRNA expression of TNF- α (p = 0.008 z-score = -2.8022) and

IL-6 (p = 0.008, z-score = 2.6473) were higher (Fig. 2C), and the expression of IL-10 was lower (p = 0.008, z-score = -2.6473; Fig. 2E) in the proximal region of the stress group. However, only mRNA expression of IL-6 significantly increased (p = 0.005, z-score = -2.8022) in the distal region of the stress group compared to the same region in the control group (Fig. 2D,F).

Stress increased the mRNA expression of ambiguous claudins in the proximal small intestine

The analysis of mRNA in the proximal region (Fig. 3A) demonstrated higher expression of the ambiguous Clds, Cld-7, Cld-12 and Cld-15 in the stress group than in the control group (all p = 0.005, z-score = -2.8022). Meanwhile, the mRNA expression of Cld-4 was lower (p = 0.005, z-score = 2.8022) in the stress group, and the expression of occludin (p = 0.065, z-score = -1.8414) and Cld-2 (p = 0.378, z-score = 0.8807) was nonsignificant. Western blot analysis (Fig. 3B) showed increased protein levels of Cld-2 (p = 0.005, z-score = -2.8022) and lower levels of Cld-15 (p = 0.005, z-score = 2.8022) in the stress group.



Fig. 1. Colony forming units (CFU) per gram of total bifidobacteria count in proximal (A) and distal (B) regions of the small intestine from the control and stress groups. Body weight [g] (C) and energy intake [kcal/g] (D) in the control and stress groups. Data (n = 6 per group) are presented as the median (midline), 1st quartile (Q1) (bottom line), 3rd quartile (Q3) (top line), and the minimum and maximum values (whiskers). The p-values in the stress column indicate significant differences in the stress group as compared to the control group, and were calculated using the Mann–Whitney U test


Fig. 2. Albumin concentration (µg/100 mg of total protein) in the proximal (A) and distal (B) small intestine segments from the control and stress groups. Relative messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), interferon gamma (IFN-γ), interleukin (IL)-6, and IL-10 in the proximal (C and E) and distal (D and F) regions of the small intestine from control and stress groups. Data (n = 6 per group) are presented as the median (midline) 1st quartile (O1) (bottom line), 3rd quartile (Q3) (top line), and the minimum and maximum values (whiskers). The p-values in the stress column indicate significant differences in the stress group compared to the control group, and were calculated using Mann-Whitney U test

Stress decreased the mRNA expression of claudins in the distal small intestine

The analysis of mRNA in the distal region of the small intestine (Fig. 4A) showed lower expression of Cld-2, Cld-4 (both p = 0.005, z-score = 2.8022) and Cld-12 (p = 0.030, z-score = 2.1721) in the stress group. However, Cld-12 protein levels (Fig. 4B) were lower in the stress group compared to the controls (p = 0.032, z-score = 2.1529).

Discussion

Previous research described the effects of immobilization stress on TJPs in the colon,¹⁹ so the present study focused on assessing, for the first time, the impact of chronic immobilization stress on selected markers of intestinal health and dysfunction in small intestine regions. In this regard, the study evaluated bifidobacteria, as they were found to be a reproducible and sensitive marker under the experimental conditions of stress used. Moreover, the approach is concordant with other studies in which bifidobacteria count was analyzed when monitoring the impact of stress on the intestine using conventional bacterial counts with selective agar plates.²⁴ Under the experimental conditions of this study, stress caused a significant decrease in the amount of bifidobacteria in the distal segment of the small intestine. This finding is in line with the reduced bifidobacteria load found in the colon and feces of rats and mice that underwent chronic restraint stress.^{9,11} In addition, the apparent bifidobacteria amount decrease in the proximal region may be due to the bacterial load being below the limit of detection, as this area is scarcely populated with microbiota compared to the distal segment.³

Similar to restraint and crowding stress, the stress induced in the current study promoted the loss of body weight and reduced caloric intake.^{11,16,25} Microbiota abundance is modulated by food intake and can be disrupted by increased energy expenditure under stressful conditions.^{7,26} Moreover, stress-induced decreases in bifidobacteria load and body weight might contribute to anxiety and depression-like behaviors.¹¹ Mice under chronic restraint stress had decreased acetate levels in the cecum but not in the ileum,¹² and bifidobacteria are known to release acetate into the bloodstream.²⁷ The acetate can cross



Fig. 3. Relative messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression (A) and protein levels (B) of occluding (Occ), claudin (Cld)-2, Cld-4, Cld-7, Cld-12, and Cld-15, in the proximal region of the small intestine from the control and stress groups. Data (n = 6 mice per group) are presented as the median (midline), 1st quartile (Q1) (bottom line), 3rd quartile (Q3) (top line), and the minimum and maximum values (whiskers). The p-values in the stress column indicate significant differences between the stress and control groups calculated using Mann–Whitney U test

the blood–brain barrier and provide neuronal inputs that impact food intake,²⁸ while it acts as a ketogenic substrate for lipogenesis in peripheral tissues.²⁹

The transport of mouse serum albumin from capillaries to the intestinal lumen requires crossing endothelial and epithelial barriers³⁰ as well as selective passage through the endothelial cell membrane, followed by passive intercellular transport as serum moves into the interstitial spaces during enterocyte disintegration.³¹ In this study, albumin (66.5 kDa molecular mass) concentration increased in the distal region, suggesting that it is a target for stress-increased permeability. Meanwhile, chronic water avoidance stress in rats demonstrated increased polyethylene glycol-400 (400 Da molecular mass) permeability in the colon but not in the jejunum.¹⁴ Evans blue (960.83 Da molecular mass) permeability increased in the duodenum but not in the ileum or colon, of mice under acute restraint stress.³² These findings may be a result of, in part, the stress protocol used, the method of assessing permeability and the intestinal region analyzed.



Fig. 4. Relative messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression (A) and protein levels (B) of occluding (Occ), claudin (Cld)-2, Cld-4, Cld-7, Cld-12, and Cld-15 in the distal segment of the small intestine from the control and stress groups. Data (n = 6 mice per group) are presented as the median (midline), 1st quartile (Q1) (bottom line), 3rd quartile (Q3) (top line), and the minimum and maximum values (whiskers). Calculated p-values displayed in the stress groups, and were calculated using Mann–Whitney U test

The extravasation of luminal albumin was not stringently related to the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and TJPs in the proximal and distal small intestine regions. However, stress significantly increased mRNA levels of the mRNA of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-6 and IFN- γ) and reduced the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 mRNA levels in the proximal region, whereas it only triggered increased IL-6 mRNA expression in the distal segment. Although the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines has been shown in the colon of mice after board immobilization stress, it is unclear if these parameters have been documented in the duodenum using this model.¹⁹ Nonetheless, previous studies demonstrated increased TNF- α and IFN- γ mRNA levels and decreased IL-10 mRNA levels in the ileum after chronic restraint stress.³³

Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-α, IFN-γ and IL-6, among others, contribute to enhanced gut permeability and TJP remodeling in the colon^{14,34} and ileum of rats after chronic water avoidance stress³⁵ and the ileum of mice under restraint stress.³³ Moreover, proinflammatory cytokines play a critical role in TJP expression.³⁶ In this study, no clear pattern was found between cytokine mRNA expression and TJPs in the proximal and distal segments. Under stress conditions, mRNA expression of Cld-4 (barrier enhancer) decreased, and of Cld-7, Cld-12 and Cld-15 (ambiguous) increased in the proximal region, whereas mRNA expression of Cld-2 (poreforming), Cld-4 and Cld-12 was reduced in the distal region. In addition, protein levels of Cld-4 were negligible in the proximal region in both groups, while Cld-15 was detected in both regions. These findings may result from the regionalized expression of Cld-4, which is predominantly found in the distal small intestine and colon, whereas Cld-15 is distributed along the entire gastrointestinal tract.³⁷

The findings of this study may be due to the divergent effects of stress-induced hormones on TJP expression in each small intestine region. As documented previously, TJPs in the jejunum may be regulated by transcriptional factors other than glucocorticoid receptors (GRs). Indeed, GR protein expression was lower, and TJP expression was more stable in the jejunum than colon under stress conditions, which suggests that the stress-associated decrease in TJP expression in the colon resulted from proteasome degradation.¹⁴ Moreover, a number of pathways control Cld transcription via several factors, including Snail, grainyhead-like 2 (GRHL2) and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB). Furthermore, post-translational Cld modifications, including phosphorylation, ubiquitination and palmitoylation, may occur during endocytosis, exportation to subcellular compartments and proteasome degradation, among others.³⁸

Limitations

The expression of GRs in the proximal and distal segments was not evaluated, and such data would have provided insight into the mechanisms driving the stress-induced effects.

Conclusions

The findings of this study indicate divergent outcomes of stress in the small intestine through increased proinflammatory and decreased anti-inflammatory cytokine mRNA expression in the duodenum. Furthermore, stress increased albumin extravasation and reduced bifidobacterial growth in the distal region of the small intestine.

ORCID iDs

Fabiola Guzmán-Mejía 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7026-7929 Marycarmen Godínez-Victoria

https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3317-7980

Ana Lilia García-Hernández 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7682-6878 Jennifer Karume Gutierrez-Galicia

https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6610-5778

Daniel Efrain Molotla Torres 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7788-1553 Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0040-0958

References

- Wells JM, Brummer RJ, Derrien M, et al. Homeostasis of the gut barrier and potential biomarkers. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2017;312(3):G171–G193. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00048.2015
- Hiippala K, Jouhten H, Ronkainen A, et al. The potential of gut commensals in reinforcing intestinal barrier function and alleviating inflammation. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(8):988. doi:10.3390/nu10080988
- Mowat AM, Agace WW. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(10):667–685. doi:10.1038/ nri3738
- Lu Z, Ding L, Lu Q, Chen YH. Claudins in intestines: Distribution and functional significance in health and diseases. *Tissue Barriers*. 2013; 1(3):e24978. doi:10.4161/tisb.24978
- 5. France MM, Turner JR. The mucosal barrier at a glance. *J Cell Sci*. 2017; 130(2):307–314. doi:10.1242/jcs.193482
- Amasheh S, Fromm M, Günzel D. Claudins of intestine and nephron: A correlation of molecular tight junction structure and barrier function. *Acta Physiol.* 2011;201(1):133–140. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716. 2010.02148.x
- Karl JP, Hatch AM, Arcidiacono SM, et al. Effects of psychological, environmental and physical stressors on the gut microbiota. *Front Microbiol.* 2018;9:2013. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.02013
- Piche T. Tight junctions and IBS: The link between epithelial permeability, low-grade inflammation, and symptom generation? *Neurogastroenterol Motil*. 2014;26(3):296–302. doi:10.1111/nmo.12315
- Svishcheva MV, Mukhina AY, Medvedeva OA, et al. Composition of colon microbiota in rats treated with ACTH(4-7)-PGP peptide (Semax) under conditions of restraint stress. *Bull Exp Biol Med*. 2020; 169(3):357–360. doi:10.1007/s10517-020-04886-7
- Tian P, O'Riordan KJ, Lee YK, et al. Towards a psychobiotic therapy for depression: *Bifidobacterium breve* CCFM1025 reverses chronic stress-induced depressive symptoms and gut microbial abnormalities in mice. *Neurobiol Stress*. 2020;12:100216. doi:10.1016/j.ynstr. 2020.100216
- Jang HM, Lee KE, Lee HJ, Kim DH. Immobilization stress-induced *Escherichia coli* causes anxiety by inducing NF-κB activation through gut microbiota disturbance. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):13897. doi:10.1038/ s41598-018-31764-0
- Tian P, Zhu H, Qian X, et al. Consumption of butylated starch alleviates the chronic restraint stress-induced neurobehavioral and gut barrier deficits through reshaping the gut microbiota. *Front Immunol.* 2021;12:755481. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.755481
- Boivin MA, Ye D, Kennedy JC, Al-Sadi R, Shepela C, Ma TY. Mechanism of glucocorticoid regulation of the intestinal tight junction barrier. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2007;292(2):G590–G598. doi:10. 1152/ajpgi.00252.2006
- Zheng G, Wu SP, Hu Y, Smith DE, Wiley JW, Hong S. Corticosterone mediates stress-related increased intestinal permeability in a region-specific manner. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*. 2013;25(2):e127–e139. doi:10.1111 /nmo.12066
- Karailiev P, Hlavacova N, Chmelova M, Homer NZM, Jezova D. Tight junction proteins in the small intestine and prefrontal cortex of female rats exposed to stress of chronic isolation starting early in life. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* 2021;33(6):e14084. doi:10.1111/ nmo.14084
- Lauffer A, Vanuytsel T, Vanormelingen C, et al. Subacute stress and chronic stress interact to decrease intestinal barrier function in rats. *Stress*. 2016;19(2):225–234. doi:10.3109/10253890.2016.1154527
- Lin R, Wang Z, Cao J, Gao T, Dong Y, Chen Y. Role of melatonin in intestinal mucosal injury induced by restraint stress in mice. *Pharm Biol.* 2020;58(1):342–351. doi:10.1080/13880209.2020.1750659
- Ying C, Chunmin Y, Qingsen L, et al. Effects of simulated weightlessness on tight junction protein occludin and Zonula Occluden-1 expression levels in the intestinal mucosa of rats. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci. 2011;31(1):26–32. doi:10.1007/s11596-011-0145-5
- Machorro-Rojas N, Sainz-Espunes T, Godinez-Victoria M, et al. Impact of chronic immobilization stress on parameters of colonic homeostasis in BALB/c mice. *Mol Med Rep.* 2019;20(3):2083–2090. doi:10.3892/ mmr.2019.10437
- Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, Konturek SJ. Stress and the gut: Pathophysiology, clinical consequences, diagnostic approach and treatment options. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2011;62(6):591–599. PMID:22314561.

- 21. Wang L, Llorente C, Hartmann P, Yang AM, Chen P, Schnabl B. Methods to determine intestinal permeability and bacterial translocation during liver disease. *J Immunol Methods*. 2015;421:44–53. doi:10.1016 /j.jim.2014.12.015
- Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Improving bioscience research reporting: The ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2012;20(4):256–260. doi:10. 1016/j.joca.2012.02.010
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2^{-ΔΔCT} method. *Methods*. 2001;25(4):402–408. doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Jang HM, Lee KE, Lee HJ, Kim DH. Immobilization stress-induced *Escherichia coli* causes anxiety by inducing NF-κB activation through gut microbiota disturbance. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):13897. doi:10.1038/ s41598-018-31764-0
- Wang T, Gao L, Yang Z, et al. Restraint stress in hypertensive rats activates the intestinal macrophages and reduces intestinal barrier accompanied by intestinal flora dysbiosis. J Inflamm Res. 2021; 14:1085–1110. doi:10.2147/JIR.S294630
- Butler MJ, Perrini AA, Eckel LA. The role of the gut microbiome, immunity, and neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of eating disorders. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(2):500. doi:10.3390/nu13020500
- 27. Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F. From dietary fiber to host physiology: Short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell*. 2016;165(6):1332–1345. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Roubalová R, Procházková P, Papežová H, Smitka K, Bilej M, Tlaskalová-Hogenová H. Anorexia nervosa: Gut microbiota–immune–brain interactions. Clin Nutr. 2020;39(3):676–684. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2019.03.023
- Zambell KL, Fitch MD, Fleming SE. Acetate and butyrate are the major substrates for de novo lipogenesis in rat colonic epithelial cells. *JNutr.* 2003;133(11):3509–3515. doi:10.1093/jn/133.11.3509

- Wang L, Llorente C, Hartmann P, Yang AM, Chen P, Schnabl B. Methods to determine intestinal permeability and bacterial translocation during liver disease. *J Immunol Methods*. 2015;421:44–53. doi:10.1016 /j.jim.2014.12.015
- Andersen V, Hansen GH, Olsen J, Poulsen MD, Norén O, Sjöström H. On the transfer of serum proteins to the rat intestinal juice. *Scand J Gastroenterol*. 1994;29(5):430–436. doi:10.3109/00365529409096834
- Chuang DJ, Pethaperumal S, Siwakoti B, et al. Activating transcription factor 3 protects against restraint stress-induced gastrointestinal injury in mice. *Cells.* 2021;10(12):3530. doi:10.3390/cells10123530
- Wang H, He S, Xin J, et al. Psychoactive effects of *Lactobacillus johnsonii* against restraint stress-induced memory dysfunction in mice through modulating intestinal inflammation and permeability: A study based on the gut–brain axis hypothesis. *Front Pharmacol.* 2021;12:662148. doi:10.3389/fphar.2021.662148
- Hattay P, Prusator DK, Tran L, Greenwood-Van Meerveld B. Psychological stress-induced colonic barrier dysfunction: Role of immunemediated mechanisms. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*. 2017;29(7):e13043. doi:10.1111/nmo.13043
- Xu D, Gao J, Gillilland M, et al. Rifaximin alters intestinal bacteria and prevents stress-induced gut inflammation and visceral hyperalgesia in rats. *Gastroenterology*. 2014;146(2):484–496.e4. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2013.10.026
- Lee SH. Intestinal permeability regulation by tight junction: Implication on inflammatory bowel diseases. *Intest Res.* 2015;13(1):11. doi:10.5217/ir.2015.13.1.11
- Lu Z, Ding L, Lu Q, Chen YH. Claudins in intestines: Distribution and functional significance in health and diseases. *Tissue Barriers*. 2013; 1(3):e24978. doi:10.4161/tisb.24978
- Shigetomi K, Ikenouchi J. Regulation of the epithelial barrier by posttranslational modifications of tight junction membrane proteins. *J Biochem.* 2018;163(4):265–272. doi:10.1093/jb/mvx077

Effects of heat shock protein 90 on complement activation in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury after pioglitazone preconditioning

*Dongxiao Wang^{1,A,C,D,F}, *Shitao He^{1,B,D}, Guoqiang Zhong^{1,2,B,C}, Jianjun Meng^{3,B,C}, Qi Bi^{1,B,E}, Ronghui Tu^{3,4,A,E,F}

¹ Department of Cardiology, First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China

² Guangxi Clinical Research Center for Cardio-Cerebrovascular Diseases, First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China

³ Department of Geriatric Cardiology, First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China

⁴ Guangxi Key Laboratory of Precision Medicine in Cardio-Cerebrovascular Diseases Control and Prevention, Nanning, China

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1401-1412

Address for correspondence Ronghui Tu

E-mail: lily072trh@sina.com

Funding sources

The Natural Science Foundation of Guangxi Province, China (grant No. 2020GXNSFAA297135).

Conflict of interest

None declared

*Dongxiao Wang and Shitao He contributed equally to this work.

Received on May 11, 2022 Reviewed on December 22, 2022 Accepted on March 23, 2023

Published online on May 4, 2023

Cite as

Wang D, He S, Zhong G, Meng J, Bi Q, Tu R. Effects of heat shock protein 90 on complement activation in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury after pioglitazone preconditioning. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1401–1412. doi:10.17219/acem/162578

DOI

10.17219/acem/162578

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) appears to have a pivotal function in ischemic preconditioning. Pioglitazone preconditioning (PioC) attenuates myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injuries.

Objectives. The current study aims to investigate the role of HSP90, complement C3 and C5a, and nuclear factor kappa–B (NF-κB) in PioC-induced cardioprotection.

Materials and methods. A total of 80 rats were randomly categorized into 4 groups, as follows: sham, I/R, PioC, and PioC+HSP90 inhibitor geldanamycin (PioC+GA). The sham group rats had a thoracotomy, in which the ligature was passed by the heart with no ligation (150 min). The other 3 groups were exposed to ischemia (30 min) followed by reperfusion (2 h). In the PioC group, pioglitazone (3 mg/kg) was administered intravenously 24 h before ischemia. In the PioC+GA group, after being pretreated with pioglitazone, GA was administered (intraperitoneally, 1 mg/kg) 30 min before ischemia. Myocardial infarct sizes (ISs), apoptosis rates, creatine kinase-MB (CK-MB), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and cardiac troponin I (cTnI) serum levels were determined. The HSP90, C3, NF- κ B, C5a, B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), and Bax expression levels, as well as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a) mRNA levels were measured.

Results. The myocardial ISs, serum CK-MB, cTnI and LDH levels, apoptosis rates, IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , ICAM-1 release, as well as Bax, C5a, C3, and NF- κ B protein expression were considerably lower in the PioC group than in the I/R group (p < 0.05). The Bcl-2 and HSP90 expression was higher in the PioC group than in the I/R group (p < 0.05). Geldanamycin inhibited the effects of PioC. These data strongly demonstrate that the PioC-induced is dependent upon HSP90 activity.

Conclusions. The HSP90 is indispensable for PioC-mediated cardioprotection. The HSP90 attenuates I/R-induced ISs, apoptosis of cardiomyocytes and myocardial inflammation through C3, C5a and NF-kB activation inhibition.

Key words: NF-κB, C3, HSP90, C5a, pioglitazone preconditioning

Background

Myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury is a serious acute myocardial infarction (AMI) complication after revascularization. Research has focused on methods and strategies to reduce myocardial I/R injury.¹ The cardioprotective impact of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) has gained increasing interest in this area.^{2,3} Pioglitazone belongs to the thiazolidinedione class and is a second-line drug in the treatment of type 2 diabetes acting by activating PPAR-y to increase insulin sensitivity and improve glucose and lipid metabolism.^{4,5} Pioglitazone exerts beneficial cardiovascular outcomes influencing cardiac function, metabolism, cardiac remodeling, etc.^{6,7} In a previous clinical trial, I/R injury was reduced in diabetic patients after AMI who were pretreated with pioglitazone.⁸ Previous observations have shown that pioglitazone-induced cardioprotection may activate extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2) signaling pathways using cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) as the downstream target, depend on endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS), activate Akt, and increase the expression of cytosolic phospholipase A2 (cPLA2).^{5,9,10} Nevertheless, the cardioprotective mechanism underlying pioglitazone in I/R injuries has not been fully elucidated.

The complement system, a key player in innate immunity, causes inflammation by recruiting immune cells and inducing the release of inflammatory factors during myocardial injury. Activation of the complement cascade in I/R injury causes myocardial tissue damage.¹¹ Emerging evidence indicates that complement components C3 and C5a promote the release of inflammatory factors by inducing nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- κ B) signaling, which further aggravates myocardial I/R injury.^{12,13} According to the literature, ischemic preconditioning impedes the upregulation of complement C3 and C5a induced by I/R injury in vivo.¹⁴ There is a paucity of information regarding pioglitazone preconditioning (PioC)-induced cardioprotection in terms of its inhibitory effects on C3, C5a and NF- κ B.

Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) is a highly conserved molecular chaperone and a vital effector molecule for cardioprotection during ischemic preconditioning.¹⁵ The inhibition of HSP90 aggravates complement-mediated cell lysis.¹⁶ The HSP90 can bind to molecular chaperones, which are resistant to complement-induced cell death.¹⁷ In our recent study, we demonstrated a correlation between HSP90, C5a, C3, and NF- κ B signaling in ischemic postconditioning.^{18,19} However, whether HSP90 contributes to the protective effects of PioC in myocardial I/R injuries by suppressing C3, C5a and NF- κ B remains unclear. Therefore, in the present study, we investigated the roles of HSP90, C3, C5a, and NF- κ B in PioC-induced cardioprotection. An I/R injury rat model was constructed to study the anti-inflammatory impact of PioC. We assessed interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) messenger RNA (mRNA) levels. Western blot analysis was conducted to determine HSP90, C3, C5a, B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), NF- κ B, and Bax proteins levels in the sham, I/R, PioC, and PioC+geldanamycin (GA) groups.

Objectives

The current study aims to investigate the role of HSP90, complement C3 and C5a, and NF- κ B in PioC-induced cardioprotection.

Materials and methods

Animals

Guangxi Medical University Experimental Animal Center (certificate No. SYXK (Gui) 2020-0001; Nanning, China) provided 80 adult male Sprague Dawley rats (8 weeks old) weighing between 250-280 g and kept in a 12:12-hour light/dark cycle, $50 \pm 15\%$ humidity and $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C temperature conditions with ad libitum access to food and water. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals was followed. The Guangxi Medical University Animal Protection and Use Committee approved this study (approval No. 201909028).

Experimental model

Anesthesia was provided using intraperitoneal sodium pentobarbital injection (50 mg/kg). A small animal ventilator (ALC-V8; Alcott Biotech Co., Shanghai, China) was used to ventilate the animals. The heart was exposed by opening the chest through the left 5th intercostal area. Suture ligation of the left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery was used for 30 min to create myocardial ischemia. The suture was removed, and reperfusion was performed for 2 h. An ST-segment elevation on electrocardiogram (ECG) and myocardium whitening in the LAD blood supply area indicated the successful construction of the model. The rats were euthanized immediately after the reperfusion. Blood samples were drawn from the left ventricular anterior wall close to the ventricular myocardium apex for further research.

Experimental groups

The rats were randomly divided into 4 groups (n = 20 per group): 1) sham group, where a ligature was passed around the LAD with no ligation (150 min); 2) I/R group, where

the rats had 30 min of ischemia and then 120 min of reperfusion; 3) PioC group, where pioglitazone (3 mg/kg²⁰) was administered intravenously 24 h before ischemia, followed by 30 min of ischemia and then 120 min of reperfusion; 4) PioC+GA group, where pioglitazone (3 mg/kg²⁰) was administered intravenously 24 h before ischemia, and 30 min before ischemia, an intraperitoneal injection of GA (1 mg/kg²¹) was administered, followed by 30 min of ischemia and 120 min of reperfusion.

Myocardial infarct size

Each group was tested separately to calculate myocardial infarct size (IS) (n = 5). After reperfusion, we tightened the LAD and stained the inferior vena cava with 2% Evans blue dye. The IS was determined after the stained heart was frozen, sectioned into 2-millimeter pieces, and treated for 15 min with 1% 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) at 37°C. Using digital imaging software, the IS as a percentage of the left ventricle (LV) was calculated quantitatively.

Lactate dehydrogenase, creatine kinase-MB and cardiac troponin I plasma levels

The serum was obtained by collecting 5-milliliter blood samples and centrifuging them at 3000 × g. The cardiac troponin I (cTnI), creatine kinase-MB (CK-MB) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) serum concentrations were determined utilizing respective enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (cTnI: CSB-E08594r, CK-MB: CSB-E14403r, LDH: CSB-E11324r; all acquired from CUSABIO, Wuhan, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

TUNEL staining

Cardiomyocyte apoptosis was assessed using the terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP-X nick end labeling (TUNEL) detection kit. Stained samples were visualized under a light microscope (model CKX41SF; Olympus Corp., Tokyo, Japan). A minimum of 5 randomly selected fields containing apoptotic cells were scored and recorded. Apoptosis was indicated by brown-stained nuclei (TUNEL-positive cells) and its index was computed using this formula: the number of TUNEL-positive cells / total number of myocytes × 100%.

mRNA expression quantification

Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) was used to extract 1 μ g of total RNA from the myocardial tissue in the ischemic areas, and it was purified. The Prime-ScriptTM RT reagent Kit (Takara, Kusatsu, Japan) synthesized complement DNA (cDNA) and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed using the SYBR standard qPCR mix (Takara) on an ABI Prism 7500 System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) and β -actin served as the housekeeping genes. Statistics for the β -actin are presented in the Supplementary material (https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7766218). The 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method was utilized for analyzing relative mRNA expression. The following primers were used:

IL-1 β gene: forward: 5'-TAGCAGCTTTCGACAGTGAGG-3', reverse: 5'-CCACAGCCACAATGAGTGAC-3'; IL-6 gene: forward: 5'-CTGGTCTTCTGGAGTTCCGTT-3', reverse: 5'-GCATTGGAAGTTGGGGGTAGGA-3'; *TNF-* α gene: forward: 5'-ATGGGCTCCCTCTCATCAGT-3', reverse: 5'-GCTTGGTGGTGCTTCACGAC-3'; and ICAM-1 gene: forward: 5'-TGTCGGTGCTCAGGTATCCATCC-3', reverse: 5'-TTCGCAAGAGGAAGAGCAGTTCAC-3'.

Western blot

After reperfusion, myocardial tissue from the ischemic areas was lysed with radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer (Solarbio, Beijing, China), treated with an ultrasonic tissue homogenizer (Servicebio, Wuhan, China), and then centrifuged for 15 min at 4°C and $12,000 \times g$. The enhanced bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Beyotime Biotechnology, Shanghai, China) was used to determine protein concentrations. Equal protein amounts were subjected to gel electrophoresis before being moved to the polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Merck Millipore, Bedford, USA), which were blocked at room temperature using 5% bovine serum albumin for 1 h before being treated with the primary antibodies against HSP90 (1:5000; Proteintech, Chicago, USA), Bcl-2 (1:500, Proteintech), Bax (1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, USA), β-actin (1:5000; Proteintech), C5a (1:5000; Invitrogen), NF-KB p65 (1:1000; Invitrogen), and C3 (1:1000; Abcam, Cambridge, UK) for 1 full day at 4°C, and then washed by Tween 20 and treated with the horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulin (1:12000) for 1 h. For the detection of protein bands, the FluorChemFC3 imaging system (ProteinSimple, Santa Clara, USA) and ImageJ v. 1.8.0 software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, USA) were used.

Statistical analyses

The IBM SPSS v. 23.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, USA) was utilized to analyze the data, which were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (M \pm SD) for normally distributed variables. The Shapiro–Wilk test was

used for the normal distribution of continuous variables. A one-way variance analysis (ANOVA) was utilized to compare several groups. The Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was performed as a post hoc test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Two animals died due to ventricular fibrillation and machine malfunction -1 in the I/R group and 1 in the PioC+GA group. The final results correspond to the data obtained on 78 rats.

PioC upregulated HSP90

To explore the potential link between HSP90 and PioC, we identified the HSP90 expression in myocardial tissue for each group. The PioC group had a higher HSP90 protein level than the I/R group (84.60 ±3.31% compared to 69.13 ±5.58%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 57.2; Fig. 1 and Table 1,2). Notably, treatment with the HSP90 inhibitor, GA, counteracted the effects of PioC.

PioC alleviated I/R-induced myocardial IS via HSP90

The PioC group had lower IS/LV rate than the I/R group (21.12 \pm 3.12% compared to 43.00 \pm 3.40%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 65.6; Fig. 2 and Table 3,4). Geldanamycin reversed the PioC protective effects (21.12 \pm 3.12% compared to 42.68 \pm 3.83%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 65.6). Neither the I/R group nor the PioC+GA group had a statistically significant difference in IS/LV (p = 0.988, ANOVA, F = 65.6).

PioC alleviated I/R-induced cardiomyocytes apoptosis via HSP90

The cardiomyocyte apoptotic index was examined to determine whether HSP90 has a role in PioC anti-apoptosis. The PioC group had lower apoptosis rates than the I/R group (23.71 ±2.08% compared to 45.98 ±1.70%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 866.0; Fig. 3A and Table 5,6). The PioC group had higher Bcl-2 and lower Bax expression levels than the I/R group (66.69 ±3.83% compared to 22.46 ±1.71%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 332.9; 54.09 ±5.26% compared to 71.97 ±3.75%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 141.0; Fig. 3B and



Fig. 1. Pioglitazone preconditioning (PioC) and geldanamycin (GA) effects on heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) expression following myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury. A. Western blots demonstrating HSP90 expression; B. Relative HSP90 expression; p < 0.05 compared to the *sham, *I/R and [&]PioC groups (Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test following analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing); n = 5 in each group

	Variables	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value	
	between groups	0.310	3	0.103			
HSP90	within a group	0.029	16	0.002	57.219	< 0.001	
	total	0.339	19	N/A			

Table 1. Results of ANOVA as presented in Fig. 1A,B

ANOVA – analysis of variance; HSP90 – heat shock protein 90; df – degrees of freedom; N/A – not applicable.

Table 2. Statistics for Fig. 1B

Va	ariable	Min	Q1	Median	Q3	Max
	sham	0.4182547	0.4504220	0.5096487	0.5339405	0.5355048
	I/R	0.6075359	0.6388622	0.7102011	0.7343151	0.7561627
HSP90	PioC	0.8011262	0.8174776	0.8418486	0.8765956	0.8892547
	PioC+GA	0.6684666	0.6775302	0.6968863	0.7266420	0.7361755

Min – minimal value; Max – maximal value; Q1 – 1st quartile; Q3 – 3rd quartile; HSP90 – heat shock protein 90; I/R – ischemia/reperfusion; PioC – pioglitazone preconditioning; GA – geldanamycin.



on myocardial infarct size (IS) following cardiac ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury (IS/left ventricle (LV)); p < 0.05 compared to the *sham, #I/R and [&]PioC groups (Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test following analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing); n = 5 in each group

Table 3. Results of ANOVA as presented in Fig. 2A,B

sham

I/R

	Variables	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value
	between groups	0.157	2	0.079		
Infarct size	within a group	0.014	12	0.001	65.614	< 0.001
	total	0.172	14	N/A		

ANOVA – analysis of variance; df – degrees of freedom; N/A – not applicable.

PioC

PioC+GA

Table 4. Statistics for Fig. 2B

0.0

Varia	able	Min	Q1	Median	Q3	Max
	sham	0	0	0	0	0
Informat size	I/R	0.3808338	0.3998195	0.4293745	0.4605114	0.4708008
iniarct size	PioC	0.1631902	0.1873210	0.2146678	0.2332605	0.2505541
	PioC+GA	0.3834830	0.3977524	0.4178273	0.4602490	0.4873300

Min – minimal value; Max – maximal value; Q1 – 1st quartile; Q3 – 3rd quartile; HSP90 – heat shock protein 90; I/R – ischemia/reperfusion; PioC – pioglitazone preconditioning; GA – geldanamycin.

Table 5,6), respectively. Geldanamycin inhibited the PioC anti-apoptotic effect on cardiomyocytes. These data suggest that HSP90 could effectively alleviate cardiomyocyte apoptosis and play a critical role in the anti-apoptotic effect of PioC.

PioC alleviated myocardial injury after I/R via HSP90

In comparison with the I/R group, CK-MB (1271.2 ±89.66 U/L compared to 828.6 ±53.13 U/L), LDH (1608.6 ± 101.34 U/L compared to 824.0 ± 22.36 U/L) and cTnI (325.44 ±34.67 ng/mL compared to 138.79 ±7.40 ng/mL) levels were considerably lower after I/R in the PioC group (p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 168.9; p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 104.0; p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 160.8, respectively (Table 7,8). Geldanamycin reversed the beneficial effect of PioC in mitigating myocardial injury.

PioC alleviated I/R-induced activation of complement and NF-кВ via HSP90

To explore whether PioC modulated the complement system and NF-KB signaling pathways through





Fig. 3. A. Pioglitazone preconditioning (PioC) and geldanamycin (GA) effects on apoptosis following myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury (x400 magnification, bar = 100 μ m). Normal cardiomyocytes are presented in blue, and an apoptotic nucleus is shown in brown (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP-X nick end labeling (TUNEL)-positive cells). The arrow indicates TUNEL-positive cells; B. PioC and GA effects on B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) and Bax protein expression; p < 0.05 compared to the *sham group, #I/R group and [&]PioC groups (Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test following analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing); n = 5 in each group

	6 4 4 1 00 14		F1 04 0
lable 5. Results	of ANOVA a	s presented in	Fig. 3A,B

	Variables	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value
	between groups	0.663	3	0.221		
Apoptosis rate	within a group	0.004	16	<0.001	866.049	<0.001
	total	0.667	19	N/A		
	between groups	0.655	3	0.218		<0.001
Bcl-2	within a group	0.010	16	0.001	332.884	
	total	0.666	19	N/A		
	between groups	0.660	3	0.220		<0.001
Bax	within a group	0.025	16	0.002	141.028	
	total	0.685	19	N/A		

ANOVA - analysis of variance; df - degrees of freedom; N/A - not applicable; Bcl-2 - B-cell lymphoma-2.

N	• • • •		01	A.4. 11	02	
Vai	lable	Min	QI	Median	Q3	Мах
	sham	0.0066225	0.0066783	0.0098361	0.0129706	0.0159744
A no costa cia vasta	I/R	0.4340836	0.4431144	0.4648829	0.4738945	0.4768212
Apoptosis rate	PioC	0.2100000	0.2181757	0.2343234	0.2574919	0.2624585
	PioC+GA	0.4244373	0.42602335	0.4391026	0.4547610	0.4668989
	sham	0.3060012	0.31137375	0.3274096	0.3573080	0.3580377
Pcl D	I/R	0.2057575	0.2064249	0.2306815	0.2397666	0.242422
DCI-2	PioC	0.6103339	0.6349405	0.6629329	0.7009239	0.7126300
	PioC+GA	0.1981251	0.2110812	0.2303862	0.2400198	0.2458526
	sham	0.2200826	0.2461535	0.2823904	0.2969734	0.3052954
Davi	I/R	0.6777682	0.6915758	0.7084501	0.7534922	0.778393
BdX	PioC	0.4755463	0.4869095	0.5591846	0.5857422	0.6034487
	PioC+GA	0.6760882	0.6900726	0.7048742	0.7459117	0.760784

Table 6. Statistics for Fig. 3A,B

Min – minimal value; Max – maximal value; Q1 – 1st quartile; Q3 – 3rd quartile; HSP90 – heat shock protein 90; Bcl-2 – B-cell lymphoma-2; I/R – ischemia/ reperfusion; PioC – pioglitazone preconditioning; GA – geldanamycin.

Table 7. CK-MB, cTnI and LDH serum levels (M ±SD)

Groups	CK-MB [U/L]	cTnl [ng/mL]	LDH [U/L]
Sham	425.4 ±47.21 ^{#&}	7.96 ±1.51 ^{#&}	535.8 ±61.35 ^{#&}
I/R	1271.2 ±89.66*&	325.44 ±34.67*&	1608.0 ±101.34*&
PioC	828.6 ±53.13*#	138.79 ±7.40*#	824.0 ±22.36*#
PioC+GA	1193.4 ±68.57*&	310.33 ±39.73*&	1539.8 ±198.76*&

All results are shown as mean ± standard deviation (M ±SD). The Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was conducted following analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing. CK-MB – creatine kinase-MB; cTnI – cardiac troponin I; LDH – lactate dehydrogenase; I/R – ischemia/reperfusion; PioC – pioglitazone preconditioning; GA – geldanamycin. p < 0.05 compared to the *sham, #I/R and &PioC groups (Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test following analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing); n = 5 in each group.

	Variables	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value
	between groups	2253498.150	3	751166.050		
CK-MB	within a group	71168.400	16	4448.025	168.876	<0.001
	total	2324666.550	19	N/A		
	between groups	4215456.200	3	1405152.067		<0.001
LDH	within a group	216161.600	16	13510.100	104.008	
	total	4431617.800	19	N/A		
	between groups	342268.241	3	114089.414		
cTnl	within a group	11349.980	16	709.374	160.831	<0.001
	total	353618.221	19	N/A		

Table 8. Results of ANOVA as presented in Table 7

ANOVA - analysis of variance; df - degrees of freedom; N/A - not applicable; CK-MB - creatine kinase-MB; LDH - lactate dehydrogenase; cTnl - cardiac troponin I.

HSP90, the complement components C3 and C5a and NF- κ B expression were assessed in the presence of GA. The complement components C3 and C5a and NF- κ B expression were assessed. The C3, C5a and NF- κ B protein levels in the PioC group were lower than in the I/R group (65.03 ±3.32% compared to 78.62 ±3.04%, p = 0.001, ANOVA, F = 105.2; 57.31 ±4.71% compared to 75.35 ±5.49%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 190.8; and 47.98 ±9.34% compared to 69.35 ±2.75%, p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 72.4, respectively, Fig. 4 and Table 9,10). The mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β ,

IL-6, and ICAM-1 in the PioC group were significantly lower than in the I/R group (p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 108.1; p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 38.1; p < 0.001, ANOVA, F = 163.9; p = 0.017, ANOVA, F = 13.5, respectively; Fig. 4B and Table 9,10). Geldanamycin negated the anti-inflammatory effects for PioC. These data demonstrate that PioC protects the heart from I/R-induced inflammatory responses by suppressing the activation of the complement system and NF- κ B. Furthermore, the effects of PioC were closely linked to HSP90 activity.



Discussion

The major finding of this study was that PioC significantly decreased the I/R-induced activation of complement components C5a and C3 and NF- κ B through HSP90. The PioC significantly alleviated I/R-induced myocardial injury, increased Bcl-2 expression and increased HSP90 expression. In rat hearts treated with GA, the cardioprotection was prevented as demonstrated by an increase in IS and apoptosis, CK-MB, cTnI, and LDH serum levels, C3, C5a, Bax, and NF- κ B levels, and the inflammatory mediator expression of IL-6, TNF- α , ICAM-1, and IL-1 β . These data highlight the pivotal function of HSP90 in inhibiting C3, C5a and NF- κ B in PioC.

Pioglitazone, a PPAR- γ agonist, is widely used to manage type 2 diabetes. Based on previously published evidence, it can be stated that PPAR- γ has the potential as a new therapeutic

target in I/R injury.^{22,23} Clinical studies have confirmed the benefits of pioglitazone in alleviating reperfusion injury in diabetic patients with AMI.⁸ Previous studies showed that PioC prevents I/R injury by increasing the expression of HSP32 (also called heme oxygenase 1) and HSP72.^{24,25} Thus far, no studies have investigated whether PioC exerts a regulatory effect on HSP90, so herein, we constructed an I/R rat model, and found that PioC significantly upregulated the expression of HSP90 to prevent I/R injury, and the treatment with the HSP90 inhibitor GA reversed this effect.

The C3 is a vital component in the activation of the complement system, as demonstrated in reperfused myocardium, where C3 levels are markedly increased. Activation of C3 induces the production of C3a and C5a, which act as inflammatory mediators promoting the release of inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6), which leads to an inflammatory response, and eventually the cleavage

	Variables	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p-value
	between groups	0.982	3	0.327		
C3	within a group	0.050	16	0.003	105.242	<0.001
	total	1.031	19	N/A		
	between groups	0.914	3	0.305		
C5a	within a group	0.026	16	0.002	190.835	<0.001
	total	0.940	19	N/A		
	between groups	0.746	3	0.249		
NF-кВ р65	within a group	0.055	16	0.003	72.394	<0.001
	total	0.801	19	N/A		
	between groups	61.743	3	20.581		<0.001
IL-1β	within a group	8.643	16	0.540	38.100	
	total	70.386	19	N/A		
	between groups	82.487	3	27.496		
TNF-α	within a group	4.069	16	0.254	108.121	<0.001
	total	66.556	19	N/A		
	between groups	112.913	3	37.638		
IL-6	within a group	3.674	16	0.230	163.904	<0.001
	total	116.587	19	N/A		
	between groups	75.110	3	25.037		
ICAM-1	within a group	29.681	16	1.855	13.496	0.001
	total	104.791	19	N/A		

Table 9. Results of ANOVA as presented in Fig. 4A,B

ANOVA – analysis of variance; df – degrees of freedom; N/A – not applicable; NF- κ B – nuclear factor kappa-B; IL – interleukin; TNF- α – tumor necrosis factor alpha; ICAM-1 – intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1.

of fragment C5b. The C5b binds with the other components (C6, C7, C8, and C9) to form C5b-9, also known as the membrane attack complex, which causes the subsequent cardiomyocyte damage and myocardium destruction.^{11,26,27} Ischemic preconditioning and postconditioning inhibit C3 and C5a.^{14,18} The PPAR- γ activation inhibits the inflammatory response by suppressing the production of inflammatory factors.^{3,28} To date, it was unclear whether PioC had potent inhibitory effects on C3, C5a, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and ICAM-1. Our data revealed that the PioC group had lower C3, C5a, IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and ICAM-1 levels than the I/R group. These data highlight the potential role of PioC in the suppression of C3, IL-1 β , C5a, TNF- α , IL-6, and ICAM-1, anti-inflammatory induction, and cardio-protective effects.

The NF- κ B is the key player in the inflammatory response after myocardial I/R injury.²⁹ It has previously been shown that NF- κ B regulates complement component C3 to induce complement system activation and contribute to the complement-mediated immune–inflammatory response.³⁰ Other studies have revealed that NF- κ B promotes the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to complement activation, which aggravates myocardial damage,^{31,32} and that pioglitazone inhibits inflammation via suppression of NF- κ B signaling.^{33,34} In addition, pioglitazone was shown to combat myocardial I/R injury by inhibiting the overexpression of NF- κ B activation.²⁰ Nevertheless, a correlation between complement components and NF- κ B signaling in PioC-mediated cardioprotection remained unclear. Our results revealed that PioC lowers the protein expression levels of NF- κ B, C3 and C5a. These data show that the PioC inhibitory effects on NF- κ B signaling could be related to the regulation of the complement system.

The HSP90 is upregulated under stress and protects the heart from I/R injury during pharmacological conditioning and ischemic postconditioning.^{21,35} Relevant investigations revealed a direct link between HSP90 and complement-mediated cell death events.^{16,17} The C3 and C5a can be suppressed by preconditioning.¹⁴ Previously, we found that ischemic postconditioning inhibited C3, C5a and NF- κ B through HSP90.^{18,19} These findings supported the view that PioC inhibits C3, C5a and NF- κ B by upregulating HSP90. In the current study, the PioC group had higher HSP90 levels and lower C5a, C3 and NF- κ B expression levels than the I/R group. Furthermore, GA reversed the PioC-mediated C3, C5a and NF- κ B downregulation.

Cardiomyocyte apoptosis induced by I/R contributes to myocardial I/R injury dependent on the ratio of antiapoptotic (Bcl-2) to proapoptotic (Bax) proteins.³⁶ Previous evidence demonstrated that pioglitazone reduced the levels of proapoptotic Bax and enhanced those of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins to attenuate myocardial apoptosis

Vai	riable	Min	Q1	Median	Q3	Max
	sham	0.1420695	0.18196745	0.2468044	0.3278244	0.4038138
(2)	I/R	0.7555192	0.7609642	0.7846901	0.8122560	0.8347841
C	PioC	0.6096564	0.6210794	0.642889	0.6831024	0.693934
	PioC+GA	0.7715948	0.7791537	0.7878101	0.833518	0.8669052
	sham	0.2001509	0.21247254	0.2270116	0.2463871	0.2520177
CED	I/R	0.7199085	0.72452212	0.7575603	0.7760201	0.7890712
Cod	PioC	0.5146355	0.5217963	0.6039161	0.6089467	0.6099353
	PioC+GA	0.6962696	0.7165747	0.7407046	0.7967124	0.8447190
	sham	0.1596326	0.1738399	0.20306	0.2413086	0.2568572
NE VD DGE	I/R	0.6655821	0.6708702	0.6798548	0.7229049	0.7272208
иг-ка роз	PioC	0.3669741	0.39992025	0.4747395	0.5623306	0.6184039
	PioC+GA	0.5667597	0.61475525	0.6869347	0.6925321	0.6974357
	sham	1	1	1	1	1
II 10	I/R	4.084700	4.2604795	5.350519	5.5542125	5.707974
IL-IP	PioC	1.014345	1.5003725	2.143116	2.7007005	3.050886
	PioC+GA	3.343787	4.0029275	4.979283	5.916889	5.989528
	sham	1	1	1	1	1
	I/R	4.225249	4.816789	5.457398	6.1509425	6.468019
INF-Q	PioC	1.733721	1.756148	2.088649	2.471499	2.715366
	PioC+GA	5.157640	5.164975	5.604520	6.030263	6.086619
	sham	1	1	1	1	1
11 6	I/R	5.351822	5.7666665	6.450896	7.1533675	7.520586
IL-0	PioC	2.729687	3.0352235	3.530458	3.632126	3.711900
	PioC+GA	6.248047	6.4101325	7.002700	7.073849	7.112963
	sham	1	1	1	1	1
	I/R	4.085224	4.1667785	5.120028	6.9497815	8.190071
ICAIVI-I	PioC	1.135953	1.7026610	3.050863	3.1361680	3.180996
	PioC+GA	3.736607	4.2366070	4.871034	7.1075915	8.898696

Table 10. Statistics for Fig. 4B

Min – minimal value; Max – maximal value; Q1 – 1st quartile; Q3 – 3rd quartile; HSP90 – heat shock protein 90; I/R – ischemia/reperfusion; PioC – pioglitazone preconditioning; GA – geldanamycin; NF- κ B – nuclear factor kappa-B; IL – interleukin-1 β ; TNF- α – tumor necrosis factor alpha; ICAM-1 – intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1.

during I/R.²⁰ We reported that the Bax and Bcl-2 expression in postconditioning depended on HSP90.²¹ In mast cells, the inhibition of HSP90 by GA inhibited the interaction of HSP90 with Bcl-2 and resulted in apoptosis.³⁷ In the present study, pioglitazone combined with GA reversed PioC-induced upregulation of Bcl-2, suggesting that the PioC anti-apoptotic effect is linked with HSP90.

These data support the evidence that HSP90 is a central player in the C3, C5a, NF- κ B, and Bax inhibition during PioC. To the best of our knowledge, our observation is a pioneer in reporting the relationship between HSP90, NF- κ B, C5a, C3, Bax, and Bcl-2 in PioC, which indicates that cardioprotection induced by PioC is closely related to HSP90 and the complement system. However, the detailed mechanism of the direct effect of PioC on HSP90 and the complement system needs to be clarified.

Limitations

There are some limitations to this investigation. First, we only applied the HSP90-specific modulator GA. The application of over- or underexpression of HSP90 using viral vectors to explore its role in PioC could be carried out in future studies. Second, our current work only showed the effect of HSP90 on complement activation in PioC; the application of complement inhibitors could further explore its effects on HSP90 and downstream signal transduction mechanisms of complement. Third, further research is needed to explore the detailed mechanism of the direct effect of PioC on HSP90 and the complement system. Fourth, because the sample size was very small, the Shapiro–Wilk test had low test power; thus, larger sample sizes should be applied in future studies.

Conclusions

The HSP90 plays a pivotal role in PioC-mediated cardioprotection, likely through the inhibition of C3, C5a and NF- κ B activation, leading to a decrease in I/R-induced IS, myocardial inflammation and cardiomyocyte apoptosis. The current findings highlight the potential of HSP90 in treating I/R injury.

Supplementary data

The supplementary materials are available at https://doi. org/10.5281/zenodo.7871084. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary Tables 1–4. Statistical analysis results of Fig. 1–4.

Supplementary Table 5. Data points of the study.

Supplementary Tables 6–12. Statistical analysis results of Supplementary Fig. 1.

Supplementary Fig. 1. The mRNA expression of inflammatory factors with β -*actin* as a housekeeping gene.

ORCID iDs

Dongxiao Wang D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5358-196X Shitao He D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1528-1883 Guoqiang Zhong D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8225-0246 Jianjun Meng D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3647-5564 Qi Bi D https://orcid.org/0009-0004-1090-9135 Ronghui Tu D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5423-5081

References

- Davidson SM, Ferdinandy P, Andreadou I, et al. Multitarget strategies to reduce myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: JACC review topic of the week. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(1):89–99. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2018.09.086
- Riess ML, Elorbany R, Weihrauch D, Stowe DF, Camara AKS. PPARgamma-independent side effects of thiazolidinediones on mitochondrial redox state in rat isolated hearts. *Cells*. 2020;9(1):252. doi:10.3390/ cells9010252
- Zhong CB, Chen X, Zhou XY, Wang XB. The role of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma in mediating cardioprotection against ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2018;23(1):46–56. doi:10.1177/1074248417707049
- American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee.
 Pharmacologic approaches to glycemic treatment: Standards of medical care in diabetes – 2022. *Diabetes Care*. 2022;45(Suppl 1): S125–S143. doi:10.2337/dc22-S009
- Ye Y, Lin Y, Manickavasagam S, Perez-Polo JR, Tieu BC, Birnbaum Y. Pioglitazone protects the myocardium against ischemia–reperfusion injury in eNOS and iNOS knockout mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2008;295(6):H2436–H2446. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00690.2008
- Nesti L, Tricò D, Mengozzi A, Natali A. Rethinking pioglitazone as a cardioprotective agent: A new perspective on an overlooked drug. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*. 2021;20(1):109. doi:10.1186/s12933-021-01294-7
- Konegawa Y, Kuwahara T, Jo JI, et al. Pioglitazone-incorporated microspheres targeting macrophage polarization alleviates cardiac dysfunction after myocardial infarction. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2022; 62(5):ezac414. doi:10.1093/ejcts/ezac414
- Kataoka Y, Yagi N, Kokubu N, Kasahara Y, Abe M, Otsuka Y. Effect of pretreatment with pioglitazone on reperfusion injury in diabetic patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Circ J.* 2011;75(8):1968–1974. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-11-0098
- 9. Zou C, Hu H. Use of pioglitazone in the treatment of diabetes: Effect on cardiovascular risk. *Vasc Health Risk Manag.* 2013;9:429–433. doi:10.2147/VHRM.S34421

- Birnbaum Y, Long B, Qian J, Perez-Polo JR, Ye Y. Pioglitazone limits myocardial infarct size, activates Akt, and upregulates cPLA2 and COX-2 in a PPAR-γ-independent manner. *Basic Res Cardiol.* 2011;106(3): 431–446. doi:10.1007/s00395-011-0162-3
- Marchant DJ, Boyd JH, Lin DC, Granville DJ, Garmaroudi FS, McManus BM. Inflammation in myocardial diseases. *Circ Res.* 2012;110(1):126–144. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.243170
- 12. Busche MN, Stahl GL. Role of the complement components C5 and C3a in a mouse model of myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Ger Med Sci.* 2010;8:Doc20. doi:10.3205/000109
- Merle NS, Noe R, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Roumenina LT. Complement system part II: Role in immunity. *Front Immunol*. 2015; 6:257. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00257
- Tanhehco EJ, Yasojima K, McGeer PL, McGeer EG, Lucchesi BR. Preconditioning reduces myocardial complement gene expression in vivo. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2000;279(3):H1157–H1165. doi:10.1152/ ajpheart.2000.279.3.H1157
- Wang C, Qiao S, Hong L, et al. NOS cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin contributes to anesthetic preconditioning induced myocardial protection in the isolated ex-vivo rat heart. *Int J Mol Med*. 2020;45(2): 615–622. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2019.4445
- Sreedhar AS, Nardai G, Csermely P. Enhancement of complementinduced cell lysis: A novel mechanism for the anticancer effects of Hsp90 inhibitors. *Immunol Lett.* 2004;92(1–2):157–161. doi:10.1016/j. imlet.2003.11.025
- Rozenberg P, Ziporen L, Gancz D, Saar-Ray M, Fishelson Z. Cooperation between Hsp90 and mortalin/GRP75 in resistance to cell death induced by complement C5b-9. *Cell Death Dis.* 2018;9(2):150. doi:10.1038/s41419-017-0240-z
- Wang DX, Huang Z, Li QJ, et al. Involvement of HSP90 in ischemic postconditioning-induced cardioprotection by inhibition of the complement system, JNK and inflammation. *Acta Cir Bras.* 2020;35(1): e202000105. doi:10.1590/s0102-865020200010000005
- Zhang XY, Huang Z, Li QJ, et al. Role of HSP90 in suppressing TLR4mediated inflammation in ischemic postconditioning. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc*. 2020;76(1):51–62. doi:10.3233/CH-200840
- Li J, Lang MJ, Mao XB, Tian L, Feng YB. Antiapoptosis and mitochondrial effect of pioglitazone preconditioning in the ischemic/ reperfused heart of rat. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* 2008;22(4):283–291. doi:10.1007/s10557-008-6115-x
- Zhong GQ, Tu RH, Zeng ZY, et al. Novel functional role of heat shock protein 90 in protein kinase C-mediated ischemic postconditioning. *J Surg Res.* 2014;189(2):198–206. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2014.01.038
- Han L, Shen WJ, Bittner S, Kraemer FB, Azhar S. PPARs: Regulators of metabolism and as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular disease. Part II: PPAR-β/δ and PPAR-γ. *Future Cardiol*. 2017;13(3):279–296. doi:10.2217/fca-2017-0019
- Tokutome M, Matoba T, Nakano Y, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma targeting nanomedicine promotes cardiac healing after acute myocardial infarction by skewing monocyte/macrophage polarization in preclinical animal models. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2019;115(2):419–431. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvy200
- Refaie MMM, El-Hussieny M. Protective effect of pioglitazone on ovarian ischemia reperfusion injury of female rats via modulation of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma and heme-oxygenase 1. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2018;62:7–14. doi:10.1016/j.intimp. 2018.06.037
- Taniguchi Y, Ooie T, Takahashi N, et al. Pioglitazone but not glibenclamide improves cardiac expression of heat shock protein 72 and tolerance against ischemia/reperfusion injury in the heredity insulin-resistant rat. *Diabetes*. 2006;55(8):2371–2378. doi:10.2337/ db06-0268
- Vogel CW. The role of complement in myocardial infarction reperfusion injury: An underappreciated therapeutic target. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* 2020;8:606407. doi:10.3389/fcell.2020.606407
- Mondello C, Ventura Spagnolo E, Cardia L, et al. Membrane attack complex in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: A systematic review for post mortem applications. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. 2020;10(11):898. doi:10.3390/diagnostics10110898
- Abdelrahman M, Sivarajah A, Thiemermann C. Beneficial effects of PPAR-gamma ligands in ischemia–reperfusion injury, inflammation and shock. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;65(4):772–781. doi:10.1016/j. cardiores.2004.12.008

- Chen J, Zhang M, Zhang S, Wu J, Xue S. Rno-microRNA-30c-5p promotes myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury in rats through activating NF-κB pathway and targeting SIRT1. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 2020;20(1):240. doi:10.1186/s12872-020-01520-2
- Liu M, Wang H, Zhang J, et al. NF-kB signaling pathway-enhanced complement activation mediates renal injury in trichloroethylene-sensitized mice. *J Immunotoxicol*. 2018;15(1):63–72. doi:10.1080/1547691X. 2017.1420712
- Oliveira JB, Soares AASM, Sposito AC. Inflammatory response during myocardial infarction. *Adv Clin Chem.* 2018;84:39–79. doi:10.1016/ bs.acc.2017.12.002
- 32. Ghosh S, Hayden MS. Celebrating 25 years of NF-kB research. *Immunol Rev.* 2012;246(1):5–13. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01111.x
- Liu Y, Qu Y, Liu L, et al. PPAR-γ agonist pioglitazone protects against IL-17 induced intervertebral disc inflammation and degeneration via suppression of NF-κB signaling pathway. *Int Immunopharmacol.* 2019;72:138–147. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2019.04.012
- 34. Zhang HL, Xu M, Wei C, et al. Neuroprotective effects of pioglitazone in a rat model of permanent focal cerebral ischemia are associated with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma-mediated suppression of nuclear factor-κB signaling pathway. *Neuroscience*. 2011;176:381–395. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.12.029
- 35. Wang M, Sun GB, Du YY, et al. Myricitrin protects cardiomyocytes from hypoxia/reoxygenation injury: Involvement of heat shock protein 90. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:353. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00353
- Guo R, Li G. Tanshinone modulates the expression of Bcl-2 and Bax in cardiomyocytes and has a protective effect in a rat model of myocardial ischemia–reperfusion. *Hellenic J Cardiol.* 2018;59(6):323–328. doi:10.1016/j.hjc.2017.11.011
- Cohen-Saidon C, Carmi I, Keren A, Razin E. Antiapoptotic function of Bcl-2 in mast cells is dependent on its association with heat shock protein 90β. *Blood*. 2006;107(4):1413–1420. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-07-2648

Upregulation of ITGB6 in primary palmar hyperhidrosis

Jian-Bo Lin^{1,A-F}, Yan-Xun Chen^{2,A-F}, Nan-Long Lin^{1,A-C,F}, Xu Li^{1,B,C,F}

¹ Department of Thoracic Surgery, The First Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Fuzhou, China ² Department of Thoracic Surgery, Quangang District Hospital, Quanzhou, China

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1413-1422

Address for correspondence Jian-Bo Lin E-mail: jianbolinmd@163.com

Funding sources The study was funded by Scientific and Joint Funds for the Innovation of Science and Technology, Fujian Province (grant No. 2019Y9119) and Medical Innovation Project of Fujian Province (grant No. 2020CXA037).

Conflict of interest

None declared

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the funders for the financial support.

Received on February 10, 2022 Reviewed on August 23, 2022 Accepted on March 13, 2023

Published online on May 22, 2023

Cite as

Lin JB, Chen YX, Lin NL, Li X. Upregulation of ITGB6 in primary palmar hyperhidrosis [published online as ahead of print on May 22, 2023]. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1413–1422. doi:10.17219/acem/162178

DOI

10.17219/acem/162178

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. The regulatory effect of integrin β6 (ITGB6) on sweat gland cells in primary palmar hyperhidrosis (PPH) remains unclear.

Objectives. This study investigated the involvement of ITGB6 in the pathogenesis of PPH.

Materials and methods. Sweat gland tissues were collected from PPH patients and healthy volunteers. The expression levels of ITGB6 in sweat gland tissues were detected with quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), western blot and immunohistochemical staining. Sweat gland cells were extracted from PPH patients, and identified with immunofluorescence staining of CEA and CK7. The expression of aquaporin 5 (AQP5) and Na-K-CI cotransporter 1 (NKCC1) in primary sweat gland cells that overexpress ITGB6 were also detected. Through a series of bioinformatic methods, differentially expressed genes in sweat gland tissues were examined and validated via comparing PPH samples and controls. The key proteins and biological functions enriched in PPH were determined using Gene Ontology (GO) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analyses.

Results. The ITGB6 was upregulated in sweat gland tissues of PPH patients compared to that of healthy volunteers. The CEA and CK7 were positively expressed in sweat gland cells extracted from PPH patients. The overexpression of ITGB6 upregulated AQP5 and NKCC1 protein expression in the sweat gland cells of PPH patients. A total of 562 differentially expressed mRNAs were identified using high-throughput sequencing (394 upregulated, 168 downregulated), which were mainly active in the chemokine and Wnt signaling pathways. After verification with qPCR and western blot, the overexpression of ITGB6 significantly upregulated CXCL3, CXCL10, and CXCL11, and downregulated Wnt2 mRNA and protein expression in sweat gland cells.

Conclusions. The ITGB6 is upregulated in PPH patients. It may be involved in the pathogenesis of PPH by upregulating AQP5, NKCC1, CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11, and downregulating Wnt2 expression in sweat glands.

Key words: chemokines, ITGB6, AQP5, primary palmar hyperhidrosis, human sweat gland cells

Background

Sweat glands are important in adjusting body temperature in mammals.¹ Hyperhidrosis is characterized by abnormally excessive sweating that far exceeds physiological needs. Palmar hyperhidrosis is the most common form of hyperhidrosis, which can be exacerbated by stress, heat, taste, and olfactory stimuli.² It can seriously affect both the quality of life and work efficiency, and even cause severe psychological disorders if left untreated.³ At present, the main treatment of primary palmar hyperhidrosis (PPH) includes drug therapy, Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM), direct current stimulation, and computed tomography (CT)-guided percutaneous puncture thoracic sympathetic blockade.⁴ However, most therapeutic strategies are limited to the relief of symptoms rather than a cure. Therefore, clarifying the molecular mechanism of PPH and developing target drugs are crucial.

As a cell surface receptor, integrins are transmembrane heterodimers composed of an α subunit and a β subunit that mediate signal transduction between the cells and the extracellular matrix.⁵ Integrin β6 (ITGB6) belongs to the integrin family and is only expressed in epithelial tissues, having important roles in regulating wound healing, inflammatory responses and tumorigenesis. Wu et al. reported impaired wound repair in ITGB6^{-/-} mice with corneal debridement and keratectomy wounds.⁶ Moreover, Chen et al. demonstrated that the overexpression of ITGB6 in intestinal epithelial cells promotes dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice.⁷ Zheng et al. found that ITGB6 silencing can inhibit the progression of cervical cancer by modulating the JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway.⁸ To date, the regulatory effect of ITGB6 on sweat gland cells in PPH remains uncertain.

Objectives

The aims of this study were to analyze the expression of ITGB6 in sweat gland tissue obtained from patients with PPH at the clinical level, explore the possible mechanism of ITGB6 in regulating the function of human sweat gland cells through the isolation of primary human sweat gland cells and the construction of ITGB6 overexpression vector, and analyze the underlying mechanism of ITGB6 participation in the pathogenesis of PPH. The findings of this study may serve as guidance for the treatment of PPH.

Materials and methods

Ethics approval

The Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University (Fuzhou, China) approved this study (approval No. [2019]261). Written informed consent was obtained from all examined patients before sample collection.

Sample collection

Axillary all-layer skin samples (2 × 5 mm) of 8 patients with PPH treated with single-port surgery at the natural folds of the axilla in The First Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University from January to September 2019 were collected as the experimental group. The samples were obtained from the right axilla by incision. Patients with a history of secondary hyperhidrosis, such as hyperthyroidism and tuberculosis, were excluded. All-layer skin samples (2 × 5 mm) from the right axilla of patients without hyperhidrosis (n = 11) who underwent axillary plastic surgery were surgically collected as the control group. The samples were obtained by incision. The patients had no history or family history of palmar and axillary hyperhidrosis and axillary osmidrosis.

Reagents and instruments

We used the following primary antibodies in our study: rabbit anti-ITGB6 antibody (19695-1-AP) was obtained from Proteintech (Wuhan, China), while rabbit antiaquaporin 5 (AQP5) antibody (AF5169), rabbit anti-Na-K-Cl cotransporter 1 (NKCC1) antibody (DF2245), rabbit anti-CEA antibody (BF0092), rabbit anti-CK7 antibody (AF0195), rabbit anti-CXCL3 antibody (DF8554), rabbit anti-CXCL5 antibody (DF9919), rabbit anti-CXCL10 antibody (DF6417), rabbit anti-CXCL11 antibody (DF9917), and rabbit anti-WNT2 antibody (DF8067) were all purchased from Affinity Biosciences (Cincinnati, USA). The mouse monoclonal anti-GAPDH antibody (TA-08) and horseradish-labeled goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) antibody (ZB-2301) were both obtained from ZSGB-Bio (Beijing, China). The DAB Chromogenic Substrate Kit (CW0125), UltraSYBR Mixture (CW0957M), neutral resin (CW0136), BCA Protein Assay Kit (CW0014S), TRIzol reagent (CW0580S), UltraPure mRNA Purification Kit (CW0581M), and HiFiScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (CW2569M) were all purchased from CWBIO (Beijing, China). The hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining kit (AR1180-1) was purchased from Boster Bio (Pleasanton, USA), Opti-MEM (31985-062) from Gibco (Grand Island, USA), and radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer (C1053) from Applygen (Beijing, China).

Cell culture incubator (BPN-80CW) was purchased from Shanghai Yiheng Technology (Shanghai, China), and the bench-top low-temperature high-speed centrifuge (5424R) from Eppendorf (Hamburg, Germany). The CFX Connect[™] real-time fluorescence PCR instrument was manufactured by Bio-Rad (Shanghai, China), and the vertical electrophoresis apparatus (DYY-6C) and microplate reader (WD-2102B) by Beijing Liuyi Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China). The automatic high-speed grinding device (Tiss-12) was obtained from Shanghai Jingxin Biological Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (Shanghai, China) and the ChemiDoc[™] XRS+ System from Bio-Rad. Fluorescence microscopes (model CX41 and model CKX53) were purchased from Olympus Corp. (Tokyo, Japan), the multifunctional enzyme labeling analyzer (Safire II) from Tecan (Männedorf, Switzerland), and the manual rotary microtome (2235) from Leica Biosystems (Wetzlar, Germany). The Nanodrop 2000 was obtained from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, USA), Agilent 2100 from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, USA), and the HiSeq4000 sequencing platform from Illumina (San Diego, USA).

Extraction of sweat gland cells

The human sweat gland tissues were collected, immersed in 75% ethanol for 10 s, and washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 1% penicillin and streptomycin. The apocrine sweat glands were isolated under a microscope and then incubated in PBS. The outer membrane of the apocrine sweat glands was peeled off, the remaining tissues were cut off and centrifuged for 4 min at 1000 rpm. The mixture was digested in 2 g/L collagenase II overnight, and for 10 min at 37°C the following day. After the termination of the enzymatic digestion, the mixture was centrifuged for 4 min at 1000 rpm, the supernatant was discarded, and freshly prepared Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/Nutrient Mixture F-12 (DMEM/F12) + 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS) + 1% penicillin and streptomycin were added, inoculated in a culture flask and placed in 37°C with 5% CO₂ for culture.

The cell culture supernatant was discarded, and cells were washed twice in 1× PBS. Then, 0.25% trypsin containing 0.02% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) was added. Cell digestion was terminated by adding the culture medium when the cell morphology became round. Then, the cell suspension was collected into a 10-milliliter centrifuge tube and centrifuged for 3 min at 1000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded, and the culture medium was added and resuspended evenly. The cell suspension was harvested into the culture plate and cultured in a 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator.

Immunohistochemical staining

Paraffin-embedded tissue sections of sweat glands were dewaxed, incubated in citrate buffer for antigen retrieval, heated for 2 min in a pressure cooker, and then naturally cooled to room temperature. After washing with PBS, the sections were put in a wet box at room temperature, where newly prepared 3% H₂O₂ was added to quench endogenous peroxidase activity. Ten minutes later, the sections were washed in PBS for 5 min (3 times), and any excess reagent was wiped away. After blocking with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) at 37°C for 30 min, samples were incubated with the anti-ITGB6 antibody at 4°C overnight, followed by secondary antibodies at 37°C for 30 min. Then, the sections were stained with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) solution, counterstained with hematoxylin, washed in tap water, mounted, and observed under a microscope (model CX41; Olympus Corp.).

Immunofluorescence

Cells cultured in dishes were washed in PBS 3 times for 3 min each, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min and rewashed in PBS 3 times for 3 min each. After immersion in PBS containing 0.5% Triton X-100 for 20 min at room temperature, the cells were washed in PBS 3 times for 5 min, and the medium was cleared. Then, the cells were blocked in 5% BSA for 30 min at 37°C and incubated with anti-CEA and anti-CK7 antibodies for 3 h at 37°C. Following 3 washes with PBS for 3 min each, the samples were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody at 37°C in the dark for 45 min and washed 3 times in PBS for 3 min each. Then, the cells were incubated with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for 5 min for nuclear counterstaining and washed in PBS. Slides were sealed with 50% glycerol, followed by examination under a fluorescence microscope (model CKX53; Olympus Corp.) in the dark.

Cell transfection

The cells cultured to 70% density were prepared for transfection by replacing the media with serum-free medium. Two sterilized Eppendorf tubes were prepared with equal volumes of Opti-MEM. Then, 5 μ L of Lipofectamine 3000 were added to 1 tube, while 2.5 μ g of plasmid and 5 μ L of P3000 were added to another tube, mixed well and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Then, the 2 tubes were evenly mixed and incubated for 15 min at room temperature. The mixed solution was applied to a 6-well plate and cultured in the incubator. Four hours after the transfection, 1 mL of complete medium containing 20% serum was added, and verification was performed after 48 h.

High-throughput sequencing

After preparation of the cDNA library, total RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent, and the concentration and purity were detected using a Nanodrop 2000. The RNA integrity was determined with gel electrophoresis. The RNA integrity number (RIN) value was measured using Agilent 2100. The total amount of RNA required for single library construction was >5 µg, the concentration was $\geq 200 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$, and optical density (OD) 260/280 was between 1.8 and 2.2. The Ribo-Zero Magnetic kit (EpiCentre, Madison, USA) was used to remove rRNA, and RNase R (EpiCentre) was used to remove linear RNA. The TruSeqTM Stranded Total RNA Library Prep Kit (Illumina) was used to construct the paired-end sequencing library. The HiSeq4000 sequencing platform was used for sequencing and data analysis, and SepPrep (https://github.com/jstjohn/SeqPrep) and Sickle (https:// github.com/najoshi/sickle) software were used to determine the quality of data. Qualified data were compared and analyzed with the reference genome data using the bowtie method.

Western blot

The samples from each group were added to the corresponding lysis buffer, lysed on ice for 20 min and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was carefully aspirated to obtain the total protein, and the protein concentration analysis was performed using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) kit. The protein was denatured, loaded and subjected to sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) for 1-2 h, followed by wet transfer to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane for 30–50 min. The incubation with the primary antibody solution was conducted at 4°C overnight, followed by the secondary antibody at room temperature for 1-2 h. Then, the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) exposure solution was dropped on the membrane and imaged in a gel imaging system. The grey value of any bands that were present was analyzed with Quantity One software (Bio-Rad).

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

The samples were collected, and TRIzol lysis buffer was added and mixed thoroughly with a pipette gun to ensure that the adherent cell suspension was in full contact with the lysis buffer. Then, the cell suspension was collected to extract the total RNA. The RNA was synthesized using reverse transcription HiFiScript first-strand cDNA synthesis kit. Fluorescence quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was performed. The reaction system, steps and primer sequences for qPCR are presented in Table 1. Primers were synthesized by General Biol (Anhui) Corp. Ltd. (Chuzhou, China). The β -actin was used as an internal reference, and the relative expression was calculated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method.

J. Lin et al. ITGB6 in primary palmar hyperhidrosis

Statistical analyses

The IBM SPSS v. 20.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, USA) was used for statistical analysis. All experiments were performed 3 times, and the quantitative results were expressed as mean \pm 95% confidence interval (95% CI). Quantitative comparison between the 2 groups was performed using independent samples t-test (Student's t-test). When comparing multiple groups, a quantitative numerical comparison was performed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post hoc Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) test. The p-value of the test level was $\alpha = 0.05$, and p < 0.05 indicated a significant difference.

Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) is often used to reduce the dimensionality of a dataset while maintaining the features that contribute the most to the variance, thereby effectively finding the main elements and structures in the data, and removing noise and redundancy. In addition, the original complex data are dimensionally reduced to reveal the simple structure hidden behind the complex data. By analyzing the components of different sample species and functions, the differences and distances between samples can be discovered. Principal component analysis uses variance decomposition to reflect the differences between multiple sets of data on the coordinate axis. For example, the more similar the sample composition, the closer the distance is reflected in the PCA diagram. Samples between different environments may show dispersive and aggregated distributions. The closer the samples are to different environments, the more likely they are to show a dispersive and agglomerated distribution, and the 2 or 3 components with the highest explanatory power for sample differences in PCA results can be used to verify hypothetical factors.

Table 1. Reaction system, steps and primer sequences for quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)

	RNase-Free dH ₂ O	9.5 μL		
	cDNA	1 μL		
Reaction system	upstream primer	1 μL		
	downstream primer	1 μL		
	2×SYBR Green PCR Master Mix	12.5 µL		
	pre-denaturation	95°C, 10 min		
	denaturation	95°C, 10 s		
Reaction steps	annealing	58°C, 30 s		
	extension	72°C, 30 s		
	cycle, n	40		
	ITGB6 forward primer	5'-CAGGACCAACCTGTGAACGA-3'		
Drimor convolto	ITGB6 reverse primer	5'-ACAGAACCATCCTTTGAGAAATC-3'		
Primer sequence	β-actin forward primer	5'-TGGCACCCAGCACAATGAA-3'		
	β-actin reverse primer	5'-CTAAGTCATAGTCCGCCTAGAAGCA-3'		

ITGB6 – integrin β 6.

Volcano plot

A volcano plot is a type of scatterplot that shows statistical significance (p-value) compared to magnitude of change (fold change), and enables quick visual identification of genes with large fold changes that are also statistically significant. These may be the most biologically significant genes.

Gene Ontology analysis and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway enrichment analysis

Gene Ontology (GO) is an international standardized gene function classification system that provides a set of dynamically updated standard vocabulary (controlled vocabulary) to comprehensively describe the attributes of genes and gene products in organisms. Gene Ontology has 3 ontologies in total, which describe the molecular function, the cellular component and the biological process involved in the gene. The basic unit of GO is a term, and each term has a unique identifier (composed of "GO" plus 7 numbers, such as GO: 0072669). The terms of each type of ontology form a directed acyclic topology through their connections (is_a, part_of, regulate). The horizontal axis is the functional classification, and the vertical axis is the number of genes in the classification (right) and its percentage in the total number of annotated genes (left). Different colors represent different classifications. Light color represents target genes, and dark color represents all genes.

Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) is a comprehensive database of biological systems, integrating genomic, chemical and system functional information. Among them, KEGG GENES collects the gene protein sequences of all known complete genomes, including the minimum information on each gene. The KEGG OR-THOLOGY (KO) system links various KEGG annotation systems together. Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes has established a complete KO annotation system, which can complete the functional annotation of the genomes or transcriptome of newly sequenced species.

Results

Demographic and clinical data

The control group included 3 males and 8 females, with a mean age of 21.8 \pm 5.0 years. The experimental group consisted of 2 males and 6 females, with a mean age of 21.4 \pm 5.3 years. All patients were of Han ethnicity with no previous history of surgical treatments. Both groups were comparable in terms of gender, mean age, ethnic background, and history of surgical treatments.

ITGB6 is upregulated in sweat gland tissue of patients with primary palmar hyperhidrosis

Compared with the healthy volunteers, both mRNA and protein expressions of ITGB6 in the sweat gland tissues of patients with PPH were significantly higher (Fig. 1A,B). Immunohistochemical staining consistently demonstrated a significantly increased staining of ITGB6 in the sweat gland tissue of patients with PPH compared to the controls (Fig. 1C).

Identification of human sweat gland cells and verification of ITGB6 overexpression transfection efficiency

The CEA and CK7 are generally considered markers of sweat gland cells,⁹ and both CEA and CK7 proteins were expressed in primary isolated human sweat gland cells (Fig. 2A). The mRNA and protein expression of ITGB6 in cells transfected with ITGB6 overexpression (OE) were significantly upregulated compared to those transfected with OE negative control (NC), suggesting high transfection efficacy (Fig. 2B–D).

Regulatory effects of ITGB6 on aquaporin 5 and Na-K-Cl cotransporter 1 protein expression levels in sweat gland cells

Aquaporin 5 is a water channel protein that participates in the generation of saliva, tears and pulmonary secretions. Moreover, NKCC1 is vital for organs that secrete fluids. Therefore, we explored the influence of ITGB6 on AQP5 and NKCC1 protein expression levels in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with PPH using western blot. Interestingly, the overexpression of ITGB6 upregulated the AQP5 and NKCC1 protein expression levels (Fig. 3A,B).

mRNA high-throughput sequencing analysis

We found large differences in gene expression levels between the ITGB6 OE group and the control group (Fig. 4A–C). In Fig. 4D, the horizontal axis is the fold change (log (B/A)) value of the difference of transcript expression between samples of different groups, and the vertical axis is the p-value that represents the statistical significance of the expression changes. Compared with the OE NC group, a total of 562 differentially expressed mRNAs in the ITGB6 OE group were determined with high-throughput sequencing, involving 394 upregulated and 168 downregulated mRNAs. They were mainly enriched in the chemokine and Wnt signaling pathways. The results of GO and KEGG pathway enrichment analyses are presented in Fig. 5A and Fig. 5B, respectively.



Fig. 1. A. The mRNA expression level (hyperhidrosis compared to healthy volunteers, Student's t-test, p = 0.030); B. Protein expression level (western blot images and quantitative analyses) (hyperhidrosis compared to healthy volunteers, Student's t-test, p = 0.027); C. Positive expression of integrin β 6 (ITGB6) in the sweat gland tissues of patients with primary palmar hyperhidrosis and healthy volunteers (immunohistochemical staining and quantitative analyses; hyperhidrosis compared to healthy to test, p = 0.040). The data are presented as mean \pm 95% confidence interval (95% CI)

*p < 0.05, compared with the normal group.



Fig. 2. Identification of human sweat gland cells and verification of integrin β 6 (ITGB6) overexpression transfection efficiency. A. Immunofluorescence staining of CEA (green) and CK7 (red) in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with primary palmar hyperhidrosis. The cell nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (blue); B. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (ITGB6 compared to control, Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD), p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to negative control (NC), Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001); C,D. Western blot detection of the transfection efficiency of ITGB6 overexpression analysis results (ITGB6 compared to control, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared to NC, Tukey's HSD, p < 0.001; ITGB6 compared t

**p < 0.01, compared with the control group; $^{\#}p$ < 0.01, compared with the NC group.



Fig. 4. A. Principal component analysis (PCA) of mRNA expression showing contributions of the top three principal components with the variance in mRNA expression between group; B. Correlation heatmap of expressed genes displaying the overall similarity in expression profile for each sample; C. Hierarchical clustering tree on gene expression based on Bray-Curtis showing the relative gene expression patterns between the samples; D. Volcano plots of differentially expressed genes between the ITGB6 OE group and the OE NC group. The log2 (fold change) represents the difference between the levels of expression for each gene between the 2 groups

A - control group; B - overexpression negative control (OE NC) group; C – integrin β6 (ITGB6) OE group.



C1

C2

0.98

0.94 B2

0.97 B3

0.96 C3

0.87

0.87 Aź

0.89 A3

0.86 B1

ŝ

A1



Regulatory effects of ITGB6 on expression levels of CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, CXCL11, and WNT2 in sweat gland cells

We further examined the expression of CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, CXCL11, and WNT2 in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with PPH and transfected with OE NC or ITGB6 OE. We found that CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11 mRNA and protein expression levels were significantly upregulated, whereas WNT2 was significantly downregulated in sweat gland cells overexpressing ITGB6 (Fig. 6A–C).

Discussion

Primary palmar hyperhidrosis refers to abnormal hypersecretion of sweat glands in the hands, which is not related to the temperature of the external environment. It manifests as wet palms in mild cases, while those severely affected may drip sweat from their hands, posing great psychological pressure and disrupting their social life.^{10,11} At present, treatment measures can only alleviate symptoms rather than cure the disease,¹² and thus, it is of great importance to explore the pathogenesis of PPH and develop targeted interventions. In the present study, ITGB6 was



Fig. 6. Regulatory effects of integrin β6 (ITGB6) on CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, CXCL11, and WNT2 expression levels in sweat gland cells. Sweat gland cells extracted from patients with primary palmar hyperhidrosis were treated with blank control or transfected with overexpression negative control (OE NC) or ITGB6 OE. The CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, CXCL11, and WNT2 (A) mRNA (ITGB6 OE compared to control, Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD), p < 0.001, all), and (B,C) protein expression (ITGB6 OE compared to control, CXCL3, CXCL5, and CXCL11: Tukey's HSD, all p < 0.001; CXCL10: Tukey's HSD, p = 0.004; WNT2: Tukey's HSD, p = 0.027). The data are presented as mean \pm 95% confidence interval (95% CI)

*p < 0.05, compared with the control group; **p < 0.01, compared with the control group.

found to be upregulated in sweat gland tissues of patients with PPH compared to healthy volunteers. Furthermore, it was shown that ITGB6 OE may upregulate AQP5 and NKCC1 in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with PPH. Combined with mRNA high-throughput sequencing and verification experiments, it was found that ITGB6 OE can significantly increase the CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11 mRNA and protein levels while inhibiting WNT2 mRNA and protein expression.

As the main component of sweat, water molecules are regulated by relevant proteins expressed on the cell membrane of sweat glands. The AQP5 is a water channel protein that specifically transports water across the membrane. It is involved in the secretion and absorption of water and balances intra- and extracellular water through increasing water permeability of the cell membrane.¹³ In recent years, studies have reported that AQP5 participates in various physiological functions of human water regulation. Wang et al. found that the inhibition of HMGB1 could alleviate the symptoms of Sjögren's syndrome by inhibiting the HMGB1/TLR4/NF-KB signaling pathway and upregulating the expression of AQP5.14 Furthermore, Du et al. reported that AQP5 is highly expressed in the axillary sweat glands of patients with primary focal hyperhidrosis.¹⁵ Our previous study demonstrated that ACVR1 can promote human sweat gland cell proliferation by upregulating AQP5 expression.¹⁶ Finally, the downregulation of CHRNA1 can alleviate the symptoms of PPH by inhibiting AQP5 expression.¹⁷ In the present study, ITGB6 OE may upregulate the expression of the AQP5 protein in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with PPH, suggesting that ITGB6 may aggravate the progression of PPH by regulating the expression of aquaporin. We found a similar result for NKCC1, whose main function is to transport Na, K and Cl ions into sweat gland cells in the ratio of 1:1:2. It plays an important role in cell ion transport, stabilizing ion gradient and regulating cell volume.^{18,19} Our previous study found that ACVR1 can promote sweat gland cell proliferation by upregulating NKCC1 expression, and its main mechanism of action may be achieved by regulating the transport of Na, K and Cl ions.¹⁶

Chemokines contribute to the fight against and clearance of foreign bodies like invading pathogens through the directional chemotaxis of immune cells.^{20–22} According to the differences in cysteine in the chemokines, they can be divided into 4 main subfamilies: CXC, CC, CX3C, and XC. Among them, the CXC subfamily, as a research hotspot, plays an important role in various diseases.²³ Pro-inflammatory factors, CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11 have been reported to play key regulatory roles in various diseases such as acute lung injury,²⁴ atherosclerosis²⁵ and ovarian cancer.²⁶ However, their potential involvement in PPH is unclear. Our bioinformatic analysis revealed that CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11 were upregulated in PPH with ITGB6 OE. As a result, we speculate that ITGB6 exacerbates the progression of PPH by promoting the accumulation of neuroinflammatory factors during sweat gland secretion.

The Wnt signaling pathway is highly conserved across species and exists widely in multicellular organisms.²⁷ It is capable of regulating cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, migration, and invasion, and plays an important role in the occurrence and development of various diseases.²⁸ Cui et al. reported that the Wnt signaling pathway participates in the regulation of the induction and development of sweat glands.²⁹ Therefore, we speculated that ITGB6 promoted the progression of PPH by inhibiting the activation of Wnt signaling in the process of sweat gland secretion. Our results showed that ITGB6 OE downregulated WNT2 in sweat gland cells extracted from patients with PPH.

Limitations

This study mainly explored the potential mechanism of ITGB6 in the pathogenesis of PPH. Further studies may be needed to investigate the involved mechanism more deeply.

Conclusions

The ITGB6 was upregulated in patients with PPH, and the overexpression of ITGB6 may promote AQP5 and NKCC1 protein expression. Moreover, ITGB6 OE significantly increased CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL10, and CXCL11 mRNA and protein expression, while inhibiting WNT2 mRNA and protein expression.

Supplementary data

The Supplementary materials are available at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7750959. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary Table 1. Data analysis for Fig. 1A–C, Fig. 2B,D, Fig. 3B, Fig. 4A–C, and Fig. 5A,C.

Supplementary Table 2. Data analysis for PCA rotation (Fig. 4A).

ORCID iDs

Jian-Bo Lin [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7484-6143 Yan-Xun Chen [®] https://orcid.org/0009-0002-6848-1480 Nan-Long Lin [®] https://orcid.org/0009-0003-7611-7256 Xu Li [®] https://orcid.org/0009-0008-9765-7653

References

- Ouyang Z, Li HH, Zhang MJ, Xie ST, Cheng LHH. Differential innervation of secretory coils and ducts in human eccrine sweat glands. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2018;131(16):1964–1968. doi:10.4103/0366-6999.238142
- Shih T, Lee K, Seivright JR, De DR, Shi VY, Hsiao JL. Hyperhidrosis treatments in hidradenitis suppurativa: A systematic review. *Dermatol Ther.* 2022;35(1):e15210. doi:10.1111/dth.15210
- Remington C, Ruth J, Hebert AA. Primary hyperhidrosis in children: A review of therapeutics. *Pediatr Dermatol*. 2021;38(3):561–567. doi:10.1111/pde.14551
- Henning MAS, Thorlacius L, Ibler KS, Jemec GBE. How to diagnose and measure primary hyperhidrosis: A systematic review of the literature. *Clin Auton Res.* 2021;31(4):511–528. doi:10.1007/s10286-021-00794-6
- Koivisto L, Bi J, Häkkinen L, Larjava H. Integrin αvβ6: Structure, function and role in health and disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*. 2018;99: 186–196. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2018.04.013
- Wu W, Hutcheon AEK, Sriram S, Tran JA, Zieske JD. Initiation of fibrosis in the integrin Avβ6 knockout mice. *Exp Eye Res.* 2019;180:23–28. doi:10.1016/j.exer.2018.11.027
- Chen H, Chen L, Wang X, et al. Transgenic overexpression of ITGB6 in intestinal epithelial cells exacerbates dextran sulfate sodiuminduced colitis in mice. *J Cell Mol Med*. 2021;25(5):2679–2690. doi:10.1111 /jcmm.16297

- Zheng X, Zhu Y, Wang X, Hou Y, Fang Y. Silencing of ITGB6 inhibits the progression of cervical carcinoma via regulating JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway. Ann Transl Med. 2021;9(9):803. doi:10.21037/atm-21-1669
- Gao Y, Li M, Zhang X, et al. Isolation, culture and phenotypic characterization of human sweat gland epithelial cells. *Int J Mol Med*. 2014;34(4):997–1003. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2014.1851
- Chen J, Liu Y, Yang J, et al. Endoscopic thoracic sympathicotomy for primary palmar hyperhidrosis: A retrospective multicenter study in China. Surgery. 2019;166(6):1092–1098. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2019.05.039
- 11. Nawrocki S, Cha J. Botulinum toxin: Pharmacology and injectable administration for the treatment of primary hyperhidrosis. *JAm Acad Dermatol.* 2020;82(4):969–979. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2019.11.042
- 12. Liu V, Farshchian M, Potts GA. Management of primary focal hyperhidrosis: An algorithmic approach. *J Drugs Dermatol*. 2021;20(5):523–528. doi:10.36849/JDD.5774
- Ulkumen B, Artunc Ulkumen B, Batir MB, Cam S, Vatansever S. The role of TREK-1 and AQP5 in gonadocorticoid-related voice disorders. *J Voice*. 2022;36(2):150–155. doi:10.1016/j.jvoice.2020.04.024
- Wang D, Zhou M, Wang Y, Sun S. Suppression of high-mobility group box 1 ameliorates xerostomia in a Sjögren syndrome-triggered mouse model. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2020;98(6):351–356. doi:10.1139/cjpp-2019-0337
- Du Q, Lin M, Yang JH, Chen JF, Tu YR. Overexpression of AQP5 was detected in axillary sweat glands of primary focal hyperhidrosis patients. *Dermatology*. 2016;232(2):150–155. doi:10.1159/000444081
- Lin JB, Chen JF, Lai FC, et al. Involvement of activin a receptor type 1 (ACVR1) in the pathogenesis of primary focal hyperhidrosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 2020;528(2):299–304. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2020.05.052
- Lin JB, Kang MQ, Huang LP, Zhuo Y, Li X, Lai FC. CHRNA1 promotes the pathogenesis of primary focal hyperhidrosis. *Mol Cell Neurosci*. 2021;111:103598. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2021.103598
- Virtanen MA, Uvarov P, Hübner CA, Kaila K. NKCC1, an elusive molecular target in brain development: Making sense of the existing data. *Cells*. 2020;9(12):2607. doi:10.3390/cells9122607
- Liu R, Wang J, Liang S, Zhang G, Yang X. Role of NKCC1 and KCC2 in epilepsy: From expression to function. *Front Neurol*. 2020;10:1407. doi:10.3389/fneur.2019.01407
- Chen B, Frangogiannis NG. Chemokines in myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2021;14(1):35–52. doi:10.1007/s12265-020-10006-7
- Ahearn OC, Watson MN, Rawls SM. Chemokines, cytokines and substance use disorders. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2021;220:108511. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108511
- 22. Vilgelm AE, Richmond A. Chemokines modulate immune surveillance in tumorigenesis, metastasis, and response to immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:333. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00333
- Lu X, Wang Z, Ye D, et al. The role of CXC chemokines in cardiovascular diseases. *Front Pharmacol.* 2022;12:765768. doi:10.3389/fphar. 2021.765768
- Pouzol L, Sassi A, Baumlin N, et al. CXCR7 antagonism reduces acute lung injury pathogenesis. *Front Pharmacol*. 2021;12:748740. doi:10.3389 /fphar.2021.748740
- Grainger AT, Pilar N, Li J, et al. Identification of *Mep1a* as a susceptibility gene for atherosclerosis in mice. *Genetics*. 2021;219(4):iyab160. doi:10.1093/genetics/iyab160
- Li W, Ma JA, Sheng X, Xiao C. Screening of CXC chemokines in the microenvironment of ovarian cancer and the biological function of CXCL10. *World J Surg Onc.* 2021;19(1):329. doi:10.1186/s12957-021-02440-x
- Schunk SJ, Floege J, Fliser D, Speer T. WNT-β-catenin signalling: A versatile player in kidney injury and repair. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2021; 17(3):172–184. doi:10.1038/s41581-020-00343-w
- Lorzadeh S, Kohan L, Ghavami S, Azarpira N. Autophagy and the Wnt signaling pathway: A focus on Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res.* 2021;1868(3):118926. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020.118926
- Cui CY, Yin M, Sima J, et al. Involvement of Wnt, Eda and Shh at defined stages of sweat gland development. *Development*. 2014;141(19): 3752–3760. doi:10.1242/dev.109231

Development and validation of metabolic models for predicting survival and immune status of hepatocellular carcinoma patients

Xueying Li^{1,B–D,F}, Mengli Gu^{1,C,D,F}, Qiying Hu^{1,D–F}, Yihui Weng^{2,C,D,F}, Xianlei Cai^{2,A,C,E,F}

¹ Department of Gastroenterology, Ningbo First Hospital, Ningbo University, China
 ² Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Ningbo Medical Center Lihuili Hospital, Ningbo University, China

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899–5276 (print), ISSN 2451–2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1423-1439

Address for correspondence

Xianlei Cai E-mail: xianleicai@163.com

Funding sources

This research was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (grant No. LQ21H160013), the Medical Science and Technology Project of Zhejiang Province (grants No. 2022KY1104 and No. 2023KY1033) and the Natural Science Foundation of Ningbo (grant No. 2019A610333).

Conflict of interest None declared

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Bullet Edits Limited for the linguistic editing and proofreading of the manuscript.

Received on December 20, 2022 Reviewed on March 16, 2023 Accepted on March 29, 2023

Published online on May 11, 2023

Cite as

Li X, Gu M, Hu Q, Weng Y, Cai X. Development and validation of metabolic models for predicting survival and immune status of hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1423–1439. doi:10.17219/acem/162819

DOI

10.17219/acem/162819

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Metabolic reprogramming is associated with the carcinogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The effects of metabolism-related genes on predicting survival and immune status in HCC remain unclear.

Objectives. To develop and validate metabolic models for predicting the survival and immune status of HCC patients.

Materials and methods. The metabolic core genes for overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) were retrieved. Then, glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism prognostic models were constructed and validated using The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC) data. Decision trees based on machine learning were developed for classifying the prognostic risks of HCC patients. The associations between the metabolic signatures, immunotherapy and immune cell infiltration were investigated. Experimental validations were performed using reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) and immunohistochemistry (IHC).

Results. We identified 30 prognostic core genes for glycolysis metabolism and 12 prognostic core genes for fatty acid metabolism. Subsequently, 2 glycolysis models and 2 fatty acid metabolism models were developed to predict the OS and DFS of HCC patients, respectively. Two decision trees were constructed to classify the low-, intermediate- and high-risk groups of HCC patients for OS and DFS. Moreover, the patients in the high-risk groups of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolic models tended to have higher expression of programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1 or CD274), programmed cell death 1 (PDCD1), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4), and lymphocyte activating 3 (LAG3). Most of the metabolic core genes were significantly associated with immune cell infiltration. In addition, ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 6 (ABCB6), peptidylprolyl isomerase A (PPIA), uroporphyrinogen decarboxylase (UROD), and non-SMC condensin II complex subunit H2 (NCAPH2) were positively correlated with both tumor mutational burden (TMB) and microsatellite instability (MSI) scores. The expression of ABCB6, PPIA, UROD, and NCAPH2 was validated using RT-qPCR and IHC.

Conclusions. We established novel prognostic models based on metabolism-related genes to better predict the outcome and immune status of HCC patients.

Key words: hepatocellular carcinoma, glycolysis, fatty acid metabolism, prognostic models, immune status

Background

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is characterized by a high malignancy and poor prognosis.^{1,2} In China, the number of patients with hepatitis B virus-related HCC has been decreasing, while the incidence of fatty liverrelated HCC is increasing due to accelerated aging and changes in diet composition.^{3,4} Hepatocellular carcinoma remains a serious public health threat and increases the social and economic burdens on the government.⁵

The appropriate treatment depends on the physician's assessment of the patient's prognosis. For patients with a poor prognosis, doctors tend to use additional treatment methods, such as transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE), targeted therapy and immunotherapy.⁶ In the past, the prognostic evaluation of HCC mainly depended on the pathological stage. Several studies have shown that in addition to the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging system, there are other clinicopathological features and specific gene expressions that can be used to predict the prognosis of HCC patients.^{7,8}

Cancer development depends on the metabolic reprogramming of tumor cells, which is a hallmark of cancer and a direct or indirect result of oncogene mutations.⁹ The abnormal expression of metabolic genes is closely related to the prognosis of cancer patients.¹⁰ A prognostic model based on metabolic genes can be used to predict the prognosis of cancer patient.¹¹ The liver is the primary organ involved in metabolizing glucose and lipids. Abnormal gene regulation in the liver leads to abnormal glucose and lipid metabolism, thus inducing tumor progression.¹² In addition, abnormal metabolic regulation is closely associated with changes in the tumor microenvironment and immune cell infiltration.^{13,14}

In recent years, there has been a breakthrough in the treatment of advanced HCC patients with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs).¹⁵ However, many patients do not respond to immunotherapy. Previous studies suggest that immune markers, such as programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1 or CD274), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4), tumor mutational burden (TMB), and microsatellite instability (MSI), can be used to predict the response to immunotherapy.^{16,17} The expression of core metabolic genes is also considered a potential marker for predicting the effectiveness of immunotherapy.^{18,19}

Objectives

This study aims to screen for prognostic core genes of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism and build a prediction model combining TNM features with gene risk scores to better predict overall survival (OS), disease-free survival (DFS) and the immune status of HCC patients.

Materials and methods

Data collection

RNA-sequencing expression profiles and their corresponding clinical data were obtained from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA; https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov) and the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC; https://icgc.org/). Using the bioinformatic analysis website Assistant for Clinical Bioinformatics (ACBI; https://www. aclbi.com/), RNA sequencing and survival data were obtained for 371 HCC patients from TCGA and 240 patients from the ICGC. Gene expression patterns varied significantly between histological subtypes; thus, intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and mixed HCC were excluded and only patients with HCC were selected. Clinical parameters, including age, gender, pathological stage (T, N and M stages), tumor grade, vital status, recurrence status, and follow-up time [years] were collected. The RNA count data were converted to transcripts per million (TPM). Hepatocellular carcinoma patients were divided into high- and low-expression groups using the median RNA expression as the cutoff value.

Acquisition of metabolic hallmark gene sets

The core metabolic genes were retrieved from the Molecular Signatures Database v. 7.5.1 (MSigDB, http:// www.gsea-msigdb.org/gsea/msigdb). For further analysis, 200 glycolysis-related genes were collected from "HALL-MARK_GLYCOLYSIS" and 158 fatty acid metabolismrelated genes were collected from "HALLMARK_FATTY_ ACID_METABOLISM" (Supplementary Table 1).

Identification of prognostic genes for OS and DFS

The univariate Cox regression analysis was used to assess the prognostic value of the glycolysis-related and fatty acid metabolism-related genes. Assistant for Clinical Bioinformatics was used for survival analyses of batches (https://www.aclbi.com/static/index.html#/). Hazard ratios (HRs), OS and DFS were calculated for each selected gene individually with 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). Genes significantly associated with both OS and DFS were considered core metabolic genes and entered the next stage of model building. Differences in the expression levels of core metabolic genes in tumors and normal tissues were compared using the Wilcoxon test.

Construction of metabolic risk score prediction models

With 10-fold cross-validation, the Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) regression

	Subgroup	OS set (n = 346)						DFS set (n = 298)					
Factors		univariate analysis			multivariate analysis			univariate analysis			multivariate analysis		
		HR	95% CI	p-value	HR	95% CI	p-value	HR	95% CI	p-value	HR	95% CI	p-value
Age	≤60	1	-	0.172	-	_	-	1	-	0.897	1	-	
	>60	1.87	0.89–1.87					1.02	0.73–1.44				_
Gender	female	1	-	0.201	-	_	-	1	-	0.487	-	_	
	male	0.78	0.54–1.14					1.14	0.79–1.65				-
pT	T1	1	-	0.000	1	-	0.002	1	-	0.000 1 2 4	1	-	0.000
	T2	1.38	0.85-2.25		1.05	0.64–1.74		1.64	1.08–2.50		1.26	0.82-1.95	
	Т3	2.56	1.66–3.94		2.02	1.29–3.16		2.73	1.80–4.16		2.37	1.55-3.62	
	T4	4.99	2.22-11.21		3.52	1.33–9.33		5.48	1.96–15.30		4.76	1.69–13.40	
рN	NO	1	-	0.348	1		-	1	-	0.499	1	1 –	
	N1	1.96	0.48–7.95		-	_		1.62	0.40-6.56		I		
рМ	MO	1	-	0.024	1	-	0.214	-	_	-	-	-	
	M1	3.78	1.20-11.93		2.47	0.59–10.24							
Grade	G1	1	-	0.744	_	_	_	1	-	0.462	-	_	
	G2	1.15	0.64–2.08					1.27	0.71-2.28				
	G3	1.24	0.67–2.27					1.55	0.86–2.80				
	G4	1.74	0.62–4.86					1.18	0.39–3.58				
Glycolysis model	low risk	1	-	0.000	1	-	0.032	1	-	0.000 1 2.0	1	-	0.001
	high risk	2.46	1.68–3.59		1.70	1.05-2.75		2.50	1.76-3.57		2.01	1.35-2.99	
Fatty acid me- tabolism model	low risk	1	-	0.000	1	-	0.019	1	-	0.000 1.3	1	-	0.107
	high risk	2.40	1.64-3.51		1.75	1.09–2.78		1.90	1.34-2.69		1.37	0.93-2.01	

Table 1. Risk factors for overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) according to Cox proportional hazards regression model

pT – pathological T stage; pN – pathological N stage; pM – pathological M stage; HR – hazard ratio; 95% CI – 95% confidence interval. Values in bold are statistically significant.

algorithm was used to further filter core metabolic genes to develop the prognostic glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism signatures using the "glmnet" R package (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).²⁰ Risk scores for HCC patients were calculated based on the normalized gene expression levels (log2(TPM+1)) and corresponding regression coefficients in our models. The LASSO regression analysis was performed using the ACBI website. Hepatocellular carcinoma patients were then divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on the median value of the risk scores. The Kaplan-Meier survival curves and log-rank tests were used to compare the OS and DFS between the 2 groups. To evaluate the efficacy of the glycolysis and fatty acid metabolic signatures, receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for 1, 3 and 5 years with the area under the curve (AUC) values were plotted using the "survivalROC" R package.

Integrated analysis of clinical parameters and metabolic risk score prediction models

Clinical information (age, gender, pathological stage: T, N and M, tumor grade) and glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism risk scores of HCC patients were integrated. To further build nomograms based on the pathological TNM data, patients with missing data were excluded. The univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were then performed to identify independent prognostic factors.

Development and validation of the nomograms for patients with HCC

To predict OS and DFS at 3 and 5 years in individual HCC patients, nomograms were developed by combining metabolic risks and clinical information based on the training groups, according to the results of the multivariate Cox regression (metabolic models). Corresponding models based on the pathologic TNM stage (TNM models) were constructed for head-to-head comparison using the metabolic models.

The discrimination of a predictive model was validated using concordance statistics. The concordance index (C-index) was analogous to the AUC value. In addition, the time-dependent ROC curve was used to summarize the predictive capacity of the models according to the continuous change over time.^{21,22} Model calibration was validated using the calibration plot. We also developed a decision curve analysis (DCA) graph to test the clinical value of the metabolic models through visualizing the potential net benefits at each threshold probability between the metabolic and TNM models.²³

Establishment and optimization of decision tree models

The Classification and Regression Trees (CART) algorithm is a non-parametric machine learning method, ^{24,25} and is not dependent on any type of distribution. The CART algorithm generates a top-down decision tree until the stopping criteria are met. The decision tree model has the advantage of being flexible and powerful, and can be presented in graphical form. We used the CART algorithm to establish decision tree models to identify low-, intermediate- and high-risk patient groups for OS and DFS, respectively. The glycolysis model (low risk, high risk), fatty acid metabolism (low risk, high risk) and pathological T (T1, T2, T3, and T4) were used as the covariates. The complexity parameter was used for tree pruning to optimize the decision tree. We used cross-validation to evaluate the relative error at different complexity parameter values. The "rpart" R package was used to generate the decision tree,²⁵ and the R codes are presented in the Supplementary material.

Conjoint analysis of TMB, MSI, immune cell infiltration, and metabolic core genes

The ACBI website was used to calculate TMB and MSI scores. Spearman's correlation analysis was then used to determine the relationship between TMB, MSI and the metabolic core genes. In addition, the relationship between immune cell infiltration and metabolic core gene expression was evaluated using the Tumor Immune Estimation Resource (TIMER) algorithm and Spearman's correlation analysis.

Experimental validation

Ten pairs of specimens were collected from postoperative patients with HCC from the Ningbo Medical Center Lihuili Hospital, China, between in 2021 and 2022. Total RNA was isolated using FastPure Cell/Tissue Total RNA Isolation Kit V2 (Vazyme Biotech, Nanjing, China) and cDNA was synthesized with HiScript II Q RT SuperMix for qPCR (Vazyme Biotech). The method of reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) was described in our previous study.² All primers were purchased from Tsingke Biotechnology (Beijing, China) and are listed in Supplementary Table 2. The RNA expression of the identified genes in different HCC tumor cells was extracted from the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE, https://sites.broadinstitute.org/ccle),²⁶ and the results were visualized using Expression Atlas (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/ gxa/experiments). Immunohistochemistry (IHC) results of prognostic genes were identified from The Human Protein Atlas (https://www.proteinatlas.org/). The Institutional Ethics Committee of Ningbo Medical Center Lihuili Hospital approved the study (approval No. KY2020PJ186),

Table 2. The association between glycolysis core genes and tur	nor
mutational burden (TMB) and microsatellite instability (MSI)	

Carro	TN	ЛВ	MSI			
Gene	Spearman	p-value	Spearman	p-value		
CENPA	0.07	0.211	0.15	0.005		
B3GAT3	0.18	0.001	0.09	0.073		
G6PD	0.10	0.087	0.09	0.077		
HMMR	0.09	0.100	0.09	0.089		
ABCB6	0.20	0.000	0.11	0.041		
SAP30	0.05	0.354	0.02	0.644		
KIF20A	0.05	0.355	0.13	0.011		
SRD5A3	0.09	0.107	0.18	0.000		
TXN	0.23	0.000	0.05	0.312		
UGP2	-0.11	0.054	-0.11	0.035		
PPIA	0.16	0.004	0.18	0.001		
PHKA2	-0.02	0.728	0.00	0.944		
VEGFA	0.02	0.748	0.09	0.097		
NDST3	-0.06	0.382	-0.25	0.000		
GLRX	0.08	0.163	-0.09	0.086		

Values in bold are statistically significant.

and written informed consent was acquired from the patients in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical analyses

The differences in gene expression between different groups were compared using the Wilcoxon test. Spearman's correlation analysis was performed to analyze the correlations. The Kaplan–Meier survival analysis was used to compare the survival differences with the logrank test. The univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses were used to estimate the HR for each potential risk factor. The two-tailed Student's t-test was used for quantitative data.

The Cox regression model met 2 assumptions: 1) the proportional hazards assumption and 2) that the relationship between each log's hazard and continuous covariate is linear. The proportional hazards assumption was tested graphically for categorical variables and with the scaled Schoenfeld residual test for continuous covariates. The Martingale residual plot was used to test the linear relationship between continuous covariates. If the data followed a normal distribution, the parametric t-test was used, and Welch's correction for variance heterogeneity was applied. Otherwise, the Mann–Whitney method for nonparametric t-tests was used (the results of assumption testing are shown in the Supplementary material).

A two-tailed p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using R software v. 4.0.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) and STATA v. 16.0 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, USA).

Results

Screening prognostic genes for OS and DFS

The study procedure is presented in the flowchart (Fig. 1). RNA sequencing and survival data for the 371 HCC patients from TCGA and 240 patients from the ICGC were acquired.

For the glycolic metabolism hallmark gene set, 85 genes were significantly associated with OS (Supplementary Fig. 1) and 35 genes were significantly associated with DFS (Supplementary Fig. 2). A Venn diagram was generated, and 30 genes were found to be statistically significant for both OS and DFS (Fig. 2A). The prognostic values of these 30 genes are shown using forest plots in Fig. 2B,C. Twentynine prognostic genes were significantly differentially expressed between tumors and normal tissues in HCC patients, except for the lactase (*LCT*) gene (Supplementary Fig. 3). For the fatty acid metabolism hallmark gene set, 44 genes were significantly associated with OS (Supplementary Fig. 4), and 19 genes were significantly associated with DFS (Supplementary Fig. 5). The Venn diagram showed that there were 12 genes exhibiting statistical significance in both OS and DFS (Fig. 2D). The forest plots in Fig. 2E,F show the prognostic values of these 12 genes. Furthermore, these 12 prognostic genes were significantly differentially expressed between tumors and normal tissues in HCC patients (Supplementary Fig. 6).

Construction of prognostic models based on selected glycolysis-related genes

The 30 filtered genes were included in the LASSO regression algorithm to screen for glycolic prognostic signatures for OS and DFS (Fig. 3A–L), and cross-validation was performed.

We selected 8 prognostic signatures for predicting an individual's prognostic risk for OS (Fig. 3B). Figure 3C shows



Fig. 1. Flowchart of the study

GSEA – Gene Set Enrichment Analysis; TCGA-LIHC – The Cancer Genome Atlas Liver Hepatocellular Carcinoma; OS – overall survival; DFS – disease-free survival; TNM – tumor-node-metastasis ; ICGC – International Cancer Genome Consortium; MSI – microsatellite instability; TMB – tumor mutational burden.



Fig. 2. Identification of the prognostic genes. A. Venn diagram of prognostic genes for glycolysis; B. Forest plot of glycolytic prognostic genes for overall survival (OS); C. Forest plot of glycolytic prognostic genes for disease-free survival (DFS); D. Venn diagram of prognostic genes for fatty acid metabolism; E. Forest plot of fatty acid metabolism prognostic genes for OS; F. Forest plot of fatty acid metabolism prognostic genes for DFS

HR – hazard ratio; 95% CI – 95% confidence interval.



Fig. 3. Construction of the glycolysis-based signature for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) patients. A. The Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) coefficient of the glycolysis-based signature for overall survival (OS); B. The optimal parameter (λ) is selected in the LASSO regression model based on the minimum criteria for OS; C. The heatmap of the identified genes for the glycolysis-based signature for OS; D. Patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on the risk scores; E. The Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk and low-risk groups for OS; F. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves of the glycolysis-based signature for OS; G. The LASSO coefficient of the glycolysis-based signature for disease-free survival (DFS); H. The optimal parameter (λ) is selected in the LASSO regression model based on the minimum criteria for DFS; I. The heatmap of the identified genes for the glycolysis-based signature for disease-free survival (DFS); H. The optimal parameter (λ) is selected in the LASSO regression model based on the minimum criteria for DFS; I. The heatmap of the identified genes for the glycolysis-based signature for DFS; J. Patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on risk scores; K. The Kaplan–Meier curve of high-risk and low-risk groups for DFS; L. The ROC curves for the glycolysis-based signature for DFS

HR - hazard ratio; 95% CI - 95% confidence interval; AUC - area under the curve.



Fig. 4. Construction of the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) patients. A. The Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) coefficient for the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for overall survival (OS); B. The optimal parameter (λ) is selected in the LASSO regression model based on the minimum criteria for OS; C. The heatmap of the identified genes for the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for OS; D. Patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on risk scores; E. The Kaplan–Meier curve for the high-risk and low-risk groups for OS; F. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for OS; G. The LASSO coefficient of the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for disease-free survival (DFS); H. The optimal parameter (λ) is selected in the LASSO regression model based on the minimum criteria for DFS; I. The heatmap of the identified genes for the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for DFS; J. Patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups based on risk scores; K. The Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk and low-risk groups for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signature for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for DFS; L. The ROC curves of the fatty acid metabolism-based signatures for DFS

HR – hazard ratio; 95% CI – 95% confidence interval; AUC – area under the curve.





Fig. 5. Construction of the metabolic gene-based nomogram for predicting overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS). A. Nomogram for predicting OS; B. Nomogram for predicting DFS; C. Time-dependent receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves of the training groups comparing the metabolic model with the tumor node metastasis (TNM) model for predicting OS; D. The time-dependent ROC curves of the validation groups comparing the metabolic model with the TNM model for predicting OS; E. The time-dependent ROC curves of the training groups comparing the metabolic model with the TNM model for predicting DFS; F. The time-dependent ROC curves of the validation groups comparing the metabolic model for predicting DFS; F. The time-dependent ROC curves of the validation groups comparing the metabolic model with the TNM model for predicting DFS; F. The time-dependent ROC curves of the validation groups comparing the metabolic model for predicting DFS; G. The decision curve analysis (DCA) curves represent the clinical value of the models for predicting 3-year OS; H. The DCA curves represent the clinical value of the models for predicting 3-year DFS

the heatmap of the 8 genes. The risk score for OS was calculated using the following formula (the gene names in the formula indicate the normalized gene expression levels (log2(TPM+1))): risk score = $(0.054 \times CENPA) + (0.2044 \times ABCB6) + (0.0038 \times SAP30) + (0.1457 \times B3GAT3) + (0.0383 \times KIF20A) + (0.1171 \times G6PD) + (0.0465 \times HMMR) + (0.0972 \times SRD5A3).$

The HCC patients were divided into high-risk and lowrisk groups according to the median risk score for OS (Fig. 3D). The OS of the high-risk group was significantly worse than that of the low-risk group (p < 0.001, Fig. 3E). The ROC curves were constructed, and the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.803, 0.724 and 0.654, respectively (Fig. 3F). This model was validated using the independent data from the ICGC, where the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.706, 0.702 and 0.615, respectively.

We selected 11 prognostic signatures to predict an individual's prognostic risk for DFS (Fig. 3H). Figure 3I shows the heatmap of the 11 genes. The risk score for DFS was calculated using the following formula: risk score = $(0.2161 \times TXN) + (0.1311 \times UGP2) +$ $(0.1189 \times ABCB6) + (0.1781 \times SAP30) + (0.0303 \times PPIA) +$ $(0.0784 \times PHKA2) + (0.0214 \times KIF20A) + (0.022 \times VEGFA) +$ $(-0.6217 \times NDST3) + (0.1059 \times GLRX) + (0.157 \times SRD5A3).$

The HCC patients were again divided into high-risk and low-risk groups according to median risk scores for DFS (Fig. 3J). The high-risk group had a significantly worse DFS (p < 0.001, Fig. 3K). The ROC curves were constructed, and the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.720, 0.689 and 0.728, respectively (Fig. 3L). As there were no follow-up data for DFS in the ICGC, we did not perform the external validation for the DFS model.

Construction of prognostic models based on selected fatty acid metabolism-related genes

The 12 filtered genes were included in the LASSO regression algorithm to screen for prognostic signatures of fatty acid metabolism for OS and DFS (Fig. 4A–L), and crossvalidation was performed.

We selected 7 genes to predict an individual's prognostic risk for OS (Fig. 4B). Figure 4C shows the heatmap of the 7 genes. The risk score for OS was calculated using the following formula: risk score = $(-0.0793 \times ACADL) +$ $(0.1202 \times APEX1) + (0.0852 \times UGDH) + (0.342 \times CCDC58)$ + $(0.4259 \times UROD) + (0.0578 \times S100A10) +$ $(0.1847 \times SLC22A5).$

The HCC patients were separated into high-risk and low-risk groups according to the median risk scores for OS (Fig. 4D). The Kaplan–Meier survival analysis showed that the OS of the high-risk group was significantly worse than that of the low-risk group (p < 0.001, Fig. 4E). The ROC curves were constructed, and the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.790, 0.684 and 0.679, respectively (Fig. 4F). This model was validated using independent data from the ICGC, and the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.607, 0.632 and 0.671, respectively.

We selected 8 genes to predict an individual's prognostic risk for DFS (Fig. 4H). Figure 4I shows the heatmap of the 8 genes. The risk score for DFS was calculated using the following formula: risk score = $(0.0554 \times APEX1) + (0.0481 \times UGDH) + (0.1326 \times CCDC58) + (0.1365 \times UROD) + (0.0106 \times S100A10) + (0.0422 \times NCAPH2) + (0.1631 \times SLC22A5) + (-0.0451 \times HAO2).$

The HCC patients were again divided into high-risk and low-risk groups according to the median risk scores for DFS (Fig. 4J). The high-risk group had a significantly worse DFS (p < 0.001, Fig. 4K). The ROC curves were constructed, and the AUCs at 1, 3 and 5 years were 0.704, 0.616 and 0.671, respectively (Fig. 4L). As there was no follow-up data for DFS in the ICGC, we did not perform the external validation for the DFS model.

Integrated analysis of clinical parameters and metabolic risk scores

After excluding patients with missing data for pathological T, N and M stages and follow-up time, 346 HCC patients with clinical data and risk scores were selected for the integrated analysis of OS, and 298 HCC patients were identified for the integrated analysis of DFS.

First, the univariate Cox regression analysis showed that T-stage, M-stage, glycolysis risk score (HR = 2.46; 95% CI: 1.68–3.59), and fatty acid metabolism risk score (HR = 2.40; 95% CI: 1.64–3.51) were significantly associated with the OS of HCC patients (Table 1). In addition, T-stage glycolysis risk score (HR = 2.50; 95% CI: 1.76–3.57) and fatty acid metabolism risk score (HR = 1.90; 95% CI: 1.34–2.69) were significantly correlated with the DFS of HCC patients (Table 1).

The multivariate Cox regression analysis was then performed, which showed that T stage, glycolysis risk score (HR = 1.70; 95% CI: 1.05–2.75) and fatty acid metabolism risk score (HR = 1.75; 95% CI: 1.09–2.78) were independent prognostic factors for OS. The T stage and glycolysis risk score (HR = 2.01; 95% CI: 1.35–2.99) were independent prognostic factors for DFS (Table 1).

Development and validation of the nomograms

The HCC patients were randomly assigned in a 2:1 ratio, considering 2/3 of the patients as the training group and the remaining patients as the validation group. Based on these results, 2 prognostic (metabolic) models were developed through combining clinical parameters and metabolic risk scores. In addition, graphical nomograms were generated to predict the probability of 3-year and 5-year survival for OS and DFS (Fig. 5A,B). The calibration plots showed good agreement between the observed outcome and the predicted probability (Supplementary


Fig. 6. Decision tree models for risk stratification. A. Decision tree model for overall survival (OS); B. Decision-tree model for disease-free survival (DFS); C. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups for OS; D. Kaplan–Meier curve of the high-risk, intermediate-risk and low-risk groups fo

Fig. 7A–F). In addition, 2 prediction models (TNM models) were constructed based on the TNM status of HCC patients for head-to-head comparison (Supplementary Fig. 8).

The predictive accuracy of the metabolic nomogram calculated using AUC was 0.773 for 3-year OS and 0.701 for 5-year OS. Furthermore, the AUC of the TNM model was 0.686 for 3-year OS and 0.663 for 5-year OS (Supplementary Fig. 7C,D). The time-dependent ROC curves revealed that the predictive accuracy of the metabolic model was significantly higher than that of the TNM model in both the training and validation groups (Fig. 5C,D).

The AUC of the metabolic nomogram was 0.680 for 3-year DFS and 0.676 for 5-year DFS. In addition, the AUC of the TNM model was 0.645 for 3-year DFS and 0.634 for 5-year DFS (Supplementary Fig. 7E,F). The time-dependent ROC curves showed that the predictive accuracy of the metabolic model was also significantly higher than that of the TNM model in both the training and validation groups (Fig. 5E,F).

In addition, the clinical value of the metabolic models was evaluated and compared with the TNM models using DCA curves. For almost all threshold probabilities, the metabolic models outperformed the TNM models in terms of net benefit for OS and DFS prediction (Fig. 5G,H).

Development and optimization of the decision tree

We generated 2 decision trees without pruning for OS or DFS. Then, the results of cross-validation showed that when the complexity parameter value was adjusted to 0.018 for OS and 0.014 for DFS, the models had the lowest relative error and minimum tree size (Supplementary Fig. 9).

Finally, 2 variables (glycolysis model and pathological T) were used in the converged optimal models (Fig. 6A,B).

Using the decision trees, HCC patients were classified into the low-, intermediate- and high-risk groups for OS and DFS. We found that the prognosis of the 3 groups was statistically different (Fig. 6C,D). The results indicated that the decision trees were useful for the risk stratification of HCC patients.

The association between the metabolic signatures, immunotherapy and immune cell infiltration

To assess the role of the metabolic signatures in immunotherapy, we calculated the association between ICIrelated genes (*CD274* (*PD-L1*), *PDCD1* (*PD-1*), *CTLA-4*, and *LAG3*) and metabolic risk scores. The expression of *CD274*, *PDCD1*, *CTLA-4*, and *LAG3* was significantly higher in the high-risk groups for both glycolysis (Fig. 7A–D) and fatty acid metabolic (Fig. 7E–H) models for OS.

The *CD274*, *CTLA-4* and *LAG3* showed significantly higher expression levels in the high-risk group in the glycolysis model for DFS, whereas there was no difference in *PDCD1* expression between high- and low-risk groups (Fig. 7I–L). The high-risk group in the fatty acid metabolism model for DFS also had a higher expression of *CD274*, *PDCD1*, *CTLA-4*, and *LAG3* (Fig. 7M–P). These results suggest that high-risk patients may have a better response to immunotherapy.

We also analyzed the association between core metabolic genes and immune cell infiltration. As expected, most of the core metabolic genes were significantly associated with immune cell infiltration, including B cells, macrophages, myeloid dendritic cells, neutrophils, and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells (Fig. 8). These results demonstrate the potential impact of the core metabolic genes on the immune microenvironment and immune response in HCC tumors.

We analyzed the association between the core metabolic genes (listed in Fig. 8) and TMB and MSI scores. The results of Spearman's correlation analyses revealed

 Table 3. The association between fatty acid metabolism core genes and tumor mutational burden (TMB) and microsatellite instability (MSI)

Cono	T۸	ЛВ	MSI		
Gene	Spearman	p-value	Spearman	p-value	
ACADL	0.07	0.232	-0.07	0.213	
APEX1	0.03	0.597	0.12	0.020	
UGDH	0.19	0.001	-0.01	0.797	
UROD	0.25	0.000	0.13	0.011	
S100A10	0.10	0.064	0.08	0.103	
SLC22A5	-0.10	0.078	0.04	0.422	
NCAPH2	0.13	0.018	0.14	0.008	
HAO2	-0.01	0.890	-0.16	0.002	

Values in bold are statistically significant.

that *ABCB6* and *PPIA* from glycolysis models and *UROD* and *NCAPH2* from fatty acid metabolism models were positively correlated with both TMB and MSI (Table 2,3).

The prognostic values of *ABCB6*, *PPIA*, *UROD*, and *NCAPH2* were validated using the ICGC data (Fig. 9A). The RNA expression of *ABCB6*, *PPIA*, *UROD*, and *NCAPH2* in different HCC tumor cells was visualized in Fig. 9B. The RNA expression of *ABCB6*, *PPIA*, *UROD*, and *NCAPH2* in HCC was validated using RT-qPCR (Fig. 9C). The protein expression of ABCB6, PPIA, UROD, and NCAPH2 in HCC was validated with IHC (Fig. 9D–G).

These results suggest that these genes are potential biomarkers for immunotherapy prediction.

Discussion

In this study, the core genes of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism were screened from the hallmark gene sets in the MSigDB. The prognostic genes associated with OS and DFS were further identified based on the TCGA data. Then, 2 glycolysis metabolism models and 2 fatty acid metabolism models were constructed to predict the OS and DFS. Next, patients were divided into high-risk and low-risk groups according to the risk scores. The multivariate Cox regression analysis was performed using clinicopathological factors to analyze the independent risk factors. Then, metabolic models combining metabolic risk scores with pathological features were constructed based on the obtained independent risk factors, and nomograms were drawn to predict OS and DFS of HCC patients at 3 and 5 years. Compared with the TNM models, the metabolic models were found to improve the predictive accuracy of the TNM system. We also developed 2 decision trees based on machine learning to classify the prognostic risks of HCC patients. Finally, to provide ideas for basic research and clinical application of immunotherapy, the relationship between metabolic core genes and ICI-related markers, as well as the effects on immune cell infiltration, were analyzed.

Several studies presented prediction models related to glucose metabolism or lipid metabolism to predict the OS of HCC patients. For example, Chen et al. built a good prognostic signature with 4 glycolysis-related genes to predict OS in HCC patients.¹¹ Zhang et al. constructed a glycolysis-related gene prognostic model with internal and external validation.²⁷ Xu et al. reported a novel glycolysis-related gene signature to predict the survival and immune status of HCC patients.²⁸ Weng et al. developed a prognostic model based on 10 metabolic genes to reflect the prognosis of HCC patients and the metabolic characteristics of tumors.¹⁰ He et al. and Hu et al. built lipid metabolism-related prognostic signatures to improve OS predictions in HCC patients.^{29,30} However, few studies have focused on the prediction of DFS. Overall survival is affected by many confounding factors, such as the patient's



Fig. 7. Immunotherapy prediction of metabolic prognostic models for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). A–D. Immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI)-related genes (*CD274, PDCD1, CTLA-4*, and *LAG3*) expression between high- and low-risk patients in the glycolysis-based prognostic model for overall survival (OS); E–H. ICI-related gene expression between high- and low-risk patients in the fatty acid metabolism-based prognostic model for OS; I–L. ICI-related gene expression between high- and low-risk patients in the glycolysis-based prognostic model for OS; I–L. ICI-related gene expression between high- and low-risk patients in the glycolysis-based prognostic model for disease-free survival (DFS); M–P. ICI-related gene expression between high- and low-risk patients in the glycolysis-based prognostic model for DFS. The box and whiskers present median and ranges from minimum to maximum (Mann–Whitney test; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001)



Fig. 8. The association between core metabolic genes and immune cell infiltration. A. Venn diagram of glycolytic core genes; B. Venn diagram of fatty acid metabolic core genes; C. Glycolytic core genes and immune cell infiltration; D. Fatty acid metabolic core genes and immune cell infiltration

age, underlying diseases and social factors. Disease-free survival can better describe the malignant grade of the carcinoma in terms of the biological behavior of the tumor. The present study is a valuable addition to previous studies because it focused on the effects of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolic genes on DFS predictions.



Fig. 9. Experimental validation of metabolic core genes. A. Kaplan–Meier curve for *ABCB6*, *PPIA*, *UROD*, and *NCAPH2* for overall survival (OS); B. RNA expression for *ABCB6*, *PPIA*, *UROD*, and *NCAPH2* in different hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tumor cells; C. Results of reverse transcription-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) for ABCB6, PPIA, UROD, and NCAPH2. The box and whiskers present medians and ranges from minimum to maximum (**p < 0.01, ****p < 0.001; Student's t-test); D. Representative immunohistochemistry (IHC) images of *ABCB6* in tumor and normal tissues (scale bar, 100 μm); F. Representative IHC images of *PPIA* in tumor and normal tissues (scale bar, 100 μm); G. Representative IHC images of *NCAPH2* in tumor and normal tissues (scale bar, 100 μm)

Most of the previous studies have focused on glucose or lipid metabolism.^{11,28–30} However, these are 2 interdependent processes. They communicate with and influence each other through the tricarboxylic acid cycle. Therefore, this study focused on the effects of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism together on predicting the prognosis. The results indicate that glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism are independent risk factors for OS. Glycolysis alone was an independent risk factor for DFS in HCC patients, and fatty acid metabolism did not statistically correlate with DFS. The above results suggest that the glycolysis core genes may play a more important role in the progression of HCC.

Some studies mainly focused on gene expressions but ignored the effects of clinicopathological features on the prognosis.^{20,31} In this study, we tried to eliminate these confounding factors by combining gene expressions with clinicopathological features. The TNM staging system is the most widely used prognostic evaluation system in the clinic. However, it still has some limitations and deficiencies, such as an inability to consider gene expressions of individual patients.^{32,33} Gene expression differences are one of the important factors causing tumor heterogeneity. In this study, TNM staging and metabolic risk scores were innovatively combined to predict the OS and DFS of HCC patients, taking clinicopathological features and gene expression differences into account. In addition, the headto-head comparison with the TNM models showed that metabolic models could improve the predictive accuracy of the TNM models, which increases the clinical application value of this study.

Immunotherapy is a recent breakthrough in the treatment of advanced HCC.^{34,35} However, due to tumor heterogeneity and immune escape, many patients do not respond to immunotherapy. Microsatellite instability status, TMB and PD-L1 expression can be used to screen for beneficiaries of immunotherapy.³⁶ However, the positive rate of these indicators was too low to meet the patients' needs. In this study, we observed that the expression of ICI-related markers was significantly increased in patients from the high metabolic risk groups, and the expression of metabolic core genes was correlated with immune cell infiltration. These results suggest that metabolic-related risk scores have potential feasibility as biomarkers for predicting the effects of immunotherapy. Furthermore, the abnormal expression of metabolic core genes may accelerate the development of HCC by affecting the components of the tumor immune microenvironment.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, external validation of independent data played a large role in model evaluation. However, because the follow-up data for DFS was missing in the ICGC and we did not find Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) data with sufficient RNAseq and DFS data, we could not perform the external validation for the DFS models. Second, only PCR and IHC were used for experimental validation. It is necessary to further explore the biological function and mechanism of core metabolic genes in HCC, especially their effects on the immune microenvironment and immunotherapy. Finally, we mainly focused on genes related to glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism, but not amino acid metabolism. Previous studies have found that glutamine metabolism is also closely involved in the progression of HCC.^{12,37}

Conclusions

The novel prognostic models based on glycolysis- and fatty acid metabolic-related genes were developed to better predict the outcome and response of HCC patients to immunotherapy. The new metabolic models were found to improve the predictive accuracy of the TNM system. Further biological experiments are required to explore the mechanisms core metabolic genes play in HCC, especially their effects on the immune microenvironment and immunotherapy.

Supplementary material

The supplementary materials are available at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7863602. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary Fig. 1. Forest plots of the prognostic genes for OS based on glycolic hallmark gene set.

Supplementary Fig. 2. Forest plots of the prognostic genes for DFS based on glycolic hallmark gene set.

Supplementary Fig. 3. Expression of overlapping genes between tumor and normal tissues in HCC for glycolysis (p < 0.001).

Supplementary Fig. 4. Forest plots of the prognostic genes for OS based on fatty acid metabolic hallmark gene set.

Supplementary Fig. 5. Forest plots of the prognostic genes for DFS based on fatty acid metabolic hallmark gene set.

Supplementary Fig. 6. Expression of overlapping genes between tumor and normal tissues in HCC for fatty acid metabolism (p < 0.001).

Supplementary Fig. 7. A. Calibration plot of the metabolic prognostic model for OS; B. Calibration plot of the metabolic prognostic model for DFS; C. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM models for predicting 3-year OS; D. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM model for predicting 5-year OS; E. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM models for predicting 3-year DFS; F. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM models for predicting 5-year DFS; F. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM model for predicting 5-year DFS; F. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM model for predicting 5-year DFS; F. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM model for predicting 5-year DFS; F. ROC curves of the metabolic and TNM model for predicting 5-year DFS.

Supplementary Fig. 8. Construction of the TNM nomograms to predict OS and DFS. A. TNM model for OS; B. TNM model for DFS.

Supplementary Fig. 9. Cost-complexity plot for the decision-tree models. A. Plot for OS; B. Plot for DFS.

Supplementary Table 1. Hallmark gene sets of glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism.

Supplementary Table 2. Primers used in this study.

ORCID iDs

Xueying Li D https://orcid.org/0009-0002-6795-3204 Mengli Gu D https://orcid.org/0009-0004-3562-3117 Qiying Hu D https://orcid.org/0009-0008-9618-0507 Yihui Weng D https://orcid.org/0009-0009-3044-1003 Xianlei Cai D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9242-0982

References

- Forner A, Reig M, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. *Lancet*. 2018; 391(10127):1301–1314. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30010-2
- Cai X, Chen Y, Man D, et al. RBM15 promotes hepatocellular carcinoma progression by regulating N6-methyladenosine modification of YES1 mRNA in an IGF2BP1-dependent manner. *Cell Death Discov*. 2021;7(1):315. doi:10.1038/s41420-021-00703-w
- Liu Z, Xu K, Jiang Y, et al. Global trend of aetiology-based primary liver cancer incidence from 1990 to 2030: A modelling study. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2021;50(1):128–142. doi:10.1093/ije/dyaa196
- Huang DQ, El-Serag HB, Loomba R. Global epidemiology of NAFLDrelated HCC: Trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2021;18(4):223–238. doi:10.1038/s41575-020-00381-6
- Kulik L, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology and management of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*. 2019;156(2):477–491.e1. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2018.08.065
- 6. Chen Z, Xie H, Hu M, et al. Recent progress in treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Am J Cancer Res*. 2020;10(9):2993–3036. PMID:33042631.
- Li X, Yu W, Liang C, et al. INHBA is a prognostic predictor for patients with colon adenocarcinoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2020;20(1):305. doi:10.1186/ s12885-020-06743-2
- Wang Y, Peng C, Cheng Z, et al. The prognostic significance of preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma receiving hepatectomy: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int J Surg.* 2018;55:73–80. doi:10.1016/j.ijsu.2018.05.022
- 9. Cai X, Liang C, Zhang M, et al. N6-methyladenosine modification and metabolic reprogramming of digestive system malignancies. *Cancer Lett*. 2022;544:215815. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2022.215815
- Weng J, Zhou C, Zhou Q, et al. Development and validation of a metabolic gene-based prognostic signature for hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatocell Carcinoma*. 2021;8:193–209. doi:10.2147/JHC.S300633
- Chen Z, Zou Y, Zhang Y, et al. A novel prognostic signature based on four glycolysis-related genes predicts survival and clinical risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Clin Lab Anal*. 2021;35(11):e24005. doi:10.1002/jcla.24005
- Du D, Liu C, Qin M, et al. Metabolic dysregulation and emerging therapeutical targets for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Acta Pharm Sin B*. 2022;12(2):558–580. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2021.09.019
- Vitale I, Manic G, Coussens LM, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Macrophages and metabolism in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Metab.* 2019; 30(1):36–50. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2019.06.001
- DePeaux K, Delgoffe GM. Metabolic barriers to cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021;21(12):785–797. doi:10.1038/s41577-021-00541-y
- Yin X, Wu T, Lan Y, Yang W. Current progress of immune checkpoint inhibitors in the treatment of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biosci Rep.* 2022;42(2):BSR20212304. doi:10.1042/BSR20212304
- Lefler DS, Snook AE, Bashir B. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in luminal gastrointestinal malignancies: Going beyond MSI-H/dMMR, TMB and PD-L1. *Immunotherapy*. 2022;14(11):885–902. doi:10.2217/imt-2022-0012
- Ma W, Pham B, Li T. Cancer neoantigens as potential targets for immunotherapy. *Clin Exp Metastasis*. 2022;39(1):51–60. doi:10.1007/s10585-021-10091-1

- Turbitt WJ, Demark-Wahnefried W, Peterson CM, Norian LA. Targeting glucose metabolism to enhance immunotherapy: Emerging evidence on intermittent fasting and calorie restriction mimetics. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:1402. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01402
- Bleve A, Durante B, Sica A, Consonni FM. Lipid metabolism and cancer immunotherapy: Immunosuppressive myeloid cells at the crossroad. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(16):5845. doi:10.3390/ijms21165845
- Zhou C, Zhan G, Jin Y, et al. A novel pyroptosis-related gene signature to predict outcomes in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Aging*. 2021;13(24):25960–25979. doi:10.18632/aging.203783
- Zheng Y, Heagerty PJ. Semiparametric estimation of time-dependent ROC curves for longitudinal marker data. *Biostatistics*. 2004;5(4): 615–632. doi:10.1093/biostatistics/kxh013
- 22. Foucher Y, Danger R. Time dependent ROC curves for the estimation of true prognostic capacity of microarray data. *Stat Appl Genet Mol Biol*. 2012;11(6):Article 1. doi:10.1515/1544-6115.1815
- Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ. Decision curve analysis: A discussion. Med Decis Making. 2008;28(1):146–149. doi:10.1177/0272989X07312725
- Yin L, Lin X, Liu J, et al. Classification tree-based machine learning to visualize and validate a decision tool for identifying malnutrition in cancer patients. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* 2021;45(8):1736–1748. doi:10.1002/jpen.2070
- De Felice F, Crocetti D, Parisi M, et al. Decision tree algorithm in locally advanced rectal cancer: An example of over-interpretation and misuse of a machine learning approach. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2020; 146(3):761–765. doi:10.1007/s00432-019-03102-y
- Barretina J, Caponigro G, Stransky N, et al. The Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia enables predictive modelling of anticancer drug sensitivity. *Nature*. 2012;483(7391):603–607. doi:10.1038/nature11003
- Zhang L, Li Y, Dai Y, et al. Glycolysis-related gene expression profiling serves as a novel prognosis risk predictor for human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):18875. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-98381-2
- Xu Q, Miao D, Song X, et al. Glycolysis-related gene signature can predict survival and immune status of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol*. 2022;29(6):3963–3976. doi:10.1245/s10434-022-11502-7
- He D, Cai L, Huang W, et al. Prognostic value of fatty acid metabolism-related genes in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Aging*. 2021;13(13):17847–17863. doi:10.18632/aging.203288
- Hu B, Yang X, Sang X. Construction of a lipid metabolism-related and immune-associated prognostic signature for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Med*. 2020;9(20):7646–7662. doi:10.1002/cam4.3353
- Shen Z, Hu Y, Zhou C, et al. *ESRRG* promoter hypermethylation as a diagnostic and prognostic biomarker in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Clin Lab Anal*. 2019;33(6):e22899. doi:10.1002/jcla.22899
- Piñero F, Dirchwolf M, Pessôa MG. Biomarkers in hepatocellular carcinoma: Diagnosis, prognosis and treatment response assessment. *Cells*. 2020;9(6):1370. doi:10.3390/cells9061370
- Gu X, Li H, Sha L, Zhao W. Construction and comprehensive analyses of a competing endogenous RNA network in tumor-node-metastasis stage | hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biomed Res Int.* 2020;2020:5831064. doi:10.1155/2020/5831064
- 34. Yau T, Park JW, Finn RS, et al. CheckMate 459: A randomized, multicenter phase III study of nivolumab (NIVO) vs sorafenib (SOR) as firstline (1L) treatment in patients (pts) with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (aHCC). Ann Oncol. 2019;30:v874–v875. doi:10.1093/annonc/ mdz394.029
- Zhu AX, Finn RS, Edeline J, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma previously treated with sorafenib (KEYNOTE-224): A non-randomised, open-label phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2018;19(7):940–952. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30351-6
- Buder-Bakhaya K, Hassel JC. Biomarkers for clinical benefit of immune checkpoint inhibitor treatment: A review from the melanoma perspective and beyond. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9:1474. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2018.01474
- Dai W, Xu L, Yu X, et al. OGDHL silencing promotes hepatocellular carcinoma by reprogramming glutamine metabolism. *J Hepatol*. 2020; 72(5):909–923. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2019.12.015

Possible effect of natural light on emotion recognition and the prefrontal cortex: A scoping review of near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy

Ryusei Nishi^{A–F}, Takamasa Fukumoto^{B,C,E,F}, Akihiro Asakawa^{A,E,F}

Department of Psychosomatic Internal Medicine, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, Kagoshima University, Japan

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1441-1451

Address for correspondence Ryusei Nishi

E-mail: k6450967@kadai.jp

Funding sources None declared

Conflict of interest None declared

Acknowledgements

BioRender was used to construct the figure after obtaining a paid license for publication authorization.

Received on January 11, 2023 Reviewed on January 27, 2023 Accepted on March 22, 2023

Published online on April 24, 2023

Abstract

Near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy, also known as functional NIR spectroscopy (fNIRS), is a tool for measuring the hemodynamic response of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) by using NIR light, enabling a noninvasive indirect neural activity assessment. The application of fNIRS in emotion recognition or the differential diagnosis of psychiatric disorders of depressive patients, including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, has previously been reported. Although the use of fNIRS has gradually expanded in cognitive neuroscience studies, few researchers have focused on the effects of light exposure in fNIRS studies. In addition, to the best of our knowledge, there are no scoping reviews of fNIRS studies on light exposure. Because light is an important topic in cognitive neuroscience and psychiatry, we evaluated fNIRS studies on light exposure in humans. We reviewed 10 papers in their entirety. Bright light (BR) modulates fear, and the color differences showed no significance in 1 study, whereas other studies delved extensively into the effects of natural light have not been studied using fNIRS. Light is becoming a critical topic in cognitive neuroscience and psychiatry, and fNIRS is critical for improving public health and managing psychiatric disorders.

Key words: prefrontal cortex, emotion recognition, light, NIR spectroscopy

Cite as

Nishi R, Fukumoto T, Asakawa A. Possible effect of natural light on emotion recognition and the prefrontal cortex: A scoping review of near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2023;32(12):1441–1451. doi:10.17219/acem/162537

DOI

10.17219/acem/162537

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Introduction

Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) is a tool for measuring cerebral hemodynamic responses, enabling a noninvasive assessment of indirect neural activity. This technique has developed rapidly over the 30 years since its first application.¹ The fNIRS tolerates moderate movements, which is an advantage over other tools, such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI).

The first demonstration of measuring cerebral oxygen level was performed by Jöbsis in 1977,² while the first commercial near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy with a single channel was developed by Hamamatsu Photonics K.K. (Hamamatsu, Japan) in 1989. The original fNIRS system was expensive and cumbersome, and the many wires required rendered subjects immobile, making its application in clinical settings challenging. In 1998, a 10-channel system developed by Hitachi (Tokyo, Japan) was used on intractable epilepsy patients in a clinical setting.³ Recently, researchers have elaborated on developing more miniaturized, wireless and low-cost fNIRS systems.^{4–6}

The principles of the mainstream continuous wave (CW) fNIRS technique are outlined in Fig. 1. When NIR light travels through cerebral capillaries, the light is absorbed, scattered and transmitted. This light absorption can be calculated using the Beer–Lambert law. However, it is inappropriate to apply the original Beer–Lambert law. First, scattering light should be considered because the human brain includes blood vessels and other highly scattering



Fig. 1. The principle of the continuous wave (CW) functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) system. Two different wavelengths of light are emitted from the emitter and then detected with 2 detectors. Detection is performed under the principles of the modified Beer–Lambert law; therefore, 2 equations are formulated. Finally, these equations are solved to calculate the oxygenated hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) concentration

tissues, such as the skin and skull. Second, the trajectory of light is not linear but banana-shaped (Fig. 1) when applying NIRS to the human brain. Therefore, the law needed to be modified.⁷ When measuring light absorption of 2 different wavelengths, the common factor of scattering is negligible. Because the molar extinction coefficient for oxygenated hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) and deoxygenated hemoglobin (H-Hb) can be obtained experimentally, the relative concentrations of both oxy-Hb and H-Hb result from solving the 2 equations simultaneously.

Functional near-infrared spectroscopy can be a useful tool for measuring brain activity in various settings besides limited laboratory situations. However, there are critical disadvantages of fNIRS to consider. Although fNIRS measures hemodynamic response noninvasively,^{8–10} the spatial resolution is not as high compared to an electroencephalogram. In addition, the deep brain of adults cannot be measured since light penetration does not reach it. Therefore, fNIRS can only target the lateral surface of the brain hemispheres, mainly the cortex.¹¹ The forehead is easy to approach regions of interest in fNIRS. These regions includes motor functionality (the primary sensorimotor cortex and the premotor cortex ¹²) and higher-order functionality (the frontopolar cortex and the prefrontal cortex (PFC)¹³).

The PFC contributes to both fear acquisition and extinction, as PFC has the ability to learn from a precedent fear.¹⁴ Recent studies have suggested that the medial PFC is impaired by the basolateral complex of the amygdala (BLA), which is activated by the locus coeruleus (LC). In addition, the posterior ventromedial PFC (BA11) activates powerfully during late fear conditioning.¹⁵ In contrast, the LC activates the medial PFC, and the medial PFC inhibits the BLA.¹⁶ Therefore, the LC, medial PFC and BLA are vital for noradrenergic fear modulation, but the mechanisms differ between fear acquisition and fear extinction. In functional brain imaging studies, the fear and anxiety regions of the frontal cortex are not only in the medial prefrontal but also the dorsal, ventrolateral and prefrontal orbitofrontal cortex.¹⁷ In patients with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), impairment of recalling fear extinction from the hypoactivity of the hippocampus was reported, whereas patients were conditioned to both fear acquisition and extinction normally.¹⁴ Also, the hippocampus projection to the PFC is aberrant in patients with PTSD, depression and schizophrenia,¹⁸ suggesting that hippocampal function affects fear, anxiety and cognition.

The fNIRS application in the differential diagnosis of depressive patients, including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, has been reported.¹⁹ In Japan, fNIRS, as an optical topography test, has been covered by the healthcare insurance system for the differential diagnosis of the depressive state. However, clinical applications in neuroimaging are still controversial. In 2018, the American Psychiatric Association (APA)

concluded that neuroimaging should remain a research tool only. There may be 2 main reasons for this. Firstly, most studies have a small number of participants and identify a relatively tiny effect size. Moreover, although neuroimaging is noninvasive, it is challenging to draw an identical assessment between clinicians, which makes it difficult to support its application for clinical diagnosis.

The use of fNIRS has expanded gradually in cognitive neuroscience studies. Cognitive neuroscience is a broad multidisciplinary field focusing mainly on the neural mechanisms behind cognitive function by linking together disciplines such as physiology, anatomy, psychology, psychiatry, and computational biology.²⁰ Table 1 shows the main subjects of cognitive neuroscience with reported topics for fNIRS application. It should be noted that the mentioned studies were almost but not entirely separate, and each field will overlap with other fields. For example, dyslexia is in the reading field but can also be categorized in the decision or language fields. In terms of the attention field, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) during the developmental ages is a critical topic in fNIRS studies.²¹ Studies regarding traumatic brain injury,^{22,23} autism spectrum disorders,^{24,25} drowsy driving,²⁶ and meditation²⁷ are also recent clinical applications of fNIRS. Studies on consciousness, anesthesia management,28 disorders of consciousness,²⁹ and locked-in syndrome³⁰ have been reported. Decision-making is one of the essential applications of cognitive neuroscience. The application of the brain-computer interface³¹ to examine group decision,³² purchase decision^{33,34} and risk-taking^{35,36} yielded some pieces of evidence. In terms of executive control, obesity,³⁷ exercise³⁸ and older adults³⁹ have been researched. In the intelligence field, problem-solving⁴⁰ and work performance⁴¹ have been studied. The language field^{42,43} is the most extensively studied topic in cognitive neuroscience, and the verbal fluency task (VFT) has recently demonstrated its ability to measure depressive disorder.44 We perceive almost all stimuli under any circumstances; therefore, it is challenging to aggregate perception studies. To the best of our knowledge, perception of depth,⁴⁵ emotion,^{46–48} face,⁴⁹ reward,^{50,51} self-agency,⁵² and time⁵³ have been reported. Finally, reading studies include dyslexia⁵⁴ and overt reading⁵⁵ (reading aloud).

Objectives

Light is essential not only for visualization but also for sleep, mood and cognition. Meta-analyses and systematic reviews support the impact of light on alertness.⁵⁶ In addition, light therapy is an effective treatment for depression in Parkinson's disease⁵⁷ and premenstrual dysphoric disorder,⁵⁸ and the effects of light therapy on sleep disturbance have also been reported.^{57,59–61} In cognitive neuroscience and psychiatry, light is an important topic. However, few researchers have focused on the effects of light exposure
 Table 1. Major topics of cognitive neuroscience and reported application

 of functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS)

Торіс	Application	
	attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)	
	impairments after traumatic brain injury	
Attention	autism spectrum disorder	
	drowsy driving	
	meditation practice	
	anesthesia monitoring	
Consciousness	disorders of consciousness	
	locked-in syndrome	
	brain-computer interface	
	group decision	
Decision	purchasing decisions	
	risk behavior in financial decisions	
	risky decision-making in social interactions	
	central obesity	
Executive control	exercise	
	older adults	
Intelligence	problem solving	
Intelligence	work performance	
	aphasia	
	bilinguality	
	developments	
Language	presurgical assessment	
	second language	
	unknown language	
	verbal fluency	
	depth	
	emotion	
	light	
Perception	face	
	reward	
	self-agency	
	time	
Reading	dyslexia	
neauing	overt reading	

measured using fNIRS. In addition, to the best of our knowledge, there is no scoping review of fNIRS studies on light exposure. Therefore, in the present review, we evaluate fNIRS studies on light exposure in humans.

Review protocol

We delineated 4 inclusion criteria. First, studies must be performed on humans. Second, studies should focus on light exposure. Therefore, papers that only mentioned light exposure for the technical principles of fNIRS or light effect on fNIRS experiments itself⁶² (ambient light) were



Fig. 2. Selection of target literature

fNIRS – functional near-infrared spectroscopy.

excluded from our review. Third, not only direct but also indirect light exposure measurements were included, as was smartphone use⁶³ (effect of blue light (BL)). However, studies were excluded if there were other non-negligible effects, such as the natural light effect on garden therapy⁶⁴ with green plants. Fourth, since the first fNIRS study was published in 1991, studies published only after that year were included in the analysis.¹ Following an initial Internet search, we concluded the literature on light exposure encompassed various fields such as architecture, education, religion, and complementary medicine. Therefore, from the standpoint of scientific rigor, we required papers to have a PubMed Identifier (PMID) in PubMed and did not take into account information available from other websites, dissertations and books. Our review presents the whole PubMed-indexed research on the topic.

We started the literature search on November 15, 2022, and finished it on January 20, 2023. The process of selecting literature is shown in Fig. 2. We used Google Scholar, Scopus and PubMed databases to identify relevant studies, and carefully selected queries in order to identify fNIRS research on light exposure. The queries that were used are listed in Table 2. Google Scholar facilitates literature identification,65 but many irrelevant results appear because of its low precision.⁶⁶ In addition, search results are not reproducible.⁶⁷ Therefore, using Google Scholar solely is challenging in identifying literature⁶⁸; thus, Scopus and PubMed were used to improve coverage and maintain search consistency. On January 20, 2023, 2 authors (RN and TF) independently searched the databases and found that all results were consistent. In addition, we confirmed that the results had not been updated since the previous search. After literature identification, we deduplicated the references using Zotero v. 6.0.18 (https://www.zotero. org/). After deduplication, articles with unavailable fulltext articles were excluded, abstracts were screened and 10 papers remained for full-text review. The main highlight of the fNIRS studies was the oxy-Hb concentration.

The bias risk assessment was performed based on the characteristics and number of participants and study protocols. Moreover, the study protocol was assessed. We used robvis tool to create risk-of-bias plots.⁶⁹

Results

A brief overview of the 10 reviewed studies is presented in Table 3. In summary, bright light (BR) modulates fear. Regarding the color differences, no significance was indicated in 1 study, whereas other studies suggested that colored light produced some individual hemodynamic responses.

Bias risk assessment

Figure 3 summarizes the risk of bias. All studies included both male and female participants. Although the number of participants ranged from 10 to 34 in most studies, 1 study had 757 participants. Due to the inhomogeneous signal processing methods, comparing oxy-Hb concentrations between studies would be inappropriate. In 4 studies,^{70–73} the reported number, male/female proportion, standard deviation (SD), mean (M), and age ranges of participants were identical. In 1 study, a machine learning technique was used.⁷¹ However, although the machine learning technique is overused in various fields, artificial intelligence (AI) does not apply to small biased datasets.⁷⁴

Table 2. Queries used for database search

Database	Queries	Matches					
Coogle Scholar	"functional near-infrared spectroscopy" AND "light exposure"	212					
Google Scholar	"functional near-infrared spectroscopy" in title: "light"	231					
PubMed	"functional near-infrared spectroscopy (title)" AND "light (title/abstract)"	83					
Scopus	TITLE-ABS-KEY ("functional near-infrared spectroscopy" OR "functional near infrared spectroscopy" OR "fNIRS") AND TITLE-ABS-KEY ("light W/3 exposure" AND (LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "ar") OR LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "re")	10					

		meanereren						
Voar	Author	Types	Participants, n (male/	Age [years]			fNIRS findings	
rear	and reference	of light	female)	range	М	SD	ining indings	
2011	Weinzirl et al. ⁷⁸	С	13 (7/6)	18–44	30.0	N/A	indifferent to color sequence	
2012	Weinzirl et al. ⁷⁷	С	10 (5/5)	23–44	27	N/A	BL decreases oxygen demand	
	Hori et al. ⁷⁵	С	fNIRS measurement: 757 (294/463) questionnaire: 299 (118/181)	6–78	32.0	14.0	light itself does not change an emotion	
2017	Metz et al. ⁸²	С	17 (11/6)	25–65	N/A*	N/A	yellow light elevates oxy-Hb concentration in the left PFC	
	Scholkmann et al. ⁸³	С	14 (9/5)	24–57	33.4	10.5	only BL elicits PFC oxy-Hb concentration elevation	
2018	Yoshiike et al. ⁷⁶	BR	29 (10/19)	20–25	21.7	N/A	BR decreases oxy-Hb concentration in the PFC	
2021	Zohdi	С	32 (17/15)	N/A	25.5	4.3	indicates inter-participant hemodynamic variability	
2021	et al. ^{72,73}	С	32 (17/15)	19–45	25.5	4.3	various deviations in cerebral hemodynamics	
	Honma et al. ⁶³	BL	34 (14/20)	N/A	20.4	0.8	BL overly activates the PFC	
	Zohdi et al.71	С	32 (17/15)	N/A 25.5 4.3 -		_		
2022	Scholkmann et al. ⁷⁰	С	32 (17/15)	19–45	25.5	4.3	oxy-Hb and deoxy-Hb concentration change is color-independent; BL rather than red light response is stronger in the VC	

Table 3. Summary of fully reviewed references

BL – blue light; BR – bright light; C – colored light; N/A – not available; oxy-Hb – oxygenated hemoglobin; PFC – prefrontal cortex; fNIRS – functional nearinfrared spectroscopy; M – mean; SD – standard deviation; VC – visual cortex; * median age was 29 years.

Therefore, even if machine learning methods successfully find plausible clustering, these models are not always suitable for all datasets, and sometimes the clustering is a result of sheer luck.

Detailed description of the reviewed literature

Hori et al. stimulated 757 subjects with various colored lights and waterfall sounds using different frequencies to study the emotional effects on the PFC.⁷⁵ Their feedback system enabled them to alter the stimuli in response to increased oxy-Hb concentration in the PFC, resulting from pleasantness or unpleasantness. Pleasantness or unpleasantness antness was determined according to a previous study.¹¹ After the stimulation, 298 participants answered a questionnaire to assess their comfort with the stimuli, ranging from -5 (unpleasant) to +5 (pleasant). Results indicated that sound frequency rather than light color affects how pleasant or unpleasant the feelings of the participants were. High-frequency sounds accounted for approx. 43% of both pleasantness and unpleasantness responses.⁷⁵

Yoshiike et al. performed an fNIRS study to show the effect of BR on PFC activity during human fear conditioning and fear extinction. They conducted a single-blinded study by exposing 29 participants to either bright (9000 lx) or regular (<500 lx) light, and presented visual conditioned stimuli (CS) randomly, followed by unconditioned stimuli (US) using an unpleasant but not painful electric shock. For CS, each sign represented a learning process using triangles, squares and circles to represent fear extinction, fear acquisition and a safety state, respectively. In addition to the PFC activity on fNIRS, skin conductance was recorded with each response to stimuli.⁷⁶ The results were intriguing. Bright light decreases skin conductance during the recall session of any learning process. However, fNIRS showed that BR modulates fear immediately and differently, promoting fear extinction and safe learning while inhibiting fear acquisition. Moreover, BR modulates fear in any type of learning, which generally lasts at least 24 h.

Wolf's research group extensively focused on the color of light and conducted 8 fNIRS studies in the years 2011–2022.^{70–73,77,78,82,83} In 2011, they first investigated the effect of red and blue light on oxygen consumption in the brain and muscles of 10 participants.⁷⁷ Then, they exposed the 12 volunteers to these 2-colored lights sequentially to examine the hypothesis stating that red light enhances the effects of BL.⁷⁸ The source of light was not a light-emitting diode (LED) but a white light bulb with colored filters. The constant hemoglobin concentration and high tissue oxygen saturation indicated that BL, but not red light, exposure decreases oxygen demand in the brain.^{77,78} However, this contradicts the activation of the PFC in both long (30 min) and short (1 min) BL



Fig. 3. Summary of bias risk assessment. A. Risk of bias for each study and domain; B. Summarized bias risk assessment for all 10 studies

exposures.^{79–81} Interestingly, blood oxygenation was independent of the sequence, and the oxygenation in both sequences was equivalent to a single red light exposure, suggesting that red light is preponderant to BL.⁷⁸

Metz et al. in 2017 proposed physiology-augmented fNIRS (SPA-fNIRS) and conducted the first 2 SPA-fNIRS studies. As the name suggests, SPA-fNIRS associates fNIRS with physiological parameters, including skin conductance, end-tidal carbon dioxide ($P_{\rm ET}CO_2$) and heart rate

(HR).^{82,83} Both studies exposed the participants to colored light, but the major difference was whether the exposure was continuous⁸² or intermittent.⁸³

Metz et al. continuously exposed the 12 participants to blue, green, red, and yellow LED lights for 10 min while recording their physiological and neurological activities using SPA-fNIRS. Skin conductance increased for all colors except green, and only yellow light significantly elevated oxy-Hb concentration in the left but not the right PFC. Additionally, as in their previous study, oxygen demand decreases were only observed when exposed to blue, but not red light. Except for the green light, HR increased while the partial pressure of CO_2 (P_aCO_2 , equivalent to $P_{ET}CO_2^{84}$) decreased. The HR elevation and $P_{ET}CO_2$ reduction indicate that participants hyperventilated during fNIRS. They described that this hyperventilation occurred due to weak pain in the recovery phase, but not from the light itself.

Scholkmann et al. used blue, green and red LEDs to beam light for 10 min, on and off every 20 s, but did not use yellow LEDs. In addition to PFC activity, visual cortex (VC) activity was measured using the SPA-fNIRS. The results indicated that BL and red light significantly increased respiratory rate (RR), whereas green light decreased it. Regarding HR and $P_{\rm ET}CO_2$, only BL elevated HR, and $P_{\rm ET}CO_2$ showed no significant alteration. In addition, only BL elicited an elevation in PFC oxy-Hb, while VC activity-related oxy-Hb elevation was observed with any color.⁸³

In 2021, followed by another SPA-fNIRS study to investigate the colored light effect (CLE) during a VFT,⁷³ Wolf's research group delved into the interindividual differences of hemodynamic responses and consecutively published 4 studies in January 2021, April 2021, May 2022, and October 2022.^{70–73} Briefly, followed by performing a VFT under CLE, they patterned or clustered hemodynamic responses using various techniques, including unsupervised machine learning,⁷¹ namely k-means.

In 2022, Honma et al. enrolled 34 healthy individuals to compare reading comprehension on a smartphone compared to paper by recording the number of sighs the subjects made while reading and bilateral PFC activity obtained using fNIRS. The 10-point comprehension test used 10 multiple-choice questions. This crossover study revealed that reading on paper achieves at least 1 point higher score than reading on a smartphone. In addition, sighs decreased by approx. 70% while reading on a smartphone, and the left PFC was simultaneously overactivated. These findings indicated that BL decreases sighs and increases left PFC overactivation, resulting in poor comprehension due to excessive cognitive loads.⁶³

Discussion

Results show that the CLEs on verbal fluency have been extensively researched, and the hemodynamic responses may differ individually. In addition, BL overly activates the PFC. Moreover, BR modulates fear immediately and differently between learning processes, promoting fear extinction and safe learning, as well as inhibiting fear acquisition.

Although our review provides some evidence of the effects of colored light, some concerns should be mentioned. First, according to previously mentioned findings,⁷⁵ light color does not affect emotions. On the other hand, Battaglia et al. suggested that both positive and negative emotions equally control our behaviors.⁸⁵ Therefore, light color differences may not affect our behaviors. However, it is not surprising that numerous studies suggest that color underlies mood, quality of life (QOL) and cognition. In 2010, Carruthers et al. developed the Manchester Color Wheel to assess patients by the color of light they were exposed to using 38 colors representing positive, neutral or negative conditions that were rigorously reproduced on the participants.⁸⁶ Color-using art therapy can increase purpose in the life of stroke patients and their caregivers, resulting in QOL improvements.⁸⁷ In addition, as Berndt et al. indicated in 2020, color plays a vital role in language comprehension, facilitating anagram solving by presenting the referent color of the solution words.⁸⁸

Second, as previously mentioned, Metz et al. reported that exposure to green light did not increase HR and decrease $PaCO_2$,⁸² suggesting that green light did not induce hyperventilation (in turn caused by weak pain) during fNIRS. However, the light color should not be the only difference studied, and hyperventilation during fNIRS needs to be elucidated more complex. Although previously mentioned, it should be noted again that noninvasiveness is a core feature of fNIRS. Moreover, hyperventilation suggesting HR elevation and concurrent $P_{ET}CO_2$ reduction were not observed with intermittent light exposure.⁸³ Research on the effect of green light is scarce because exposure to green light in the natural environment is rare; nonetheless, the effects of green light need to be elucidated.

Finally, there are some discrepancies to be noted when comparing continuous light⁸² and intermittent light⁸³ exposure. Regarding the BL effect, continuous light does not induce activation,^{77,82} whereas intermittent light induces an oxy-Hb concentration increase in the PFC.⁸³ However, interindividual differences can be the main plausible cause of varying results, as mentioned.^{70–72}

Blue light activates intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (ipRGCs), and the signal is projected to several brain regions, including the ventral tegmental area, raphe and LC via the suprachiasmatic nucleus, to modulate circadian rhythms.⁸⁹ The ipRGCs do not form a vision, suggesting that even in blind people exposure to colored light may result in circadian modulation.^{80,90,91} A LED display on smartphones is an example of BL emitter. Blue light harms photoreceptors and pigmented epithelium cells,⁹² and the reviewed fNIRS study suggests the negative impact of BL on reading comprehension.⁶³

In the reviewed studies, BL increased total hemoglobin concentrations when the participants were exposed to light emitted by a color-filtered white lightbulb, but it remained constant under LED illumination. However, the difference between incandescent light and LED can be applied to this result. Recently, Farghly et al. reared rabbits under various light conditions and found that rearing animals under LED conditions resulted in the highest glucose concentrations.⁹³ In addition, Niemierzycka et al. showed that LED light with a color temperature of 4200 K achieves higher speeds with maintained accuracy on the Kraepelin test.⁹⁴ As the Kraepelin test induces PFC activity⁹⁵ and glucose is primarily present in the brain, it can be inferred that LED light plays a different role than incandescent light on the PFC.

The present review indicated that there are only 10 studies on the effects of light exposure measured using fNIRS measurements in PubMed. In addition, we should carefully interpret these results. For example, since colored light effects have been studied only by a single research group, there are some non-negligible biases, such as confirmation bias. Thereby, the present review identified the sparsity of light exposure studies with fNIRS usage.

The effect of natural light has not been studied using fNIRS. As previously mentioned, garden therapy was studied,⁶⁴ but the effect of green plants is not negligible. However, studying solely natural light is challenging because natural light is a component of the environment. For example, when downtown, there can be additional stimuli like noise from cars or rising temperatures caused by the heat island effect.

We hypothesize that fNIRS can yield critical findings in combination with other biomarkers. For example, because fNIRS measures the oxidation of hemoglobin in the cerebral capillaries, cerebral oxidative stress can be noninvasively measured in combination with other oxidative indicators, such as the kynurenine-3-monooxygenase, which is activated by oxygen.^{96–101} Moreover, fNIRS might facilitate the understanding of fear learning, in combination with cardiac autonomic dynamics of heart rate variability.¹⁰²

Another important hypothesis is that fNIRS can bring critical findings for psychiatric disorders in terms of light effects. For example, since light therapy was reported to be effective in seasonal affective disorder (SAD) in 1984,103 only the atypical pattern of rod electroretinogram has been reported as a possible biomarker.¹⁰⁴ Due to a much stronger invasiveness of electroretinogram than fNIRS, the present review suggests the need for developing a biomarker in patients with SAD. The fNIRS can also be used in combination with inflammatory cytokines in dementia $^{\rm 105,106}$ or the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in various gut microbiota-related psychiatric illnesses.¹⁰⁷ Although MRI is essential for diseases such as cerebral small vessel disease,¹⁰⁸ there might be a possibility of using fNIRS to predict the critical need for an MRI, which would significantly spare the clinician's time and effort.

As previously mentioned, fNIRS is an effective tool for cognitive neuroscience due to its non-invasiveness, tolerance of movements and high resolution. On the other hand, most fNIRS studies corroborate PFC activity by associating oxy-Hb concentration increase with brain activity.^{109–113} The idea of such association is derived from the neurovascular coupling theory. Although the mechanism by which neural tissue activation leads to increased cerebral blood flow remains unclear,^{114,115} in terms of neurovascular coupling, the integration of fNIRS and functional MRI can be helpful in understanding brain hemodynamics.¹¹⁶

Limitations

Although this scoping review presents the whole PubMed-indexed research on fNIRS and the effects of light exposure, it has some limitations. We focused only on PubMed-indexed literature, which excludes information available from websites, dissertations and books. In addition, fNIRS-related fields, such as engineering, computer science and physics, were not incorporated because PubMed does not include biomedical journals. Finally, we did not include studies published after January 2023.

Conclusions

The fNIRS techniques enable real-time monitoring of human brain activity with tolerance to motion artifacts to some extent. Humans live with light, but its quality changes from natural to artificial light exposure. Notwithstanding that natural light is still essential, its effect on the brain's hemodynamic response has not been thoroughly researched. Delving into light effects under commonplace environments using fNIRS is a reasonable approach. In conclusion, light will be a more critical topic in cognitive neuroscience and psychiatry, and fNIRS can be a critical tool for improving public health and managing psychiatric disorders.

ORCID iDs

Ryusei Nishi 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2214-9343 Takamasa Fukumoto 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8421-0491 Akihiro Asakawa 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9703-356X

References

- Ferrari M, Quaresima V. A brief review on the history of human functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) development and fields of application. *Neuroimage*. 2012;63(2):921–935. doi:10.1016/j.neuro image.2012.03.049
- Jöbsis FF. Noninvasive, infrared monitoring of cerebral and myocardial oxygen sufficiency and circulatory parameters. *Science*. 1977; 198(4323):1264–1267. doi:10.1126/science.929199
- Watanabe E, Maki A, Kawaguchi F, et al. Non-invasive assessment of language dominance with near-infrared spectroscopic mapping. *Neurosci Lett*. 1998;256(1):49–52. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(98)00754-X
- Liu G, Cui W, Hu X, et al. Development of a miniaturized and modular probe for fNIRS instrument. *Lasers Med Sci.* 2022;37(4):2269–2277. doi:10.1007/s10103-021-03493-w
- Bolton FJ, Bernat AS, Bar-Am K, Levitz D, Jacques S. Portable, lowcost multispectral imaging system: Design, development, validation, and utilization. *J Biomed Opt.* 2018;23(12):1–11. doi:10.1117/1. JBO.23.12.121612
- Farzam P, Starkweather Z, Franceschini MA. Validation of a novel wearable, wireless technology to estimate oxygen levels and lactate threshold power in the exercising muscle. *Physiol Rep.* 2018; 6(7):e13664. doi:10.14814/phy2.13664
- Delpy DT, Cope M, van der Zee P, Arridge S, Wray S, Wyatt J. Estimation of optical pathlength through tissue from direct time of flight measurement. *Phys Med Biol*. 1988;33(12):1433–1442. doi:10.1088/0031-9155/33/12/008
- Perrey S. Non-invasive NIR spectroscopy of human brain function during exercise. *Methods*. 2008;45(4):289–299. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth. 2008.04.005

- Strangman G, Boas DA, Sutton JP. Non-invasive neuroimaging using near-infrared light. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2002;52(7):679–693. doi:10.1016/ S0006-3223(02)01550-0
- Villringer A, Chance B. Non-invasive optical spectroscopy and imaging of human brain function. *Trends Neurosci*. 1997;20(10):435–442. doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01132-6
- Hoshi Y, Huang J, Kohri S, et al. Recognition of human emotions from cerebral blood flow changes in the frontal region: A study with event-related near-infrared spectroscopy. *J Neuroimaging*. 2011;21(2): e94–e101. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6569.2009.00454.x
- Leff DR, Orihuela-Espina F, Elwell CE, et al. Assessment of the cerebral cortex during motor task behaviours in adults: A systematic review of functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) studies. *Neuroimage*. 2011;54(4):2922–2936. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.058
- Cazzell M, Li L, Lin ZJ, Patel SJ, Liu H. Comparison of neural correlates of risk decision making between genders: An exploratory fNIRS study of the Balloon Analogue Risk Task (BART). *Neuroimage*. 2012; 62(3):1896–1911. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.05.030
- Battaglia S. Neurobiological advances of learned fear in humans. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2022;31(3):217–221. doi:10.17219/acem/146756
- Fullana MA, Harrison BJ, Soriano-Mas C, et al. Neural signatures of human fear conditioning: An updated and extended meta-analysis of fMRI studies. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2016;21(4):500–508. doi:10.1038/ mp.2015.88
- Giustino TF, Maren S. Noradrenergic modulation of fear conditioning and extinction. Front Behav Neurosci. 2018;12:43. doi:10.3389/ fnbeh.2018.00043
- Shiba Y, Santangelo AM, Roberts AC. Beyond the medial regions of prefrontal cortex in the regulation of fear and anxiety. *Front Syst Neurosci.* 2016;10:12. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2016.00012
- Godsil BP, Kiss JP, Spedding M, Jay TM. The hippocampal-prefrontal pathway: The weak link in psychiatric disorders? *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*. 2013;23(10):1165–1181. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2012.10.018
- Lai CYY, Ho CSH, Lim CR, Ho RCM. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy in psychiatry. *BJPsych Adv.* 2017;23(5):324–330. doi:10.1192/apt. bp.115.015610
- Cutini S, Moro SB, Bisconti S. Functional near infrared optical imaging in cognitive neuroscience: An introductory review. *JNIRS*. 2012;20(1): 75–92. doi:10.1255/jnirs.969
- Mauri M, Nobile M, Bellina M, Crippa A, Brambilla P. Light up ADHD: I. Cortical hemodynamic responses measured by functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS). J Affect Disord. 2018;234:358–364. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.087
- Chang F, Li H, Li N, et al. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy as a potential objective evaluation technique in neurocognitive disorders after traumatic brain injury. *Front Psychiatry*. 2022;13:903756. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2022.903756
- Wu Z, Mazzola CA, Catania L, et al. Altered cortical activation and connectivity patterns for visual attention processing in young adults post-traumatic brain injury: A functional near infrared spectroscopy study. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2018;24(6):539–548. doi:10.1111/cns.12811
- Pecukonis M, Perdue KL, Wong J, Tager-Flusberg H, Nelson CA. Exploring the relation between brain response to speech at 6-months and language outcomes at 24-months in infants at high and low risk for autism spectrum disorder: A preliminary functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Dev Cogn Neurosci.* 2021;47:100897. doi:10.1016/j. dcn.2020.100897
- Xu L, Liu Y, Yu J, et al. Characterizing autism spectrum disorder by deep learning spontaneous brain activity from functional near-infrared spectroscopy. J Neurosci Methods. 2020;331:108538. doi:10.1016/j. jneumeth.2019.108538
- 26. Li T, Lin Y, Gao Y, Zhong F. Longtime driving induced cerebral hemodynamic elevation and behavior degradation as assessed by functional near-infrared spectroscopy and a voluntary attention test. *J Biophotonics*. 2018;11(12):e201800160. doi:10.1002/jbio.201800160
- Yamaya N, Tsuchiya K, Takizawa I, Shimoda K, Kitazawa K, Tozato F. Effect of one-session focused attention meditation on the working memory capacity of meditation novices: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Brain Behav.* 2021;11(8):e2288. doi:10.1002/ brb3.2288

- Liang Z, Gu Y, Duan X, et al. Design of multichannel functional nearinfrared spectroscopy system with application to propofol and sevoflurane anesthesia monitoring. *Neurophotonics*. 2016;3(4):045001. doi:10.1117/1.NPh.3.4.045001
- Zhang Y, Yang Y, Si J, Xia X, He J, Jiang T. Influence of inter-stimulus interval of spinal cord stimulation in patients with disorders of consciousness: A preliminary functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Neuroimage Clin*. 2017;17:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2017.09.017
- Abdalmalak A, Milej D, Norton L, et al. Single-session communication with a locked-in patient by functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Neurophotonics*. 2017;4(4):040501. doi:10.1117/1.NPh.4.4.040501
- Zephaniah PV, Kim JG. Recent functional near infrared spectroscopy based brain computer interface systems: Developments, applications and challenges. *Biomed Eng Lett*. 2014;4(3):223–230. doi:10.1007/ s13534-014-0156-9
- Zhao H, Li Y, Wang Y, et al. Acute stress makes women's group decisions more rational: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS)based hyperscanning study. J Neurosci Psychol Econ. 2021;14(1):20–35. doi:10.1037/npe0000138
- Bak S, Yeu M, Jeong J. Forecasting unplanned purchase behavior under buy-one get-one-free promotions using functional nearinfrared spectroscopy. *Comput Intell Neurosci.* 2022;2022:1034983. doi:10.1155/2022/1034983
- Ding Z, Zhang Z, Chen W. The influence of media in purchasing decisions for recycled construction and demolition waste products: An functional near infrared spectroscopy study. *Front Neurosci*. 2022; 16:881537. doi:10.3389/fnins.2022.881537
- Zhang M, Liu T, Pelowski M, Jia H, Yu D. Social risky decision-making reveals gender differences in the TPJ: A hyperscanning study using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Brain Cogn.* 2017;119:54–63. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2017.08.008
- Holper L, Wolf M, Tobler PN. Comparison of functional near-infrared spectroscopy and electrodermal activity in assessing objective versus subjective risk during risky financial decisions. *Neuroimage*. 2014;84:833–842. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.09.047
- Deng Z, Huang Q, Huang J, Zhang W, Qi C, Xu X. Association between central obesity and executive function as assessed by stroop task performance: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *J Innov Opt Health Sci.* 2018;11(1):1750010. doi:10.1142/S1793545817500109
- Herold F, Wiegel P, Scholkmann F, Müller N. Applications of functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) neuroimaging in exercise–cognition science: A systematic, methodology-focused review. *J Clin Med*. 2018;7(12):466. doi:10.3390/jcm7120466
- Bishnoi A, Holtzer R, Hernandez ME. Brain activation changes while walking in adults with and without neurological disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of functional near-infrared spectroscopy studies. Brain Sci. 2021;11(3):291. doi:10.3390/brainsci11030291
- Jin L, Jia H, Li H, Yu D. Differences in brain signal complexity between experts and novices when solving conceptual science problem: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Neurosci Lett.* 2019; 699:172–176. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2019.02.015
- Hiwa S, Katayama T, Hiroyasu T. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy study of the neural correlates between auditory environments and intellectual work performance. *Brain Behav.* 2018;8(10):e01104. doi:10.1002/brb3.1104
- Soltanlou M, Sitnikova MA, Nuerk HC, Dresler T. Applications of functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) in studying cognitive development: The case of mathematics and language. *Front Psychol.* 2018; 9:277. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00277
- Butler LK, Kiran S, Tager-Flusberg H. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy in the study of speech and language impairment across the life span: A systematic review. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol*. 2020; 29(3):1674–1701. doi:10.1044/2020_AJSLP-19-00050
- Husain SF, Yu R, Tang TB, et al. Validating a functional near-infrared spectroscopy diagnostic paradigm for Major Depressive Disorder. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):9740. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-66784-2
- Ward LM, Morison G, Simpson WA, Simmers AJ, Shahani U. Using functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) to study dynamic stereoscopic depth perception. *Brain Topogr.* 2016;29(4):515–523. doi:10.1007/s10548-016-0476-4

- 46. Gruber T, Debracque C, Ceravolo L, et al. Human discrimination and categorization of emotions in voices: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) study. *Front Neurosci*. 2020;14:570. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2020.00570
- Schneider S, Christensen A, Häußinger FB, Fallgatter AJ, Giese MA, Ehlis AC. Show me how you walk and I tell you how you feel: Functional near-infrared spectroscopy study on emotion perception based on human gait. *Neuroimage*. 2014;85(Pt 1):380–390. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2013.07.078
- Bandara D, Velipasalar S, Bratt S, Hirshfield L. Building predictive models of emotion with functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Int J Hum Comput.* 2018;110:75–85. doi:10.1016/j.ijhcs.2017.10.001
- Yamanaka N, Kanazawa S, Yamaguchi MK. Infants' brain activity to cartoon face using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(2):e0262679. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0262679
- 50. Kaimal G, Ayaz H, Herres J, et al. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy assessment of reward perception based on visual self-expression: Coloring, doodling, and free drawing. *Arts Psychother*. 2017;55:85–92. doi:10.1016/j.aip.2017.05.004
- Liang Y, Fu G, Yu R, Bi Y, Ding XP. The role of reward system in dishonest behavior: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Brain Topogr.* 2021;34(1):64–77. doi:10.1007/s10548-020-00804-2
- Wakata S, Morioka S. Brain activity and the perception of self-agency while viewing a video of hand grasping: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Neuroreport*. 2015;26(7):394–398. doi:10.1097/ WNR.00000000000355
- Soshi T, Kuriyama K, Aritake S, et al. Sleep deprivation influences diurnal variation of human time perception with prefrontal activity change: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(1):e8395. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008395
- Sela I, Izzetoglu M, Izzetoglu K, Onaral B. A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study of lexical decision task supports the dual route model and the phonological deficit theory of dyslexia. *JLearn Disabil*. 2014;47(3):279–288. doi:10.1177/0022219412451998
- Safi D, Lassonde M, Nguyen DK, et al. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy for the assessment of overt reading. *Brain Behav*. 2012;2(6): 825–837. doi:10.1002/brb3.100
- Mu YM, Huang XD, Zhu S, et al. Alerting effects of light in healthy individuals: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neural Regen Res.* 2022;17(9):1929–1936. doi:10.4103/1673-5374.335141
- 57. Lin F, Su Y, Weng Y, et al. The effects of bright light therapy on depression and sleep disturbances in patients with Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Sleep Med*. 2021;83:280–289. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2021.03.035
- Krasnik C, Montori VM, Guyatt GH, Heels-Ansdell D, Busse JW. The effect of bright light therapy on depression associated with premenstrual dysphoric disorder. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2005;193(3 Pt 1): 658–661. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2005.01.055
- Lam C, Chung MH. Dose–response effects of light therapy on sleepiness and circadian phase shift in shift workers: A meta-analysis and moderator analysis. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):11976. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-89321-1
- van Maanen A, Meijer AM, van der Heijden KB, Oort FJ. The effects of light therapy on sleep problems: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2016;29:52–62. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2015.08.009
- Mitolo M, Tonon C, La Morgia C, Testa C, Carelli V, Lodi R. Effects of light treatment on sleep, cognition, mood, and behavior in Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2018; 46(5–6):371–384. doi:10.1159/000494921
- Orihuela-Espina F, Leff DR, James DRC, Darzi AW, Yang GZ. Quality control and assurance in functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) experimentation. *Phys Med Biol.* 2010;55(13):3701–3724. doi:10.1088/0031-9155/55/13/009
- 63. Honma M, Masaoka Y, Iizuka N, et al. Reading on a smartphone affects sigh generation, brain activity, and comprehension. *Sci Rep.* 2022;12(1):1589. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-05605-0
- Olszewska-Guizzo A, Fogel A, Escoffier N, et al. Therapeutic garden with contemplative features induces desirable changes in mood and brain activity in depressed adults. *Front Psychiatry*. 2022;13:757056. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2022.757056
- 65. Gottlieb M, Heinrich S, Gore K. Leveraging Google Scholar to facilitate resident research reporting. *Cureus*. 2021;13(10):e19022. doi:10.7759/ cureus.19022

- Boeker M, Vach W, Motschall E. Google Scholar as replacement for systematic literature searches: Good relative recall and precision are not enough. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2013;13(1):131. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-131
- Pozsgai G, Lövei GL, Vasseur L, et al. Irreproducibility in searches of scientific literature: A comparative analysis. *Ecol Evol.* 2021;11(21): 14658–14668. doi:10.1002/ece3.8154
- Martín-Martín A, Thelwall M, Orduna-Malea E, Delgado López-Cózar E. Google Scholar, Microsoft Academic, Scopus, Dimensions, Web of Science, and OpenCitations' COCI: A multidisciplinary comparison of coverage via citations. *Scientometrics*. 2021;126(1):871–906. doi:10.1007/s11192-020-03690-4
- McGuinness LA, Higgins JPT. Risk-of-bias VISualization (robvis): An R package and Shiny web app for visualizing risk-of-bias assessments. *Res Synth Methods*. 2021;12(1):55–61. doi:10.1002/jrsm.1411
- Scholkmann F, Zohdi H, Wolf U. The role of systemic physiology in individual hemodynamic responses measured on the head due to long-term stimulation involving colored light exposure and a cognitive task: An SPA-fNIRS study. *Brain Sci.* 2022;12(5):597. doi:10.3390/ brainsci12050597
- Zohdi H, Natale L, Scholkmann F, Wolf U. Intersubject variability in cerebrovascular hemodynamics and systemic physiology during a verbal fluency task under colored light exposure: Clustering of subjects by unsupervised machine learning. *Brain Sci.* 2022;12(11):1449. doi:10.3390/brainsci12111449
- Zohdi H, Scholkmann F, Wolf U. Individual differences in hemodynamic responses measured on the head due to a long-term stimulation involving colored light exposure and a cognitive task: A SPAfNIRS study. *Brain Sci.* 2021;11(1):54. doi:10.3390/brainsci11010054
- Zohdi H, Egli R, Guthruf D, Scholkmann F, Wolf U. Color-dependent changes in humans during a verbal fluency task under colored light exposure assessed by SPA-fNIRS. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):9654. doi:10.1038/ s41598-021-88059-0
- Volovici V, Syn NL, Ercole A, Zhao JJ, Liu N. Steps to avoid overuse and misuse of machine learning in clinical research. *Nat Med.* 2022; 28(10):1996–1999. doi:10.1038/s41591-022-01961-6
- Hori S, Mori K, Mashimo T, Seiyama A. Effects of light and sound on the prefrontal cortex activation and emotional function: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Front Neurosci.* 2017;11:321. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00321
- Yoshiike T, Honma M, Yamada N, Kim Y, Kuriyama K. Effects of bright light exposure on human fear conditioning, extinction, and associated prefrontal activation. *Physiol Behav*. 2018;194:268–276. doi:10.1016 /j.physbeh.2018.06.015
- Weinzirl J, Wolf M, Nelle M, Heusser P, Wolf U. Colored light and brain and muscle oxygenation. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2012;737:33–36. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-1566-4_5
- Weinzirl J, Wolf M, Heusser P, Nelle M, Wolf U. Effects of changes in colored light on brain and calf muscle blood concentration and oxygenation. *ScientificWorldJournal*. 2011;11:1216–1225. doi:10.1100/ tsw.2011.118
- 79. Alkozei A, Smith R, Pisner DA, et al. Exposure to blue light increases subsequent functional activation of the prefrontal cortex during performance of a working memory task. *Sleep.* 2016;39(9):1671–1680. doi:10.5665/sleep.6090
- Vandewalle G, Collignon O, Hull JT, et al. Blue light stimulates cognitive brain activity in visually blind individuals. J Cogn Neurosci. 2013;25(12):2072–2085. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00450
- Vandewalle G, Archer SN, Wuillaume C, et al. Effects of light on cognitive brain responses depend on circadian phase and sleep homeostasis. *J Biol Rhythms*. 2011;26(3):249–259. doi:10.1177/0748730411401736
- Metz AJ, Klein SD, Scholkmann F, Wolf U. Continuous coloured light altered human brain haemodynamics and oxygenation assessed by systemic physiology augmented functional near-infrared spectroscopy. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):10027. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-09970-z
- Scholkmann F, Hafner T, Metz AJ, Wolf M, Wolf U. Effect of shortterm colored-light exposure on cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation, and systemic physiological activity. *Neurophotonics*. 2017; 4(4):045005. doi:10.1117/1.NPh.4.4.045005
- Nunn JF, Hill DW. Respiratory dead space and arterial to end-tidal CO₂ tension difference in anesthetized man. J Appl Physiol. 1960; 15(3):383–389. doi:10.1152/jappl.1960.15.3.383

- 86. Carruthers HR, Morris J, Tarrier N, Whorwell PJ. The Manchester Color Wheel: Development of a novel way of identifying color choice and its validation in healthy, anxious and depressed individuals. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10(1):12. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-10-12
- Kim MK, Kang SD. Effects of art therapy using color on purpose in life in patients with stroke and their caregivers. *Yonsei Med J.* 2013; 54(1):15–20. doi:10.3349/ymj.2013.54.1.15
- Berndt E, Dudschig C, Kaup B. Green as a cbemcuru: Modal as well as amodal color cues can help to solve anagrams. *Psychol Res.* 2020; 84(2):491–501. doi:10.1007/s00426-018-1055-y
- LeGates TA, Fernandez DC, Hattar S. Light as a central modulator of circadian rhythms, sleep and affect. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2014;15(7): 443–454. doi:10.1038/nrn3743
- Hull JT, Czeisler CA, Lockley SW. Suppression of melatonin secretion in totally visually blind people by ocular exposure to white light: Clinical characteristics. *Ophthalmology*. 2018;125(8):1160–1171. doi:10.1016 /j.ophtha.2018.01.036
- 91. Vandewalle G, van Ackeren MJ, Daneault V, et al. Light modulates oscillatory alpha activity in the occipital cortex of totally visually blind individuals with intact non-image-forming photoreception. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):16968. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-35400-9
- 92. Algvere PV, Marshall J, Seregard S. Age-related maculopathy and the impact of blue light hazard. *Acta Ophthalmol Scand*. 2006;84(1): 4–15. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0420.2005.00627.x
- Farghly MFA, Mahrose KM, Peris SI, et al. Effects of lighting source as an environmental strategy for heat stress amelioration in growing Californian rabbits during summer season. *Anim Biotechnol*. 2022; 33(1):159–166. doi:10.1080/10495398.2021.1895186
- Niemierzycka A, Tomczuk K, Mikicin M, Zdrodowska A, Orzechowski G, Kowalczyk M. Examinations of the methods used to power supply of different light sources and their effect on bioelectrical brain activity. *Neurol Neurochir Pol*. 2018;52(4):505–513. doi:10.1016/j.pjnns. 2018.02.007
- Hamazaki-Fujita N, Hamazaki K, Tohno H, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and blood circulation in the forebrain during a mental arithmetic task. *Brain Res.* 2011;1397:38–45. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2011.04.044
- Tanaka M, Szabó Á, Spekker E, Polyák H, Tóth F, Vécsei L. Mitochondrial impairment: A common motif in neuropsychiatric presentation? The link to the tryptophan–kynurenine metabolic system. *Cells*. 2022; 11(16):2607. doi:10.3390/cells11162607
- Tanaka M, Toldi J, Vécsei L. Exploring the etiological links behind neurodegenerative diseases: Inflammatory cytokines and bioactive kynurenines. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(7):2431. doi:10.3390/ijms21072431
- Tanaka M, Tóth F, Polyák H, Szabó Á, Mándi Y, Vécsei L. Immune influencers in action: Metabolites and enzymes of the tryptophan-kynurenine metabolic pathway. *Biomedicines*. 2021;9(7):734. doi:10.3390/ biomedicines9070734
- 99. Tanaka M, Bohár Z, Vécsei L. Are kynurenines accomplices or principal villains in dementia? Maintenance of kynurenine metabolism. *Molecules*. 2020;25(3):564. doi:10.3390/molecules25030564
- 100. Török N, Maszlag-Török R, Molnár K, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 influenced the age onset of Parkinson's disease. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*. 2022;27(9):265. doi:10.31083/j.fbl2709265

- Martos D, Tuka B, Tanaka M, Vécsei L, Telegdy G. Memory enhancement with kynurenic acid and its mechanisms in neurotransmission. *Biomedicines*. 2022;10(4):849. doi:10.3390/biomedicines10040849
- 102. Battaglia S, Orsolini S, Borgomaneri S, Barbieri R, Diciotti S, di Pellegrino G. Characterizing cardiac autonomic dynamics of fear learning in humans. *Psychophysiology*. 2022;59(12):e14122. doi:10.1111/ psyp.14122
- 103. Rosenthal NE, Sack D, Gillin J, et al. Seasonal affective disorder: A description of the syndrome and preliminary findings with light therapy. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 1984;41(1):72–80. doi:10.1001/archpsyc. 1984.01790120076010
- 104. Gagné AM, Hébert M. Atypical pattern of rod electroretinogram modulation by recent light history: A possible biomarker of seasonal affective disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 2011;187(3):370–374. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2010.08.010
- Carrera-González M del P, Cantón-Habas V, Rich-Ruiz M. Aging, depression and dementia: The inflammatory process. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2022;31(5):469–473. doi:10.17219/acem/149897
- 106. Lee EC, Hong DY, Lee DH, et al. Inflammation and rho-associated protein kinase-induced brain changes in vascular dementia. *Biomedicines*. 2022;10(2):446. doi:10.3390/biomedicines10020446
- Sfera A, Hazan S, Kozlakidis Z, Klein C. Microbiota-derived psychedelics: Lessons from COVID-19 [published as ahead of print on February 8, 2023]. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023. doi:10.17219/acem/159477
- Chojdak-Łukasiewicz J, Dziadkowiak E, Zimny A, Paradowski B. Cerebral small vessel disease: A review. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2021;30(3): 349–356. doi:10.17219/acem/131216
- 109. Deepeshwar S, Vinchurkar SA, Visweswaraiah NK, Nagendra HR. Hemodynamic responses on prefrontal cortex related to meditation and attentional task. *Front Syst Neurosci.* 2015;8:252. doi:10.3389/ fnsys.2014.00252
- 110. Hoshi Y, Tsou BH, Billock VA, et al. Spatiotemporal characteristics of hemodynamic changes in the human lateral prefrontal cortex during working memory tasks. *Neuroimage*. 2003;20(3):1493–1504. doi:10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00412-9
- Leon-Carrion J, Martín-Rodríguez JF, Damas-López J, et al. Does dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) activation return to baseline when sexual stimuli cease? *Neurosci Lett.* 2007;416(1):55–60. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2007.01.058
- 112. Numata N, Hirano Y, Sutoh C, et al. Hemodynamic responses in prefrontal cortex and personality characteristics in patients with bulimic disorders: A near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Eat Weight Disord*. 2020;25(1):59–67. doi:10.1007/s40519-018-0500-7
- Sakatani K, Lichty W, Xie Y, Li S, Zuo H. Effects of aging on languageactivated cerebral blood oxygenation changes of the left prefrontal cortex: Near infrared spectroscopy study. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 1999;8(6):398–403. doi:10.1016/S1052-3057(99)80047-0
- Hillman EMC. Coupling mechanism and significance of the BOLD signal: A status report. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 2014;37(1):161–181. doi:10. 1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014111
- 115. Nair DG. About being BOLD. *Brain Res Rev.* 2005;50(2):229–243. doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2005.07.001
- 116. Steinbrink J, Villringer A, Kempf F, Haux D, Boden S, Obrig H. Illuminating the BOLD signal: Combined fMRI–fNIRS studies. *Magn Reson Imaging*. 2006;24(4):495–505. doi:10.1016/j.mri.2005.12.034

Central nervous system nocardiosis diagnosed by metagenomic next-generation sequencing: A case series and literature review

Dasen Yuan^{1,B–F}, Liping Shen^{1,B–D}, Bang-e Qin^{1,B–D}, Xiaofeng Xu^{1,B,C}, Zhihui Su^{1,B,C}, Jia Liu^{1,B}, Han Xia^{2,B}, *Fuhua Peng^{1,A,C,D}, *Ying Jiang^{1,A,D–F}

¹ Department of Neurology, The Third Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China ² Department of Scientific Affairs, Hugo Biotech Co., Ltd., Beijing, China

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1453-1463

Address for correspondence Ying Jiang E-mail: jiangy9@mail.sysu.edu.cn

Funding sources

This work was supported by grants to Ying Jiang from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81671182) and the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province (No. 2016A030313228). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

None declared

* Ying Jiang and Fuhua Peng contributed equally to this paper.

Received on February 4, 2023 Reviewed on November 2, 2023 Accepted on November 24, 2023

Published online on December 19, 2023

Cite as

Yuan D, Shen L, Qin B, et al. Central nervous system nocardiosis diagnosed by metagenomic next-generation sequencing: A case series and literature review. *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1453–1463. doi:10.17219/acem/175818

DOI 10.17219/acem/175818

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Central nervous system (CNS) nocardiosis is a rare suppurative disease caused by the genus *Nocardia*. It is found most frequently in immunocompromised individuals.

Objectives. In this study, we retrospectively reviewed the clinical presentations, laboratory examination, therapy and outcomes of 9 patients with CNS nocardiosis diagnosed using metagenomic next-generation sequencing (mNGS) in our hospital.

Materials and methods. We reviewed 9 patients with confirmed diagnosis of CNS *Nocardia* infection from January 2017 to December 2021 in the Department of Neurology at The Third Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University (Guangzhou, China). In addition, we searched literature related to CNS *Nocardia* infection on PubMed and included all case reports with proven CNS nocardiosis since 2016.

Results. The metagenomic next-generation sequencing (mNGS) of CSF can be used for the rapid diagnosis of nocardiosis in CNS and *N. farcinica* are the most commonly isolated species. Underlying autoimmune diseases, immunosuppressive agents including corticosteroids and organ transplantation are predisposing factors of developing CNS nocardiosis. Single or multiple hyper-enhanced ring lesions indicative of cerebral abscesses are commonly presented in brain imaging. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) is used as the primary agent for the antibacterial therapy and in combination with other antibacterial agents.

Conclusions. Our study demonstrated that mNGS of CSF can be conducted for definitive and rapid diagnosis for CNS nocardiosis.

Key words: infection, central nervous system, brain abscess, metagenomic next-generation sequencing, nocardia

Background

Nocardiosis is a rare suppurative disease caused by gram-positive aerobic bacteria in the genus Nocardia. As an opportunistic infection, it is found most frequently in immunocompromised individuals, such as organ transplant recipients, patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, and those with hematologic malignancies.^{1,2} Nocardia infection causes at least 6 forms of disease in humans including pulmonary, systemic, central nervous system (CNS), extra-pulmonary, cutaneous nocardiosis, and actinomycetoma.³ The incidence of CNS nocardiosis is often secondary to lung or systemic nocardiosis,³ and its clinical symptoms are variable, even without any external neurologic signs.^{4–6} A multicentric cohort study in Japan reported 57 patients (56/317, 17.7%) had CNS nocardiosis, secondary to pulmonary nocardiosis (207/317, 65.3%).7 Nocardia farcinica was found to be the most prevalent species in solid organ transplant recipients.⁸ Nocardia asteroides, N. nova and N. abscessus also were the majority of invasive infection reported in the literature to date.^{9,10}

Objectives

In this study, we retrospectively reviewed the clinical presentations, laboratory examination, implemented therapy, and outcomes of 9 patients with CNS nocardiosis diagnosed using metagenomic next-generation sequencing (mNGS) in our hospital.

Materials and methods

Study design

We reviewed 9 patients with confirmed diagnosis of CNS *Nocardia* infection from January 2017 to December 2021 in the Department of Neurology at The Third Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University (Guangzhou, China). Demographic information, underlying comorbidities, clinical features, and radiological examinations were recorded. In addition, the presence of underlying disease conditions and the use of immunosuppressants comprising corticosteroids were identified. Diagnosis was made based on clinical characteristics, computer tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), as well as mNGS of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). Furthermore, we analyzed treatment approaches including medication and surgery.

mNGS

The general workflow of mNGS includes cerebrospinal fluid specimen collection, nucleic acid extraction, library generation, and sequencing, and aligning against published microbial genome databases. Cerebrospinal fluid DNA was extracted and purified following the standard procedures of QIAamp DNA Micro Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Qubit 4.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) was used for DNA concentration and quality control. Libraries were constructed using QIAseq Ultralow Input Library Kit (Qiagen). Once qualified, the libraries were sequenced on the Nextseq 550 platform (Illumina, San Diego, USA). The raw reads generated after mNGS sequencing were filtered by removing adapters, low quality and short reads (<35 bp) to obtain clean data. Bowtie2 was used for excluding human sequences by mapping the clean data to the human reference genome (hg38). For microorganism identification, the remaining reads were then aligned against published microbial genome databases downloaded from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (fttp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/genomes/).

The study was conducted according to the principles expressed in the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University (approval No. [2021]02-121-01). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Literature review

We searched the existing English-language literature related to CNS *Nocardia* infection on PubMed. Key words included "nocardia", "nocardiosis", "central nervous system", "meningitis", "encephalitis", and "brain abscess". We included all case reports with proven CNS nocardiosis between 2016 and 2021.

Results

Underlying conditions

The clinical and microbiological features of patients were summarized in Table 1. The mean age of these CNS nocardiosis cases was 45 years, ranging from 26 to 67 years. Female patients accounted for 44% (4 of 9). Most cases (7 of 9, 77.8%) presented autoimmune diseases, including SLE (n = 4), pemphigus (n = 1), nephrotic syndrome (membranous nephropathy, n = 1), and myasthenia gravis (n = 1). Other underlying conditions consisted of renal transplantation (n = 1) and malignancy (nasopharyngeal carcinoma treated with radiotherapy; n = 1). Of these, 8 individuals were receiving immunosuppressants such as corticosteroids (1 with prednisone and 6 with methylprednisolone), mycophenolate mofetil (n = 2), cyclophosphamide (n = 1), methotrexate (n = 1), azathioprine (n = 1), and tacrolimus (n = 1). None of the patients had HIV infection, tuberculosis, cerebral vascular diseases, chronic lung disease, or hematologic malignancies.

Clinical characteristics at admission

The clinical manifestations varied in this cohort of patients. Headache was the most common symptom present in all cases. Other symptoms included fever in 7 cases and weakness in 4 cases. Two patients manifested abnormal vision: 1 with blurred vision and the other with metamorphopsia. There were 2 cases of pulmonary symptoms, of which 2 cases had cough and 1 case had expectoration. Seizure, dizziness, muscle soreness, disorientation, confusion, and diplopia were also recorded (Table 1). Patients with brain abscess (case 5, 6 and 8) presented signs of neurological deficits. Case 5 developed hemiplegia on the left side of the body, while case 6 developed abduction dysfunction of the right eye movement. Cases 5, 6 and 8 showed decreased muscle strength and abnormal muscle tone. Case 7 with meningitis showed neck rigidity and positive meningeal signs including Kernig's sign and Brudzinski's sign, but no neurological deficits were detected. For the remaining patients, no positive or specific signs were found in the neurological examination.

Laboratory test and brain imaging

On the day following admission to our hospital, all patients underwent CSF examinations. Only 3 of these patients manifested an increased intracerebral pressure (ICP). White blood cell (WBC) count and total protein were elevated in 8 and 9 patients, respectively. The levels of chloride and glucose decreased in 6 patients. The mNGS of CSF was conducted in all cases. The confidence level and specific reads were recorded in Table 1. Figure 1 shows



Fig. 1. Metagenomic next-generation sequencing (mNGS) results of case 6

						Patient				
Chare	acteristic	-	2	e	4	5	9	7	8	6
Age/sex		26/M	47/F	44/F	28/M	56/M	26/F	67/M	55/F	53/M
Comorbiditi	SS	SLE	nasopharyngeal carcinoma	SLE	renal transplan- tation	pemphigus	SLE	myasthenia gravis	SLE	nephrotic syn- drome (membra- nous nephropa- thy)
dnsounmml	pressants	prednisone, cyclophosphamide, methotrexate	none	methylpred- nisolone, my- cophenolate mofetil	methylpredniso- Ione, mycophe- nolate mofetil	methylpredniso- Ione	methylprednisolone	azathioprine	methylprednisolone	methylpredniso- Ione, tacrolimus
Species		N. abscessus	N. farcinica	N. terpenica	N. farcinica	N. farcinica	N. farcinica	N. farcinica	N. farcinica	N. farcinica
	yes/no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
mNGS	confidence degree	medium	none	high	high	high	high	high	high	high
	specific reads	12	none	34	29559	35	838	110	1043	71
Type of infec	tion	meningoencephali- tis, brain abscess	meningoen- cephalitis	meningitis	brain abscess	brain abscess	brain abscess, me- ningoencephalitis	meningitis	brain abscess	brain abscess
Clinical man	ifestations	headache, fever, blurred vision	headache, fever, weakness	fever, dizziness, headache, muscle sore- ness	headache, fever, seizure, meta- morphopsia	fever, headache, weakness, disori- entation, hemiple- gia on the left side of the body, decreased muscle strength and abnormal muscle tone	cough, fever, head- ache, weakness, confusion, abduc- tion dysfunction on right eye move- ment, decreased muscle strength and abnormal muscle tone	fever, head- ache, cough, expectoration, neck rigidity, Kernig's sign and Brudzinski's sign	headache, weak- ness, diplopia, seizure, decreased muscle strength and abnormal muscle tone	lumbosacral pain, fever, dizziness, slow response
	ICP [mm H ₂ O]	240	150	315	170	150	160	none	200	330
	WBC counts [*10 ⁶ /L]	146	160	420	42	178	510	3680	2	2600
First in- hospital CSF exami-	chloride [mmol/L]	94.2	117.9	113.8	125.9	125	112	110.2	123.8	99.4
nation	glucose [mmol/L]	0.91	2.89	2.28	2.63	2.08	1.21	1.53	3.35	0.04
	total protein [mmol/L]	6.13	0.81	1.34	0.85	1.26	1.13	1.88	0.93	2.14

9 (-+c> Ŭ A Affiliato Ĭ Ę σ Ć Table 1 Nin

	6	left basal ganglia lesion	multiple lesions in left radial crown-basal gan- glia and posterior horn of lateral ventricle	TMP-SMX, linezolid, meropenem, moxifloxacin	none	recovery	nial nressure. WBC
	8	multiple ring- enhancing lesions in left cerebral peduncle, pons, right cerebellar hemisphere, right frontal, parietal, and occipital lobes	multiple lesions with surrounding edema in right frontal lobe, parietal lobe, left cerebral peduncle, pons, and right cerebellar hemisphere	TMP-SMX, linezolid, merope- nem, moxifloxacin, amikacin, teico- planin	EVD	recovery	imadind: ICP – intracra
	7	none	meningitis, supratento- rial ventricular system moder- ately dilated with paraven- tricular white matter edema (hydrocepha- lus)	TMP-SMX, linezolid, amoxicillin clavulanate, doxycycline	none	recovery	unetic resonance
	9	right basal ganglia lesion	meningoencephali- tis, multiple lesions in bilateral frontal, parietal lobes, corona radiata, right lateral ventricle, right basal ganglia and right para-hip- pocampal gyrus	TMP-SMX, linezolid, meropenem, minocycline, amoxi- cillin clavulanate	none	recovery	omodranhv: MBI – mag
Patient	5	multiple ring- enhancing lesions in the right cere- bral hemisphere, left frontal lobe, corona radiata, basal ganglia, and insula	multiple lesions with surrounding edema in the right cerebral hemi- sphere, left basal ganglia, insular lobe and paraven- tricular posterior horn	TMP-SMX, linezolid, meropenem, moxifloxacin	EVD, decompres- sive craniectomy	recovery	fluid: CT – computed t
	4	multiple ring- enhancing lesions in left frontal and bi- lateral temporal occipital lobes	multiple lesions in bilateral cere- bral hemisphere and cerebellum	TMP-SMX, llinezolid, me- ropenem, moxifloxacin, minocycline	none	recovery	SF – cerebrosninal
	ω	white matter lesion not excluded	anon	TMP-SMX, linezolid, meropenem	none	recovery	on sequencing: C
	2	multiple ring- enhancing le- sions in bilateral frontal and left temporal lobes	meningo- encephalitis in the left temporal lobe, right part of pons, anterior pontine cistern, cerebellopontine angle cistern and internal auditory canal	TMP-SMX, line- zolid, moxifloxa- cin, ceftriaxone, vancomycin	none	recovery	nomic next-denerati
	-	multiple ring-en- hancing lesions in bi- lateral frontal and left parietal lobes	meningoen- cephalitis, multiple abscesses in bilat- eral frontal lobe and left posterior horn of lateral ventricle, surrounding brain edema, ventriculitis and left choroid plexus inflammation	TMP-SMX, linezolid, meropenem	EVD	death	atosus: mNGS – metader
actorictic	מרובעוצוור	b	N N N				ic lunus ervthems
			CNS imag- ing	Antibiotics	Surgery	Outcomes	SI F – svstemi

Table 1. Nine cases of central nervous system (CNS) nocardiosis in The Third Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University – cont.

- white blood cells; TMP-SMX – trimethoprim-suffamethoxazole; EVD – external ventricular drainage. In case #2, the confidence dgree and specific reads of mNGS was lost, while *N. farcinica* was detected in mNGS of CSF indeed and this patient was confirmed as CNS no cardia infection. SLE -



Fig. 2. Representative magnetic resonance images (MRI) images of the patients. A. The axial gadolinium-enhanced MRI image of case 8 shows multiple ring-enhancing lesions of varying sizes in the right frontal and parietal lobes; B. Sagittal T1 gadolinium-enhanced MRI image of case 6 shows ring-enhancing lesions in the right basal ganglia, with meningeal enhancement

representative mNGS results of case 6. The coverage and specific reads of *N. farcinica* detected with mNGS were 0.92% and 838, respectively. Most patients (7 of 9) were identified as *N. farcinica*-infected, and the other 2 patients had *N. abscessus* and *N. terpenica*, respectively.

The most common type of *Nocardia* infection of the CNS was brain abscess, which occurred in 6 cases according to the brain CT or MRI scan. Other types were meningoencephalitis (n = 3) and meningitis (n = 2). Brain CT scans were performed in 8 patients. Multiple ring-enhancing lesions occurred in 6 patients and single lesions in 3 patients. The frontal lobe was the most common brain region involved, occurring in 5 cases. Brain MRI was performed in 8 patients. One patient showed moderate expansion of supratentorial ventricular system with paraventricular white matter edema, suggesting hydrocephalus. Peripheral edema surrounding the lesion was seen on CT and MRI in 3 patients. Figure 2 showed representative MRI images of the patients presented.

Treatment and outcome

Both medical and surgical interventions were included in the treatment strategy. Three patients received a combination of medical and surgical treatment (patients 1, 5 and 8; Table 1) and underwent external ventricular drainage (EVD). One patient had a combined surgical procedure of EVD and decompressive craniectomy due to high ICP (patient 5). The remaining patients received antimicrobial therapy only. Both trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) and linezolid were prescribed in the antimicrobial therapy of all patients. In addition, 7 patients received combined therapy with meropenem, and 5 patients received moxifloxacin as part of the combined regimen. Two patients were treated with amoxicillin-clavulanate or minocycline, and 1 each with vancomycin, doxycycline, amikacin, and teicoplanin, respectively. Most patients (8/9) recovered after antimicrobial therapy with or without surgery. Only 1 patient died from a *Nocardia* complication.

Literature review

We included 57 reported cases of CNS nocardiosis published on PubMed from 2016 to 2021.¹¹⁻⁶⁵ The clinical and microbiological characteristics of patients in literature review are summarized in Table 2 and the Supplementary data (https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.10153255). The mean age of patients was 60 years. Overall, 79.6% (43/54) of the patients were male and 20.3% (11/54) were female. A significant number of cases (14/57, 24.6%) had no comorbidities. The most common comorbid condition was diabetic mellitus, which was reported in 22.8% of the patients. Malignancy and autoimmune disease were the 2nd and 3rd most common comorbidities, reported in 21.1% and 19.3% of patients, respectively. Five patients (8.7%) received bone marrow or solid organ transplant. The most common organ transplanted was kidney (n = 3), followed by bone marrow (n = 1) and heart (n = 1). Five patients (8.7%) had a history of alcoholism. Other comorbidities included chronic lung disease (4/57, 7.0%), chronic kidney disease (3/57, 5.3%) and HIV infection (2/57, 3.5%).

Mean age	Gender	Comorbidities	Species	Sequencing	Type of infection	Medication	Surgery	Outcome
		diabetes mellitus (13/57, 22.8%) malignancy (12/57, 21.1%) autoimmune disease (11/57, 19.3%) transplant (5/57, 8.7%) alcohol abuse (5/57, 8.7%) chronic lung disease (4/57, 7.0%) chronic kidney disease (3/57, 5.3%) HIV infection (2/57, 3.5%) none (14/57, 24.6%) a	Nocardia farcinica (20/52, 38.5%) Nocardia cyriacigeorgica (5/52, 9.6%) Nocardia asiatica (4/52, 7.7%) Nocardia beijingensis (4/52, 7.7%) Nocardia paucivorans (3/52, 5.8%) Nocardia paucivorans (3/52, 5.8%) Nocardia otitidiscaviarum (3/52, 5.8%) Nocardia nova (2/52, 3.9%) Nocardia trasiliensis (2/52, 3.9%) Nocardia atseroids (2/52, 3.9%) Nocardia atseroids (1/52, 1.9%) Nocardia kroppenstedtii sp. nov (1/52, 1.9%) Nocardia elegans/ aobensis/africana complex (1/52, 1.9%) Nocardia thailandica (1/52, 1.9%)	16S rRNA (27/57, 47.4%)	brain abscesses (46/57, 80.7%)	empiric treatment (33/56, 58.9%)	34/57, 59.6%	recovery (45/55, 81.8%)
				mNGS (3/57, 5.3%)	meningitis (5/57, 8.8%)	targeted treatment (23/56, 41.1%)	_	death (10/55, 18.2%)
				DNA sequencing (2/57, 3.5%)	disseminated infection (5/57, 8.8%)	_	_	-
				no (25/57, 43.8%)	spinal abscesses (3/57, 5.3%)	_	_	_
60	male (43/54, 79.6%)			_	endogenous endophthalmitis (2/57, 3.5%)	_	_	-
00	female (11/54, 20.3%)			_	endocarditis (1/57, 1.7%)	_	_	_
				-	ventriculitis (1/57, 1.7%)	_	_	-
				_	infectious intracranial aneurysm (1/57, 1.7%)	_	_	_
				_	_	_	-	_

Table 2. Clinical and microbiological characteristics of literature patients (n = 57)

HIV - human immunodeficiency virus; mNGS - metagenomic next-generation sequencing.

Of these 57 patients, 46 (80.7%) had brain abscesses on brain imaging, 5 had meningitis and 3 had spinal abscesses. Two patients with brain abscesses also had endogenous endophthalmitis. Patients with brain abscesses had endocarditis (n = 1), ventriculitis (n = 1) and infectious intracranial aneurysm (n = 1). Five patients had disseminated Nocardia infection in addition to CNS involvement. Other sites of infection included the lungs, skin and back. The most frequently reported species was N. farcinica (20/52, 38.5%), followed by N. cyriacigeorgica (5/52, 9.6%), N. asiatica (4/52, 7.7%), N. beijingensis (4/52, 7.7%), N. otitidiscaviarum (3/52, 5.8%), and N. paucivorans (3/52, 5.8%). Other less common species included N. brasiliensis (n = 2), N. nova (n = 2), N. araoensis (n = 2), N. asteroids (n = 1), N. kroppenstedtii sp. nov. (n = 1), N. elegans/ao*bensis/africana complex* (n = 1), *N. Mexicana* (n = 1), and *N. thailandica* (n = 1). A large proportion of the patients were diagnosed using 16S rRNA sequencing (27/57, 47.4%) or mNGS (3/57, 5.3%). However, other patients were confirmed to have Nocardia infection using DNA sequencing, acid-fast staining and culture, etc.

In this group of patients, 41.1% (23/56) were reported to have received targeted treatment according to antimicrobial susceptibility testing and 58.9% (33/56) received antibiotics empirically. Most patients (48/56, 85.7%) underwent combined anti-microbial therapy consisting of at least 2 antibiotics. Overall, 41.1% (23/56) of the patients were administered TMP-SMX alone or with other antibiotics. A variety of other antimicrobials were used in the treatment, including ceftriaxone (17/56, 30.4%), imipenem (13/56, 23.2%), meropenem (13/56, 23.2%), linezolid (11/56, 19.6%), or amikacin (9/56, 16.1%). A large proportion of patients (34/57, 59.6%) underwent surgical intervention with combination antimicrobial therapy.

Results were reported for 55 patients. Overall, 45 patients (81.8%) recovered completely or with complications, and 10 patients (18.2%) died.

Discussion

To date, only limited case reports described using mNGS to diagnose CNS nocardiosis. In this study, we retrospectively reported 9 cases of CNS *Nocardia* infection confirmed with mNGS, and analyzed the clinical and microbiological features, treatment strategies, and outcomes. To the best of our knowledge, this is the largest case series of CNS nocardiosis diagnosed using mNGS. It is of great importance to isolate and culture *Nocardia* spp. for microbiological diagnosis and use of sensitive antimicrobial agents. Nevertheless, *Nocardia* spp. grow relatively slowly, which makes them difficult to culture in the laboratory. In recent years, sequencing technologies including 16S rRNA sequencing and mNGS were developed for definitive and rapid diagnosis of clinical infectious diseases.²⁸ The mNGS allows direct detection of the microbial community in the natural state, without isolation and culture, and therefore could be applied to diagnosing bacterial infection caused by those more difficult to culture, such as *Nocardia* spp.^{45,66} In the literature review, nearly half of patients underwent 16S rRNA sequencing, but only 3 patients used mNGS for diagnosis.

Predisposing factors for the development of CNS nocardiosis include age, gender and immunosuppressive status.^{67,68} The mean age of CNS nocardiosis patients in our hospital and in the literature was 45 and 60 years, respectively. The higher incidence of CNS nocardiosis in the elderly may be result of immunosenescence, which refers to the decline of the immune system associated with aging and may lead to excessive accumulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines and inflammaging.^{69,70} However, the mean age of our case series was much younger than the literature review and previous studies, which may be due to the presence of comorbidities and immunosuppressive conditions in our cohort.

It is well known that systemic *Nocardia* infection occurs mainly in immunocompromised patients. Accordingly, most of the patients (8/9, 88.9%) in our study had received immunosuppressive agents, with 7 patients receiving corticosteroid treatment (prednisone and methylprednisolone). In a previous study, high-dose and long-term corticosteroid treatment was considered a risk factor for the development of nocardiosis.^{71,72}

It is noteworthy that 7 patients in our group had autoimmune diseases, with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) being the most common (n = 4). Cell-mediated immunodeficiency was implied as one of the major risk factors for the development of *Nocardia* infection.⁷³ In our case series, patients with autoimmune diseases were using steroids and other immunosuppressive agents such as mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine and methotrexate, which inhibit cellmediated immunity.

The incidence of *Nocardia* infection in organ transplant patients has been reported to range from <1% to 3.5%.^{74–76} In our case series and literature review, we found that kidney transplant recipients ranked the 1st place, accounting for 66.6% (4/6) of the transplant patients. However, in a matched case-control study comprising of 5,126 organ transplant recipients, the highest rate (3.5%) of *Nocardia* infection was found in lung transplant recipients, followed heart (2.5%), intestine (1.3%), kidney (0.2%), and liver (0.1%) transplants.⁷⁴ Risk factors for post-transplant patients developing this disease include the use of high-dose corticosteroids, anti-lymphocyte globulin, higher levels of calcineurin inhibitors, and previous cytomegalovirus disease.^{8,77}

As seen in our case series, most patients presented with fever and headache, typical of those with CNS infection. Neurological complaints including weakness, seizures, dizziness, disorientation, and confusion were also present in this case series. However, in a Queensland (Australia) case series of 20 cases, few patients presented with classic infectious symptoms.⁷⁸ Clinical presentation varies from patient to patient and there are no specific symptoms to guide clinicians in making the diagnosis. Patients with CNS nocardiosis may have single or multiple hyperenhancing ring lesions suggestive of cerebral abscesses on CT or MRI. The frontal lobe was the most common site of infection according to our study and a recent report,⁶⁸ due to inhalation or direct spread from paranasal sinuses.⁷⁹

Brain abscess and/or meningitis caused by other opportunistic infectious pathogens such as Klebsiella pneumoniae⁸⁰ and Escherichia coli⁸¹ should be considered in differential diagnosis of CNS nocardiosis. Central nervous system nocardiosis masquerading brain metastasis is not uncommon and has been reported.^{47,82} For example, in a case report by Voide et al.,⁸³ a patient initially diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer presented delirium during chemotherapy treatment, and subsequently underwent CT and MRI. The brain lesions were initially interpreted as CNS metastasis, but later stereotactic biopsy and Ziehl-Neelsen staining of lesion showed N. farcinica infection. In addition, CNS nocardiosis should be differentiated from ischemic stroke. Lavalard et al.⁸⁴ reported an immunocompromised female initially treated as cerebral stroke but later confirmed to have CNS Nocardia infection. Despite treatment with cotrimoxazole and rifampicin, she did not improve and died 3 months after treatment concluded.

Nocardia farcinica was the most common species found in both our patients and patients in the literature. This is consistent with previous reports that *N. farcinica* was the most commonly isolated species in patients.^{68,85} Compared with other species, *N. farcinica* is more virulent and more likely to cause CNS nocardiosis or disseminated disease.^{78,86} However, *N. abscessus* and *N. asteroids* are quite rare in both our case series and literature patients, whereas these 2 species were common in previously published studies.^{78,85} To date, the current study reports the 2nd case of CNS nocardiosis infected with *N. terpenica*. The first reported patient with CNS *N. terpenica* infection was from Nanchang, China.⁸⁷

Due to its low rate of resistance and good penetration into the CNS,⁸⁸ TMP-SMX is considered as the fundamental treatment in CNS *Nocardia* infection. All patients in our cohort and the majority of patients in the literature were taking TMP-SMX. In the literature, patients receiving antibiotic regimens that included eTMP-SMX had higher survival rates and lower relapse rates.^{78,89} Although there are no definitive clinical guidelines, it is recommended that patients with CNS nocardia infection should receive TMP-SMX at a dose of 25–50 mg/kg per day for at least 12 months to prevent relapse.⁷¹

In addition to TMP-SMX, other effective antimicrobials against *Nocardia* spp. include linezolid, meropenem, moxifloxacin, imipenem, and ceftriaxone in our series or in patients from the literature. Although targeted antimicrobial treatment based on antimicrobial susceptibility testing is widely recognized as the optimal therapy, patients in our hospital or in a large proportion of case reports receive only empirical treatment. However, mNGS cannot detect the resistance of *Nocardia* spp. Because CNS nocardiosis is rare in the world, there is a lack of definitive and effective antibiotic regimens, and larger, multicenter randomized controlled trial is needed to determine the optimal treatment for this disease.

As is shown in our case series, 1/3 of the patients in our study and 59.6% (34/57) of the literature patients underwent neurosurgery including EVD and decompressive craniectomy. In the previous studies, patients treated with a combination therapy of medicine and surgery had higher survival rates than those who received antibiotics only.^{68,78,86} However, the prognosis of patients with CNS nocardiosis relies on multiple factors such as age, immune status of patients, time from disease onset to diagnosis, different *Nocardia* spp., antimicrobial regimens, and the duration of treatment, among others. Therefore, the favorable prognosis of surgery may be due to the bias of selecting patients with better status for surgery.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. Our case series is a single center study and only 9 patients were included. In a recent study involving 24 patients with *Nocardial* brain abscess, lung and skin were the most common primary infectious sources (37.5% and 12.5%, respectively).⁶⁸ Unfortunately, the primary infectious sites of this case series were not recorded in our electronic medical records. Therefore, we were unable to identify the primary source of the CNS *Nocardia* infection. In addition, all patients in our cohort were treated empirically, as no antimicrobial susceptibility testing was performed.

Conclusions

Our study demonstrated that CSF mNGS can be conducted for definitive and rapid diagnosis of CNS nocardiosis. Elderly and immunocompromised individuals, especially those receiving immunosuppressive drugs, have a higher incidence of CNS *nocardia* infection. Antimicrobial therapy including TMP-SMX in combination with neurosurgery may reduce mortality and recurrence rates.

Supplementary data

The Supplementary materials are available at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.10153255. The package includes the following files:

Supplementary Table 1. Clinical and microbiological characteristics of literature patients.

Data availability

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

ORCID iDs

Dasen Yuan ^(b) https://orcid.org/0009-0007-2476-2631 Bang-e Qin ^(b) https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9822-5184 Xiaofeng Xu ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8413-3278 Zhihui Su ^(c) https://orcid.org/0009-0004-2752-1137 Jia Liu ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8413-6308 Han Xia ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5179-0255 Fuhua Peng ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7500-205X Ying Jiang ^(c) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0040-4211

References

- Filice GA. Nocardiosis in persons with human immunodeficiency virus infection, transplant recipients, and large, geographically defined populations. *JLab Clin Med*. 2005;145(3):156–162. doi:10.1016 /j.lab.2005.01.002
- Lederman ER, Crum NF. A case series and focused review of nocardiosis: Clinical and microbiologic aspects. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2004; 83(5):300–313. doi:10.1097/01.md.0000141100.30871.39
- 3. Beaman BL, Beaman L. Nocardia species: Host–parasite relationships. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1994;7(2):213–264. doi:10.1128/CMR.7.2.213
- Phillips WB, Shields CL, Shields JA, Eagle RC, Masciulli L, Yarian DL. Nocardia choroidal abscess. Br J Ophthalmol. 1992;76(11):694–696. doi:10.1136/bjo.76.11.694
- Roquer J, Pou A, Herraiz J, et al. Primary cerebral abscess due to nocardia presenting as 'ghost tumor.' *Eur Neurol*. 1990;30(5):254–257. doi:10.1159/000117357
- Savage MW, Clarke CE, Yuill GM. Silent nocardia cerebral abscesses in treated dermatomyositis. *Postgrad Med J*. 1990;66(777):582–583. doi:10.1136/pgmj.66.777.582-b
- Takamatsu A, Yaguchi T, Tagashira Y, Watanabe A, Honda H; the Japan Nocardia Study Group. Nocardiosis in Japan: A multicentric retrospective cohort study. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2022;66(2):e0189021. doi:10.1128/aac.01890-21
- Coussement J, Lebeaux D, van Delden C, et al. Nocardia infection in solid organ transplant recipients: A multicenter European casecontrol study. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016;63(3):338–345. doi:10.1093/cid/ ciw241
- Lerner PI. Nocardiosis. Clin Infect Dis. 1996;22(6):891–905. doi:10.1093/ clinids/22.6.891
- Saubolle MA, Sussland D. Nocardiosis: Review of clinical and laboratory experience. J Clin Microbiol. 2003;41(10):4497–4501. doi:10.1128/ JCM.41.10.4497-4501.2003
- Aguirre LE, Zamora Gonzalez RA, Barreto-Coelho P, Yannuzzi NA, Taldone SN. Endogenous endophthalmitis heralding central nervous system involvement by *Nocardia farcinica*. *Cureus*. 2020;12(8):e9896. doi:10.7759/cureus.9896

- Aljuboori Z, Altstadt T, Sharma M. Diffuse nocardial spinal subdural empyema: Diagnostic dilemma and treatment options. *Cureus*. 2017; 9(10):e1795. doi:10.7759/cureus.1795
- AlMogbel M, AlBolbol M, Elkhizzi N, AlAjlan H, Hays JP, Khan MA. Rapid identification of *Nocardia cyriacigeorgica* from a brain abscess patient using MALDI-TOF-MS. *Oxf Med Case Rep.* 2020;2020(10):omaa088. doi:10.1093/omcr/omaa088
- Atemnkeng F, Ducey J, Khalil A, Elemam A, Diaz K. Diagnosing disseminated nocardiosis in a patient with COVID-19 pneumonia. *J Med Cases*. 2021;12(8):319–324. doi:10.14740/jmc3716
- Carrasco García De León S, González AH, Rivas NV, Gómez JJB. Brain abscess due to Nocardia infection in an immunocompetent patient with asymptomatic pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Acta Neurol Belg. 2019;119(2):281–283. doi:10.1007/s13760-017-0815-6
- Chaudhari D, Renjen P, Sardana R, Butta H. Nocardia farcinica brain abscess in an immunocompetent old patient: A case report and review of literature. Ann Indian Acad Neurol. 2017;20(4):399. doi:10.4103 /aian.AIAN_263_17
- Delavari N, Than KD, Chen KS, McKeever PE, Wang AC, Pandey AS. Resolution of innumerable cerebral *Nocardia paucivorans* abscesses after medical management. *J Clin Neurosci*. 2016;27:175–177. doi:10.1016/j. jocn.2015.10.028
- Diioia A, Kalra L, Krop LC. Stroke like presentation of disseminated CNS *Nocardia beijingensis* infection in an immunocompetent patient: Case report and review of the literature. *IDCases*. 2021;25:e01223. doi:10.1016/j.idcr.2021.e01223
- 19. Effendi M, Tirmizi S, McManus D, Huttner AJ, Peaper DR, Topal JE. *Case Rep Infect Dis*. 2021;2021:6620049. doi:10.1155/2021/6620049
- Einstein EH, Bonda D, Khan S, Zlochower AB, D'Amico RS. Multiple brain abscesses due to *Nocardia otitidiscaviarum*: Case report and treatment implications. *Cureus*. 2021;13(4):e14362. doi:10.7759/cureus. 14362
- Eren E, Ulu-Kilic A, Atalay A, Demiraslan H, Parkan O, Koc N. Report of an immunocompetent case with disseminated infection due to *Nocardia otitidiscaviarum*: Identification by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. *Infez Med.* 2016;24(1):71–76. PMID:27031902.
- 22. Farran Y, Antony S. Nocardia abscessus-related intracranial aneurysm of the internal carotid artery with associated brain abscess: A case report and review of the literature. *J Infect Public Health*. 2016; 9(3):358–361. doi:10.1016/j.jiph.2015.11.009
- Freiberg JA, Saharia KK, Morales MK. An unusual case of Nocardia cyriacigeorgica presenting with spinal abscesses in a renal transplant recipient and a review of the literature. Transplant Infectious Dis. 2019;21(1):e13025. doi:10.1111/tid.13025
- 24. Galacho-Harriero A, Delgado-López PD, Ortega-Lafont MP, Martín-Alonso J, Castilla-Díez JM, Sánchez-Borge B. *Nocardia farcinica* brain abscess: Report of 3 cases. *World Neurosurg*. 2017;106:1053.e15-1053.e24. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2017.07.033
- 25. Grond SE, Schaller A, Kalinowski A, Tyler KA, Jha P. *Nocardia farcinica* brain abscess in an immunocompetent host with pulmonary alveolar proteinosis: A case report and review of the literature. *Cureus*. 2020;13(4):e14362. doi:10.7759/cureus.11494
- 26. Gupta N, Kumar R, Banerjee S, et al. Brain abscess in patients with chronic kidney disease: A case-based approach to management in resource-limited settings. *Drug Discov Ther.* 2020;14(2):93–97. doi:10.5582/ddt.2019.01062
- 27. Hauser N, Luethy PM, Rapaka RR. An immunocompromised woman with a brain lesion. *Am J Med.* 2020;133(9):e516–e517. doi:10.1016/j. amjmed.2020.02.021
- Huang T, Chen Y, Zhang J, et al. Rapid and accurate diagnosis of brain abscess caused by *Nocardia asiatica* with a combination of Ziehl– Neelsen staining and metagenomics next-generation sequencing. *Eur J Neurol.* 2021;28(1):355–357. doi:10.1111/ene.14533
- Ibrahim U, Saqib A, Mohammad F, Terjanian T. An unusual presentation of nocardiosis in an allogeneic transplant recipient. *Cureus*. 2016;8(10):e834. doi:10.7759/cureus.834
- Jeong JH, Moon SM, Park PW, et al. Multiple brain abscesses caused by *Nocardia asiatica* in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus: The first case report and literature review. *Ann Lab Med*. 2017;37(5): 459–461. doi:10.3343/alm.2017.37.5.459
- Joshua S, Babu R, Warrier A, Panikar D. Nocardia araoensis causing brain abscess. *Asian J Neurosurg*. 2019;14(03):952–956. doi:10.4103/ ajns.AJNS_66_19

- 32. Karan M. Nocardial brain abscess mimicking lung cancer metastasis in immunocompetent patient with pulmonary nocardiasis: A case report. *Acta Clin Croat*. 2019;58(3):540–545. doi:10.20471/acc.2019. 58.03.20
- Keenan JG, Mohapatra S. Nocardia beijingensis brain abscesses in an HIV-infected individual. *IDCases*. 2017;9:65–69. doi:10.1016/j. idcr.2017.03.006
- 34. Khadka P, Basnet RB, Khadka P, et al. Disseminated nocardiosis in renal transplant recipient under therapy for pulmonary tuberculosis: A case report. *BMC Res Notes*. 2017;10(1):83. doi:10.1186/s13104-017-2408-0
- Khorshidi M, Navid S, Azadi D, Shokri D, Shojaei H. A case report of brain abscess caused by *Nocardia cyriacigeorgica* in a diabetic patient. *JMM Case Rep.* 2018;5(9):e005133. doi:10.1099/jmmcr.0.005133
- Kweh BTS, Lee HQ, Tee JW. Intracranial peripherally enhancing lesions in cardiac transplant recipients: A rare case series and literature review. *J Clin Neurosci.* 2020;78:284–290. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2020.04.036
- Lee EK, Kim J, Park DH, et al. Disseminated nocardiosis caused by Nocardia farcinica in a patient with colon cancer: A case report and literature review. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(29):e26682. doi:10.1097 /MD.00000000026682
- Livings C, Uemura M, Patel R, Afshar M. Nocardia farcinica masquerading as intracerebral metastases in advanced metastatic prostatic cancer. BMJ Case Rep. 2020;13(9):e233678. doi:10.1136/bcr-2019-233678
- Ma F, Kang M, Liao YH, et al. Nocardial spinal epidural abscess with lumbar disc herniation: A case report and review of literature. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). 2018;97(49):e13541. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000013541
- 40. Majeed A, Abdullah HMA, Ullah W, Al Mohajer M. First reported case of disseminated *Nocardia kroppenstedtii* sp *nov*. infection presenting with brain abscess and endocarditis in an immunocompromised patient with mantle cell lymphoma: Challenges in diagnosis and treatment. *BMJ Case Reports*. 2017;2017:bcr2016217337. doi:10.1136/ bcr-2016-217337
- Marques C, Ribeiro M, Bonccoraglio MT, Braga J, Pereira AF, Ogando A. Disseminated nocardiosis: The complexity of the diagnosis. J Med Cases. 2021;12(5):205–208. doi:10.14740/jmc3673
- Matin A, Sharma S, Mathur P, Apewokin SK. Myelosuppression-sparing treatment of central nervous system nocardiosis in a multiple myeloma patient utilizing a tedizolid-based regimen: A case report. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2017;49(4):488–492. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.11.032
- Moniuszko-Malinowska A, Czupryna P, Swiecicka I, et al. Nocardia farcinica as a cause of chronic meningitis: Case report. BMC Infect Dis. 2020;20(1):56. doi:10.1186/s12879-020-4764-y
- Nasri E, Fakhim H, Barac A, et al. Nocardia farcinica meningitis in a patient with high-grade astrocytoma. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2019;13(9): 854–857. doi:10.3855/jidc.11582
- 45. Pan L, Pan XH, Xu JK, et al. Misdiagnosed tuberculosis being corrected as *Nocardia farcinica* infection by metagenomic sequencing: A case report. *BMC Infect Dis*. 2021;21(1):754. doi:10.1186/s12879-021-06436-6
- Pascual-Gallego M, Alonso-Lera P, Arribi A, Barcia J, Marco J. Nocardia farcinica abscess of the cerebellum in an immunocompetent patient: A case report and review of the literature. Asian J Neurosurg. 2016;11(4):454–455. doi:10.4103/1793-5482.145179
- Patel H, Patel B, Jadeja S, Isache C. Central nervous system nocardiosis masquerading as metastatic brain lesions. *IDCases*. 2019;18:e00652. doi:10.1016/j.idcr.2019.e00652
- Playe M, Einfalt M, Toch SR, Froissart A, Bodardel G. 18F-FDG imaging of a case of disseminated nocardiosis. *Clin Nucl Med*. 2020;45(1): 55–56. doi:10.1097/RLU.00000000002842
- Raby E, Hiew V, Arthur I. A case of *Nocardia mexicana* cerebral abscess highlights deficiencies in susceptibility testing and the utility of direct molecular identification. *Pathology*. 2016;48(5):508–510. doi:10.1016 /j.pathol.2016.03.016
- Sartoretti E, Sartoretti T, Gutzwiller A, et al. Advanced multimodality MR imaging of a cerebral nocardiosis abscess in an immunocompetent patient with a focus on Amide Proton Transfer weighted imaging. *BJR Case Rep.* 2020;6(2):20190122. doi:10.1259/bjrcr.20190122
- Schiaroli E, Pasticci MB, De Carolis E, et al. Diagnosis of *Nocardia* paucivorans central nervous system infection by DNA sequencing from paraffin-embedded tissue. *Infez Med.* 2016;24(2):147–152. PMID:27367327.

- Senard O, Blanot S, Jouvion G, et al. Fulminant nocardiosis due to a multidrug-resistant isolate in a 12-year-old immunocompetent child. *Pediatrics*. 2018;141(2):e20163131. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-3131
- Sherbuk J, Saly D, Barakat L, Ogbuagu O. Unusual presentation of disseminated *Nocardia abscessus* infection in a patient with AIDS. *BMJ Case Rep.* 2016;2016:bcr2016215649. doi:10.1136/bcr-2016-215649
- Shimizu Y, Tsuchiya K, Fujisawa H. Nocardia paucivorans cerebellar abscess: Surgical and pharmacotherapy. Surg Neurol Int. 2019;10(1):22. doi:10.4103/sni.sni_370_18
- Solano-Varela DM, Barrios-Vidales EM, Plaza DF, et al. Immunocompetent patient with a brain abscess caused by Nocardia beijingensis in Latin America: A case report. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98(11): e14879. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000014879
- 56. Srivastava S, Kanaujia R, Sahoo S, et al. Isolated cerebellar abscess by Norcardia asiatica: A case report with review of literature. J Family Med Prim Care. 2020;9(2):1232. doi:10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_1005_19
- Sun H, Goolam Mahomed M, Patel J. Brain metastasis or nocardiosis? A case report of central nervous system nocardiosis with a review of the literature. J Community Hosp Int Med Perspect. 2021;11(2): 258–262. doi:10.1080/20009666.2021.1877399
- Tajima K, Terada T, Okuyama S, et al. Nocardia otitidiscaviarum meningitis in a diffuse large B-cell lymphoma patient with CD4-positive lymphocytopenia and persistent oligoclonal CD8-positive lymphocytes in the peripheral blood. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2018;11(1):455–461. PMID:31938131. PMCID:PMC6957946.
- Tanaka H, Kiko K, Watanabe Y, Yaguchi T, Oya S, Shiojiri T. Miliary cerebrospinal lesions caused by *Nocardia beijingensis* in an immunocompetent patient. *IDCases*. 2020;20:e00737. doi:10.1016/j.idcr.2020. e00737
- 60. Trehan H, Kaushik J, Jain V, Parihar JS, Avasthi A. Endogenous nocardial endophthalmitis in an immunosuppressed patient: A serious warning of an underlying life threatening and blinding disorder. J Ophthalmic Vis Res. 2017;12(1):113. doi:10.4103/2008-322X.200172
- 61. Uneda A, Suzuki K, Okubo S, Hirashita K, Yunoki M, Yoshino K. Brain abscess caused by *Nocardia asiatica*. *Surg Neurol Int*. 2016;7(1):74. doi:10.4103/2152-7806.186509
- 62. Yamamoto F, Yamashita S, Kawano H, et al. Meningitis and ventriculitis due to *Nocardia araoensis* infection. *Intern Med*. 2017;56(7):853–859. doi:10.2169/internalmedicine.56.7332
- 63. Yu MH, Wu XX, Chen CL, et al. Disseminated *Nocardia* infection with a lesion occupying the intracranial space complicated with coma: A case report. *BMC Infect Dis*. 2020;20(1):856. doi:10.1186/s12879-020-05569-4
- 64. Zhou C, Wang K, Li H, Zhang X. Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura with brain abscess caused by *Nocardia farcinica* diagnosed using metagenomics next-generation sequencing of the cerebrospinal fluid: A case report. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2021;21(1):380. doi:10.1186/s12879-021-06071-1
- Zhu JW, Zhou H, Jia WQ, You J, Xu RX. A clinical case report of brain abscess caused by *Nocardia brasiliensis* in a non-immunocompromised patient and a relevant literature review. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2020; 20(1):328. doi:10.1186/s12879-020-05052-0
- Miller RR, Montoya V, Gardy JL, Patrick DM, Tang P. Metagenomics for pathogen detection in public health. *Genome Med*. 2013;5(9):81. doi:10.1186/gm485
- 67. Zhang C, Hu L, Wu X, Hu G, Ding X, Lu Y. A retrospective study on the aetiology, management, and outcome of brain abscess in an 11-year, single-centre study from China. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2014; 14(1):311. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-311
- Corsini Campioli C, Castillo Almeida NE, O'Horo JC, et al. Clinical presentation, management, and outcomes of patients with brain abscess due to *Nocardia* species. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2021;8(4):ofab067. doi:10.1093/ofid/ofab067
- 69. Pera A, Campos C, López N, et al. Immunosenescence: Implications for response to infection and vaccination in older people. *Maturitas*. 2015;82(1):50–55. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.05.004
- Fulop T, Larbi A, Dupuis G, et al. Immunosenescence and inflammaging as two sides of the same coin: Friends or foes? *Front Immunol*. 2018;8:1960. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01960

- 71. Wilson JW. Nocardiosis: Updates and clinical overview. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2012;87(4):403–407. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.11.016
- 72. Yorke RF, Rouah E. Nocardiosis with brain abscess due to an unusual species, *Nocardia transvalensis*. *Arch Pathol Lab Med*. 2003;127(2): 224–226. doi:10.5858/2003-127-224-NWBADT
- Al-Tawfiq JA, Al-Khatti AA. Disseminated systemic Nocardia farcinica infection complicating alefacept and infliximab therapy in a patient with severe psoriasis. Int J Infect Dis. 2010;14(2):e153–e157. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2009.03.017
- Peleg AY, Husain S, Qureshi ZA, et al. Risk factors, clinical characteristics, and outcome of *Nocardia* infection in organ transplant recipients: A matched case-control study. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2007;44(10):1307–1314. doi:10.1086/514340
- 75. Clark NM, Reid GE. *Nocardia* infections in solid organ transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. 2013;13:83–92. doi:10.1111/ajt.12102
- Lebeaux D, Morelon E, Suarez F, et al. Nocardiosis in transplant recipients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2014;33(5):689–702. doi:10.1007/ s10096-013-2015-5
- 77. Restrepo A, Clark NM; on behalf of the Infectious Diseases Community of Practice of the American Society of Transplantation. *Nocardia* infections in solid organ transplantation: Guidelines from the Infectious Diseases Community of Practice of the American Society of Transplantation. *Clin Transplant*. 2019;33(9):e13509. doi:10.1111/ctr.13509
- Anagnostou T, Arvanitis M, Kourkoumpetis TK, Desalermos A, Carneiro HA, Mylonakis E. Nocardiosis of the central nervous system: Experience from a general hospital and review of 84 cases from the literature. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2014;93(1):19–32. doi:10.1097/MD. 000000000000012
- 79. Lange N, Berndt M, Jörger AK, et al. Clinical characteristics and course of primary brain abscess. *Acta Neurochir*. 2018;160(10):2055–2062. doi:10.1007/s00701-018-3633-6
- Zhao J, Huo T, Luo X, Lu F, Hui S, Yang B. Klebsiella pneumoniae-related brain abscess and meningitis in adults: Case report. Medicine (Baltimore). 2022;101(2):e28415. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000028415
- Jeter K, Dang A, Ly A, Jayasekara D. Spontaneous *Escherichia coli* meningitis and brain abscess in an immunocompetent adult. *Cureus*. 2022;14(9):e28728. doi:10.7759/cureus.28728
- Davis J, Kreppel AJ, Brady RC, et al. Nocardia farcinica meningitis masquerading as central nervous system metastasis in a child with cerebellar pilocytic astrocytoma. JPediatr Hematol Oncol. 2015;37(6): 482–485. doi:10.1097/MPH.00000000000360
- Voide C, Zimmermann S, Adjei AA, et al. Cerebral nocardiosis mimicking multiple brain metastases in a patient with locally advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol*. 2014;9(3):e24–e26. doi:10.1097/ JTO.00000000000018
- Lavalard E, Guillard T, Baumard S, et al. Brain abscess due to Nocardia cyriacigeorgica simulating an ischemic stroke [in French]. Ann Biol Clin (Paris). 2013;71(3):345–348. doi:10.1684/abc.2013.0816
- 85. Rafiei N, Peri AM, Righi E, Harris P, Paterson DL. Central nervous system nocardiosis in Queensland: A report of 20 cases and review of the literature. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016;95(46):e5255. doi:10.1097/MD.00 0000000005255
- Wallace RJ, Brown BA, Tsukamura M, Brown JM, Onyi GO. Clinical and laboratory features of *Nocardia nova*. J Clin Microbiol. 1991;29(11): 2407–2411. doi:10.1128/jcm.29.11.2407-2411.1991
- Hu N, Liu Y, Cai Q, et al. The first report of cerebral nocardiosis caused by Nocardia terpenica together with Exiguobacterium profundum bacteremia. Jundishapur J Microbiol. 2018;11(10):e69604. doi:10.5812/ jjm.69604
- Wang EEL, Prober CG. Ventricular cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1983; 11(4):385–389. doi:10.1093/jac/11.4.385
- West KR, Mason RC, Sun M. *Nocardia* spinal epidural abscess: 14-year follow-up. *Orthopedics*. 2012;35(1):e128–e131. doi:10.3928/01477447-20111122-27

Immature platelet fraction and immature platelet count as novel biomarkers of elevated platelet reactivity in NSTE-ACS patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy

Karolina Gumiężna^{1,A–D,F}, Adrian Bednarek^{1,B–D,F}, Grażyna Sygitowicz^{2,A,C,E,F}, Piotr Baruś^{1,B,E,F}, Agnieszka Wiśniewska^{3,B,F}, Dominika Klimczak-Tomaniak^{4,5,A,E,F}, Janusz Kochman^{1,E,F}, Grzegorz Opolski^{1,E,F}, Marcin Grabowski^{1,E,F}, Mariusz Tomaniak^{1,A,C,E,F}

¹ First Department of Cardiology, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

² Department of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Diagnostics, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

³ Department of Laboratory Diagnostics, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

⁴ Department of Cardiology, Hypertension and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

⁵ Department of Immunology, Transplantation and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

A – research concept and design; B – collection and/or assembly of data; C – data analysis and interpretation; D – writing the article; E – critical revision of the article; F – final approval of the article

Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine, ISSN 1899-5276 (print), ISSN 2451-2680 (online)

Adv Clin Exp Med. 2023;32(12):1465-1470

Address for correspondence Mariusz Tomaniak E-mail:mariusz.tomaniak@wum.edu.pl

Funding sources The research was funded by the Medical University of Warsaw (grant No. M/MG/71/22).

Conflict of interest None declared

Received on August 7, 2023 Reviewed on November 2, 2023 Accepted on December 21, 2023

Published online on December 21, 2023

Cite as

Gumiężna K, Bednarek A, Sygitowicz G, et al. Immature platelet fraction and immature platelet count as novel biomarkers of elevated platelet reactivity in NSTE-ACS patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy . *Adv Clin Exp Med*. 2023;32(12):1465–1470. doi:10.17219/acem/177406

DOI

10.17219/acem/177406

Copyright

Copyright by Author(s) This is an article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported (CC BY 3.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/)

Abstract

Background. Antiplatelet therapy is the cornerstone of treatment for patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome (ACS) treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). Some patients may not respond to such therapy adequately, which is associated with a greater risk of ischemic events. Reticulated platelets are the youngest, largest, and most active platelet subtype. They have been initially shown to be associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular (CV) events and increased platelet activity.

Objectives. The aim of the presented study was to evaluate whether the immature platelet fraction (IPF) reflects the response to antiplatelet treatment in invasively managed ACS patients.

Materials and methods. This prospective study enrolled ACS patients treated with PCI and dual antiplatelet therapy (DAPT) comprising acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) and clopidogrel or ticagrelor. In all patients, venous blood was collected within 24 h after the procedure. Platelet parameters were measured, including IPF using the Sysmex hematological analyzer and adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-induced platelet reactivity using the Multiplate[®] Analyzer.

Results. A total of 108 patients were enrolled, including 62 with ST-segment elevation ACS (STE-ACS) and 46 with non-ST-segment elevation ACS (NSTE-ACS). Of them, 20.4% had diabetes mellitus, 26.9% had a history of MI and 59.2% of smoking. Spearman's correlation analysis demonstrated that higher IPF and immature platelet count (IPC) values are associated with increased ADP-induced platelet reactivity (respectively: rho = 0.387, 95% confidence interval (95% CI): 0.101–0.615, p = 0.008; and rho = 0.458, 95% CI: 0.185–0.666, p = 0.001) in NSTE-ACS but not in STE-ACS patients.

Conclusions. Immature platelet count and IPF may be valuable markers of platelet activity in patients with NSTE-ACS treated invasively and receiving DAPT (ClinicalTrials.gov No. NCT06177587).

Key words: platelet reactivity, acute coronary syndrome, dual anti-platelet therapy, immature platelet fraction

Background

Platelets have a significant role in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular (CV) events, including acute coronary syndrome (ACS), especially concerning patients treated invasively.^{1,2} Therefore, therapy aimed at inhibiting platelet activity is an essential part of treatment to prevent, i.a., stent thrombosis (ST) or recurrent myocardial infarction (MI). As standard, such patients receive 2 antiplatelet drugs that act by different mechanisms: acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) and a P2Y₁₂ inhibitor, for 1 year, according to guidelines.^{3,4} However, the response to treatment varies significantly depending on individual patients' characteristics, which may require adjusting the intensity or duration of treatment.^{5,6} To date, there are no simple and accessible methods to effectively predict, and therefore prevent, high on-treatment platelet reactivity (HTPR).

Immature, newly released to the circulation reticulated platelets (RPs) are more reactive than mature ones.⁷ Studies have shown that their levels represented as a percentage of RPs among all platelets, named immature platelet fraction (IPF), may have a predictive value for the occurrence of CV events in patients treated with dual antiplatelet therapy (DAPT).^{8–11} However, their exact significance in assessing response to treatment is not fully understood.

Objectives

The aim of the presented study was to evaluate whether IPF could be a valuable parameter for determining ontreatment platelet reactivity and predicting response to antiplatelet therapy in ACS patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI).

Materials and methods

This was a prospective, single-center study conducted in a tertiary cardiology clinical center. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant. This study was conducted according to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki and by the Bioethics Committee of Medical University of Warsaw under reference No. KB/242/2015. The clinical trial was registered with ClinicalTrials.gov under the identifier NCT06177587.

Patients

Consecutive patients presenting with ACS between July 2017 and May 2018 were enrolled. The inclusion criteria were: age >18 years, admission due to ACS, the need for immediate (<2 h) or early (<24 h) invasive treatment with stent implantation, treatment with DAPT, and ability to sign informed consent. The patients were excluded if they received any other medication that affects platelet

activity or blood coagulation, had any contraindications to take ASA or $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor, or had coagulation disorders. All patients received a loading dose of ASA (300 mg) and $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor (300 mg of clopidogrel or 180 mg of ticagrelor) periprocedurally, and were treated thereafter with 75 mg of ASA daily and either clopidogrel (75 mg once a day) or ticagrelor (90 mg twice a day).

Laboratory tests

Blood sampling for all analyzed parameters was obtained from the peripheral vein in the first 24 h after PCI. Blood collection had taken place while the patients were still in the catheterization laboratory, before they were transported to the ward, so in 88% of cases, it was performed within the first 2 h after the PCI. Platelet count (PLT), hemoglobin, platelet distribution width, mean platelet volume (MPV), and IPF were assessed in whole blood anticoagulated with ethylenediaminetetraacetic (K3EDTA) using an automated hematological analyzer (Sysmex XN 2000; Sysmex, Kope, Japan). In the case of 2 IPF measurements, the average value was used for analyses. Immature platelet count (IPC) was calculated as a product of IPF and PLT. For platelet reactivity measurements, blood samples were drawn from the peripheral vein and collected in hirudin-containing tubes. Impedance aggregometry using Multiplate® Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland) with adenosine diphosphate (ADP) as agonist was performed 30-120 min after sampling. The test was carried out as instructed by the manufacturer. Maximum platelet aggregation and aggregation velocity are expressed in arbitrary units AUC (area under the curve of aggregation units (AU) over time (min)). Clinical data was collected from an electronic patients' database.

Statistical analyses

The statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics v. 28.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, USA). The distribution of continuous data was assessed with Shapiro – Wilk test. Data were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD) and compared with Student's t-test, or as median with interquartile range (IQR) and compared with Mann–Whitney U test for parametric and nonparametric variables, respectively. Categorical data were presented as number and percentage. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationship between platelet aggregation and RPs parameters. Two-sided p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 108 ACS patients were enrolled; 62 of them presented with ST-segment elevation ACS (STE-ACS) and 46 with non-ST-segment elevation ACS (NSTE-ACS). Baseline characteristics (Table 1) did not differ significantly

Table 1. Baseline characteristics (values in bold are statistically significant)

Variable	е	All (108)	NSTE-ACS (46)	STE-ACS (62)	p-value	
Female gender, n (%)		28 (25.9)	12 (26.1)	16 (25.8)	0.974	
Age [years], mean (SD)		66.7 (10.7)	69.0 (9.2)	65.8 (11.9)	0.084	
HT, n (%)		70 (64.8)	35 (76.1)	35 (56.5)	0.022	
DM, n (%)		22 (20.4)	11 (23.9)	11 (17.7)	0.364	
HL, n (%)		73 (67.6)	31 (67.4)	42 (67.7)	0.903	
HF, n (%)		36 (33.3)	15 (32.6)	21 (33.9)	0.954	
CKD, n (%)		14 (13.0)	10 (21.7)	4 (6.5)	0.017	
Current smoker, n (%)		39 (36.1)	16 (34.8)	23 (37.1)	0.908	
Past smoker, n (%)		25 (23.1)	8 (17.4)	17 (27.4)	0.166	
Previous MI, n (%)		29 (26.9)	15 (32.6)	14 (22.6)	0.245	
Previous PCI, n (%)		19 (17.6)	11 (23.9)	8 (12.9)	0.110	
MVD, n (%)		53 (49.1)	23 (50.0)	30 (48.4)	0.781	
Clopidogrel, n (%)		82 (75.9)	36 (78.3)	46 (74.2)	0.625	
Ticagrelor, n (%)		26 (24.1)	10 (21.7)	16 (25.8)	0.025	
Creatinine [mg/dL], median (IQR)		1.02 (0.34)	1.03 (0.38)	1.04 (0.34)	0.320	
eGFR [mL/min/1.73m ²], r	median (IQR)	74.0 (28.0)	68.0 (34.5)	74.5 (25.3)	0.100	
RBC [10 ⁶ /µL], median (IQ	R)	4.53 (0.69)	4.46 (0.64)	4.63 (0.70)	0.131	
HGB [g/dL], median (IQR))	14.1 (2.2)	13.8 (2.1)	14.1 (1.9)	0.32	
PLT [10 ³ /µL], median (IQ	R)	217 (63)	210 (77)	219 (60)	0.546	
Cholesterol [mg/dL], mea	an (SD)	167 (43)	159 (33)	173 (48)	0.010	
HDL [mg/dL], median (IQR)		41.5 (21.0)	42.5 (21.0)	41.0 (22.5)	0.540	
LDL [mg/dL], mean (SD)		94.3 (37.6)	83.3 (30.4)	103.6 (39.0)	0.008	
TG [mg/dL], median (IQR)		114 (58)	115 (54)	114 (53)	0.208	
EF (%), median (IQR)		49.0 (12.8)	53.5 (9.5)	45.0 (13.5)	<0.001	
Troponin [ng/mL], median (IQR)		10.3 (29.0)	6.0 (17.0)	17.1 (55.1)	0.012	
	1	39 (36.1)	14 (30.4)	25 (40.3)		
	2	25 (23.1)	10 (21.7)	15 (24.2)		
Number of vessels	3	24 (22.2)	13 (28.3)	11 (17.7)	0.228	
	4	14 (13.0)	5 (10.9)	9 (14.5)		
	5	6 (5.6)	4 (8.7)	2 (3.2)		
Final TIMI flow, mean (SD)	2.9 (0.5)	3.0 (0.0)	2.8 (0.6)	0.111	
ASA prior to hospitalizati	on, n (%)	23 (21.3)	11 (23.9)	12 (19.4)	0.567	
Satin, n (%)		106 (98.1)	45 (97.8)	61 (98.4)	0.831	
β-blocker, n (%)		97 (89.8)	45 (97.8)	52 (83.9)	0.018	
ACEI/ARB, n (%)		103 (95.4)	44 (95.7)	59 (95.2)	0.904	
CCB, n (%)		12 (11.1)	9 (19.6)	3 (4.8)	0.016	
PPI, n (%)		97 (89.8)	40 (87.0)	57 (91.9)	0.398	

ASA – acetylsalicylic acid; ACEI – angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB – angiotensin receptor blockers; CCB – calcium channel blocker; CKD – chronic kidney disease; DM – diabetes mellitus; EF – ejection fraction; eGFR – estimated glomerular filtration rate; HDL – high-density lipoprotein; HF – heart failure; HGB – hemoglobin; HL – hyperlipidemia; HT – hypertension; PPI – proton pump inhibitor; IQR – interquartile range; LDL – low-density lipoprotein; MI – myocardial infarction; MVD – multi-vessel disease; n – number; NSTE-ACS – non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome; PCI – percutaneous coronary intervention; PLT – platelets; RBC – red blood cells; SD – standard deviation; STE-ACS – ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome; TIMI – thrombolysis in myocardial infarction; TG – triglycerides.

between the groups, except for a higher prevalence of hypertension in STE-ACS patients and a greater incidence of chronic kidney disease in the NSTE-ACS group. Additionally, the NSTE-ACS group exhibited lower troponin and cholesterol levels, including LDL, as well as a higher ejection fraction compared to the STE-ACS group. Ticagrelor was received by 26 (24.1%) and clopidogrel by 82 (75.9%) patients.

The analysis revealed that the level of IPF correlates with ADP-induced platelet reactivity in NSTE-ACS patients (rho = 0.387, 95% confidence interval (95% CI): 0.101-0.615,



10.00

Immatue platelet count (1000/µL)

15.00

Fig. 1. Correlation between adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-induced platelet reactivity and (A) immature platelet fraction and (B) immature platelet count



5.00

.00

.00

In the NSTE-ACS group, 36 patients were treated with clopidogrel and 10 with ticagrelor. We analyzed the relationship between ADP-induced platelet reactivity and IPF in both groups separately. For clopidogrel, the positive correlation was also present (rho = 0.346, 95% CI: 0.010-0.612, p = 0.039), whereas in the ticagrelor group, the observed correlation did not reach a statistically significant level (rho = 0.610, 95% CI: -0.054-0.900, p = 0.061).

Analysis concerning IPC revealed an even stronger correlation with ADP-induced platelet reactivity in NSTE-ACS patients (rho = 0.458, 95% CI: 0.185-0.666, p = 0.001). Moreover, this relationship was maintained in both clopidogrel and ticagrelor treated cohorts analyzed separately (rho = 0.378, 95% CI: 0.047-0.635, p = 0.023; and

rho = 0.854, 95% CI: 0.467–0.966, p = 0.002, respectively). Again, the relationship was absent in STE-ACS patients.

20.00

Partial Spearman's correlation for potentially confounding variables including age, gender, diabetes mellitus, smoking status, and antiplatelet agent was also performed in the NSTE-ACS cohort. It revealed that the relationship between ADP and IPF as well as between ADP and IPC remained while controlling for all the variables mentioned above. The detailed results of the analysis are presented in Supplementary Table 1. Moreover, we showed that clinical presentation did not significantly impact the level of platelet reactivity, also after adjustment for potentially confounding variables (Supplementary Table 2), and that there were no differences in platelet parameters according to diabetes status, insulin treatment and the $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor received (Supplementary Table 3).
Discussion

We demonstrated that the levels of both studied RP parameters, i.e., IPF and IPC, correlate with ADP-induced platelet aggregometry among patients with NSTE-ACS treated with PCI and DAPT. This relationship was not observed in STE-ACS patients.

Optimal platelet inhibition stands as a crucial factor influencing the prognosis of post-PCI patients.¹² Inadequate response to antiplatelet treatment remains an open problem related to serious consequences such as ST, MI, or CV death.¹³ Despite numerous attempts and tests evaluated so far, routine identification of HTPR on a large scale was not found cost-effective and is currently not recommended in the society guidelines.^{3,14}

Several studies have indicated the relationship between the level of RPs and antiplatelet therapy response, particularly notable in patients receiving thienopyridine therapy. However, it was not apparent in the ticagrelor-treated group.^{15–18} Most of the patients in our study were treated with clopidogrel. Therefore, the issue of the relationship between IPF and platelet activity in ticagrelor-treated patients remains to be further elucidated. Despite the limited sample size, it is noteworthy that among ticagrelor-treated patients, there was a rising trend in IPF as ADP-induced platelet aggregation levels rose. Moreover, a statistically significant correlation was identified with regard to IPC. Based on the existing literature, the influence of clopidogrel treatment compared to ticagrelor appears to elicit varying effects on IPC levels in a long-term observation.¹⁹ However, our findings, as presented, reveal that baseline platelet parameters and their correlation with platelet reactivity persist irrespective of the administered medication at a saturating dose.

Immature platelets, known for their heightened prothrombotic potential, can be reflected by IPF level – a reliable marker of platelet turnover. Elevated IPF is characteristic for specific patient groups including smokers, diabetics or the ones with ongoing inflammation,^{20–23} as well as ACS patients.²⁴ Baseline IPF serves as a predictor of major adverse CV events (MACE) in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) treated invasively and with DAPT.^{8,9,11} Similar findings extend to IPC, which was also more strongly associated with antiplatelet response.^{10,25} Patients with higher baseline levels of both parameters face a higher risk of ischemic events, indicating increased platelet turnover and reactivity despite adequate therapy. Regarding patients treated percutaneously with stent implantation, there is an additional risk of ST.

Interestingly, the correlation in our study did not exist for STE-ACS patients. Prior studies suggested that patients with STE-ACS have a higher IPF level than NSTE-ACS patients.²² This was not observed in our population, where the distribution of IPF and IPC was similar in both groups. It can be due to the fact that blood parameters were obtained after an initial treatment including PCI and the loading doses of antiplatelet drugs. Perl et al. described the correlation between RPs level and platelet reactivity in STE-ACS patients, yet the measurements in that study were performed 2–4 days after the start of the treatment and later after 30 days.²⁶ The short interval between the onset of STE-ACS and the measurements in our study could be a factor contributing to this observation. Subsequent studies should focus on selecting the most optimal measurement time when IPF or IPC values reliably reflect platelet activity.

Immature platelet fraction can be easily, inexpensively measured using automatic hematology analyzers during a complete blood count test, providing the results quickly.^{27,28} The same applies to IPC, which can be calculated from IPF and PLT. As such, RPs parameters may become useful markers for guiding antiplatelet therapy once the above findings are confirmed in further studies with larger cohorts.

Limitations

Our study predominantly included clopidogrel-treated NSTE-ACS patients, warranting further research specific to ticagrelor. The pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics differ among $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitors. It cannot be excluded that the relationship between platelet reactivity and the level of RPs depends on the drug received. Moreover, our focus on parameters shortly after the procedure prevents us from confirming whether this relationship persists in longer-term follow-up.

Conclusions

Immature platelet count and IPF may hold promise as potential markers of platelet reactivity in patients with NSTE-ACS undergoing invasive treatment and receiving DAPT. Given their accessibility, these markers could prove valuable for assessing an individual's responsiveness to antiplatelet therapy or aid in identifying individuals who are at higher risk of thrombotic events. Further research is needed to establish their effectiveness in this regard.

Supplementary data

Supplementary materials are available at https://zenodo. org/doi/10.5281/zenodo.10219636. The package contains the following files:

Supplementary Table 1. Partial Spearman's correlation analysis between ADP and IPF/IPC for potentially confounding variables.

Supplementary Table 2. Multivariate analysis showing the relation between ADP-induced platelet aggregation and the clinical presentation of ACS after adjustment for potential confounding variables. Supplementary Table 3. The differences between platelet parameters (IPF, IPC and ADP-induced PA) in groups divided by diabetic status, insulin intake or P2Y12 inhibitor used.

Data availability

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

ORCID iDs

Karolina Gumiężna [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3423-9832 Adrian Bednarek [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3600-4551 Grażyna Sygitowicz [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0057-4253 Piotr Baruś [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2567-5349 Dominika Klimczak-Tomaniak [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8825-511X Janusz Kochman [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8239-8726 Grzegorz Opolski [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4744-2554 Marcin Grabowski [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3306-0301 Mariusz Tomaniak [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0966-3313

References

- Gawaz M, Neumann FJ, Ott I, May A, Schömig A. Platelet activation and coronary stent implantation: Effect of antithrombotic therapy. *Circulation*. 1996;94(3):279–285. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.94.3.279
- Massberg S, Schulz C, Gawaz M. Role of platelets in the pathophysiology of acute coronary syndrome. Semin Vasc Med. 2003;3(2):147–162. doi:10.1055/s-2003-40673
- 3. Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. *Eur Heart J*. 2021;42(14):1289–1367. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa575
- Ibanez B, James S, Agewall S, et al. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J.* 2018; 39(2):119–177. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehx393
- Marcucci R, Grifoni E, Giusti B. On-treatment platelet reactivity: State of the art and perspectives. *Vascul Pharmacol*. 2016;77:8–18. doi:10.1016 /j.vph.2015.10.005
- Kamran H, Jneid H, Kayani WT, et al. Oral antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome: A review. JAMA. 2021;325(15):1545–1555. doi:10.1001/jama.2021.0716
- Ault KA, Knowles C. In vivo biotinylation demonstrates that reticulated platelets are the youngest platelets in circulation. *Exp Hematol.* 1995;23(9):996–1001. PMID:7635185.
- Bongiovanni D, Schreiner N, Gosetti R, et al. Immature platelet fraction predicts adverse events in patients with acute coronary syndrome: The ISAR-REACT 5 Reticulated Platelet Substudy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2023;43(2):e83–e93. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA. 122.318614
- Cesari F, Marcucci R, Gori AM, et al. Reticulated platelets predict cardiovascular death in acute coronary syndrome patients: Insights from the AMI-Florence 2 Study. *Thromb Haemost*. 2013;109(5):846–853. doi:10.1160/TH12-09-0709
- Ibrahim H, Schutt RC, Hannawi B, DeLao T, Barker CM, Kleiman NS. Association of immature platelets with adverse cardiovascular outcomes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(20):2122–2129. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2014.06.1210

- Faber J, Hvas AM, Kristensen SD, Grove EL, Adelborg K. Immature platelets and risk of cardiovascular events among patients with ischemic heart disease: A systematic review. *Thromb Haemost*. 2021;121(5): 659–675. doi:10.1055/s-0040-1721386
- Gorog DA, Geisler T. Platelet inhibition in acute coronary syndrome and percutaneous coronary intervention: Insights from the past and present. *Thromb Haemost*. 2020;120(4):565–578. doi:10.1055/s-0040-1702920
- Trenk D, Kristensen SD, Hochholzer W, Neumann FJ. High on-treatment platelet reactivity and P2Y12 antagonists in clinical trials. *Thromb Haemost*. 2013;109(5):834–845. doi:10.1160/TH12-08-0588
- Sibbing D, Aradi D, Alexopoulos D, et al. Updated expert consensus statement on platelet function and genetic testing for guiding P2Y12 receptor inhibitor treatment in percutaneous coronary intervention. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2019;12(16):1521–1537. doi:10.1016/j. jcin.2019.03.034
- Bernlochner I, Goedel A, Plischke C, et al. Impact of immature platelets on platelet response to ticagrelor and prasugrel in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(45):3202–3210. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv326
- Stratz C, Nührenberg T, Valina CM, et al. Impact of reticulated platelets on the antiplatelet effect of the intravenous P2Y12-receptor inhibitor cangrelor. *Thromb Haemost*. 2018;118(2):362–368. doi:10.1160/TH17-07-0466
- 17. Verdoia M, Sartori C, Pergolini P, et al. Immature platelet fraction and high-on treatment platelet reactivity with ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*. 2016;41(4): 663–670. doi:10.1007/s11239-015-1279-2
- Verdoia M, Pergolini P, Rolla R, Suryapranata H, Kedhi E, De Luca G. Impact of immature platelet fraction on platelet reactivity during prasugrel maintenance treatment. *Platelets*. 2019;30(7):915–922. doi:10.1080 /09537104.2018.1535707
- Verdoia M, Pergolini P, Rolla R, et al. Impact of long-term dual antiplatelet therapy on immature platelet count and platelet reactivity. *Angiology*. 2018;69(6):490–496. doi:10.1177/0003319717736407
- Gumiężna K, Baruś P, Sygitowicz G, et al. Immature platelet fraction in cardiovascular diagnostics and antiplatelet therapy monitoring. *Cardiol J.* 2023;30(5):817–824. doi:10.5603/CJ.a2023.0019
- Nardin M, Verdoia M, Negro F, Rolla R, Tonon F, De Luca G. Impact of active smoking on the immature platelet fraction and its relationship with the extent of coronary artery disease. *Eur J Clin Invest*. 2020;50(2):e13181. doi:10.1111/eci.13181
- Grove EL, Hvas AM, Kristensen SD. Immature platelets in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Thromb Haemost*. 2009;101(1):151–156. PMID:19132202.
- Mijovic R, Kovacevic N, Zarkov M, Stosic Z, Cabarkapa V, Mitic G. Reticulated platelets and antiplatelet therapy response in diabetic patients. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*. 2015;40(2):203–210. doi:10.1007/ s11239-014-1165-3
- 24. Bongiovanni D, Han J, Klug M, et al. Role of reticulated platelets in cardiovascular disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2022;42(5):527–539. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.121.316244
- Stratz C, Bömicke T, Younas I, et al. Comparison of immature platelet count to established predictors of platelet reactivity during thienopyridine therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;68(3):286–293. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2016.04.056
- 26. Perl L, Lerman-Shivek H, Rechavia E, et al. Response to prasugrel and levels of circulating reticulated platelets in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2014;63(6):513–517. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.07.110
- 27. Briggs C, Kunka S, Hart D, Oguni S, Machin SJ. Assessment of an immature platelet fraction (IPF) in peripheral thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*. 2004;126(1):93–99. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.04987.x
- Watanabe K, Takeuchi K, Kawai Y, Ikeda Y, Kubota F, Nakamoto H. Automated measurement of reticulated platelets in estimating thrombopoiesis. *Eur J Haematol*. 1995;54(3):163–171. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0609.1995.tb00209.x

Annual Contents

No. 1 (January)

Editorials

- 5 Anna Choromańska, Urszula Szwedowicz Electrochemotherapy of melanoma: What we know and what is unexplored?
- 9 Karen Flegg What is rural? Keynote speech at the XI EURIPA Forum 2022

Original papers

- 13 Lu Zhang, Zhong Zhang, Haochun Guo, Bin Huang, Haijun Zhang Systemic immune-inflammation index: A new indicator of predicting 1-, 2-and 3-year disease-free survival of patients with colon cancer
- Xiaojun Ma, Liangwei Sun, Xiaoli Li, Yanlu Xu, Qingyan Zhang
 Polymorphism of *IL-1B* rs16944 (T/C) associated with serum levels of IL-1β affects seizure susceptibility
 in ischemic stroke patients
- 31 Jiahao Zhou, Linya Feng, Yan Zhang, Shuangshuang Huang, Hao Jiang, Weijian Wang High red blood cell distribution width is associated with the mortality of critically ill cancer patients: A propensity-matching study
- Peng Peng, Wei He, Yi-Xi Zhang, Xiao-Hua Liu, Zhen-Qiu Chen, Ji-Gang Mao
 CircHIPK3 promotes bone microvascular endothelial cell proliferation, migration and angiogenesis
 by targeting miR-7 and KLF4/VEGF signaling in steroid-induced osteonecrosis of the femoral head
- 57 Agnieszka Żukowska, Andrzej Ciechanowicz, Mariusz Kaczmarczyk, Mirosław Brykczyński, Maciej Żukowski **Toll-like receptor polymorphisms (***TLR2* **and** *TLR4***) association with the risk of infectious complications in cardiac surgery patients**
- Wojciech Pluskiewicz, Piotr Adamczyk, Bogna Drozdzowska
 Fracture risk and fracture prevalence in women from outpatient osteoporosis clinic and subjects from population-based sample: A comparison between GO Study and RAC-OST-POL cohorts
- 71 Xia Liu, Yang Jiang, Bo Chen, Xiaohua Qiu, Songmei He Effects of membrane-type PBLs on the expression of TNF-α and IL-2 in pulmonary tissue of SD rats after LPS-induced acute lung injury
- 81 Hasan Olmez, Mustafa Tosun, Edhem Unver, Ferda Keskin Cimen, Yusuf Kemal Arslan, Mine Gulaboglu, Bahadir Suleyman The role of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in distant organ (lung) oxidative damage of liver ischemia/reperfusion and the protective effect of rutin
- 91 Halbay Turumtay Whole-genome sequencing-based characteristics of *Escherichia coli* Rize-53 isolate from Turkey

Reviews

Wei Yang, Xiaoyan Yang, Qing Li, Pu Cao, Liyang Tang, Zhizhong Xie, Xiaoyong Lei
 Long stress-induced non-coding transcript 5: A promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment

Research letters

107 Antonio Conti, Noor Alqassir, Daniela Breda, Alan Zanardi, Massimo Alessio, Samuele E. Burastero Serological proteome analysis identifies crustacean myosin heavy chain type 1 protein and house dust mite Der p 14 as cross-reacting allergens

- 113 Yesim Cokay Abut, Kubra Bolat, Nurten Yanık, Abdurrahman Tunay, Sevim Baltali, Veysel Erden, Gulay Asik Eren Previous chemotherapy can cause PONV
- 117 Wojciech Lubiński, Hanna Grabek-Kujawa, Maciej Mularczyk, Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur, Ewa Dańczura, Jerzy Samochowiec Visual pathway function in untreated individuals with major depression
- 125 Monika Wrzosek, Anna Hojka-Osińska, Dominika Klimczak-Tomaniak, Anna Katarzyna Żarek-Starzewska, Wioletta Dyrla, Magdalena Rostek-Bogacka, Maksym Wróblewski, Marek Kuch, Magdalena Kucia Identification of cardiac-related serum miRNA in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and heart failure: Preliminary report
- 131 Ewa Paszkiewicz-Kozik, Iwona Hus, Monika Palka, Małgorzata Dębowska, Agnieszka Końska, Martyna Kotarska, Agata Tyczyńska, Monika Joks, Maja Twardosz, Agnieszka Giza, Ewa Wąsik-Szczepanek, Elżbieta Kalicińska, Anna Wiśniewska, Marta Morawska, Barbara Lewicka, Marcin Szymański, Łukasz Targoński, Joanna Romejko-Jarosińska, Joanna Drozd-Sokołowska, Edyta Subocz, Ryszard Swoboda, Monika Długosz-Danecka, Ewa Lech-Maranda, Jan Walewski Early efficacy and safety of obinutuzumab with chemotherapy in previously untreated patients with follicular lymphoma: A real-world retrospective report of the Polish Lymphoma Research Group

No. 2 (February)

Editorials

- Marcin Jędryka
 Translational molecular research has established a novel clinical approach in endometrial cancer patients
- 147 Shlomo Vinker Innovations in family medicine and the implication to rural and remote primary care

Meta-analyses

- 151 Xin Zhao, Hong Zhang, Yanyan Wu, Chun Yu The efficacy and safety of St. John's wort extract in depression therapy compared to SSRIs in adults: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials
- 163 Xiangxiang Cui, Dan Zhong, Jinou Zheng A meta-analysis to investigate the role of magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the detection of temporal lobe epilepsy
- 175 Wanying Guo
 Evaluation of the impact of kangaroo mother care on neonatal mortality and hospitalization:
 A meta-analysis

- Yang Zhang, Lin Li, Ye Li, Zhihe Zeng
 Machine learning model-based risk prediction of severe complications after off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting
- Huijuan Zhou, Shuangdi Li
 Evaluation of pretreatment and early treatment changes in serum β-hCG with methotrexate
- 203 Aleksandra Królikowska, Agnieszka Maj, Maciej Dejnek, Robert Prill, Anna Skotowska-Machaj, Anna Kołcz Wrist motion assessment using Microsoft Azure Kinect DK: A reliability study in healthy individuals
- 211 Olga Kisiel, Agnieszka Ewa Siennicka, Krystian Josiak, Robert Zymliński, Waldemar Banasiak, Kinga Węgrzynowska-Teodorczyk Impact of assisted exercises on skeletal muscle oxygenation levels in men with acutely decompensated heart failure
- 219 Feng Yang, Wei Wang, Yiling Zhang, Jifei Nong, Longdan Zhang
 Effects of ferroptosis in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion model of rat and its association with Sestrin 1

- 233 Lanlan Zhang, Xiaomin Chen, Xiangchai Guo, Huajuan Shen, Danying Qiu, Weiqun Jin, Dongjie Hou Comprehensive analysis of cell death genes in hepatocellular carcinoma based on multi-omics data
- Konrad Kisielowski, Bogna Drozdzowska, Mariusz Szuta, Tomasz Kaczmarzyk
 Prognostic relevance of clinicopathological factors in sporadic and syndromic odontogenic keratocysts:
 A comparative study

No. 3 (March)

Editorials

267 Dominika Filipiak-Strzecka, Piotr Lipiec, Jarosław D. Kasprzak Handheld ultrasound in cardiology: Current perspective

Meta-analyses

- 275 Xing Chen, Lihong Yang A systematic review and meta-analysis of the relationship between T-lymphocytes and respiratory tract infection in children
- Zhen Chen, Hui Zhang
 A meta-analysis on the role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in Parkinson's disease patients

Original papers

- 297 Çağdaş Özgökçe, Aydın Öcal, Işılay Sezen Ermiş
 Expression of NF-κB and VEGF in normal placenta and placenta previa patients
- Zan-Xiong Chen, Hong-Qian Liu, Zhen-Hua Wu, Jun-Lian He, Hao-Jie Zhong
 Type 3 innate lymphoid cells as an indicator of renal dysfunction and serum uric acid in hyperuricemia
- 315 Yu-Juan Zhang, Wen-Kai Zhu, Fa-Ying Qi, Feng-Yuan Che CircHIPK3 promotes neuroinflammation through regulation of the miR-124-3p/STAT3/NLRP3 signaling pathway in Parkinson's disease
- 331 Emilia Błeszyńska-Marunowska, Łukasz Wierucki, Kacper Jagiełło, Krzysztof Rewiuk, Katarzyna Mitręga, Zbigniew Kalarus Prevalence and factors predisposing to potential drug–drug interactions in a Polish community-dwelling geriatric population: An observational, cross-sectional study
- 341 Bartosz Paweł Wojtera, Agnieszka Sobecka, Mateusz Szewczyk, Piotr Machczyński, Wiktoria Maria Suchorska, Wojciech Golusiński CLIC1 plasma concentration is associated with lymph node metastases in oral squamous cell carcinoma
- 349 Mengxi Wang, Yanfen Qiu, Lili Gao, Feng Qi, Liangjia Bi
 The impact of IGF-1 on alveolar bone remodeling and BMP-2 expression in orthodontic tooth movement in diabetic rats
- Lili Guo, Ming Liu, Tao Duan
 Hydrogen suppresses oxidative stress by inhibiting the p38 MAPK signaling pathway in preeclampsia
- 369 Wenhao Cheng, Yumo Lu, Renqiong Chen, Hong Ren, Wenlong Hu The role of the 47-kDa membrane lipoprotein of *Treponema pallidum* in promoting maturation of peripheral blood monocyte-derived dendritic cells without enhancing C-C chemokine receptor type 7-mediated dendritic cell migration

Research letters

- Kannan Sridharan, Rashed Abdulla Al Banna, Aisha Husain
 Time-to-event modeling for achieving a stable warfarin dose using genetic and non-genetic covariates
- 385 Monika Stępień, Natalia Świątoniowska-Lonc, Brygida Knysz, Beata Jankowska-Polańska, Amadeusz Kuźniarski, Agnieszka Piwowar, Małgorzata Zalewska An epidemiological and retrospective study in a cohort qualified for SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in the region of Lower Silesia, Poland

No. 4 (April)

Editorials

- 395 Adonis Sfera, Sabine Hazan, Zisis Kozlakidis, Carolina Klein Microbiota-derived psychedelics: Lessons from COVID-19
- 401 Giuliano Piccoliori, Verena Barbieri, Christian J. Wiedermann, Adolf Engl Special roles of rural primary care and family medicine in improving vaccine hesitancy

Meta-analyses

407 Yueqiao Chen, Wenjie Bai, Dewen Mao, Fuli Long, Na Wang, Kejing Wang, Qinglan Shi The relationship between non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and incidence of chronic kidney disease for diabetic and non-diabetic subjects: A meta-analysis

Original papers

- 415 Shuilong Zhuang, Qing Xu, Youfu Li, Ke Hu, Zhengcai Xia, Lin Zhang Serum TBK1 levels are correlated with inflammation, optic nerve sheath diameter and intracranial pressure in severe traumatic brain injury patients under deep sedation
- 423 Lulu Tian, Juan Wu, Zhan Qi, Shijing Qian, Sha Zhang, Danfei Song, Beilei Chen, Deqiu Zhu Drug-related problems among community-dwelling elderly with ischemic stroke in China
- Jun Li, Minli Song, Siyuan Li, Xiling Wang, Huirong Zhao, Zexin Hou
 The relationship between *LRP5* rs556442 and rs638051 polymorphisms and mutations and their influence on bone metabolism in postmenopausal Xinjiang women with type 2 diabetes
- 441 Michał Kosowski, Katarzyna Swoboda, Jan Chmura, Dorota Kustrzycka-Kratochwil, John A. Todd, Ewa A. Jankowska, Krzysztof Reczuch, Piotr Ponikowski
 Inflammatory activation biomarker profile after marathon running and its impact on cardiovascular stress in amateur middle-aged male runners
- 449 Levent Demirtas, Mehmet Gürbüzel, Hilal Tahirler, Emin Murat Akbas, Ozhan Karatas, Yusuf Kemal Arslan **The effects of sorafenib in healthy and cisplatin-treated rats**
- 457 Manfeng Wang, Meiling Liu, Wanzhen Xu, Zongyan Teng, Xiaowei Wu, Lu Gan, Yina Zhang Sulforaphane reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation and enhances myogenic differentiation of mouse embryonic myoblasts via the toll-like receptor 4 and NLRP3 pathways
- Ronghua Zhang, Meimei Wang, Hongjian Lu, Jingyao Wang, Xiangyang Han, Zhiyong Liu, Lin Li, Mingming Li, Xiaoli Tian, Shuang Chen, Guangling Zhang, Yanan Xiong, Jingwu Li
 A miR-340/SPP1 axis inhibits the activation and proliferation of hepatic stellate cells by inhibiting the TGF-β1/Smads pathway
- 481 Jarosław Koza, Ariel Liebert, Iga Hołyńska-Iwan, Elżbieta Piskorska, Piotr Kaczorowski Reduced sodium absorption in the colon under serotonin is a potential factor aggravating secretory diarrhea

Research letters

- 489 Mei-Lian Xie, Jun-Xia Zhang, Zhi-Yun Zhang, Zhao-Xia Lin
 Awareness and practice of preventive measures among healthcare workers in medical institutions in Beijing during influenza season on the eve of COVID-19 epidemic: A cross-sectional survey
- 497 Łukasz Kołodziej, Alina Jurewicz, Magdalena Gębska
 Nursing interventions reduce postoperative urinary retention in fast-track total hip arthroplasty: A pilot study

No. 5 (May)

Editorials

505 Masaru Tanaka, Ágnes Szabó, Laszlo Vécsei Preclinical modeling in depression and anxiety: Current challenges and future research directions

Meta-analyses

- 511 Xiaojing Hu, Lili Pan, Wenjie Li
 Meta-analysis on the efficacy of the norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors reboxetine and atomoxetine for the treatment of schizophrenia and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
- 523 Yuanli Sun, Xiangchun Wu Complications of implanted port catheters and peripherally inserted central catheters in chemotherapy-treated cancer patients: A meta-analysis

Original papers

- 533 Yongjun Hu, Yi Shen, Ding Chen, Weiye Zhong Effects of arthroscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction combined with sodium hyaluronate on knee function and inflammatory markers in anterior cruciate ligament injury patients with or without knee osteoarthritis
- 539 Piotr Łacina, Rachel E. Crossland, Joanna Wielińska, Anna Czyż, Agnieszka Szeremet, Marek Ussowicz, Tomasz Wróbel, Anne M. Dickinson, Katarzyna Bogunia-Kubik
 Differential expression of miRNAs from extracellular vesicles in chronic graft-versus-host disease: A preliminary study
- 545 Ayse Gul Ferlengez, Cihad Tatar, Mahmut Said Degerli, Adil Koyuncu,
 Fatih Alper Ahlatci, Ali Emre Nayci, Aziz Ari, Ufuk Oguz Idiz
 The role of serum nesfatin-1 in a rat model of acute pancreatitis
- 551 Hongxun Sang, Renli Zhao, Guohua Lai, Zhiwei Deng, Weida Zhuang, Mingjie Wu, Jiachang Wu Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes attenuate the maturation of dendritic cells and reduce the rejection of allogeneic transplantation
- 563 Xiaoying Jiang, Xue Chen, RuoXi Dong, Jiawen Wang, Yibin Pan, Yongqing Cao
 Establishment of a mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease using dextran sulfate sodium
- 575 Wenke Li, Yourang Jiang, Qi Pan, Guang Yang miR-29a-5p regulates the malignant biological process of liver cancer cells through ARID2 regulation of EMT
- 583 Weiqiang Gan, Yanhong Kang, Yingjie Wu, Jianyun Zhu, Youming Chen, Jianyu Kuang, Jianguo Li, Lin Yang Hepatitis B virus X protein induces *p16* gene promoter methylation through upregulation of DNA methylation transferases DNMT1 and DNMT3A
- 593 Meihong Cai, Zhen Hu, Lin Liu, Jiangwei Su hsa_circ_0038382 upregulates T-box transcription factor 5 to inhibit keloid formation by interacting with miR-940

No. 6 (June)

Editorials

607 Francesco Di Gregorio, Simone Battaglia Advances in EEG-based functional connectivity approaches to the study of the central nervous system in health and disease

Meta-analyses

- 613 Shengqiang Zhou, Bo Li, Yihui Deng, Jian Yi, Guo Mao, Ruizhen Wang, Wen Zeng, Baiyan Liu, Dahua Wu, Fang Liu Meta-analysis of the relations between gut microbiota and pathogens and Parkinson's disease
- 623 Ting Li, Xiumei Zou, Yujuan Kang, Mingzhu Sun, Xi Huang, Xiaoyan Duan A meta-analysis of the effect of multidisciplinary comprehensive care on health-related quality of life and Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale in Parkinson's disease
- Bo Wang, Ji Xie, Yao Teng
 A meta-analysis of the effects of probiotics on various parameters in critically ill ventilated individuals

Original papers

- 643 Tianjiu Zhang, Yifa Ji, Song Yu, Nankai Wang, Qixiao Zhang, Kaicheng Guo Rspo1 inhibited apoptosis of glucocorticoid-induced osteoblasts via Wnt/β-catenin pathway in Legg–Calve–Perthes disease
- Li Sun, Guangsheng Gao, Xingsheng Wang, Xinxin Zhang, Yun Li
 Protective effect of basic helix-loop-helix family member e40 on cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury:
 Inhibition of apoptosis via repressing the transcription of pleckstrin homology-like domain family A, member 1
- Małgorzata Grotowska, Piotr Harbut, Claes Frostell, Waldemar Goździk
 Fluid resuscitation, but not inhaled nitric oxide, improves microcirculation in septic pigs
- 677 Xianyi Cheng, Xiulan Deng, Huiping Zeng, Tao Zhou, Dezhi Li, Wei V. Zheng Silencing of TMED5 inhibits proliferation, migration and invasion, and enhances apoptosis of hepatocellular carcinoma cells
- 689 Yunfei Cheng Hsa-circ-0000098 promotes the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma by regulation of miR-136-5p/MMP2 axis

Reviews

- Fei Xue, Xin Liu, Xiao Qi, Jiajing Zhou, Yongjun Liu
 The clinical research study for fosaprepitant to prevent chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting: A review
- 707 Yeshun Wu, Hongqing Xu, Xiaoming Tu, Zhenyan Gao **Review of the epidemiology, pathogenesis and prevention of atrial fibrillation after pacemaker implantation**

No. 7 (July)

Meta-analyses

723 Chunxiu Wang, Cuicui Zhang Meta-analysis to assess the role of maternal characteristics and risk factors on postpartum hemorrhage

- Rui Chen, Hao Jiang, Wei Jiang, Kangjia Luo, Hao Zhang, Feng Gao
 Effects of different inferior mesenteric artery ligation levels on the prognosis of patients with low rectal cancer
- 741 Hongwei Tang, Nan Zhang, Huan Li, Ying Chen, Xinlei Liu, Hongbo Xiao, Jianchuan Deng, Kang Zhou
 TG-interacting factor 1 improves risk stratification in patients with NPM1-mutated acute myeloid leukemia
- 753 Fang Li, Fang-Jian Zhou, Tong-Wei Zhu, Hua-Li Qiu, Xiao-Ting Zhang, Bo-Wen Ruan, De-Yi Huang Nomogram for predicting skip metastasis in cNO papillary thyroid cancer patients at increased risk of lymph node metastasis

- 763 Haotian Shang, Aiguo Xu, Haicui Yan, Dandan Xu, Jingyu Zhang, Xinjian Fang PIEZO2 promotes cell proliferation and metastasis in colon carcinoma through the SLIT2/ROBO1/VEGFC pathway
- 777 Anna Junkiert-Czarnecka, Maria Pilarska-Deltow, Aneta Bąk, Marta Heise, Olga Haus A novel mutation in collagen transport protein, *MIA3* gene, detected in a patient with clinical symptoms of Ehlers–Danlos hypermobile syndrome
- 783 Tomasz Mackiewicz, Jakub Włodarczyk, Marta Zielińska, Marcin Włodarczyk, Adam Durczyński, Piotr Hogendorf, Łukasz Dziki, Jakub Fichna Increased GPR35 expression in human colorectal and pancreatic cancer samples: A preliminary clinical validation of a new biomarker
- Zhijie Wei, Rui Wu, Li Zhang, Ping Xu
 ATPIF1 alleviates oxygen glucose deprivation/reoxygenation-induced astrocyte injury in vitro:
 A rat model of ischemic brain injury
- Xigang Wen, Wenling Han, Chao Liu
 hsa_circ_0017842 acts as a competing endogenous RNA to enhance the malignancy of gastric cancer

Reviews

Niloufar Najar Nobari, Masoumeh Roohaninasab, Afsaneh Sadeghzadeh-Bazargan,
 Azadeh Goodarzi, Elham Behrangi, Farahnaz Nikkhah, Mohammadreza Ghassemi
 A systematic review of clinical trials using single or combination therapy of oral or topical finasteride for women in reproductive age and postmenopausal women with hormonal and nonhormonal androgenetic alopecia

No. 8 (August)

Editorials

829 Idris Demirsoy, Adnan Karaibrahimoglu Identifying drug interactions using machine learning

Meta-analyses

Shuheng Yang, Yadong Zhou, Lei Zeng
 Regorafenib compared to nivolumab after sorafenib failure in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma:
 A systematic review and meta-analysis

- 847 Zexin Hou, Lili Zhao, Lingjun Zou, Benlan Li
 The prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in non-small cell lung cancer patients who received neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery
- Shu Wang, YuQi Zhu, Xiaohan Qian, Tianling Ding, Yan Yuan, Yuan Li, Hanfeng Wu, Tong Chen
 The outcome of ibrutinib-based regimens in relapsed/refractory central nervous system lymphoma and the potential impact of genomic variants
- 865 Shujun Wang, Weiwei Ding, Ying Du, Qing Qi, Kaiyun Luo, Jianfeng Luan, Yanfei Shen, Baoan Chen Allogeneic platelet gel therapy for refractory abdominal wound healing: A preliminary study
- 873 Lan Li, Xiaoyan Wu, Lemin He, Rong Luo, LiQiong Lou
 Serum levels of SOCS6 are decreased in diabetic retinopathy and are related to severity of the disease
- Sami Bilici, Durdu Altuner, Zeynep Suleyman, Seval Bulut, Cengiz Sarigul, Mine Gulaboglu,
 Fikret Altindag, Adalet Ozcicek, Cebrail Gursul, Halis Suleyman
 Favipiravir-induced inflammatory and hydropic degenerative liver injury in rats

889	Xiangyu Qi, Qingbo Guan, Wenjing Zhang, Xinshuang Huang, Chunxiao Yu The time-dependent adverse effects of a high-fat diet on sperm parameters
901	Tomáš Ventruba, Pavel Ventruba, Michal Ješeta, Jana Žáková, Eva Lousová, Igor Crha, Tereza Souralová, Irena Koutná, Aleš Hampl The contribution of donated human embryos suitable for the production of embryonic stem cells

909 Nan Wang, Daquan Jiang, Chunxiu Zhou, Xi Han Alpha-solanine inhibits endothelial inflammation via nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway

to increase the quality of life: Selection and preparation of embryos in the Czech Republic

Reviews

921 Karolina Fiona Osypko, Michał Piotr Ciszyński, Paweł Kubasiewicz-Ross, Jakub Hadzik Bone tissue 3D bioprinting in regenerative dentistry through the perspective of the diamond concept of healing: A narrative review

No. 9 (September)

Editorials

- 937 Chong Chen, Shin Nakagawa Recent advances in the study of the neurobiological mechanisms behind the effects of physical activity on mood, resilience and emotional disorders
- 943 Markku Kurkinen Lecanemab (Leqembi) is not the right drug for patients with Alzheimer's disease
- 949 Marek Misiak, Donata Kurpas In a blink of an eye: Graphical abstracts in *Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine*

Original papers

- 969 Feng Gao, Ran Huo, Fagang Wang, Renrong Lv, Feng Xue, Jian Zhang, Guangqi Xu, Jianhai Bi, Zhen Meng, Cong Fu Does autologous fat grafting serve the need for reconstructive surgery in oral cancer patients? A prospective evaluation in cosmetic surgery patients
- 977 Mesut Yıldız, Kerim Deniz Batun, Hakan Şahinoğlu, Muhammed Selim Eryılmaz, Bilge Özel, Beyzanur Ataoğlu, Seyhan Ergin Hıdıroğlu Suicide among doctors in Turkey: Differences across gender, medical specialty and the method of suicide
- 987 Tomasz Kamil Urbanowicz, Michał Rodzki, Michał Michalak, Anna Olasińska-Wiśniewska, Anna Witkowska, Beata Krasińska, Michał Bociański, Aleksandra Krasińska-Płachta, Agnieszka Cieśla, Sebastian Stefaniak, Marek Jemielity, Zbigniew Krasiński Large unstained cell (LUC) count as a predictor of carotid artery occlusion
- 997 Jarosław Szymon Świrta, Gracjan Wątor, Michał Seweryn, Przemysław Kapusta, Marcin Barczyński, Paweł Wołkow Expression of micro-ribonucleic acids in thyroid nodules and serum to discriminate between follicular adenoma and cancer in patients with a fine needle aspiration biopsy classified as suspicious for follicular neoplasm: A preliminary study
- 1009 Agnieszka Ewa Zawada, Dariusz Naskręt, Stanisław Piłaciński, Anna Adamska, Marian Grzymisławski, Piotr Eder, Agata Grzelka-Woźniak, Dorota Zozulińska-Ziółkiewicz, Agnieszka Dobrowolska Helicobacter pylori infection is associated with increased accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the skin in patients with type 1 diabetes: A preliminary study
- 1017 Ping Liu, Juanjuan Wang, Weixing Du, Lianhua Chen LncRNA SNHG12 promotes proliferation and migration of hepatic progenitor cells via the Wnt/β-catenin pathway

Reviews

1029 Patrycja Aleksandra Bukłaho, Joanna Kiśluk, Natalia Wasilewska, Jacek Nikliński Molecular features as promising biomarkers in ovarian cancer

- 1041 Anna Olasińska-Wiśniewska, Tomasz Kamil Urbanowicz, Marcin Michał Gładki, Waldemar Bobkowski, Dominika Zalas, Marek Jemielity **The beneficial role of simple inflammatory blood indices in pediatric cardiology**
- 1049 Karolina Ewa Chodór-Rozwadowska, Magdalena Sawicka, Stanisław Morawski, Radosław Lenarczyk, Zbigniew Kalarus, Tomasz Kukulski Lead-related tricuspid regurgitation and ventricle dysfunction: Current management and future perspectives
- Mateusz Szmit, Rafał Krajewski, Jerzy Rudnicki, Siddarth Agrawal
 Application and efficacy of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation (TEAS) in clinical practice:
 A systematic review

Research letters

1075 Francesco Di Mario, Pellegrino Crafa, Lorella Franzoni, Antonio Tursi, Giovanni Brandimarte, Michele Russo, Kryssia Isabel Rodriguez-Castro, Marilisa Franceschi, Nicola De Bortoli, Edoardo Savarino A comparison of different symptomatic reflux esophagitis treatments: A real-world study

No. 10 (October)

Editorials

1085 Markku Kurkinen Donanemab: Not two without a third

Meta-analysis

- 1089 Yuxiao Chen, Jie Sun, Zhen Yang, Hongyan Bi Efficacy and safety of negative allosteric modulators of 5-hydroxytryptamine 2A receptors in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease psychosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis
- Xiangyu Li, Weiying Zheng, Xi Zhang, Yuwen Zhang
 Meta-analysis of outcomes related to the quality of life after orthodontic-surgical treatment

Original papers

- 1113 Guijiang Wei, Meiying Tan, Chunfang Wang, Lina Liang
 Decreased miR-127 promotes the occurrence of breast cancer via increasing the expression of SPP1
- 1125 Mateusz Maligłówka, Łukasz Bułdak, Marcin Cyrnek, Marcin Hachuła, Michał Kosowski, Marcin Basiak, Witold Szkróbka, Joanna Bosowska, Maciej Cebula, Michał Holecki, Bogusław Okopień Initial clinical, laboratory and radiological features of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients and their impact on the course of the disease
- 1133 Milena Celmer, Krzysztof Międzybrodzki, Mateusz Patyk, Patryk Pozowski, Urszula Zaleska-Dorobisz Application of low-dose hydro-CT using SAFIRE in the evaluation of esophageal cancer
- 1139 Tao Wang, Kun Su, Lianming Wang, Yanmei Shi, Yichun Niu, Yahao Zhou, Ayong Wang, Tao Wu Pan-cancer analysis of the oncogenic effects of G-protein-coupled receptor kinase-interacting protein-1 and validation on liver hepatocellular carcinoma

Research-in-progress

- 1149 Cemalettin Durgun, Abidin Tüzün
 The use of a loose seton as a definitive surgical treatment for anorectal abscesses and complex anal fistulas
- 1159 Elżbieta Szlenk-Czyczerska, Donata Kurpas Indicators of integrated care for patients with chronic cardiovascular disease in ambulatory care

Reviews

- 1167 Dan Sun, Ping Sun, Zhengyan Wang
 Assessment and therapeutic management of acute asthma: The approaches of nursing staff in patient care
- 1179 Damian Lewandowski, Anna Szewczyk, Justyna Radzka, Magda Dubińska-Magiera, Weronika Kazimierczak, Małgorzata Daczewska, Marta Migocka-Patrzałek **The natural origins of cytostatic compounds used in rhabdomyosarcoma therapy**

Research letters

- 1193 Magdalena Gębska, Magdalena Frąszczak, Bartosz Dalewski, Łukasz Kołodziej Qualitative and quantitative assessment of headaches in people with temporomandibular joint disorders: A pilot study
- Agnieszka Zajkowska, Milena Czajka, Krystian Gulik, Krzysztof Gawrychowski, Maciej Małecki
 Profiling of microRNA as a tool to introduce rAAV vectors in gene therapy of breast cancer:
 A preliminary report

No. 11 (November)

Meta-analysis

- Qiongxiang Qiu, Yumin He, Wenjuan Li, Ximiao Ma, Xuehua Feng
 The impact of suction addition to simple water seal on the outcomes after pulmonary surgery: A meta-analysis
- Zeyu Bi, Ling Wang, Wei Wang
 Evaluating the effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on cognitive function in Alzheimer's disease:
 A systematic review and meta-analysis

- 1233 Betül Doğantekin, Başak Çakır Güney, Semiha Çelik Ekinci, Zeliha Serindağ, Nurgül Tükel, Sinem Akkaya Işık, Süleyman Kılıç, Mustafa Kaplan Pulmonary-specific quality of life and dyspnea among patients hospitalized for coronavirus disease 2019: Evaluation of patient groups 1, 3 and 6 months after discharge
- 1241 Radomir Barac, Jovanka Gašić, Jelena Popović, Marija Nikolić, Slavica Sunarić, Dušan Petković, Aleksandar Mitić, Nenad Stošić, Nina Burić In vitro effect of beer, red and white wine on the morphology and surface roughness of human enamel
- Andrzej Przybylski, Dariusz Jagielski, Bruno Hrymniak, Marcin Michalak, Tomasz Wójcik, Paweł Syska, Tomasz Fabiszak,
 Jakub Rokicki, Barbara Małecka, Andrzej Ząbek, Krzysztof Kaczmarek, Lech Zaręba, Maciej Sterliński
 Employment of the Evolution RL sheath as a first-choice device shortens transvenous lead extraction time without
 affecting procedural safety and efficacy compared to its auxiliary use: Insights from the prospective multicenter EVO registry
- 1257 Zuzanna Grzech-Leśniak, Kinga Grzech-Leśniak, Marwan El Mobadder
 Diagnosis, management and knowledge of halitosis among Polish and Lebanese dentists: Questionnaire-based survey
- 1265 Yihong Yan, Shangkun Yu, Yongmei Fan mTOR/ULK1 signaling axis mediated ultrashort wave regulation of autophagy to alleviate diabetic kidney disease
- 1279 Jing Huan, Cui-Ping You, Yu-Cheng Lu, Feng-Yuan Che Exploring the anti-glioma mechanism of the active components of Cortex Periplocae based on network pharmacology and iTRAQ proteomics in vitro
- Hua Wang, Lin Liu, Huzhi Cai
 Ginsenoside Rb3 reduces ox-LDL-induced injury in human aortic endothelial cells by regulating the miR-513a-5p/ZBTB20 axis
- 1299 Dariusz Szarek, Grzegorz Miękisiak, Tomasz Szmuda, Justyna Fercho, Samuel Pettersson, Lech Kipiński The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the number of brain tumor surgeries in Poland: A national database study

Research letters

- 1311 Leszek Marzec, Grażyna Skotnicka-Klonowicz, Janusz P. Sikora Pain management in children with burns before admission to the ward: Analysis of selected parts of pre-hospital medical records
- 1319 Anna M. Krupińska, Zdzisław Bogucki

Evaluation of patients' awareness and knowledge regarding dental implants among patients of the Department of Prosthetic Dentistry at Wroclaw Medical University in Poland

No. 12 (December)

Editorials

Marek Misiak, Donata Kurpas
 Types of articles in Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine in 2021 and 2022:
 Editors' perspective

Meta-analysis

- Haiyan Zhuo, Jinhai Fan, Lvfeng Yao, Liqing Zheng, Yihong Chai
 MDR3 rs2109505 and rs1202283 polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy: A meta-analysis
- 1357 Lulu Yan, Chunmei Pu, Sanjay Rastogi, Rupshikha Choudhury, Magesh Kumar Shekar, Gitartha Talukdar Evaluating the influence of health literacy and health-promoting COVID-19 protective behaviors on the spread of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic: A meta-analysis

- Didem Gülcü Taskin, Aysun Ata
 The value of mid-upper arm circumference for malnutrition screening in pediatric celiac disease
- 1377 Izabela Pilarska, Kinga Grabska, Jan Stachurski
 Suicide attempts among children and adolescents admitted to a Polish Emergency Department: Analysis of epidemiology, circumstances and methods of 154 cases
- Michał Barski, Natalia Jermakow, Katarzyna Barska, Jacek Siewiera
 Evaluation of the effects of hyperbaric on human attention functions based on eye movements recorded using an infrared camera
- Fabiola Guzmán-Mejía, Marycarmen Godínez-Victoria, Ana Lilia García-Hernández,
 Jennifer Karume Gutierrez-Galicia, Daniel Efrain Molotla Torres, Maria Elisa Drago-Serrano
 Regionalized analysis of gut barrier components in the small intestine of BALB/c mice
 following chronic immobilization stress
- 1401 Dongxiao Wang, Shitao He, Guoqiang Zhong, Jianjun Meng, Qi Bi, Ronghui Tu Effects of heat shock protein 90 on complement activation in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury after pioglitazone preconditioning
- 1413 Jian-Bo Lin, Yan-Xun Chen, Nan-Long Lin, Xu Li Upregulation of ITGB6 in primary palmar hyperhidrosis
- 1423 Xueying Li, Mengli Gu, Qiying Hu, Yihui Weng, Xianlei Cai Development and validation of metabolic models for predicting survival and immune status of hepatocellular carcinoma patients

Reviews

Ryusei Nishi, Takamasa Fukumoto, Akihiro Asakawa
 Possible effect of natural light on emotion recognition and the prefrontal cortex:
 A scoping review of near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy

Research letters

- 1453 Dasen Yuan, Liping Shen, Bang-e Qin, Xiaofeng Xu, Zhihui Su, Jia Liu, Han Xia, Fuhua Peng, Ying Jiang
 Central nervous system nocardiosis diagnosed by metagenomic next-generation sequencing:
 A case series and literature review
- 1465 Karolina Gumiężna, Adrian Bednarek, Grażyna Sygitowicz, Piotr Baruś, Agnieszka Wiśniewska,
 Dominika Klimczak-Tomaniak, Janusz Kochman, Grzegorz Opolski, Marcin Grabowski, Mariusz Tomaniak
 Immature platelet fraction and immature platelet count as novel biomarkers of elevated platelet reactivity
 in NSTE-ACS patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy

Index of Authors

Abut Yesim Cokay 113 Adamczyk Piotr 65 Adamska Anna 1009 Agrawal Siddarth 1063 Ahlatci Fatih Alper 545 Akbas Emin Murat 449 Al Banna Rashed Abdulla 379 Alessio Massimo 107 Algassir Noor 107 Altindag Fikret 881 Altuner Durdu 881 Ari Aziz 545 Arslan Yusuf Kemal 81, 449 Asakawa Akihiro 1441 Ata Aysun 1369 Ataoğlu Beyzanur 977 Bai Wenjie 407 Baltali Sevim 113 Banasiak Waldemar 211 Barac Radomir 1741 Barbieri Verena 401 Barczyński Marcin 997 Barska Katarzyna 1385 Barski Michał 1385 Baruś Piotr 1465 Basiak Marcin 1125 Battaglia Simone 607 Batun Kerim Deniz 977 Bak Aneta 777 Bednarek Adrian 1465 Behrangi Elham 813 Bi Hongyan 1089 Bi Jianhai 969 349 Bi Liangjia Bi Qi 1401 Bi Zevu 1223 Bilici Sami 881 Błeszyńska-Marunowska Emilia 331 Bobkowski Waldemar 1041 Bociański Michał 987 Bogucki Zdzisław 1319 Bogunia-Kubik Katarzyna 539 Bolat Kubra 113 Bortoli Nicola De 1075

Bosowska Joanna 1125 Brandimarte Giovanni 1075 Breda Daniela 107 Brykczyński Mirosław 57 Bukłaho Patrycja Aleksandra 1029 Bulut Seval 881 Bułdak Łukasz 1125 Burastero Samuele E. 107 Burić Nina 1241 1291 Cai Huzhi 593 Cai Meihong Cai Xianlei 1423 Cao Pu 97 Cao Yongging 563 Cebula Maciej 1125 Celmer Milena 1133 Chai Yihong 1347 Che Feng-Yuan 315, 1279 Chen Baoan 865 Chen Beilei 423 Chen Bo 71 Chen Chong 937 Chen Ding 533 Chen Lianhua 1017 Chen Rengiong 369 Chen Rui 733 Chen Shuang 469 Chen Tong 855 Chen Xiaomin 233 Chen Xing 275 Chen Xue 563 Chen Yan-Xun 1413 Chen Ying 741 Chen Youming 583 Chen Yuegiao 407 1089 Chen Yuxiao Chen Zan-Xiong 307 Chen Zhen 285 Chen Zhen-Oiu 43 Cheng Wenhao 369 Cheng Xianyi 677 Cheng Yunfei 689 Chmura Jan 441 Chodór-Rozwadowska Karolina Ewa 1049

Choromańska Anna 5 Choudhury Rupshikha 1357 Ciechanowicz Andrzej 57 Cieśla Agnieszka 987 Cimen Ferda Keskin 81 Ciszyński Michał Piotr 921 Conti Antonio 107 Crafa Pellegrino 1075 Crhalgor 901 Crossland Rachel E. 539 Cui Xiangxiang 163 Cvrnek Marcin 1125 Czajka Milena 1201 Czyż Anna 539 Daczewska Małgorzata 1179 Dalewski Bartosz 1193 Dańczura Ewa 117 Degerli Mahmut Said 545 Dejnek Maciej 203 Demirsov Idris 829 Demirtas Levent 449 Deng Jianchuan 741 Deng Xiulan 677 Deng Yihui 613 Deng Zhiwei 551 Debowska Małgorzata 131 Dickinson Anne M. 539 Ding Tianling 855 Ding Weiwei 865 Długosz-Danecka Monika 131 Dobrowolska Agnieszka 1009 Doğantekin Betül 1233 Dong RuoXi 563 Drago-Serrano Maria Elisa 1393 Drozd-Sokołowska Joanna 131 Drozdzowska Bogna 65, 245 Du Weixing 1017 Du Ying 865 Duan Tao 357 Duan Xiaoyan 623 Dubińska-Magiera Magda 1179 Durczyński Adam 783 Durgun Cemalettin 1149 Dyrla Wioletta 125

Dziki Łukasz 783 Eder Piotr 1009 Ekinci Semiha Çelik 1233 Engl Adolf 401 Erden Veysel 113 Eren Gulav Asik 113 Ermiş İşılay Sezen 297 Eryılmaz Muhammed Selim 977 Fabiszak Tomasz 1249 Fan Jinhai 1347 Fan Yongmei 1265 Fang Xinjian 763 Feng Linya 31 Feng Xuehua 1215 Fercho Justyna 1299 Ferlengez Ayse Gul 545 Fichna Jakub 783 Filipiak-Strzecka Dominika 267 Flegg Karen 9 Franceschi Marilisa 1075 Franzoni Lorella 1075 Fraszczak Magdalena 1193 Frostell Claes 667 Fu Cong 969 Fukumoto Takamasa 1441 Gan Lu 457 Gan Weigiang 583 Gao Feng 733, 969 Gao Guangsheng 655 Gao Lili 349 Gao Zhenyan 707 García-Hernández Ana Lilia 1393 Gašić Jovanka 1241 Gawrychowski Krzysztof 1201 Gębska Magdalena 497, 1193 Ghassemi Mohammadreza 813 Giza Agnieszka 131 Gładki Marcin Michał 1041 Godínez-Victoria Marycarmen 1393 Golusiński Wojciech 341 Goodarzi Azadeh 813 Goździk Waldemar 667 Grabek-Kujawa Hanna 117 Grabowski Marcin 1465 Grabska Kinga 1377

Grotowska Małgorzata 667 Grzech-Leśniak Kinga 1257 Grzech-Leśniak Zuzanna 1257 Grzelka-Woźniak Agata 1009 Grzymisławski Marian 1009 Gu Mengli 1423 Guan Qingbo 889 Gulaboglu Mine 81, 881 Gulik Krystian 1201 Gumiężna Karolina 1465 Güney Başak Çakır 1233 Guo Haochun 13 Guo Kaicheng 643 Guo Lili 357 Guo Wanying 175 Guo Xiangchai 233 Gürbüzel Mehmet 449 Gursul Cebrail 881 Gutierrez-Galicia Jennifer Karume 1393 Guzmán-Mejía Fabiola 1393 Hachuła Marcin 1125 Hadzik Jakub 921 Hampl Aleš 901 Han Wenling 803 Han Xi 909 Han Xiangyang 469 Harbut Piotr 667 Haus Olga 777 Hazan Sabine 395 He Jun-Lian 307 He Lemin 873 He Shitao 1401 He Songmei 71 He Wei 43 1215 He Yumin Heise Marta 777 Hıdıroğlu Seyhan Ergin 977 Hogendorf Piotr 783 Hoika-Osińska Anna 125 Holecki Michał 1125 Hołyńska-Iwan Iga 481 Hou Dongjie 233 Hou Zexin 433, 847 Hrymniak Bruno 1249 Hu Ke 415 Hu Qiying 1423

Gregorio Francesco Di

607

Hu Wenlong 369 Hu Xiaojing 511 Hu Yonaiun 533 Hu Zhen 593 Huan Jing 1279 Huang Bin 13 Huang De-Yi 753 Huang Shuangshuang 31 Huang Xi 623 Huang Xinshuang 889 Huo Ran 969 Hus Iwona 131 Husain Aisha 379 Idiz Ufuk Oguz 545 Isık Sinem Akkaya 1233 Jagielski Dariusz 1249 Jagiełło Kacper 331 Jankowska Ewa A. 441 Jankowska-Polańska Beata 385 Jemielity Marek 987, 1041 Jermakow Natalia 1385 Ješeta Michal 901 Jedryka Marcin 141 Ji Yifa 643 Jiang Daguan 909 31, 733 Jiang Hao Jiang Wei 733 Jiang Xiaoying 563 Jiang Yang 71 **Jiang Ying** 1453 Jiang Yourang 575 Jin Weigun 233 Joks Monika 131 Josiak Krystian 211 Junkiert-Czarnecka Anna 777 Jurewicz Alina 497 Kaczmarczyk Mariusz 57 Kaczmarek Krzysztof 1249 Kaczmarzyk Tomasz 245 Kaczorowski Piotr 481 Kalarus Zbigniew 331, 1049 Kalicińska Elżbieta 131 Kang Yanhong 583 Kang Yujuan 623 Kaplan Mustafa 1233

997 Kapusta Przemysław Karaibrahimoglu Adnan 829 Karatas Ozhan 449 Kasprzak Jarosław D. 267 Kazimierczak Weronika 1179 Kılıç Süleyman 1233 Kipiński Lech 1299 Kisiel Olga 211 Kisielowski Konrad 245 Kiśluk Joanna 1029 Klein Carolina 395 Klimczak-Tomaniak Dominika 125, 1465 Knysz Brygida 385 Kochman Janusz 1465 Kołcz Anna 203 Kołodziej Łukasz 497, 1193 Końska Agnieszka 131 Kosowski Michał 441, 1125 Kotarska Martyna 131 Koutná Irena 901 Koyuncu Adil 545 481 Koza Jarosław Kozlakidis Zisis 395 Krajewski Rafał 1063 Krasińska Beata 987 Krasińska-Płachta Aleksandra 987 Krasiński Zbigniew 987 Królikowska Aleksandra 203 Krupińska Anna M. 1319 Kuang Jianyu 583 Kubasiewicz-Ross Paweł 921 Kuch Marek 125 Kucharska-Mazur Jolanta 117 Kucia Magdalena 125 Kukulski Tomasz 1049 943, 1085 Kurkinen Markku Kurpas Donata 949, 1159, 1333 Kustrzycka-Kratochwil Dorota 441 Kuźniarski Amadeusz 385 Lai Guohua 551 Lech-Maranda Ewa 131 Lei Xiaoyong 97 Lenarczyk Radosław 1049 Lewandowski Damian 1179 Lewicka Barbara 131 Li Benlan 847 LiBo 613

Li Dezhi 677 Li Fang 753 741 Li Huan Li Jianguo 583 Li Jingwu 469 Li Jun 433 873 Li Lan 185,469 Li Lin Li Mingming 469 Li Qing 97 Li Shuangdi 195 Li Siyuan 433 Li Ting 623 Li Wenjie 511 Li Wenjuan 1215 Li Wenke 575 Li Xiangyu 1099 Li Xiaoli 23 Li Xu 1413 Li Xueying 1423 Li Ye 185 Li Youfu 415 855 Li Yuan Li Yun 655 Liang Lina 1113 Liebert Ariel 481 Lin Jian-Bo 1413 Lin Nan-Long 1413 Lin Zhao-Xia 489 Lipiec Piotr 267 613 Liu Baiyan Liu Chao 803 Liu Fang 613 Liu Hong-Qian 307 Liu Jia 1453 Liu Lin 593, 1291 Liu Meiling 457 Liu Mina 357 Liu Ping 1017 Liu Xia 71 Liu Xiao-Hua 43 Liu Xin 701 Liu Xinlei 741 Liu Yongjun 701 Liu Zhiyong 469 Long Fuli 407 Lou Li-Qiong 873 Lousová Eva 901

Lu Hongjian 469 Lu Yu-Cheng 1279 Lu Yumo 369 Luan Jianfeng 865 Lubiński Wojciech 117 Luo Kaiyun 865 733 Luo Kangija Luo Rong 873 Lv Renrong 969 Łacina Piotr 539 Ma Xiaojun 23 Ma Ximiao 1215 Machczyński Piotr 341 Mackiewicz Tomasz 783 Mai Agnieszka 203 Maligłówka Mateusz 1125 Małecka Barbara 1249 Małecki Maciej 1201 Mao Dewen 407 Mao Guo 613 Mao Ji-Gang 43 Mario Francesco Di 1075 Marzec Leszek 1311 1401 Meng Jianjun Meng Zhen 969 Michalak Marcin 987, 1249 Miedzybrodzki Krzysztof 1133 Miękisiak Grzegorz 1299 Migocka-Patrzałek Marta 1179 Misiak Marek 949, 1333 Mitić Aleksandar 1241 Mitrega Katarzyna 331 Mobadder Marwan El 1257 Molotla Torres Daniel Efrain 1393 Morawska Marta 131 Morawski Stanisław 1049 Mularczyk Maciej 117 Nakagawa Shin 937 1009 Naskret Dariusz Nayci Ali Emre 545 Nikkhah Farahnaz 813 Nikliński Jacek 1029 Nikolić Marija 1241 Nishi Ryusei 1441 Niu Yichun 1139

Nobari Niloufar Najar 813 Nong Jifei 219 Öcal Aydın 297 Okopień Bogusław 1125 Olasińska-Wiśniewska Anna 987, 1041 Olmez Hasan 81 Osypko Karolina Fiona 921 Ozcicek Adalet 881 Özel Bilge 977 Özgökçe Çağdaş 297 Palka Monika 131 Pan Lili 511 Pan Qi 575 Pan Yibin 563 Paszkiewicz-Kozik Ewa 131 Patyk Mateusz 1133 Peng Fuhua 1453 Peng Peng 43 Petković Dušan 1241 Pettersson Samuel 1299 Piccoliori Giuliano 401 Pilarska Izabela 1377 Pilarska-Deltow Maria 777 Piłaciński Stanisław 1009 Piskorska Elżbieta 481 Piwowar Agnieszka 385 Pluskiewicz Wojciech 65 Ponikowski Piotr 441 Popović Jelena 1241 Pozowski Patryk 1133 Prill Robert 203 Przybylski Andrzej 1249 Pu Chunmei 1357 Qi Fa-Ying 315 349 Oi Fena 865 Qi Qing Qi Xiangyu 889 701 Oi Xiao Qi Zhan 423 Qian Shijing 423 Qian Xiaohan 855 Qin Bang-e 1453 Qiu Danying 233 Oiu Hua-Li 753 Qiu Qiongxiang 1215

Oiu Xiaohua 71 Qiu Yanfen 349 Radzka Justyna 1179 Rastogi Sanjay 1357 Reczuch Krzysztof 441 Ren Hona 369 Rewiuk Krzysztof 331 Rodriguez-Castro Kryssia Isabel 1075 Rodzki Michał 987 1249 Rokicki Jakub Romejko-Jarosińska Joanna 131 Roohaninasab Masoumeh 813 Rostek-Bogacka Magdalena 125 Ruan Bo-Wen 753 Rudnicki Jerzy 1063 Russo Michele 1075 Sadeghzadeh-Bazargan Afsaneh 813 Şahinoğlu Hakan 977 Samochowiec Jerzy 117 Sang Hongxun 551 Sarigul Cengiz 881 Savarino Edoardo 1075 Sawicka Magdalena 1049 Serindağ Zeliha 1233 Seweryn Michał 997 Sfera Adonis 395 Shang Haotian 763 Shekar Magesh Kumar 1357 Shen Huajuan 233 Shen Liping 1453 Shen Yanfei 865 Shen Yi 533 Shi Qinglan 407 Shi Yanmei 1139 Siennicka Agnieszka Ewa 211 Siewiera Jacek 1385 Sikora Janusz P. 1311 Skotnicka-Klonowicz Grażyna 1311 Skotowska-Machaj Anna 203 Sobecka Agnieszka 341 Song Danfei 423 Song Minli 433 Souralová Tereza 901 Sridharan Kannan 379 Stachurski Jan 1377 Stefaniak Sebastian 987

Sterliński Maciej 1249 Stępień Monika 385 Stošić Nenad 1241 593 Su Jiangwei Su Kun 1139 Su Zhihui 1453 Subocz Edvta 131 Suchorska Wiktoria Maria 341 Suleyman Bahadir 81 Suleyman Halis 881 Suleyman Zeynep 881 Sun Dan 1167 1089 Sun Li 655 Sun Liangwei 23 Sun Mingzhu 623 Sun Pina 1167 Sun Yuanli 523 1241 441 131 1465

Sun Jie

Sunarić Slavica Swoboda Katarzyna Swoboda Ryszard Svoitowicz Grażvna Syska Paweł 1249 Szabó Ágnes 505 Szarek Dariusz 1299 Szeremet Agnieszka 539 Szewczyk Anna 1179 Szewczyk Mateusz 341 Szkróbka Witold 1125 Szlenk-Czyczerska Elżbieta 1159 Szmit Mateusz 1063 Szmuda Tomasz 1299 Szuta Mariusz 245 Szwedowicz Urszula 5 Szymański Marcin 131

Świątoniowska-Lonc Natalia 385 Świrta Jarosław Szymon 997

Tahirler Hilal 449 Talukdar Gitartha 1357 Tan Meiying 1113 Tanaka Masaru 505 Tang Hongwei 741 Tang Liyang 97 Targoński Łukasz 131 Taskin Didem Gülcü 1369 Tatar Cihad 545

Teng Yao 633 Teng Zongyan 457 Tian Lulu 423 Tian Xiaoli 469 Todd John A. 441 Tomaniak Mariusz 1465 Tosun Mustafa 81 Tu Ronahui 1401 Tu Xiaoming 707 Tükel Nurgül 1233 Tunay Abdurrahman 113 Tursi Antonio 1075 91 Turumtay Halbay Tüzün Abidin 1149 Twardosz Maja 131 Tyczyńska Agata 131 Unver Edhem 81 Urbanowicz Tomasz Kamil 987, 1041 Ussowicz Marek 539 Vécsei Laszlo 505 Ventruba Pavel 901 Ventruba Tomáš 901 Vinker Shlomo 147 Walewski Jan 131 Wang Ayong 1139 Wang Bo 633 Wang Chunfang 1113 Wang Chunxiu 723 Wang Dongxiao 1401 Wang Fagang 969 Wang Hua 1291 Wang Jiawen 563 Wang Jingyao 469 Wang Juanjuan 1017 Wang Kejing 407 Wang Lianming 1139 Wang Ling 1223 Wang Manfeng 457 469 Wang Meimei Wang Mengxi 349 Wang Na 407 Wang Nan 909 Wang Nankai 643 Wang Ruizhen 613 Wang Shu 855

Wang Shujun 865 Wang Tao 1139 Wang Wei 219, 1223 Wang Weijian 31 Wang Xiling 433 Wang Xingsheng 655 Wang Zhengyan 1167 Wasilewska Natalia 1029 Wasik-Szczepanek Ewa 131 Wator Gracian 997 Wei Guijiang 1113 Wei Zhijie 791 Wen Xigang 803 Weng Yihui 1423 Węgrzynowska-Teodorczyk Kinga 211 Wiedermann Christian J. 401 Wielińska Joanna 539 Wierucki Łukasz 331 Wiśniewska Agnieszka 1465 Wiśniewska Anna 131 Witkowska Anna 987 Włodarczyk Jakub 783 Włodarczyk Marcin 783 Wojtera Bartosz Paweł 341 Wołkow Paweł 997 Wójcik Tomasz 1249 Wróbel Tomasz 539 Wróblewski Maksym 125 Wrzosek Monika 125 Wu Dahua 613 Wu Hanfeng 855 Wu Jiachang 551 Wu Juan 423 Wu Mingjie 551 Wu Rui 791 Wu Tao 1139 Wu Xiangchun 523 Wu Xiaowei 457 Wu Xiaoyan 873 Wu Yanyan 151 Wu Yeshun 707 Wu Yingjie 583 Wu Zhen-Hua 307 Xia Han 1453 Xia Zhengcai 415 Xiao Hongbo 741 Xie Ji 633

Xie Mei-Lian 489 Xie Zhizhong 97 Xiong Yanan 469 Xu Aiguo 763 Xu Dandan 763 Xu Guangqi 969 Xu Hongging 707 Xu Ping 791 Xu Qing 415 Xu Wanzhen 457 Xu Xiaofeng 1453 Xu Yanlu 23 Xue Fei 701 Xue Feng 969 Yan Haicui 763 Yan Lulu 1357 Yan Yihong 1265 Yang Feng 219 Yang Guang 575 Yang Lihong 275 Yang Lin 583 Yang Shuheng 839 Yang Wei 97 Yang Xiaoyan 97 Yang Zhen 1089 Yanık Nurten 113 Yao Lvfeng 1347 Yi Jian 613 977 Yıldız Mesut You Cui-Pina 1279 Yu Chun 151 Yu Chunxiao 889 Yu Shangkun 1265 Yu Song 643 Yuan Dasen 1453 Yuan Yan 855 Zajkowska Agnieszka 1201 Žáková Jana 901 Zalas Dominika 1041 Zaleska-Dorobisz Urszula 1133 Zalewska Małgorzata 385 Zanardi Alan 107 Zareba Lech 1249 Zawada Agnieszka Ewa 1009 Ząbek Andrzej 1249 Zeng Huiping 677

Zeng Lei 839 Zeng Wen 613 Zeng Zhihe 185 Zhang Cuicui 723 Zhang Guangling 469 Zhang Haijun 13 Zhang Hao 733 Zhang Hong 151 Zhang Hui 285 Zhang Jian 969 Zhang Jingyu 763 Zhang Jun-Xia 489 Zhang Lanlan 233 Zhang Li 791 Zhang Lin 415 Zhang Longdan 219 Zhang Lu 13 Zhang Nan 741 Zhang Qingyan 23 Zhang Qixiao 643 Zhang Ronghua 469 Zhang Sha 423 Zhang Tianjiu 643 Zhang Wenjing 889 Zhang Xi 1099

Zhang Xiao-Ting 753 Zhang Xinxin 655 Zhang Yan 31 Zhang Yang 185 Zhang Yiling 219 Zhang Yina 457 Zhang Yi-Xi 43 Zhang Yu-Juan 315 Zhang Yuwen 1099 Zhang Zhi-Yun 489 Zhang Zhong 13 Zhao Huirong 433 Zhao Lili 847 Zhao Renli 551 Zhao Xin 151 Zheng Jinou 163 Zheng Liqing 1347 Zheng Wei V. 677 Zheng Weiying 1099 Zhong Dan 163 Zhong Guogiang 1401 Zhong Hao-Jie 307 Zhong Weiye 533 Zhou Chunxiu 909 Zhou Fang-Jian 753

Zhou Huijuan 195 Zhou Jiahao 31 Zhou Jiajing 701 Zhou Kang 741 Zhou Shenggiang 613 Zhou Tao 677 Zhou Yadong 839 Zhou Yahao 1139 Zhu Deqiu 423 Zhu Jianyun 583 Zhu Tong-Wei 753 Zhu Wen-Kai 315 Zhu Yu-Qi 855 Zhuang Shuilong 415 Zhuang Weida 551 Zhuo Haiyan 1347 Zielińska Marta 783 Zou Lingjun 847 Zou Xiumei 623 Zozulińska-Ziółkiewicz Dorota 1009 Zymliński Robert 211 Żarek-Starzewska Anna Katarzyna 125 Żukowska Agnieszka 57 Żukowski Maciej 57